

Nature and nurture: Insights from genetic, environmental and epigenomic studies of late-life depression

Author: Tsang, Ruby

Publication Date: 2018

DOI: https://doi.org/10.26190/unsworks/3495

License:

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/au/ Link to license to see what you are allowed to do with this resource.

Downloaded from http://hdl.handle.net/1959.4/60306 in https:// unsworks.unsw.edu.au on 2024-05-05

Nature and nurture:

Insights from genetic, environmental and epigenomic studies of late-life depression

Ruby Shuk Man Tsang

A thesis in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy



School of Psychiatry Faculty of Medicine

July 2018

THE UNIVERSITY OF NEW SOUTH WALES Thesis/Dissertation Sheet

Surname or Family name: Tsang

First name: Ruby

Abbreviation for degree as given in the University calendar: PhD

School: Psychiatry

Faculty: Medicine

Other name/s: Shuk Man

Title: Nature and Nurture: Insights from genetic, environmental and epigenomic studies of late-life depression

Abstract

Late-life depression (LLD) is a significant public health problem. It is one of the most common neuropsychiatric disorders in later life, and is associated with increased disability, morbidity and mortality. This thesis aims to obtain new insights into its pathophysiology by exploring the genetic, environmental and epigenetic influences on LLD in samples from the Older Australian Twins Study and the Sydney Memory and Ageing Study.

First, the relative contributions of genetic and environmental influences on LLD and its co-variation with anxiety and hypertension were investigated in twin pairs. It replicated previous findings that LLD is significantly heritable, and additionally demonstrated that LLD shares genetic influences with anxiety but not with hypertension. Next, a systematic review of genetic association studies of LLD revealed there was limited research with a general lack of replication. The meta-analysis identified three variants (APOE £2/£3/£4, BDNF Val66Met and SLC6A4 5-HTTLPR) as significantly associated with LLD. Using the Australian cohorts, replication of LLD or major depressive disorder (MDD) candidate single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) was attempted, with no significant results. Furthermore, the effects of early-life trauma on LLD were examined, with childhood emotional abuse and exposure to Holocaust trauma significantly predicting LLD. Neither type of early-life trauma showed significant gene-environment interactions with LLD or MDD candidate SNPs. Finally, an epigenome-wide association study of LLD was conducted using blood DNA methylation from monozygotic twin pairs. It identified 69 differentially methylated probes, some of which are located near or in genes that have previously been implicated in neuropsychiatric or neurodegenerative disorders. The genes associated with the top-ranked probes appeared to be enriched for a range of developmental processes, including central nervous system development and neurogenesis.

This thesis provides several novel contributions to the literature by identifying some important genetic, environmental and epigenetic influences on LLD. Taken together, the findings highlight the potential role of neurodevelopment in the pathophysiology of LLD, which can have significant implications for the prevention and treatment of LLD. Research on the genetics and epigenetics of LLD is clearly still at a nascent stage, and more research is warranted to further our understanding.

Declaration relating to disposition of project thesis/dissertation

I hereby grant to the University of New South Wales or its agents the right to archive and to make available my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in the University libraries in all forms of media, now or here after known, subject to the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968. I retain all property rights, such as patent rights. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

I also authorise University Microfilms to use the 350-word abstract of my thesis in Dissertation Abstracts International (this is applicable to doctoral theses only).

Signature

Witness Signature

Date

The University recognises that there may be exceptional circumstances requiring restrictions on copying or conditions on use. Requests for restriction for a period of up to 2 years must be made in writing. Requests for a longer period of restriction may be considered in exceptional circumstances and require the approval of the Dean of Graduate Research.

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY

Date of completion of requirements for Award:

ORIGINALITY STATEMENT

'I hereby declare that this submission is my own work and to the best of my knowledge it contains no materials previously published or written by another person, or substantial proportions of material which have been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma at UNSW or any other educational institution, except where due acknowledgement is made in the thesis. Any contribution made to the research by others, with whom I have worked at UNSW or elsewhere, is explicitly acknowledged in the thesis. I also declare that the intellectual content of this thesis is the product of my own work, except to the extent that assistance from others in the project's design and conception or in style, presentation and linguistic expression is acknowledged.'

Signed

Date 23/07/2018

COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

'I hereby grant the University of New South Wales or its agents the right to archive and to make available my thesis or dissertation in whole or part in the University libraries in all forms of media, now or here after known, subject to the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968. I retain all proprietary rights, such as patent rights. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

I also authorise University Microfilms to use the 350 word abstract of my thesis in Dissertation Abstract International (this is applicable to doctoral theses only).

I have either used no substantial portions of copyright material in my thesis or I have obtained permission to use copyright material; where permission has not been granted I have applied/will apply for a partial restriction of the digital copy of my thesis or dissertation.'

Signed

Date 23/07/2018

AUTHENTICITY STATEMENT

'I certify that the Library deposit digital copy is a direct equivalent of the final officially approved version of my thesis. No emendation of content has occurred and if there are any minor variations in formatting, they are the result of the conversion to digital format.'

Signed

Date 23/07/2018

ABSTRACT

Late-life depression (LLD) is a significant public health problem. It is one of the most common neuropsychiatric disorders in later life, and is associated with increased disability, morbidity and mortality. This thesis aims to obtain new insights into its pathophysiology by exploring the genetic, environmental and epigenetic influences on LLD in samples from the Older Australian Twins Study and the Sydney Memory and Ageing Study.

First, the relative contributions of genetic and environmental influences on LLD and its covariation with anxiety and hypertension were investigated in twin pairs. It replicated previous findings that LLD is significantly heritable, and additionally demonstrated that LLD shares genetic influences with anxiety but not with hypertension. Next, a systematic review of genetic association studies of LLD revealed there was limited research with a general lack of replication. The meta-analysis identified three variants (APOE ε2/ε3/ε4, BDNF Val66Met and SLC6A45-HTTLPR) as significantly associated with LLD. Using the Australian cohorts, replication of LLD or major depressive disorder (MDD) candidate single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) was attempted, with no significant results. Furthermore, the effects of early-life trauma on LLD were examined, with childhood emotional abuse and exposure to Holocaust trauma significantly predicting LLD. Neither type of early-life trauma showed significant gene-environment interactions with LLD or MDD candidate SNPs. Finally, an epigenome-wide association study of LLD was conducted using blood DNA methylation from monozygotic twin pairs. It identified 69 differentially methylated probes, some of which are located near or in genes that have previously been implicated in neuropsychiatric or neurodegenerative disorders. The genes associated with the top-ranked probes appeared to be enriched for a range of developmental processes, including central nervous system development and neurogenesis.

This thesis provides several novel contributions to the literature by identifying some important genetic, environmental and epigenetic influences on LLD. Taken together, the findings highlight the potential role of neurodevelopment in the pathophysiology of LLD, which can have significant implications for the prevention and treatment of LLD. Research on the genetics and epigenetics of LLD is clearly still at a nascent stage, and more research is warranted to further our understanding.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This thesis marks the end of a challenging yet rewarding journey. Its completion was in no way a solo endeavour, and it would not have been possible without the assistance and support from many people throughout my candidature.

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisors, Dr Simone Reppermund, Professor Perminder Sachdev and Dr Karen Mather. I am deeply grateful for their continuous encouragement, patience and guidance, as well as their scholarly advice and constructive feedback that have shaped the PhD project and this thesis.

I extend my appreciation to co-authors and collaborators, as well as the Older Australian Twins Study and Sydney Memory and Ageing Study research teams. I am particularly thankful to Dr Anbu Thalamuthu and Dr Nicola Armstrong (Murdoch University) for their assistance with the statistical analyses. I also thank my colleagues at the Centre for Healthy Brain Ageing and the Dementia Centre for Research Collaboration for their practical and moral support. Special thanks go to Mrs Angela Russell for her administrative assistance, Dr Kristan Kang for his help with all data-related issues, and Dr Sophia Dean for proofreading this thesis.

I would like to thank all the participants of the Older Australian Twins Study and Sydney Memory and Ageing Study for their generous support and commitment to the studies.

I gratefully acknowledge the funding support from the Australian Government Research Training Scheme/Program, the Viertel PhD Scholarship from Alzheimer's Australia Dementia Research Foundation, the Twins Research Australia Travel Grant and the Postgraduate Research Support Scheme of the University of New South Wales.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family and friends for their endless support and understanding during this journey.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstr	act		ii
Ackn	owledg	gements	v
List o	f Table	28	xi
List o	f Figur	res	xiv
List o	f Abbr	eviations and Symbols	. XV
List o	f Gene	Symbolsx	viii
Publi	cations	s, Presentations and Awards	xxi
1	Intro	duction	1
	1.1	Context	1
	1.2	Rationale	4
	1.3	Objective and aims of this thesis	5
	1.4	Thesis outline	5
2	Backg	ground	7
	2.1	Depression in later life	7
		2.1.1 Diagnosis	7
		2.1.2 Epidemiology	9
		2.1.3 Age of onset	.10
		2.1.4 Prognosis	.12
		2.1.5 Medical and psychiatric comorbidities of late-life depression	.13
	2.2	Neurobiological correlates of late-life depression	.23
		2.2.1 Structural neuroimaging	.23
		2.2.2 Functional neuroimaging	.27
		2.2.3 Post-mortem studies	.31
	2.3	Risk factors for late-life depression	.36
		2.3.1 Genetic risk factors	.36
		2.3.2 Gene-environment interactions	.38
		2.3.3 Potential epigenetics mechanisms	.38
		2.3.4 Biological and psychosocial risk factors	. 39

	2.4	Theories on the pathophysiology of late-life depression	40
		2.4.1 The monoamine hypothesis	40
		2.4.2 The vascular hypothesis	40
		2.4.3 The glucocorticoid cascade hypothesis	42
		2.4.4 The neurotrophic hypothesis	43
		2.4.5 The inflammatory hypothesis	44
		2.4.6 Potential role of the microbiota-gut-brain axis	46
		2.4.7 Cross talk between multiple systems	47
	2.5	Summary and gaps in the current literature	48
3	Metł	nods	50
	3.1	Study samples	50
		3.1.1 The Older Australian Twins Study (OATS)	50
		3.1.2 The Sydney Memory and Ageing Study (Sydney MAS)	52
	3.2	Measures	56
		3.2.1 Psychosocial measures	56
		3.2.2 Biological measures	59
		3.2.3 Covariates	60
	3.3	Study designs and statistical methods	61
		3.3.1 Statistical packages	61
		3.3.2 Descriptive data analyses	61
		3.3.3 Missing data	61
		3.3.4 Heritability and genetic correlations	61
		3.3.5 Systematic review and meta-analysis of genetic association studies	64
		3.3.6 Genetic, environmental and gene-environment predictors	65
		3.3.7 DNA methylation changes	66
4	Gene	etic and Environmental Influences on Late-Life Depression and Its Covariation with	L
	Asso	ciated Phenotypes	68
	4.1	Introduction	68
	4.2	Methods	73
		4.2.1 Participants	73

		4.2.2 Measures	74
		4.2.3 Statistical analyses	74
	4.3	Results	75
		4.3.1 Phenotypic concordance	76
		4.3.2 Multivariate genetic modelling	76
	4.4	Discussion	78
5	Gene	etic Association Studies of Late-Life Depression	83
	5.1	Introduction	83
	5.2	Systematic review and meta-analysis	84
		5.2.1 Methods	84
		5.2.2 Results	
	5.3	Candidate polymorphisms	98
		5.3.1 Methods	98
		5.3.2 Results	99
	5.4	Discussion	103
6	Impa	ct of Early-Life Trauma on Late-Life Depression	108
	6.1	Introduction	108
		6.1.1 Childhood maltreatment	108
		6.1.2 War-related trauma	109
		6.1.3 Gene-environment interactions in depression	110
	6.2	Methods	112
		6.2.1 Participants	112
		6.2.2 Measures	113
		6.2.3 Testing for deviations from Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium	114
		6.2.4 Statistical analyses	114
	6.3	Results	115
		6.3.1 Prevalence of childhood maltreatment	115
		6.3.2 Effects of childhood maltreatment and Holocaust trauma on late-life	
		depression	115
		6.3.3 Gene-environment interactions	116

	6.4	Discuss	ion	123
7	DNA	IA Methylation in Late-Life Depression		
	7.1	Introduction		
	7.2	Method	ls	133
		7.2.1 P	Participants	133
		7.2.2 N	Aeasures	133
		7.2.3 P	Procedures	133
		7.2.4 E	Epigenome-wide association study	134
		7.2.5 P	Pathway analysis	134
		7.2.6 B	Blood-brain DNA methylation comparison	135
	7.3	Results.		135
		7.3.1 P	Participants	135
		7.3.2 E	Epigenome-wide association studies	136
		7.3.3 P	Pathway analysis	141
		7.3.4 B	Blood-brain DNA methylation correlations	142
	7.4	Discuss	ion	144
8	Gene	ral Discu	assion and Conclusions	149
	8.1	Review	of thesis objective and aims	149
	8.2	Summa	ry of key findings	150
		8.2.1 0	Genetic epidemiology of late-life depression and associated phenotypes	150
		8.2.2 S	usceptibility loci for late-life depression	151
		8.2.3 E	Enduring effects of early-life trauma	151
		8.2.4 I	DNA methylation signatures in late-life depression	153
	8.3	The role of neurodevelopment in late-life depression		153
	8.4	Clinical	l implications	155
		8.4.1 P	Preventive strategies for late-life depression	156
		8.4.2 E	Ethical challenges of predictive genetic or epigenetic testing	159
		8.4.3 T	herapeutic options for late-life depression	160
	8.5	Method	lological and conceptual considerations and limitations	161
		8.5.1 S	mall sample sizes	161

	8.5.2 Definition of depression	162
	8.5.3 Heterogeneity in depression	162
	8.5.4 Polygenic and multifactorial nature of late-life depression	164
	8.5.5 Inherent imprecision in a descriptive nosology	164
8.6	Future avenues of research	166
8.7	Concluding remarks	167
References		169
Appendix A	A. Supplemental Tables	233
Appendix I	3. Additional Analyses For Chapters 5 and 6	239
Appendix (C. Published Manuscript	252

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1. Leading causes of disability in populations aged 60 years and over, estimated for the
year 2015 (World Health Organization, 2015)
Table 2.1. DSM-5 and ICD-10 diagnostic criteria for (major) depressive disorder/episode
Table 2.2. Diagnostic criteria for metabolic syndrome (Alberti et al., 2009). 16
Table 2.3. Summary of clinicopathological studies of LLD. 33
Table 2.4. Clinical features associated with vascular versus non-vascular depression (Aizenstein
et al., 2016)
Table 3.1. Demographics of twin pairs in OATS at baseline $(M \pm SD \text{ or } n(\%))$
Table 3.2. MAS sample demographics at baseline. 53
Table 3.3. Neuropsychological tests used to form domain scores in OATS and Sydney MAS 55
Table 3.4. Classification of Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form subscale scores
according to Bernstein & Fink (1998)58
Table 4.1. Summary of published heritability studies of LLD or depressive symptoms
Table 4.2. Characteristics of the sample used in this study ($M \pm SD$ or n (%))76
Table 4.3. Heritability estimates for LLD, anxiety and hypertension. 77
Table 4.4. Estimates of genetic and environmental correlations between LLD, anxiety and
hypertension in older adult twins78
Table 5.1. Genes investigated in included studies and their functions. 89
Table 5.2. Results of meta-analyses of candidate gene studies of late-life depression
Table 5.3. Summary of findings from included candidate gene studies not in meta-analyses94
Table 5.4. Demographic information of the Sydney MAS subsample included in this study ($M \pm$
<i>SD</i> or <i>n</i> (%))
Table 5.5. Genotype frequencies for candidate polymorphisms and tests for deviations from
Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium100
Table 5.6. Logistic regression of APOE ɛ2 carrier status in predicting late-life depression101
Table 5.7. Logistic regression of APOE ɛ4 carrier status in predicting late-life depression101
Table 5.8. Logistic regression of <i>BDNF</i> Val66Met in predicting late-life depression101
Table 5.9. Logistic regression of <i>GNB3</i> C825T in predicting late-life depression102

Table 5.10. Logistic regression of MTHFR C677T in predicting late-life depression
Table 5.11. Logistic regression of rs40465 in predicting late-life depression. 102
Table 6.1. Sample demographics ($M \pm SD$ or n (%))
Table 6.2. Genotype distributions and tests for deviation from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium for
APOE ε2/ε3/ε4 (rs429358 and rs7412), BDNF Val66Met, GNB3 C825T, MTHFR
C677T and rs40465114
Table 6.3. Prevalence of childhood maltreatment assessed using the CTQ-SF (n (%))115
Table 6.4. Logistic regression of childhood maltreatment in predicting late-life depression 116
Table 6.5. Logistic regression of Holocaust trauma in predicting late-life depression.
Table 6.6. Logistic regression of the interaction between $APOE \varepsilon 2$ allele and childhood
maltreatment in predicting late-life depression117
Table 6.7. Logistic regression of the interaction between <i>APOE</i> ε2 allele and Holocaust trauma in
predicting late-life depression
Table 6.8. Logistic regression of the interaction between $APOE \varepsilon 4$ allele and childhood
maltreatment in predicting late-life depression118
Table 6.9. Logistic regression of the interaction between <i>APOE</i> ɛ4 allele and Holocaust trauma in
predicting late-life depression
Table 6.10. Logistic regression of the interaction between <i>BDNF</i> Val66Met genotype and
childhood maltreatment in predicting late-life depression
Table 6.11. Logistic regression of the interaction between <i>BDNF</i> Val66Met genotype and
Holocaust trauma in predicting late-life depression
Table 6.12. Logistic regression of the interaction between <i>GNB3</i> C825T genotype and childhood
maltreatment in predicting late-life depression120
Table 6.13. Logistic regression of the interaction between <i>GNB3</i> C825T genotype and Holocaust
trauma in predicting late life-depression120
Table 6.14. Logistic regression of the interaction between <i>MTHFR</i> C677T genotype and
childhood maltreatment in predicting late-life depression
Table 6.15. Logistic regression of the interaction between <i>MTHFR</i> C677T genotype and
Holocaust trauma in predicting late-life depression

in predicting late-life depression	Table 6.16. Logistic regression of the interaction between rs40465 and childhood maltreatme	ent
Table 6.17. Logistic regression of the interaction between rs40465 and Holocaust trauma in predicting late-life depression.122Table 7.1. Summary of DNA methylation studies of depression (including only adult samples with no psychiatric comorbidity).129Table 7.2. Distribution of probe types before and after quality control.134Table 7.3. Sample demographics ($M \pm SD$ or n (%)).136Table 7.4. Details of the significantly differentially methylated probes (n = 69) identified in the full twin sample EWAS.138Table 7.5. Top 10 enriched KEGG pathways.141Table 7.6. Significantly enriched GO biological processes.142Table 7.7. Correlations of DNA methylation levels in blood with four brain regions.143	in predicting late-life depression	122
predicting late-life depression.122Table 7.1. Summary of DNA methylation studies of depression (including only adult samples with no psychiatric comorbidity).129Table 7.2. Distribution of probe types before and after quality control.134Table 7.3. Sample demographics ($M \pm SD$ or n (%)).136Table 7.4. Details of the significantly differentially methylated probes (n = 69) identified in the full twin sample EWAS.138Table 7.5. Top 10 enriched KEGG pathways.141Table 7.6. Significantly enriched GO biological processes.142Table 7.7. Correlations of DNA methylation levels in blood with four brain regions.143	Table 6.17. Logistic regression of the interaction between rs40465 and Holocaust trauma in	
Table 7.1. Summary of DNA methylation studies of depression (including only adult samples with no psychiatric comorbidity).129Table 7.2. Distribution of probe types before and after quality control.134Table 7.3. Sample demographics ($M \pm SD$ or n (%)).136Table 7.4. Details of the significantly differentially methylated probes ($n = 69$) identified in the full twin sample EWAS.138Table 7.5. Top 10 enriched KEGG pathways.141Table 7.6. Significantly enriched GO biological processes.142Table 7.7. Correlations of DNA methylation levels in blood with four brain regions.143	predicting late-life depression	122
with no psychiatric comorbidity).129Table 7.2. Distribution of probe types before and after quality control.134Table 7.3. Sample demographics $(M \pm SD \text{ or } n(\%))$.136Table 7.4. Details of the significantly differentially methylated probes (n = 69) identified in the full twin sample EWAS.138Table 7.5. Top 10 enriched KEGG pathways.141Table 7.6. Significantly enriched GO biological processes.142Table 7.7. Correlations of DNA methylation levels in blood with four brain regions.143	Table 7.1. Summary of DNA methylation studies of depression (including only adult samples	5
Table 7.2. Distribution of probe types before and after quality control.134Table 7.3. Sample demographics $(M \pm SD \text{ or } n(\%))$.136Table 7.4. Details of the significantly differentially methylated probes $(n = 69)$ identified in the full twin sample EWAS.138Table 7.5. Top 10 enriched KEGG pathways.141Table 7.6. Significantly enriched GO biological processes.142Table 7.7. Correlations of DNA methylation levels in blood with four brain regions.143	with no psychiatric comorbidity).	129
 Table 7.3. Sample demographics (<i>M</i>± <i>SD</i> or <i>n</i> (%))	Table 7.2. Distribution of probe types before and after quality control.	134
 Table 7.4. Details of the significantly differentially methylated probes (n = 69) identified in the full twin sample EWAS. Table 7.5. Top 10 enriched KEGG pathways. Table 7.6. Significantly enriched GO biological processes. Table 7.7. Correlations of DNA methylation levels in blood with four brain regions. 	Table 7.3. Sample demographics ($M \pm SD$ or n (%))	136
full twin sample EWAS	Table 7.4. Details of the significantly differentially methylated probes $(n = 69)$ identified in the	ne
Table 7.5. Top 10 enriched KEGG pathways.141Table 7.6. Significantly enriched GO biological processes.142Table 7.7. Correlations of DNA methylation levels in blood with four brain regions.143	full twin sample EWAS	138
Table 7.6. Significantly enriched GO biological processes.142Table 7.7. Correlations of DNA methylation levels in blood with four brain regions.143	Table 7.5. Top 10 enriched KEGG pathways	141
Table 7.7. Correlations of DNA methylation levels in blood with four brain regions	Table 7.6. Significantly enriched GO biological processes.	142
	Table 7.7. Correlations of DNA methylation levels in blood with four brain regions	143

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3.1. OATS flowchart
Figure 3.2. MAS flowchart
Figure 3.3. Example of a univariate ACE model. A – additive genetic effects, C – shared
environmental effects, E – unique environmental effects. The additive genetic
correlation is 1.0 for MZ twins and 0.5 for DZ twins
Figure 3.4. An example of a multivariate model of 3 traits using Cholesky decomposition. A –
additive genetic effects, C – shared environmental effects, E – unique environmental
effects. The additive genetic correlation is 1.0 for MZ twins and 0.5 for DZ twins63
Figure 4.1. Path model with standardised path estimates for the best-fitting model for LLD,
anxiety, and hypertension in older adults. Significant paths are indicated in bold 77
Figure 5.1. Study selection flowchart according to MOOSE guidelines (Stroup et al., 2000)
Figure 5.2. Forest plots of statistically significant meta-analyses
Figure 5.3. Funnel plots of statistically significant meta-analyses
Figure 7.1. Manhattan plot of unadjusted <i>p</i> -values of all probes tested in the EWAS using the full
MZ twin sample137

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

-2LL	minus two log-likelihood
27K	Illumina HumanMethylation 27K BeadChip
3' UTR	3' untranslated region
450K	Illumina HumanMethylation 450K BeadChip
5' UTR	5' untranslated region
5-HT	Serotonin
Αβ	beta-amyloid
ACTH	adrenocorticotropic hormone
AD	Alzheimer's disease
AGECAT	Automated Geriatric Examination for Computer Assisted Taxonomy
AIC	Akaike's Information Criteria
AVP	arginine-vasopressin
BD	Bipolar disorder
BDI	Beck Depression Inventory
BMI	body mass index
CAMDEX	Cambridge Mental Disorders of the Elderly Examination
CCMD-3	Chinese Classification of Mental Disorders, 3rd edition
CES-D	Centre for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale
CI	confidence interval
CIDI	Composite International Diagnostic Interview
CRH	corticotropin-releasing hormone
CRP	C-reactive protein
CTQ-SF	Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form
DDES	Duke Depression Evaluation Schedule
df	degrees of freedom
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DSM	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders
DTI	diffusion tensor imaging

DZ	dizygotic
EEA	equal environment assumption
EOD	early-onset depression
EWAS	epigenome-wide association study/studies
FA	fractional anisotropy
GAS	Goldberg Anxiety Scale
GDS	Geriatric Depression Scale
GMS	Geriatric Mental State Examination
GO	Gene Ontology
GWAS	genome-wide association study/studies
GxE	gene-environment
HAM-D	Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression
НРА	hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal
HR	hazard ratio
HWE	Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium
ICD	International Classification of Diseases
IL	interleukin
KEGG	Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes
LC	locus coeruleus
LLD	late-life depression
LOD	late-onset depression
М	mean
MADRS	Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale
МАРК	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MAS	Memory and Ageing Study
MCI	mild cognitive impairment
MDD	major depressive disorder
MDI	Major Depression Inventory
MHR	mortality hazard ratio
MINI	Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview

MMSE	Mini-Mental State Examination
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
MZ	monozygotic
n.s.	non-significant
NESB	non-English speaking background
NFT	neurofibrillary tangles
NIMH DIS	National Institute of Mental Health Diagnostic Interview Schedule
OATS	Older Australian Twins Study
OR	odds ratio
PET	positron emission tomography
PHQ	Patient Health Questionnaire
rCBF	regional cerebral blood flow
RR	relative risk
SCID	Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Disorders
SD	standard deviation
SE	standard error
SMD	standardised mean difference
SNP	single-nucleotide polymorphism
SSAGA	Semi-Structured Assessment for the Genetics of Alcoholism
TNF	tumour necrosis factor
TSS1500	200-1500 bases upstream of transcriptional start site
TSS200	0-200 bases upstream of transcriptional start site
VaD	vascular dementia
WebGestalt	Web-based Gene Set Analysis Toolkit
WMHs	white matter hyperintensities
YLD	years of healthy life lost due to disability

LIST OF GENE SYMBOLS

ACE	angiotensin I converting enzyme
AGRN	agrin
AGTR1	angiotensin II receptor type 1
AKT1	AKT serine/threonine kinase 1
APOE	apolipoprotein E
ASPHD2	aspartate beta-hydroxylase domain containing 2
BAP1	BRCA1 associated protein 1
BDNF	brain-derived neurotrophic factor
C1QTNF8	C1q and TNF related 8
CASZ1	castor zinc finger 1
CCDC25	coiled-coil domain containing 25
CD160	CD160 molecule
CFDP1	craniofacial development protein 1
CHRNA2	cholinergic receptor nicotinic alpha 2 subunit
CNTF	ciliary neurotrophic factor
COMT	catechol-O-methyltransferase
CRP	C-reactive protein
CRY1	cryptochrome circadian regulator 1
CRY2	cryptochrome circadian regulator 2
C10orf90	chromosome 10 open reading frame 90
DIP2C	disco interacting protein 2 homolog C
DNER	delta/notch like EGF repeat containing
ELOVL2	ELOVL fatty acid elongase 2
EML4	echinoderm microtubule associated protein like 4
EN2	engrailed homeobox 2
ESCO2	establishment of sister chromatid cohesion N-acetyltransferase 2
FAM160A1	family with sequence similarity 160 member A1
FBLN7	fibulin 7

FGGY	FGGY carbohydrate kinase domain containing		
FKBP5	FK506 binding protein 5		
GNB3	G protein subunit beta 3		
GPR31	G protein-coupled receptor 31		
GRAMD4	GRAM domain containing 4		
GTF2IRD1	GTF2I repeat domain containing 1		
ICA1L	islet cell autoantigen 1 like		
IL1B	interleukin 1 beta		
IL10	interleukin 10		
JSRP1	junctional sarcoplasmic reticulum protein 1		
KLHL2	kelch like family member 2		
LCLAT1	lysocardiolipin acyltransferase 1		
LINC00336	long intergenic non-protein coding RNA 336		
LINC00461	long intergenic non-protein coding RNA 461		
LRP1	LDL receptor related protein 1		
MBP	myelin basic protein		
MNT	MAX network transcriptional repressor		
MTIX	metallothionein 1X		
MTHFR	methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase		
NECTIN2	nectin cell adhesion molecule 2		
NFIC	nuclear factor I C		
NHLH2	nescient helix-loop-helix 2		
NR3C1	nuclear receptor subfamily 3 group C member 1		
	(also known as <i>GR</i> – glucocorticoid receptor)		
NR3C2	nuclear receptor subfamily 3 group C member 2		
	(also known as <i>MR</i> – mineralocorticoid receptor)		
NTRK2	neurotrophic receptor tyrosine kinase 2		
PCLO	piccolo presynaptic cytomatrix protein		
PHYKPL	5-phosphohydroxy-L-lysine phospho-lyase		
PIWIL1	piwi like RNA-mediated gene silencing 1		

PLIN3	perilipin 3
PPARG	peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma
PRKAR1B	protein kinase cAMP-dependent type I regulatory subunit beta
RAB11FIP4	RAB11 family interacting protein 4
SGMS2	sphingomyelin synthase 2
SLC35F3	solute carrier family 35 member F3
SLC6A4	solute carrier family 6 member 4
SOHLH1	spermatogenesis and oogenesis specific basic helix-loop-helix 1
STX1B	syntaxin 1B
TAPBP	TAP binding protein
TBL2	transducin beta like 2
TEF	TEF, PAR bZIP transcription factor
TFCP2	transcription factor CP2
TMEM100	transmembrane protein 100
TENM2	teneurin transmembrane protein 2
TNF	tumour necrosis factor
TPH2	tryptophan hydroxylase 2
TROVE2	TROVE domain family member 2
TSNARE1	t-SNARE domain containing 1
UCHL5	ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase L5
WT1	Wilms tumour 1
WT1-AS	WT1 antisense RNA
ZBTB20	zinc finger and BTB domain containing 20
ZNF638	zinc finger protein 638

PUBLICATIONS, PRESENTATIONS AND AWARDS

Parts of this thesis have been included in the following publications and presentations:

Publications

- Tsang, R. S. M., Mather, K. A., Sachdev, P. S., & Reppermund, S. (2017). Systematic review and meta-analysis of genetic studies of late-life depression. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 75, 129-139. [manuscript attached in Appendix C]
- Reppermund, S., & Tsang, R. S. M. (2016). The risk relationship between depression and CVD during ageing. In B. T. Baune & P. J. Tully (eds.), *Cardiovascular diseases and depression Treatment and prevention in psychocardiology* (pp. 23-36). Switzerland: Springer International Publishing.

Presentations

Oral presentation

Tsang, R., Reppermund, S., Armstrong, N., Thalamuthu, A., Ames, D., Wright, M., Sachdev, P., & Mather, K. Identification of differentially methylated loci associated with late-life depression. 13th World Congress of Biological Psychiatry, Copenhagen, Denmark, 18-22 June 2017.

Poster presentations

- Tsang, R. S., Reppermund, S., Thalamuthu, A., Ames, D., Wright, M. J., Trollor, J. N., Sachdev, P. S., Mather, K. A. Modelling genetic and environmental influences on depression symptoms and their covariation with anxiety and vascular phenotypes: findings from the Older Australian Twins Study. ISAD London 2017: Perspectives on Mood and Anxiety Disorders: Looking to the Future, London, United Kingdom, 6-7 July 2017.
- **Tsang, R. S. M.**, Mather, K. A., Sachdev, P. S., & Reppermund, S. Contribution of the APOE ε4 and MTHFR C677T polymorphisms to the risk of late-life depression: systematic review and meta-analyses. Society for Mental Health Research Conference, Adelaide, Australia, 3-5 December 2014.

Scholarships and Travel Awards

Australian Government Research Training Scheme/Program Scholarship (2014-2017) Viertel PhD Scholarship, Alzheimer's Australia Dementia Research Foundation (2014-2016) Twins Research Australia Travel Grant (2017)

Postgraduate Research Support Scheme, University of New South Wales (2017)

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Context

The world's population is rapidly ageing, with virtually all countries experiencing high growth rates in both the number and the proportion of older adults in their population due to lower birth rates and increased life expectancy. In 2015, there were 901 million people aged 60 years and over worldwide, and it is projected that this group will continue to grow to 1.4 billion by 2030 and to 2.1 billion by 2050, outnumbering children aged 0-9 years and adolescents and youth aged 10-24 years. In particular, the group of people aged 80 years and over (the 'oldest old') is experiencing the highest growth rates of all age groups, with projections suggesting this group will more than triple between 2015 and 2050 and account for one in four older adults in Europe, Northern America and Oceania by 2040 (United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, 2015). A similar trend is observed in Australia; the proportion of the population aged 65 years and over increased from 12.0% to 15.3% between 1996 and 2016, and is projected to further increase to between 22.4% and 24.5% by 2061 (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2013b, 2016). The group aged 85 years and over is expected to experience the highest growth rate and is projected to account for 4.5% to 6% of the population by 2061 (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2013b). These demographic shifts are expected to have profound socioeconomic and health implications, and maintaining health and well-being in older age becomes a public health priority.

From a biological point of view, ageing is a complex process of gradual accumulation of molecular and cellular damage, which decreases physiological reserves and increases the risk of disease, ultimately leading to death (Kirkwood, 2008). However, the relationship between age and physical and mental functioning is not linear, and there is great inter-individual variation in experiences depending on one's genetics, environment and health behaviours. As extended life expectancy is not always accompanied by good health and quality of life, there has been much discussion of successful or healthy ageing in recent years. The MacArthur model of successful ageing proposed by Rowe and Kahn (1997) is probably the most well-known and widely adopted model in earlier ageing studies. It comprises three components: (i) low probability of disease and

disease-related disability, (ii) preservation of physical and cognitive abilities, as well as (iii) active engagement with life. Later studies have tried to expand on this concept and included various other domains in their operationalisations of successful ageing (Cosco et al., 2014; Depp & Jeste, 2006; Hung et al., 2010; Phelan & Larson, 2002). There appears to be limited consensus on how successful ageing should be defined, but the majority of the studies emphasised the maintenance of physical function or prevention of physical disability (Depp et al., 2010). A major criticism of these operationalisations of successful ageing is that the cognitive and emotional aspects of ageing are neglected. It is increasingly recognised that there is "no health without mental health" (World Health Organization, 2013); cognitive and emotional aspects of ageing are relevant not only because of the projected increase in neurodegenerative disorders, but also because cognitive and emotional health may potentially mediate health behaviours that can in turn influence physical health in later life (Depp et al., 2010).

Today the term 'healthy ageing' is more frequently used by researchers and policymakers, but likewise there is little consensus on its definition. The World Health Organisation defines it as "the process of developing and maintaining functional ability that enables well-being in older age" (World Health Organization, 2015, p. 28), which reflects a more holistic approach that encapsulates both physical and mental aspects of ageing and highlights the multidimensional nature of well-being in older age. It is evident from findings of the Global Burden of Disease project that mood disorders can greatly limit the functional ability of older adults, with depressive disorders ranked among the leading causes of disability (measured in years of healthy life lost due to disability, YLD) in populations aged 60 years and over (Table 1.1).

Cause	Years lost due to	%
	disability (YLD)	
Other hearing loss	14,715,972	8.0
Back and neck pain	13,492,189	7.3
Diabetes mellitus	13,282,340	7.2
Alzheimer disease and other dementias	9,426,903	5.1
Depressive disorders	8,893,388	4.8
Uncorrected refractive errors	8,638,669	4.7
Other musculoskeletal disorders	7,464,724	4.1
Osteoarthritis	6,723,578	3.7
Other circulatory diseases	5,533,825	3.0
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	5,480,591	3.0

Table 1.1. Leading causes of disability in populations aged 60 years and over, estimated for the year 2015 (World Health Organization, 2015).

Late-life depression (LLD) is associated with various adverse health outcomes, such as higher rates of medical comorbidities, increased risk of functional and cognitive impairment, and increased suicide and non-suicide mortality (Blazer, 2003). Older adults with LLD also utilise more health care services, resulting in higher health care costs compared to their non-depressed counterpart (Katon et al., 2003; Livingston et al., 1997; Luber et al., 2001; Luppa et al., 2008), and a recent costing study conducted in Germany estimated the unadjusted means costs for a depressed older adult to be around €5,000 for a six-month period, which is more than 80% higher than that of a non-depressed older adult. This difference in health care costs remained statistically significant even after adjusting for medical comorbidities and sociodemographic factors, and was unrelated to whether these older adults received a formal diagnosis of depression from their general practitioners (Bock et al., 2016).

LLD is generally underdiagnosed and undertreated (Rodda et al., 2011). The accuracy of depression recognition by general practitioners or non-psychiatric physicians is low (Cepoiu et al., 2008; Mitchell et al., 2009), and the rate is even lower in older adults (Mitchell et al., 2010). Although LLD can be successfully treated, few older adults with LLD receive adequate treatment, with just under 30% of patients with a diagnosis given antidepressants (Luber et al., 2001), and less than 10% received counselling or psychotherapy (Unützer et al., 2003). This is further complicated by low rates of treatment-seeking behaviour (Conner et al., 2010), inadequate

dosage of antidepressant medications (Unützer et al., 1999) and treatment discontinuation due to perceived stigma (Sirey et al., 2001). However, it is estimated that even with optimal evidencebased treatment, only 34% of YLDs in depression and 37% of YLDs in dysthymia could be averted (Andrews et al., 2004).

1.2 Rationale

It is clear that LLD represents a significant public health challenge due to its association with greater disability, morbidity and mortality. The current literature suggests LLD involves a complex interplay of biological and environmental factors, such as genetic vulnerabilities, age-associated neurobiological changes, and exposure to stressful life events (Naismith et al., 2012). Despite extensive research, the exact biological underpinnings of LLD remain elusive and treatments that directly target the casual factors of LLD are unavailable. For this reason, prevention should play a key role in reducing the disease burden. Using the framework proposed in the Institute of Medicine consensus report (Mrazek & Haggerty, 1994), 'selective' and 'indicated' prevention appear to be particularly relevant for the prevention of LLD. Selective preventive strategies target subpopulations that are deemed to be at increased risk for developing LLD, for instance those who have multiple medical comorbidities or those who experience social isolation. Indicated prevention, in contrast, targets those who are already experiencing early signs or subthreshold symptoms.

Early prevention studies of LLD show directing prevention efforts toward at-risk groups, for example older adults with anxiety, chronic illnesses or functional impairment, can offer large health gains in a cost-effective way, and may halve the incidence of LLD (Schoevers et al., 2006; Smit et al., 2006; Smits et al., 2008). Without a doubt, identification of more risk factors and biomarkers associated with LLD will further facilitate preventive efforts. A closer examination of the genetic, environmental and epigenetic influences on LLD would provide more insight into the neurobiological pathways involved in the development of LLD, and may aid better identification of at-risk sub-populations at which preventive efforts should be targeted.

1.3 Objective and aims of this thesis

The primary objective of this thesis is to explore the genetic, environmental and epigenetic influences on depression in older adults. Specific aims are as follows:

- To examine the relative contribution of genetic and environmental influences on LLD and commonly co-occurring phenotypes (anxiety, stroke and hypertension);
- To review existing evidence for genetic variants associated with risk of depression or depressive symptoms in older adults, and to replicate associations between LLD and risk single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) identified in meta-analyses;
- 3. To investigate the role of early-life trauma in LLD, and explore potential geneenvironment interactions; and
- 4. To explore the role of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) methylation in LLD.

1.4 Thesis outline

Following this brief introduction, Chapter 2 presents a comprehensive review of the LLD literature, including its epidemiology and clinical features, risk relationships with medical comorbidities, neurobiological correlates, as well as biological and psychosocial risk factors. The dominant theories of the pathophysiology of LLD are then introduced.

Chapter 3 provides an overview of the methodology used in this thesis. It provides descriptions of the cohorts from which subsamples were drawn for the different studies, the measures and scales used, and a brief introduction to the research designs and statistical methods employed.

The next two chapters focus on the genetic contribution to LLD. In Chapter 4, the heritability of LLD and sources of the common co-occurrence of LLD, anxiety and two vascular phenotypes are examined in a sample of older twins. Chapter 5 is a systematic review and meta-analysis of genetic association studies of LLD, which is followed by replication genetic association studies of SNPs identified in meta-analyses as major depressive disorder or LLD risk variants.

The environmental contribution to LLD is then considered. Chapter 6 examines the effects of two types of early-life trauma (childhood maltreatment and war-related trauma) as well as potential gene-environment interactions on LLD.

Chapter 7 explores the epigenetic contribution to LLD. The relationships between DNA methylation levels and LLD are investigated in a sample of older monozygotic twins.

A summary of the main findings is presented in Chapter 8, followed by a discussion of their significance and clinical implications in light of current literature. Methodological and conceptual limitations are considered. Finally, future research directions are recommended.

2 BACKGROUND

2.1 Depression in later life

Depression is a common neuropsychiatric disorder that can affect individuals of all ages worldwide. Across the lifespan, prevalence rates of depression tend to peak during adolescence, then steadily decline in young, middle and early older adulthood, before increasing again around the age of 75 (Kessler et al., 1992; Luppa et al., 2012).

2.1.1 Diagnosis

Late-life depression (LLD) is a broad term that can refer to both depressive symptoms and depressive disorders, which form a continuum ranging from the very mild to the very severe. Currently, the clinical diagnosis of depressive disorders in older adults is generally based on the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5; American Psychiatric Association, 2013) or the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-10; World Health Organization, 1992). The DSM-5 characterises major depressive disorder (MDD) as the presence of at least five out of nine symptoms, including at least one of the core symptoms of persistent depressed mood and anhedonia, over a two-week period, whereas the ICD-10 also includes reduced energy as a core symptom (see Table 2.1). Minor or subthreshold depression, on the other hand, is diagnosed when one to three additional symptoms are present alongside one of the core symptoms. It is important to note that even depressive states that do not meet the criteria for MDD, including minor depression, subsyndromal depression and dysthymia, are still clinically relevant as they are similarly associated with poorer outcomes, including increased functional disability, cognitive impairment and higher mortality rates (Han et al., 2008; Lavretsky & Kumar, 2002; Lyness et al., 2006; Penninx et al., 1999). Depressed older adults often display fewer symptoms than what is required for a DSM-5 diagnosis of MDD, and they are more likely to report cognitive and neurovegetative symptoms rather than dysphoria (Fiske et al., 2009); hence LLD is also sometimes referred to as 'depression without sadness' (Gallo & Rabins, 1999). In this thesis, the term LLD will be used to refer to all clinically significant depressive symptoms or syndromes that occur in later life (defined here as 50 years and over to be more

inclusive), and subsumes all subtypes of depression across the spectrum regardless of age of onset.

Table 2.1. DSM-5 and ICD-10 diagnostic criteria for (major) depressive disorder/episode.

DSM-5 criteria for major depressive disorder

- A. Five (or more) of the following symptoms have been present during the same 2week period and represent a change from previous functioning; at least one of the symptoms is either (1) depressed mood or (2) loss of interest or pleasure.
 - 1. Depressed mood most of the day, nearly every day, as indicated by either subjective report (e.g., feels sad, empty, hopeless) or observation made by others (e.g., appears tearful).
 - 2. Markedly diminished interest or pleasure in all, or almost all, activities most of the day, nearly every day (as indicated by either subjective account or observation).
 - 3. Significant weight loss when not dieting or weight gain (e.g., a change of more than 5% of body weight in a month), or decrease or increase in appetite nearly every day.
 - 4. Insomnia or hypersomnia nearly every day.
 - 5. Psychomotor agitation or retardation nearly every day (observable by others, not merely subjective feelings of restlessness or being slowed down).
 - 6. Fatigue or loss of energy nearly every day.
 - 7. Feelings of worthlessness or excessive or inappropriate guilt (which may be delusional) nearly every day (not merely self-reproach or guilt about being sick).
 - 8. Diminished ability to think or concentrate, or indecisiveness, nearly every day (either by subjective account or as observed by others).
 - 9. Recurrent thoughts of death (not just fear of dying), recurrent suicidal ideation without a specific plan, or a suicide attempt or a specific plan for committing suicide.
- B. The symptoms cause clinically significant distress or impairment in social, occupational, or other important areas of functioning.
- C. The episode is not attributable to the physiological effects of a substance or to another medical condition.
- D. The occurrence of the major depressive episode is not better explained by schizoaffective disorder, schizophrenia, schizophreniform disorder, delusional disorder, or other specified and unspecified schizophrenia spectrum and other psychotic disorders.
- E. There has never been a manic episode or a hypomanic episode.

ICD-10 criteria for depressive episode

- A. At least two of the typical symptoms:
 - 1. Depressed mood.
 - 2. Loss of interest and enjoyment.
 - 3. Reduced energy leading to increased fatigability and diminished activity.
- B. At least two of the other symptoms:

- 1. Reduced concentration and attention.
- 2. Reduced self-esteem and self-confidence.
- 3. Ideas of guilt and unworthiness.
- 4. Bleak and pessimistic views of the future.
- 5. Ideas or acts of self-harm or suicide.
- 6. Disturbed sleep.
- 7. Diminished appetite.
- C. The symptoms last for at least 2 weeks.
- D. The symptoms cause distress and difficulty in social, work or domestic activities.

Aside from standard diagnostic criteria, self-report questionnaires may be used to screen for LLD in both clinical and research settings. Screening instruments that are commonly used include the Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS) (Yesavage et al., 1982; Yesavage & Sheikh, 1986), the Centre for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) (Radloff, 1977), the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) (Beck et al., 1961), the Zung Depression Scale (Zung et al., 1965) and the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ) (Spitzer et al., 1994). For older adults with dementia, the Cornell Scale for Depression in Dementia (Alexopoulos et al., 1988) can be used.

2.1.2 Epidemiology

Depending on the case definition used and the age range surveyed, estimates of prevalence and incidence of depression in older adults vary greatly. While the point prevalence of late-life MDD is generally reported to be below 5%, minor depression and clinically significant depressive symptoms affect up to 16% and up to 49% of community-dwelling older adults respectively (Beekman et al., 1999; Blazer, 2003; Djernes, 2006; Polyakova et al., 2014; Volkert et al., 2013). The prevalence of depression is estimated to be higher in medical and residential aged care settings (Djernes, 2006; Polyakova et al., 2014; Seitz et al., 2010). The incidence rate of late-life MDD ranges from 0.2 to 14.1 per 100 person-years, and the incidence rate of clinically significant depressive symptoms ranges from 2.8 to 6.8 per 100 person-years (Büchtemann et al., 2012; Smit et al., 2006). These prevalence and incidence rates are likely to be an underestimation of the magnitude of the problem, as depression is commonly underdiagnosed and undertreated in older adults (Rodda et al., 2011). This is partly because the diagnosis of depressive disorders in older adults is often complicated by a range of comorbid medical conditions, physical complaints, cognitive impairment, or significant life events (e.g. bereavement or moving into a

residential aged care facility), making detection more challenging. A qualitative study that explored the perception of LLD among primary care practitioners and patients found primary care practitioners commonly viewed LLD as a product of psychosocial issues, and was thus 'understandable' and 'justifiable' in older adults. Patients appeared to share such views, and had low expectations of treatment (Burroughs et al., 2006). Moreover, the perceived stigma of a depression diagnosis may further contribute to the problem of underdiagnosis of LLD (Evans & Mottram, 2000).

2.1.3 Age of onset

Depression in late life can either be a disorder with an onset in earlier life that recurs in late life (i.e., early-onset depression, EOD) or a new disorder with recent onset (i.e., late-onset depression, LOD), and there is a body of literature suggesting that the two represent distinct clinical entities. Some studies also suggest that the late-onset group can be further divided into subgroups reflecting different aetiological pathways: (i) late-onset as a reaction to stressful life events, and (ii) late-onset with vascular risk factors (Oldehinkel et al., 2003; Van den Berg et al., 2001). A systematic review conducted in 2013 compared the symptomatology, aetiology and treatment outcomes and prognosis of EOD and LOD in 23 studies, and found that family history of mood disorders and pessimistic or suicidal thinking were both more common in EOD than in LOD (Grayson & Thomas, 2013). There was no consistent evidence for any other differences in aetiology (physical health status, vascular risk factors, life events, and personality traits), symptomatology (anxiety, psychosis or delusions, and psychomotor retardation), or treatment outcomes and prognosis (response to antidepressants, remission, recurrence, and mortality).

Grayson and Thomas' (2013) systematic review focused on clinical studies and therefore did not include studies examining the neuropsychological or neuroimaging profiles in EOD and LOD. An earlier systematic review investigated the differences in neuropsychological profiles between EOD, LOD and healthy controls in 10 studies, which showed that individuals with LOD demonstrate significant impairments in the domains of executive function, processing speed, as well as episodic and semantic memory relative to healthy controls, and they performed worse in two domains (executive function and processing speed) relative to individuals with EOD, but no

differences were observed in overall cognitive function (Herrmann et al., 2007). The pronounced impairments in executive function and processing speed in LOD suggest disruptions in frontostriatal circuits.

White matter hyperintensities (WMHs) are commonly observed in individuals with LLD. A meta-analysis comparing the presence and severity of WMHs among individuals with EOD, LOD and healthy controls showed that the odds of having periventricular and deep WMHs were 4.51 and 4.33 times greater respectively in individuals with LOD than in individuals with EOD, and age did not appear to be a confounder (Herrmann et al., 2008). The same study also showed individuals with LOD had more severe hyperintensities in the periventricular, deep and combined white matter. The white matter changes observed in the included studies were concentrated in the frontal and temporal cortex, again highlighting the role of disruptions in frontostriatal circuits.

While the use of age of onset has proved to be useful in delineating clinical subtypes of LLD that are associated with different aetiological factors, neuropsychological profiles, and neurobiological changes, there are inherent difficulties in defining what should be considered as a late age of onset. It is unclear whether onset should refer to the emergence of first symptoms of depression or of a well-defined syndrome, which is further complicated with recall bias in retrospective reporting. There appears to be no consensus on what the appropriate cut-off age should be in defining EOD versus LOD, with studies using various age cut-offs between 40 to 65 years (Sneed et al., 2006). Furthermore, the EOD versus LOD classification in a sense represents a false dichotomy, "because most studies on age of onset assume incorrectly that depressive syndromes across the life span have the same aetiology. In fact, the same person may develop depression attributable to different causes at different stages of life." (Alexopoulos, 2006, p. 1305), and individuals with a history of EOD may also develop symptoms characteristic of LOD in later life (Krishnan et al., 2004). This view is supported by the recent vascular depression consensus report, in which the authors point out that individuals with EOD may in fact be particularly at risk of developing vascular depression (a subtype of LLD that typically has an
onset at 65 years or later) with growing evidence to suggest a reciprocal relationship between vascular disease and depression (Aizenstein et al., 2016).

2.1.4 Prognosis

A meta-analysis of 12 studies conducted in community and primary care settings estimated that only around a third of participants achieved remission at the 24-month follow-up, another third remained depressed, and around 20% had died (Cole et al., 1999). Moderate and severe depression at baseline also predicted 10-year mortality after adjustment for covariates (mortality hazard ratio (*MHR*) = 1.29, 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.03-1.61 and *MHR* = 1.34, 95% CI 1.07-1.68 respectively) (Schoevers et al., 2009). The chronicity of LLD is also highlighted in more recent studies that used longer follow-up intervals of six to eight years (Beekman et al., 2002; Stek et al., 2002). Baseline depressive symptom severity, medical burden, and global psychiatric functioning were found to be consistent predictors of two-year outcome, while a history of depression also predicted outcome in the subgroup that had baseline depressive symptom severity scores in the non-depressed range, and perceived social support predicted outcome in the subgroup with baselines depressive symptom severity scores in the subsyndromal to minor depression range (Cui et al., 2008). Another study investigating whether risk factors of incident depression also predicted prognosis of depression in older adults found that a history of depression, functional limitations and incident anxiety predicted a more chronic course of depression (Schoevers et al., 2003a). One study examined recurrence rates of LLD, and the overall recurrence rate for all depressive syndromes was found to be 65.6 (95% CI 61.8-69.7) per 1000 person-years using a 2-year criterion (Luijendijk et al., 2008). While antidepressants appear to be efficacious in the treatment of late-life MDD, the treatment effect was no longer significant when a meta-analysis was stratified to include only studies using an older LLD group (i.e. employing an age cut-off of 65 or 75 years), suggesting that treatment response could possibly be reduced in individuals aged 65 years or older (Tedeschini et al., 2011).

MDD is not only closely associated with suicide in older adults (Conwell et al., 2011), other studies have shown it is also linked to a higher risk of non-suicide mortality (Schulz et al., 2002). A number of mediating mechanisms have been put forward, for example cardiovascular disease

may be triggered by psychological distress, as well as poor health behaviours such as smoking, physical inactivity, and medication non-adherence (Schulz et al., 2002).

2.1.5 Medical and psychiatric comorbidities of late-life depression LLD often co-occurs with other medical and psychiatric conditions in late life, leading to greater levels of functional disability and higher health care costs. The following presents a review of several common medical and psychiatric comorbidities of LLD and their risk relationships.

2.1.5.1 Frailty

Frailty is a clinical syndrome in older adults characterised by increased vulnerability to impairments due to decreased reserve capacity in multiple physiological systems such that resistance to everyday or acute stressors is compromised (Brown et al., 2016; Rodríguez-Mañas et al., 2013). While there is no consensus definition of frailty to date, one operational definition is proposed by Fried et al. (2001), which conceptualises frailty as the presence of three or more of five criteria: unintentional weight loss, self-reported exhaustion, weakness, slow walking speed, and low physical activity. The literature suggests that frailty and depression represent distinct but interrelated constructs, and there is substantial overlapping of both symptoms and risk factors of the two syndromes (Mezuk et al., 2013). The prevalence of physical frailty is significantly higher in depressed older adults compared to non-depressed older adults (odds ratio (OR) = 2.66, 95% CI 1.36-5.24, p = 0.004), even after controlling for covariates (age, gender, number of comorbid chronic physical illnesses, global cognitive function, and living status). Moreover, physical frailty was positively associated with severity of depression (OR = 1.07, 95% CI = 1.05-1.10, p < 0.001) within the depressed group (Collard et al., 2014). Besides, frailty was found to partly mediate the relationship between depression and the number of somatic disease, with the association mainly driven by the exhaustion criterion in the frailty definition (Collard et al., 2015a); moreover, physical frailty predicts the onset of depressed mood, and is associated with lower rates of remission (Collard et al., 2015b).

A review of the literature suggests that this association between frailty and LLD may be bidirectional (Brown et al., 2016; Mezuk et al., 2012). Several explanations have been proposed for this frailty-depression relationship. Firstly, physiological disturbances underlying depression as well as health behaviours associated with depression may result in an increased risk of developing frailty in depressed older adults. Secondly, frailty is commonly associated with chronic physical illnesses and functional impairment, and these may contribute to more severe depression. Lastly, there may be common underlying mechanisms that contribute to the development of both frailty and LLD (Collard et al., 2014).

2.1.5.2 Sleep disturbance

Sleep disturbance is one of the symptoms included in the diagnostic criteria for depression, and is reported in more than half and up to 90% of individuals with diagnosed depression (Tsuno et al., 2005). Alterations of sleep architecture observed in depression commonly include impaired sleep continuity and duration, decreased slow-wave sleep (sleep stages three and four), and disinhibited rapid eye movement sleep (Tsuno et al., 2005). Sleep disturbance also appears to increase with age, with the most prominent features being advanced sleep phase and reduction in amplitude of circadian rhythms of core temperature and endocrine secretion. The prevalence estimates of sleep disturbance reported in surveys conducted among community-dwelling older adults are around 30% (Livingston et al., 1993; Roberts et al., 2000). Besides playing a critical role in memory consolidation and neurogenesis, a growing body of literature suggests that sleep is also involved in mood regulation (Walker, 2009), and studies exploring the relationship between sleep disturbance and depression in older adults show that sleep disturbance is a risk factor for the onset, maintenance and recurrence of LLD (Cho et al., 2008; Livingston et al., 1993; Pigeon et al., 2008; Roberts et al., 2000).

2.1.5.3 Chronic pain

Pain is a common concern among older adults, with chronic pain, i.e. pain that persists beyond normal tissue healing time, affecting more than half of older adults, and higher rates of pain are generally observed in females than in males (McCarthy et al., 2009; Miró et al., 2007; Takai et al., 2010). Individuals with chronic pain were more likely to have a diagnosis of depression (McCarthy et al., 2009) and were more likely to experience more severe depressive symptoms (Landi et al., 2005); conversely, those with a diagnosis of depression were more likely to report the presence of pain symptoms (Bonnewyn et al., 2009). Longitudinal studies also highlight such

a reciprocal relationship between pain and depression: pain at a previous assessment predicted onset of depression, and depression at a previous assessment predicted onset of pain in community-dwelling older adults (Arola et al., 2010; Chou, 2007; Geerlings et al., 2002). This pain-depression relationship was not mediated by disability, but the relationship was found to be stronger in men than in women at the symptom level (Geerlings et al., 2002).

Comorbid pain and depression is associated with poor prognosis. Older adults with comorbid chronic pain and depression were more likely to have suicidal ideation, comorbid personality disorder, higher medical burden and less total sleep time (Meeks et al., 2008). Functional impairment as a consequence of pain also appears to mediate the association between pain severity and depressive symptoms (Mavandadi et al., 2007).

2.1.5.4 Overweight, obesity and metabolic syndrome

Overweight and obesity is usually defined using the body mass index (BMI), which is calculated by dividing the weight in kilograms by the height in metres squared. Individuals with a BMI of 25 or more are classified as overweight and those with a BMI of 30 or more are classified as obese based on international classification developed by the World Health Organization (2000). Rates of overweight and obesity in older adults are rather high, with 79.9% of men and 68.8% of women aged 65 to 74 years being overweight or obese, and 73.2% of men and 65.6% of women aged 75 years and over being overweight or obese in Australia (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2015). Overweight and obesity represent a major risk factor for a range of medical conditions, including cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes mellitus, as well as certain cancers.

Cross-sectional studies have reported mixed results. BMI, waist circumference and waist-to-hip ratio were significantly associated with depressive symptoms; however, the latter two were associated only with the somatic- but not the cognitive-affective symptom cluster (Marijnissen et al., 2011). On the other hand, depressed older adults were found to have lower waist circumference compared to their non-depressed counterpart, and waist circumference was associated with both depression severity and duration-related clinical features (i.e. age of onset, duration of illness and lifetime comorbid dysthymia) (Marijnissen et al., 2014).

Longitudinal studies are more informative as they allow us to determine the direction of the association. Several studies have shown that a higher BMI or obesity at baseline predicted the presence of depression or depressive symptoms at follow-up (Roberts et al., 2003; Sachs-Ericsson et al., 2007). Moreover, a higher BMI or obesity at baseline was associated with higher risk of incident depression or depressive symptoms in men over five and 10 years in two studies (Almeida et al., 2009a; Vogelzangs et al., 2010). There have also been suggestions that the relationship may be reciprocal, but the evidence in older adults is mixed. One study reported baseline depression was associated with an increase in abdominal obesity (i.e. sagittal diameter and visceral fat) at follow-up (Vogelzangs et al., 2008), while another study reported that subgroups of older adults with more and persistent depressive symptoms tend to have lower BMI compared to those with low depressive symptoms (Kuo et al., 2011).

Metabolic syndrome is a cluster of risk factors that increases the risks of developing cardio- and cerebrovascular disease as well as diabetes. It is diagnosed when three or more of the following criteria are met, as shown in Table 2.2.

Measure	Categorical cut points
Elevated waist circumference	Population- and country-specific thresholds
	apply
Elevated triglycerides	\geq 1.7mmol/L or pharmacological treatment for
	elevated triglycerides
Reduced high-density lipoprotein	< 1.0mmol/L in men and < 1.3mmol/L in
cholesterol	women or pharmacological treatment for
	reduced high-density lipoprotein cholesterol
Elevated blood pressure	Systolic \geq 130mmHg and/or diastolic \geq 85mmHg
	or antihypertensive use in a patient with a
	history of hypertension
Elevated fasting glucose	\geq 5.5mmol/L or pharmacological treatment for
	elevated glucose

Table 2.2. Diagnostic criteria for metabolic syndrome (Alberti et al., 2009).

Studies examining the relationship between depression and metabolic syndrome have reported conflicting findings; one study found no association between MDD and metabolic syndrome, but subthreshold depression was linked to lower odds of having metabolic syndrome (Vogelzangs et al., 2009), while another study found that depressive symptoms were significantly associated with

metabolic syndrome and a range of metabolic risk factors in men (Marijnissen et al., 2013). It is likely that other factors may mediate or moderate this association; for example, Vogelzangs and colleagues (2007) found that the prevalence of metabolic syndrome was significantly higher in depressed older participants within the highest urinary cortisol tertile than in any other group, suggesting that hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis dysregulation mediates this association.

2.1.5.5 Diabetes mellitus

Diabetes mellitus is a complex metabolic condition marked by elevated levels of blood glucose. Data from the 2014-2015 Australian Health Survey indicate that the prevalence of diabetes increases rapidly with age, and the rate of diabetes in people aged 65 to 74 years and 75 to 84 years is double to three times that in middle-aged adults (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2015). Diabetes in older adults is linked to a range of poor health outcomes, one of which is depression. A number of studies showed that diabetes is associated with both prevalent and incident depression, even after controlling for a range of potential confounders such as age and sex (Amato et al., 1996; Chou & Chi, 2005; de Jonge et al., 2006; Finkelstein et al., 2003; Mezuk et al., 2008). One population-based study, however, found that rates of depression were increased only in older adults with type 2 diabetes and comorbid diseases, but not in those with type 2 diabetes alone (Pouwer et al., 2003). Results from a meta-analysis support this diabetes-LLD link, with older adults diagnosed with diabetes significantly more likely to have LLD than those without diabetes (OR = 1.51, 95% CI 1.30-1.76) (Valkanova & Ebmeier, 2013). Some studies suggest this diabetes-LLD link may be bidirectional; however, hitherto it is unclear whether this association is mediated by other diabetes-related complications like vascular disease or visual impairment (Chou & Chi, 2005; Pan et al., 2010). Nonetheless, comorbid diabetes and depression is generally associated with a greater health burden, including increased risk of comorbid vascular disease, increased diabetic complications as well as functional disability (Black, 1999).

2.1.5.6 Vascular disease

Vascular disease is a collective term for various diseases of blood vessels, including coronary heart disease and stroke. There is growing evidence to suggest that the relationship between

depression and vascular disease is likely to be bidirectional. Specifically in older adults, depressive symptoms or disorders are associated with an increased risk of developing vascular diseases in otherwise healthy individuals (OR = 1.36, 95% CI 1.18-1.57) (Van der Kooy et al., 2007). A longitudinal study of geriatric rehabilitation inpatients also showed that baseline vascular burden predicted subsequent depression at 6- and 18-month follow-ups (Mast et al., 2004).

Coronary heart disease is the most common form of heart disease, and is caused by a gradual build-up of plaques in the coronary arteries. Baune et al. (2006) estimated the prevalence for any depression (unipolar MDD or dysthymia) in adults with coronary heart disease is 29.8%, which is significantly higher than that in adults without coronary heart disease (OR = 1.92, 95% CI 1.37-2.70). A meta-analysis of cohort studies on depression and coronary heart disease also concluded that depression predicts incident coronary heart disease (relative risk (RR) = 1.64, 95% CI 1.29-2.08) (Rugulies, 2002). Acute myocardial infarction is one of the major clinical forms of coronary heart disease, and it is estimated that almost one in five patients with acute myocardial infarction experience MDD and up to around a third experience significant depressive symptoms (Thombs et al., 2006). Post-myocardial infarction depression in older adults also appears to be an independent risk factor for early mortality after discharge (Romanelli et al., 2002), and dysthymia predicted poor cardiac outcome at 2.5-year follow-up (Rafanelli et al., 2010).

Depression affects around a third of adult stroke survivors (Hackett & Pickles, 2014), which is significantly higher than the proportion in adults without a history of stroke (OR = 2.50, 95% 1.46-4.28) (Baune et al., 2006). It is also associated with an increased risk of future stroke (RR = 1.34, 95% CI 1.17-1.54) (Dong et al., 2012). This stroke-depression association remains significant when meta-analyses only included samples with mean age of 50 and over (OR = 2.11, 95% CI 1.61-2.77) (Valkanova & Ebmeier, 2013), or samples with mean age of 65 years and over (hazard ratio (HR) = 1.30, 95% CI 1.18-1.44) (Pan et al., 2011). A history of transient ischaemic attacks was also associated with higher rates of depressive symptoms compared to those with

hypertension but no transient ischaemic attacks, or those with neither hypertension nor transient ischaemic attacks at 10-year follow-up (Hickie et al., 2003).

Other studies have tried to investigate the relationship between LLD and other vascular risk factors such as smoking, hypertension and dyslipidaemia, but the findings are less consistent. A meta-analysis showed that the studies that examined these associations had moderate to significant heterogeneity, and their pooled effects were all non-significant (Valkanova & Ebmeier, 2013). There is also some evidence to suggest that vascular risk factors are more commonly observed in older adults with the late-onset subtype of depression (Hickie et al., 2001).

2.1.5.7 Neurocognitive disorders

Depression is frequently associated with cognitive impairment, with around 20-46% of individuals with mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and around 30% of those with dementia experiencing depression (Gabryelewicz et al., 2004; Leyhe et al., 2017; Lyketsos et al., 2002). Studies of LLD consistently report significant neuropsychological deficits, most commonly observed in the domains of executive function, attention/processing speed, memory, and occasionally visuospatial abilities, and the deficits are often more pronounced in LOD (Herrmann et al., 2007; Naismith et al., 2003). Cognitive abilities are not independent of each other, and some studies have shown that such neuropsychological deficits are almost entirely mediated by impairments in processing speed (Butters et al., 2004; Nebes et al., 2000; Sheline et al., 2006). LLD cognitive subtypes may also be differentially associated with functional disability; one study examining patterns of neuropsychological impairments in LLD identified three different clusters - one with memory impairment only, another with executive dysfunction and memory impairment, and the last with attentional deficits and memory impairment - and it showed that the executive/memory impairment group was associated with a later depression age of onset as well as greater functional disability than the memory impairment only group (Lockwood et al., 2000).

While previously considered to be transient and often labelled as 'pseudodementia' or 'reversible dementia', current evidence indicates such deficits may persist even after treatment and remission of mood symptoms (Bhalla et al., 2006; Devanand et al., 2003; Nebes et al., 2003). In

fact, 18-57% of older adults with depression may have cognitive deficits severe enough to meet criteria for a diagnosis of dementia, and depressed older adults with what is considered 'reversible dementia' have an almost five times higher chance of developing 'irreversible dementia' than depressed older adults without dementia (Alexopoulos et al., 1993). The prevalence of comorbid cognitive impairment and depressive symptoms is also said to double every five years after the age of 70 years (Arve et al., 1999).

The relationship between depression and cognitive decline is complex, and a certain degree of controversy remains on whether depression represents a risk factor or a prodrome for cognitive decline. Studies examining the temporal relationship between depression and dementia have reported conflicting results. Meta-analyses reported that while most studies showed that previous diagnosis of depression predicts subsequent dementia and the risk appears to be positively associated with cumulative depression burden (i.e., greater frequency and severity of depressive episodes), around a quarter of published studies did not show any statistically significant difference in dementia risk between those with and without a previous diagnosis of depression (da Silva et al., 2013; Diniz et al., 2013a; Jorm, 2001; Ownby et al., 2006). A number of studies also explored whether EOD and LOD were associated with differential dementia risk and they similarly reported mixed findings (da Silva et al., 2013).

As far as dementia subtypes are concerned, individuals with LLD have a significantly higher risk of developing vascular dementia (VaD) than Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Diniz et al., 2013a; Lenoir et al., 2011; Newman, 1999), and the prevalence of comorbid depressive disorders is indeed higher in VaD than in AD (Castilla-Puentes & Habeych, 2010; Park et al., 2007). Individuals with VaD also have more severe depression and display more neurovegetative symptoms than those with AD when the groups were matched on dementia severity (Park et al., 2007; Sultzer et al., 1993). A longitudinal study of depressive symptoms in AD and VaD showed that the prevalence of depressive symptoms decreased in those with AD while it increased in those with VaD over time, suggesting depressive symptoms are likely more persistent and refractory to treatment in VaD than in AD (Li et al., 2001). Individuals with dementia with Lewy

bodies are also more likely to experience depression relative to those with AD (Ballard et al., 1999).

Besides dementia, baseline depressive symptoms have also been found to be associated with an increased risk of MCI as well as incident MCI (Barnes et al., 2006; Steenland et al., 2012). Individuals with higher baseline depressive symptom severity were also more likely to have multi-domain MCI than single-domain amnestic MCI, and were more likely to convert to dementia (Gabryelewicz et al., 2007). However, another prospective population-based study reported that depressive symptoms and cognitive impairment are only cross-sectionally associated (Ganguli et al., 2006). In addition, comorbid depressive symptoms in MCI also increase the rate of conversion to dementia (Barnes et al., 2006), with a large meta-analysis reporting a pooled RR of 1.28 (95% CI 1.09-1.52) in older adults with MCI who have comorbid depressive symptoms compared to older adults with MCI but no depressive symptoms (Mourao et al., 2016).

Fewer studies examined whether cognitive impairment represents a risk factor of LLD, and their pooled effect has been investigated in one meta-analysis. When only studies involving non-dementia cognitive impairment were included, the pooled effect size was non-significant, indicating there was no association between non-dementia cognitive impairment and depression. However, the prevalence of depression was significantly higher in older adults with dementia compared to those without dementia (OR = 1.82, 95% CI 1.15-2.89) (Huang et al., 2011).

2.1.5.8 Parkinson's disease

Depression occurs in around 35 to 50% of individuals with Parkinson's disease (Reijnders et al., 2008), and is the most common non-motor symptom of the disease. However, as there is considerable overlap in the core symptoms of both disorders, it is often difficult to differentiate between the two, resulting in potential over- and underdiagnosis. There is evidence to suggest that the probability of developing a depression was significantly higher in individuals with Parkinson's disease than in those with other chronic medical conditions, namely diabetes and osteoarthritis (Nilsson et al., 2002).

The hypothesis that depression is a prodromal condition of Parkinson's disease has also been explored in several studies. A systematic review of the literature showed that premorbid depression was significantly associated with Parkinson's disease in eight out of nine included studies, although all these studies were retrospective in nature (Ishihara & Brayne, 2006). Studies have reported that depressive symptoms may predate the onset of motor symptoms by as long as 36 years (Leentjens et al., 2003), with a significantly higher incidence especially within five years (Burn, 2002).

2.1.5.9 Other psychiatric disorders

Depressed older adults are more likely to have other comorbid psychiatric disorders than nondepressed controls (Laborde-Lahoz et al., 2015). Alcohol use disorders are common in older adults, and are associated with notable physical, psychological and social problems. Prevalence rates of alcohol use disorders in older adults are estimated to be up to 16% in community-based studies and up to 58% in health care settings (Blow et al., 2007; Lin et al., 2011), and alcohol use disorders are three to fourfold more common in depressed older adults than non-depressed older adults (Grant & Harford, 1995; Saunders et al., 1991). Depressed individuals with comorbid alcohol use disorders tend to have a more complicated clinical course and poorer prognosis compared to those with either disorder alone (Cook et al., 1991; Hanna & Grant, 1997). Drug use disorders, on the other hand, are rare in older adults (Blazer & Wu, 2009).

Research on the comorbidity of depressive and anxiety disorders in late life is scarce, but epidemiologic studies suggest the two are highly concomitant (Beekman et al., 2000; Braam et al., 2014; Lenze et al., 2000; Mulsant et al., 1996; Schoevers et al., 2003b). Prevalence of the comorbid anxiety-depression syndrome also appears to decrease with age (Byers et al., 2010). Comorbid late-life depressive and anxiety disorders are associated with more severe somatic symptoms, poorer social function, greater suicidality (Lenze et al., 2000), greater memory decline (DeLuca et al., 2005) and greater disability (Braam et al., 2014), although comorbid anxious-depression was not associated with a poorer antidepressant response (Nelson et al., 2009).

Similarly, only a few studies have examined the association between personality disorders and LLD, and the relationship is not well established. Early studies with small sample sizes found that older individuals with a history of MDD, particularly the early-onset subgroup, were more likely to have greater lifetime personality dysfunction (Abrams et al., 1987; Abrams et al., 1994). Moreover, a comorbidity personality disorder appeared to predict the maintenance or recurrence of depressive symptoms in depressed older adults (Morse & Lynch, 2004).

2.2 Neurobiological correlates of late-life depression

LLD is a heterogeneous neuropsychiatric disorder that likely has a multifactorial aetiology; there is increasing evidence to show that there are structural, functional and molecular alterations in the brain as well as neuropathological substrates underlying LLD (Naismith et al., 2012). A review of existing evidence on the neurobiological correlates of LLD is presented below.

2.2.1 Structural neuroimaging

2.2.1.1 Structural magnetic resonance imaging

Neurobiological abnormalities, particularly in the fronto-subcortical and limbic regions, have been hypothesised to play a role in the development of LLD, and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) has proven to be a useful tool for the *in vivo* examination of such abnormalities in LLD.

Structural MRI can be used to study grey matter volumetric changes in specific pre-defined cortical and subcortical regions using the region of interest analysis, or globally using voxel-based morphometry. Most studies that measured whole brain volumes did not detect significant global volumetric reductions in depressed older adults (Andreescu et al., 2008; Ballmaier et al., 2008; Lloyd et al., 2004; Pantel et al., 1997; Sheline et al., 1996), and a meta-analysis of 14 studies showed that the pooled effect was not significant (Sexton et al., 2013). Atrophy of the frontal lobe as well as of subregions of the prefrontal cortex, including the anterior cingulate cortex and the orbitofrontal cortex, has been observed in numerous studies (Andreescu et al., 2008; Kumar et al., 2000; Lavretsky et al., 2007; Lehmbeck et al., 2008; Taylor et al., 2007a). These frontal volumetric reductions may be more strongly associated with the late-onset subtype, as one study reported significantly smaller frontal lobe volumes in LOD relative to EOD and controls

(Almeida et al., 2003), whereas two other studies comparing EOD to controls found no significant differences in frontal lobe volumes (Janssen et al., 2004; Weber et al., 2010).

The hippocampus is the most frequently studied region of interest in relation to LLD due to its role in mood regulation as well as its connections to other brain regions implicated in depression including the thalamus, amygdala, basal ganglia, and prefrontal cortex. Hippocampal volumetric reductions are common in studies of LLD (Andreescu et al., 2008; Ballmaier et al., 2008; Lim et al., 2012; Sheline et al., 1996), although findings are inconsistent in regard to whether hippocampal volumes differ between EOD and LOD (Ballmaier et al., 2008; Janssen et al., 2007; Lloyd et al., 2004). A recent meta-analysis showed that both EOD and LOD are associated with significant hippocampal volumetric reductions, but the volumetric changes are greater in LOD than in EOD (Geerlings & Gerritsen, 2017). There may also be an age of onset by genotype interaction, with smaller hippocampal volumes observed in solute carrier family 6 member 4 (SLC6A4) 5-HTTLPR L/L homozygotes with LOD but in S/S homozygotes with EOD in one study (Taylor et al., 2005). Furthermore, specific depressive symptom dimensions appear to be differentially associated with grey matter volumes, as a vertex-wise analysis study showed that scores on the depressed mood subscale of the CES-D were positively associated with grey matter volumes in the left inferior temporal lobe after correcting for multiple comparisons (McLaren et al., 2017).

In addition to global hippocampal volumetric changes, studies have also examined hippocampal shape differences in LLD using computational mapping techniques. Comparing depressed older adults and controls, Zhao and colleagues (2008) found shape differences in the left hippocampus that roughly correspond to contraction in the dentate gyrus and the CA4 subfield, and expansion in the subiculum and the CA2 and CA3 subfields. When the depressed group was further divided into remitted and non-remitted subgroups, it revealed the significant shape differences distinguished the depressed non-remitted group from the remitted and controls groups. Another study showed significant bilateral regional volumetric reductions that correspond to contractions in the anterior CA1 to CA3 subfields and the subiculum in LLD compared to controls, but comparisons between EOD and LOD also showed more pronounced reductions in the anterior

aspects of the subiculum and the lateral-posterior aspects of the CA1 subfield in LOD (Ballmaier et al., 2008).

A few studies have examined the association between cortical thickness and LLD, but they reported contradictory results. While two earlier studies found no effect of LLD on cortical thickness, two other studies observed cortical thinning in the frontal, parietal, temporal and cingulate regions (Lim et al., 2012; Mackin et al., 2013).

On the other hand, the presence of WMHs or white matter lesions is one of the most consistently reported finding in the LLD neuroimaging literature. WMHs, also referred to as leukoaraiosis or leukoencephalopathy in the early LLD literature, are increased signal intensities on T2-weighted fluid attenuated inversion recovery magnetic resonance imaging. These cerebral white matter lesions generally predate the onset of depressive symptoms but are in fact also present in the majority of community-dwelling older adults, with age being the biggest predictor of total WMH burden (de Leeuw et al., 2001; Liao et al., 1997; O'Brien et al., 1996a; Söderlund et al., 2003; Ylikoski et al., 1995). WMHs also appear to be associated with the persisting cognitive deficits in LLD, specifically in the domains of memory and executive function (Köhler et al., 2010).

WMHs can be further classified into periventricular hyperintensities and deep WMHs based on their location in the brain. Periventricular hyperintensities are located adjacent to the lateral ventricles whereas deep WMHs are located in the subcortical regions. The severity of these WMHs was traditionally rated visually using standardised scales such as the Fazekas scales (Fazekas et al., 1987), the Scheltens scale (Scheltens et al., 1993) or with reference to the dilation of Virchow-Robin spaces, but volumetric measurements are now typically utilised in most WMH studies. Deep WMHs have consistently been found to be more common and/or more severe in LLD (O'Brien et al., 1996b; Thomas et al., 2004), but some studies also suggest there are increased and/or more severe periventricular hyperintensities in LLD (Coffey et al., 1990; de Groot et al., 2000; Herrmann et al., 2008). Deep WMHs (both large and punctate) in depressed older adults are more likely to be ischaemic in nature, and are primarily located in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, while punctate deep WMHs in the control group are usually nonischaemic (Thomas et al., 2002a). The causes for periventricular hyperintensities, however,

appeared to be similar for both depressed and non-depressed older adults, namely (i) ependymal loss, (ii) sudden contrast in myelination between adjacent fibre tracts and fibre loss in the WM, and (iii) ischaemic demyelination and tissue loss (Thomas et al., 2002b; Thomas et al., 2003). A meta-analysis that compared the presence and severity of WMHs in EOD and LOD showed that those with LOD are approximately four times as likely to have periventricular hyperintensities and deep WMHs as their early-onset counterpart; however, these subgroups did not differ significantly in terms of WMH severity (Herrmann et al., 2008).

It is possible that the strategic location of WMHs is of greater importance than total volume, and WMHs disrupting frontal-subcortical projections or the dorsolateral prefrontal circuit have been implicated in vascular depression. When the WMH burden in individuals with LLD was compared to controls, increased WMHs were detected in the white matter tracts within the dorsolateral prefrontal circuit (Sheline et al., 2008) and in the medial orbital prefrontal cortex (MacFall et al., 2001) in the LLD group.

2.2.1.2 Diffusion tensor imaging

Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) is a MRI technique that can be used to assess white matter microstructure through measuring the diffusion of water molecules in white matter fibre tracts, and allows for the structural integrity of pathways involved in various neural networks to be examined. There are four main indices that can be derived from DTI – fractional anisotropy (FA) measures the degree of directionality, mean diffusivity measures the average water diffusion regardless of directionality, radial diffusivity measures myelin integrity, and axial diffusivity measures axon integrity. These can be assessed either locally in subjectively defined regions using region of interest analysis or globally with voxel-based analysis or tract-based spatial statistics.

DTI studies of LLD consistently report widespread reductions in FA in depressed older adults. Most studies found reduced FA predominantly in frontal and temporal regions (Alexopoulos et al., 2009; Bae et al., 2006; Nobuhara et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2007; Yuan et al., 2007), while a few studies reported reductions in FA in the corpus callosum, the cingulate cortex and/or the cingulum bundles (Alves et al., 2012; Bae et al., 2006; Mettenburg et al., 2012) and another two reported diffuse reductions in FA across multiple brain regions (Reppermund et al., 2014; Sexton et al., 2012). Two other studies, however, reported no significant differences in FA between the depressed and non-depressed groups (Bezerra et al., 2012; Colloby et al., 2011). One study that excluded regions with WMHs found that even normal-appearing white matter can have microstructural abnormalities when investigated using DTI (Shimony et al., 2009). A recent meta-analysis showed that when results were pooled together, significant FA reductions were found in the frontal lobe, the corpus callosum, the uncinate fasciculus and the cingulum (Wen et al., 2014). Studies that also used other DTI indices provided some evidence for increased mean, radial and axial diffusivity in the corpus callosum, uncinate fasciculus or the cingulum (Charlton et al., 2014; Mettenburg et al., 2012). Subthreshold depressive symptoms also appear to be associated with reduced FA and increased radial and axial diffusivity (Allan et al., 2016).

2.2.2 Functional neuroimaging

2.2.2.1 Resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging

Disruptions to the frontostriatal and limbic networks have been hypothesised to underlie LLD. Resting-state functional MRI can be used to investigate the degree of functional connectivity in various brain networks. It is considered that LLD involves alterations across multiple resting state networks, such as the default mode network, the affective network, and the cognitive control network. Most studies suggest that LLD is associated with increased functional connectivity in the default mode network (Alexopoulos et al., 2012; Andreescu et al., 2013; Wu et al., 2011) and decreased functional connectivity in the cognitive control network (Aizenstein et al., 2009; Alexopoulos et al., 2012) and the affective network (Wu et al., 2011). However, two other studies observed widespread or global increased connectivity (Bohr et al., 2013; Kenny et al., 2010) and another found no significant differences in functional connectivity in any of the networks (Sexton et al., 2012).

Resting-state functional connectivity also appears to be correlated with white matter macro- and microstructure, with significant negative correlations observed between resting-state functional connectivity in the medial frontal region and normalised WMH volume in both depressed and non-depressed older adults (Wu et al., 2011), as well as between resting-state functional

connectivity in the left vendromedial prefrontal cortex-caudate and fractional anisotropy in the left uncinate fasciculus in older adults with remitted MDD (Steffens et al., 2011).

2.2.2.2 Positron emission tomography

Positron emission tomography (PET) is an *in vivo* imaging technique that can be used to quantify perfusion or metabolism through the detection of γ radioactivity that is emitted by a radioligand, and it offers high temporal and spatial resolution. The use of different radioligands allows for various biological processes to be visualised, including activation of microglia, beta-amyloid deposition, as well neurotransmitter receptor binding (Hirao & Smith, 2014).

Only two studies have examined the alterations to cerebral glucose metabolism in LLD relative to controls using [¹⁸F]fluorodeoxyglucose PET, and the findings were contradictory. Kumar et al. (Kumar et al., 1993) found hypometabolism in most neocortical, subcortical and paralimbic regions assessed, while Smith et al. (Smith et al., 2009b) reported hypermetabolism in both anterior and posterior cortical regions, with cerebral cortical metabolism positively correlated with severity of depressive symptoms. Treatment-resistant late-onset MDD was found to be associated with decreased metabolism in other regions including the dorsal frontal region, occipital pole, cerebellum and basal ganglia (Fujimoto et al., 2008). Other studies generally observed decreased metabolism in the anterior cortical and limbic regions and increased metabolism in the posterior cortical regions and cerebellum following treatment (Diaconescu et al., 2011; Smith et al., 2009c). Lower baseline and greater reductions in metabolism appear to be associated with better antidepressant response (Smith et al., 2011; Smith et al., 2009a).

Besides cerebral glucose metabolism, cerebral blood flow can be measured using the [¹⁵O]water ligand. Cross-sectionally, mean depressive symptom scores were found to be associated with regional cerebral blood flow (rCBF) mainly in frontotemporal regions and the cerebellum in a sample of dementia-free older adults with subthreshold depression. Longitudinally, rCBF decreases were observed in frontal regions in those with higher depressive symptom scores, and in temporal regions in men only (Dotson et al., 2009). One small study also assessed rCBF using an activation paradigm (using a word generation task), and observed activation deficits in the dorsal anterior cingulate gyrus and hippocampus bilaterally in depressed older adults compared to controls, and their memory scores were correlated with both resting and activation rCBF in the hippocampus (de Asis et al., 2001).

PET has also been used to examine monoaminergic function in LLD. Investigations of serotonergic function in LLD has been carried out using the [¹¹C]WAY 100635 and [¹⁸F]altanserin ligands. Reduced serotonin (5-HT)_{1A} receptor binding in the dorsal raphe nucleus was observed in a group of depressed older adults relative to controls, with binding potential correlated with severity of depressive symptoms (Meltzer et al., 2004). The findings with regards to 5-HT_{2A} receptor binding, however, are inconsistent, with Meltzer et al. (1999) reporting no alterations of 5-HT_{2A} receptor binding in LLD and Sheline et al. (2004) reporting reduced 5-HT_{2A} receptor binding in LLD. Antidepressant medications may mediate the association between 5-HT_{2A} binding potential and LLD, as the untreated group showed greater reductions in 5-HT_{2A} receptor binding. There were no significant differences in 5-HT_{2A} receptor binding between EOD and LOD (Sheline et al., 2004). While alterations in other neurotransmitter systems such as the dopaminergic, glutamatergic, GABAergic systems have also been implicated in depression, there are no published studies to date that examined their function in LLD.

On the other hand, [¹¹C]PK11195 is a radioligand that selectively binds to the peripheral benzodiazepine receptor (also known as the translocator protein) and is a marker for neuroinflammation, specifically microglial activation. Increased binding of [¹¹C]PK11195 has previously been reported in individuals with stroke and AD (Edison et al., 2008; Gerhard et al., 2005; Pappata et al., 2000). A small study recently showed there was greater [¹¹C]PK11195 PET binding in older adults with DSM-IV MDD in the left subgenual anterior cingulate cortex and right parahippocampus relative to controls (Su et al., 2016).

Furthermore, PET imaging has also been used to examine various types of neuropathology *in vivo*. AD pathology has been examined in LLD using the Pittsburgh compound B. Butters et al. (2008) showed that there were varying degrees of Pittsburgh compound B retention in remitted late-life MDD, with elevated Pittsburgh compound B retention observed in those with

concurrent MCI. Untreated LLD without concurrent MCI, on the other hand, was associated with greater amyloid beta deposition in the anterior cingulate gyrus, superior and middle front and temporal gyri, and precuneus; greater amyloid beta deposition also correlated with poorer neuropsychological performance as well as less cognitive improvement following treatment (Marano et al., 2013). More recently, the [¹⁸F]FDDNP ligand has been used in studies to examine protein binding of amyloid beta and tau in LLD. Depression scores were correlated with FDDNP binding in the lateral temporal region in middle-aged and older adults with concurrent MCI, and in the medial temporal region in those without concurrent MCI (Lavretsky et al., 2009), whereas late-life MMD was associated with greater FDDNP binding in the posterior cingulate and lateral temporal regions (Kumar et al., 2011).

In summary, there are limited PET studies of LLD to date and the findings are far from conclusive. The ongoing development of radioligands for other neurotransmitter systems, such as [¹¹C]MRB that binds to the norepinephrine transporter (Ding et al., 2010) may further elucidate the pathophysiological mechanisms involved in LLD.

2.2.2.3 Single-photon emission computed tomography

Single-photon emission computed tomography can be used to quantify resting-state changes in rCBF. rCBF can be directly assessed using the ¹³³Xe radioligand or indirectly using the ^{99m}Tc-hexamethylpropylene amine oxime radioligand. While studies seem to disagree on whether there is global cerebral hypoperfusion in LLD (Lesser et al., 1994; Nobler et al., 2000; Upadhyaya et al., 1990), significant reductions in relative rCBF bilaterally in the prefrontal, temporal and parietal cortices, the hippocampus and the caudate nucleus were demonstrated in late-life MDD when compared to healthy controls (Awata et al., 1998; Ishizaki et al., 2008; Nobler et al., 2000).

When the depressed group was stratified by age of onset, Ebmeier et al. (1998) found decreased cerebral perfusion in the temporal lobe of those with LOD relative to both those with EOD as well as controls. Some studies observed interaction effects with sex, for instance greater reductions in cerebral perfusion were observed in the whole brain (Lesser et al., 1994) as well as specifically in the frontal and temporal cortices, anterior cingulate, caudate and thalamus (Curran et al., 1993) in older depressed men. The degree of cerebral perfusion, however, was not

always associated with clinical features such as age of onset or severity of depressive symptoms (Awata et al., 1998; Curran et al., 1993; Navarro et al., 2001).

2.2.3 Post-mortem studies

Influenced by the monoamine hypothesis of depression, two early post-mortem studies investigated neurotransmitter receptor binding sites in depressed older adults. No alterations in 5-HT_{1A} binding sites were found, but reductions in the number of 5-HT₂ binding sites were observed in frontal, temporal and parietal tissues (Bowen et al., 1989). Crow and colleagues (1984), on the other hand, found no significant differences in 5-HT binding sites between depressed older adults and controls.

Relatively few studies have investigated the neuropathological correlates of LLD, and the results are inconsistent most likely due to the great heterogeneity in methodology as well as populations sampled. Their findings are summarised in Table 2.3 below (in the case of overlapping samples, only the study with the largest sample is included). In brief, LLD was not associated with most of the pathologies examined, including amyloid pathology, α-synucleinopathy, tauopathy or vascular pathology. Among the significant findings, neuronal loss in subcortical structures (substantia nigra, nucleus basalis, raphe nucleus and locus coeruleus) (Tsopelas et al., 2011), greater AD pathology burden (Sweet et al., 2004; Wilson et al., 2016), more Lewy bodies in the substantia nigra and locus coeruleus (Tsopelas et al., 2011), and a greater degree of atheroma (Thomas et al., 2001) have been observed in the LLD group relative to controls. Both Sweet et al. (2004) and Wilson et al. (2016) included participants with dementia, which may have been a confounding factor. Few studies utilised more sensitive vascular and inflammatory markers in LLD. There is also one report of increased expression of intracellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-I) and vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-I) in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, suggesting there is increased ischaemia-induced inflammation in LLD (Thomas et al., 2002a). It is important to bear in mind that while these findings provide some support for the vascular depression hypothesis, there has not been any replications of these studies to date.

Despite the crucial role of glial cells in neurogenesis and synaptic plasticity, only a small number of post-mortem studies examined changes in glial density in LLD. Among these limited studies, only one study (overlapping samples in two papers) reported a reduction in glial density in the amygdala in LLD (Bowley et al., 2002; Hamidi et al., 2004). No differences in glial density was observed in other regions including the entorhinal cortex, the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, the orbitofrontal cortex, the caudate nucleus or the anterior cingulate cortex (Hamidi et al., 2004; Khundakar et al., 2009; Khundakar et al., 2010, 2011a; Khundakar et al., 2011b; Rajkowska et al., 2005). Studies that tested potential differences in glial density between EOD and LOD also found no significant differences (Khundakar et al., 2009; Rajkowska et al., 2005).

|--|

Study Hendricksen	Cases n=14, age at	Controls n=10, age at	Criteria / instrument used to assess depression CES-D>10	Brain weight / neuronal loss n.s.	AD patholo gy n.s.	Lewy bodies	Braak stage	Vascular pathology	Other
et al. (2004)	death=71.0±8.6 years, 71% female	death=77.5±6.7 years, 60% female	& DSM-III-R MD or DSM-IV MDD						
Jellinger et al. (2009)	n=12, age at death=73.7±6.5 years, 75% female	n=27, age at death=72.8±5.7 years, 63% female	DSM-IV or ICD-10 depression or bipolar disorder	n.s.		Ś	n.s.		
Royall & Palmer (2013)	n=436, age at de	ath=85.9±5.3ª	CES-D		n.s.	n.s.		n.s.	
Santos et al. (2010)	n=38, age at death=79±6.1, 58% female	n=29, age at death=80±8.6, 48% female	DSM-IV MD with first episode at age 65 years or older					n.s.	Deep white matter or periventricular white matter demyelination n.s.; focal or diffuse gliosis n.s.
Sweet et al. (2004)	n=10, age at death=85.1±7.4, 90% female	n=56, age at death=81.2±6.8, 50% female	DSM-IV MDD or BD		+	n.s.		n.s.	Other degeneration n.s.

Study	Cases	Controls	Criteria / instrument used to assess depression	Brain weight / neuronal loss	AD patholo gy	Lewy bodies	Braak stage	Vascular pathology	Other
Syed et al. (2005)	n=9, age at death>70, 57% female	n=18, age at death>70, 57% female	GMS- AGECAT>3	n.s.	n.s.			n.s.	
Thomas et al. (2001)	n=20, age at death=75.0±7.4, 65% female	n=20, age at death=74.2±7.5, 65% female	DSM-IV MD		n.s.	Nil	n.s.	Atheroma +, micro- vascular n.s.	
Tsopelas et al. (2011)	n=36, age at death=82.3±7.5, 58% female	n=117, age at death=85.0±7.5, 51% female	GMS- AGECAT>3	Brain weight n.s.; neuronal loss +	n.s.	+	n.s.	n.s.	
Wilson et al. n=657, age at death=87.9±6.7ª (2016)		DSM-III MD with subset of questions from DIS; 10-item CES-D		Plaques + for MD but not depress ive sympto ms; NFTs n.s.	n.s.		n.s.		

^a Separate demographic information for cases versus controls have not been reported in these studies.

Abbreviations: AGECAT – Automated Geriatric Examination for Computer Assisted Taxonomy; AD – Alzheimer's disease; BD – bipolar disorder; CES-D – Centre for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale; DIS – Diagnostic Interview Schedule; DSM – Diagnostic and Statistical

Manual of Mental Disorders; GMS – Geriatric Mental State Examination; LC – locus coeruleus; MD – major depression; MDD – major depressive disorder; NFT – neurofibrillary tangles; n.s. – non-significant

2.3 Risk factors for late-life depression

Despite major advances in neuroimaging techniques in the past two decades that have provided important insights into the neurobiological disruptions associated with LLD, it is unclear whether such neurobiological alterations represent the cause or effect of the disorder, and understanding of the aetiological mechanisms underlying LLD is still limited. There is now increasing recognition that multiple biopsychosocial risk factors contribute to the development of LLD (including but not limited to genetics, chronic disease, and stressful life events), with complex interactions between these various risk factors that determine an individual's vulnerability and resilience to the disorder. Some of the risk factors that have been examined more often in the literature are reviewed below.

2.3.1 Genetic risk factors

Family, twin and adoption studies consistently demonstrate that there is a significant genetic component in depression, with the heritability of MDD in adulthood estimated at 37% (Sullivan et al., 2000). Five published studies examined the heritability of LLD and reported modest to moderate heritability (Carmelli et al., 2000; Gatz et al., 1992; Jansson et al., 2004; Johnson et al., 2002; McGue & Christensen, 1997), suggesting that genetics explain a significant proportion of the variance in LLD.

Genetic polymorphisms associated with depression in early and mid-life have been studied extensively, yet few candidate gene studies have been conducted for LLD. Most of these studies have focused on the most obvious candidates, for example *SLC6A4*5-HTTLPR, brain derived neurotrophic factor (*BDNF*) Val66Met, methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (*MTHFR*) C677T as well as apolipoprotein E (*APOE*) $\epsilon 2/\epsilon 3/\epsilon 4$, for their associations with MDD in non-geriatric samples as well as with conditions commonly comorbid with LLD such as vascular disease and dementia.

The *SLC6A4* 5-HTTLPR polymorphism involves a 44-base pair insertion (L allele) of deletion (S allele) in the promoter region of the gene, and the S allele is associated with lower transcription of the 5-HT transporter, resulting in reduced 5-HT uptake. Most studies that directly examined

the relationship between 5-HTTLPR genotype and depression found no significant association (Mendes et al., 2013; Taylor et al., 2007a; Zannas et al., 2013). In contrast, one study observed an association between the S/S genotype and depression (including both past and present depression) in older adults, with higher frequency of S/S carriers particularly in early-onset depression (Grünblatt et al., 2006b).

BDNF is a neurotrophin that plays a critical role in the regulation of neuronal survival and plasticity, and the *BDNF* Val66Met Met allele is associated with decreased activity-dependent secretion of BDNF (Egan et al., 2003) and an increased risk of LLD (Hwang et al., 2006a; Lin et al., 2009; Taylor et al., 2007b) although some studies failed to replicate this finding (Kanellopoulos et al., 2011; You et al., 2010). The T allele of the *MTHFR* C677T polymorphism is associated with reduced enzyme activity and elevated plasma homocysteine, especially in the context of impaired folate status (Ueland et al., 2001). A number of studies have examined the C677T polymorphism in relation to LLD, but they generally failed to find any significant difference in depression status between the genotype groups (Almeida et al., 2008; Chen et al., 2005; Pan et al., 2009).

APOE encodes a protein involved in lipid metabolism. It is well established in the literature that the ϵ 4 allele confers an increased risk for AD. Studies examining the *APOE*-LLD association generally reported negative results (Harwood et al., 1999; Steffens et al., 2003a), but some studies found significant associations with certain subtypes of LLD. For example, a higher frequency of ϵ 3/ ϵ 4s was observed in LOD compared to EOD (Krishnan et al.), and a higher frequency of ϵ 4 allele carriers was found in LLD with psychotic features compared to LLD without psychotic features or healthy controls (Zubenko et al., 1996).

The lack of significant results found in these candidate gene studies can often be attributed to their small sample sizes and hence lack of statistical power. Moreover, as the aetiology of depression is believed to be multifactorial, and the genetic contribution of each associated genetic polymorphism is expected to be modest at best. Most of the reported candidate genetic association studies probably are underpowered to detect these very small effect sizes.

Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) of depression generally use non-geriatric cohorts, and the only GWAS of depressive symptoms that involved predominantly older cohorts is Hek et al. (2013). This GWAS included a total of 51,258 individuals at the meta-analysis stage, and only identified one SNP (rs40465 in the 5q21 region) that reached genome-wide significance.

2.3.2 Gene-environment interactions

More than a decade ago, a landmark study discovered that the adverse effects of stressful life events and childhood maltreatment on depression are moderated by the SLC6A45-HTTLPR genotype (Caspi et al., 2003). It showed that individuals with the S/S genotype were more sensitive to the adverse effects of stressful life events and were particularly susceptible to depression. This has led to a surge in interest in potential gene-environment (GxE) interactions contributing to susceptibility to psychiatric disorders. However, meta-analyses have shown that subsequent studies were not always able to replicate this finding (Munafò et al., 2009; Risch et al., 2009). In contrast, a later meta-analysis suggested the type of stressor may influence the strength of the GxE effect, as when the analysis was stratified by the type of stressor, there was strong evidence for an association between the S allele and increase stress sensitivity in those who have been exposed to childhood maltreatment as well as in those with medical conditions, while the evidence for stressful life events was only marginal (Karg et al., 2011). Limited GxE studies have been carried out for LLD, providing only preliminary evidence for 5-HTTLPR x stress (Goldman et al., 2010; Kim et al., 2007), BDNF x stress (Kim et al., 2007), and GR x stress interactions (Bet et al., 2009). A three-way 5-HTTLPR x BDNF x stress interaction has also been observed in one of the studies (Kim et al., 2007).

2.3.3 Potential epigenetics mechanisms

Early-life stressful events or trauma appear to be the most replicated risk for depression in the GxE studies. More recent research has suggested that environmental exposures can induce changes in the genome without alterations to the deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) sequence through mechanisms like DNA methylation and histone modification, which can influence gene activity and expression, leading to life-long predisposition to depression.

Only two studies have examined DNA methylation in LLD thus far, both of which employed the candidate gene approach and investigated *BDNF* promoter methylation. Both studies found significant associations between *BDNF* promoter methylation at some CpG sites and prevalent and incident LLD. However, whether the associations are mediated by *BDNF* polymorphisms remain unclear (Januar et al., 2015a; Kang et al., 2015).

No epigenome-wide association studies (EWAS) of LLD have been conducted to date. There are several epigenome-wide DNA methylation studies of adult depression (Byrne et al., 2013; Cordova-Palomera et al., 2015; Davies et al., 2014; Sabunciyan et al., 2012; Uddin et al., 2010), but they reported diverging results, probably due to methodological differences such as the use of white blood cells versus peripheral blood, sampling methods, how the phenotype was defined, and the covariates controlled for in the analyses.

2.3.4 Biological and psychosocial risk factors

Aside from the aforementioned factors that may be associated with vulnerability to LLD, other biological factors may also contribute to an individual's vulnerability. Studies have reported older age (Schoevers et al., 2000), female sex (Cole & Dendukuri, 2003), chronic disease including stroke, cardiovascular disease, hypertension, diabetes, and sensory impairments (Beekman et al., 1995; Huang et al., 2010; Petersson et al., 2014; Schoevers et al., 2000; Thompson et al., 2001; Valkanova & Ebmeier, 2013), physical or functional disability (Beekman et al., 1995; Chang et al., 2016; Prince et al., 1998; Schoevers et al., 2000), physical pain (Chang et al., 2016), low birth weight in males (Thompson et al., 2001), as well as sleep disturbances (Chang et al., 2016; Cole & Dendukuri, 2003) all appear to be significant biological risk factors of LLD.

Alternatively, there are a number of psychosocial factors that are associated with an increased risk of LLD. For instance, subjective or objective socioeconomic status (Chang et al., 2016; Thompson et al., 2001), bereavement (Cole & Dendukuri, 2003; Thompson et al., 2001), low social support (Beekman et al., 1995; Prince et al., 1998), social isolation (Prince et al., 1998; Thompson et al., 2001) and loneliness (Beekman et al., 1995) have been identified as significant psychosocial risk factors of LLD. The research is scarce for protective factors of LLD; however, certain risk factors for LLD are potentially modifiable through lifestyle changes, examples include physical inactivity, smoking, risk drinking, and abnormal BMI (underweight, overweight or obese) (Almeida et al., 2013; Chang et al., 2016).

2.4 Theories on the pathophysiology of late-life depression 2.4.1 The monoamine hypothesis

Since the discovery of monoamine oxidase inhibitors and tricyclics as effective antidepressants in the 1960s, the depression literature has largely been dominated by the monoamine hypothesis. It postulates that deficits in serotonergic, noradrenergic and/or dopaminergic neurotransmission may underlie depression (Hirschfeld, 2000). While research from the past few decades to a certain extent supports the theory that monoaminergic neurotransmitter systems play an important role in the pathogenesis of depression, the exact mechanisms involved remain unclear. In recent years, newer theories extending beyond the monoaminergic neurotransmitter systems have been proposed, with vascular disease, neuroendocrine dysregulation, immuno-inflammatory processes and reduced neuroplasticity and neurogenesis implicated.

2.4.2 The vascular hypothesis

As early as 1905, the German psychiatrist Gaupp proposed that a certain form of depression with first onset after the age of 45 years may be secondary to arteriosclerosis (Gaupp et al., 2000). He observed that the presentation and course of this subtype of depression are varied, and the depressive disorder may be accompanied by cognitive decline, neurological deficits as well as other psychiatric symptoms. Subsequent clinical and epidemiological studies have regularly reported high comorbidity between vascular risk factors, vascular disease and depression, and the silent stroke and leukoencephalopathy literature further highlighted cerebrovascular changes as a possible cause for a subtype of depression commonly observed among older adults, which Alexopoulos and colleagues (1997) coined 'vascular depression'. The vascular depression hypothesis postulates that cerebrovascular disease confers vulnerability to, triggers and maintains this subtype of depression in older adults, possibly through disruption of cortico-

striato-pallido-thalamo-cortical pathways or their modulating systems (Alexopoulos et al., 1999; Alexopoulos et al., 1997).

Over the past two decades, researchers have attempted to further refine the notion of vascular depression. Krishnan et al. (1997) classified 'MRI-defined vascular depression' as the presence of deep white matter hyperintensities or subcortical grey matter lesions rated as a two or above using a modified Fazekas classification system (Fazekas et al., 1987; Greenwald et al., 1996; Krishnan et al., 1993). When this vascular depression group was compared to a non-vascular depression group, individuals in the vascular depression group were more likely to be aged 60 years or over, to display no psychotic features, and to have first onset after the age of 40 years. Krishnan and colleagues later examined specifically the subtype of depression due to subcortical ischaemic changes, again defined based on lesion severity on MRI, and found that individuals with 'subcortical ischaemic depression' were older, had a later age of depression onset, and were less likely to have a positive family history of psychiatric disorders compared to those with nonsubcortical ischaemic depression (Krishnan et al., 2004). In contrast, Alexopoulos et al. (2001) defined a 'depression-executive dysfunction syndrome' arising from disruptions to frontostriatal pathways in the context of vascular disease, which is characterised by reduced verbal fluency, impaired visual naming, psychomotor retardation, apathy, paranoia, as well as a very mild vegetative syndrome. Depression with executive dysfunction has been shown to be associated with poor antidepressant response, relapse, recurrence, and residual depressive symptomatology (Alexopoulos et al., 2000). Although several earlier studies failed to find evidence to support vascular depression as a distinct subtype of LLD (McDougall & Brayne, 2007; Naarding et al., 2009; Thuile et al., 2007), the latest consensus report argues there is now considerable evidence that vascular and non-vascular depression show distinct clinical manifestations (Table 2.4) (Aizenstein et al., 2016). However, further work is undoubtedly required to fully establish the notion of vascular depression as a distinct subtype of LLD, as there is currently a lack of consensus in its precise definition and its underlying mechanism are still poorly understood. It is believed that multiple systems and processes are involved, and cerebrovascular lesions represent only one piece of the complex puzzle of LLD (Aizenstein et al., 2016).

Vascular depression	Non-vascular depression
 Depression occurring at age 6 or later Absence of family history Executive dysfunctions, loss of subjective feeling of sadness, anhedonia, psychomotor reta motivational problems, reduce processing speed and visuosp skills, deficits in self-initiation, la insight; depressive symptomate 	 5 years Depression occurring at age 50 to 60 years Occasional family history energy, Sadness, depression according to DSM-V diagnostic criteria, increased suicidality, reduced verbal fluency atial ck of ology
 may not meet criteria for any r disorder requested in DSM-V Higher cardiac illness burden, increased rates of vascular risk (hypertension, etc.) Higher risk for cognitive decline progression to dementia Fluctuating course of cognitive impairment due to progression white matter hyperintensities 	 Lower or same cardiac illness burden and rates of vascular risk factors (hypertension, etc.) and Lower or similar risk for cognitive decline and progression to dementia
 Greater treatment resistance of poorer outcome Associated with increased mo 	and • Lower or same treatment resistance and outcome (?) rtality

Table 2.4. Clinical features associated with vascular versus non-vascular depression (Aizenstein et al., 2016).

2.4.3 The glucocorticoid cascade hypothesis

The HPA axis is the major neuroendocrine system that mediates the effects of stress within the central nervous system. In face of stressors, the HPA axis is activated and a feed-forward neuroendocrine cascade is initiated with the secretion of corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) and arginine-vasopressin (AVP) from the hypothalamus. This initiates the secretion of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) from the anterior pituitary gland, which in turn triggers the secretion of glucocorticoids (i.e. cortisol in humans) from the adrenal glands. The glucocorticoids then provide feedback to inhibit subsequent CRH and ACTH secretion to regulate the HPA axis. The glucocorticoid cascade hypothesis postulates that the loss of glucocorticoid binding receptors (i.e. the glucocorticoid receptor and the mineralocorticoid receptor) in the hippocampus due to aging or degenerative processes leads to negative feedback insensitivity and subsequent glucocorticoid hypersecretion, and prolonged exposure to elevated

levels of glucocorticoids can lead to the atrophy of neuronal and dendritic processes, inhibition of neurogenesis and neuroplasticity, and neuronal cell death, resulting in further hippocampal damage (Sapolsky, 2000; Sapolsky et al., 1986).

Depression has been frequently linked to dysregulation of the HPA axis; studies consistently demonstrate increased cortisol levels in depressed individuals, with stronger effects observed in older adults. The association between depression and ACTH levels is less clear, and there is no evidence to indicate CRH levels are altered in depression (Belvederi Murri et al., 2014; Stetler & Miller, 2011). The relationship between depression and HPA axis activity may be more complex, as several studies observed decreased cortisol levels in depressed older adults instead (Bremmer et al., 2007; Morrison et al., 2000; Oldehinkel et al., 2001; Penninx et al., 2007). These findings provide some evidence that both hyper- and hypoactivity of the HPA axis are associated with LLD, which may reflect distinct depression subtypes and underlying aetiological pathways (Bremmer et al., 2007; Penninx et al., 2007). It has been hypothesised that such hypocortisolaemia common in many stress-related disorders including post-traumatic stress disorder, chronic fatigue syndrome, and fibromyalgia may reflect exhaustion of the HPA axis after a prolonged period of hyperactivity due to chronic stress (Heim et al., 2000). However, as most of the studies examining the HPA axis-depression association are cross-sectional in nature, causal inferences cannot be drawn, and it remains unclear whether HPA dysregulation is the cause or the effect of depression.

2.4.4 The neurotrophic hypothesis

Neurotrophic factors are critical in the regulation of neuronal and synaptic plasticity, and play a role in in the maintenance of neuronal functions and neurogenesis. It has been proposed that decreased expression of neurotrophic and growth factors leads to neuronal atrophy and decreased neurogenesis in limbic brain structures that are implicated in mood regulation, and may contribute to the pathophysiology of depression (Duman & Li, 2012). BDNF is one of the major neurotrophins, and animal models have demonstrated downregulation of BDNF expression in the hippocampus following exposure to stress, particularly in the dentate gyrus as well as the CA1 and CA3 subfields (Duman & Monteggia, 2006). Few studies have examined the

BDNF levels in older adults and the results are not always consistent. Significantly decreased serum and plasma BDNF levels have been reported in depressed older adults in a number of studies, including LOD (Shi et al., 2010), subthreshold depression (Chu et al., 2012), non-medicated LLD (Diniz et al., 2010) as well as those in remission (Laske et al., 2010), while another study reported no association with LOD (Dalby et al., 2013).

Other neurotrophic or growth factors may also be involved in LLD. For instance, reductions in serum glial cell-line derived neurotrophic factor have been observed in older adults with MDD compared to age- and sex-matched controls (Diniz et al., 2012; Tseng et al., 2013), but another study reported increased plasma glial cell-line derived neurotrophic factor levels in older adults with LOD (Wang et al., 2011). Serum nerve growth factor was also significantly reduced in depressed older adults, although levels were similar between the currently depressed and the remitted groups, suggesting that serum nerve growth factor levels may be a trait marker of LLD (Diniz et al., 2013b). The relationship between serum insulin-like growth factor 1 and LLD is less clear, with some evidence to suggest potential interactions between sex, level of insulin-like growth factor 1 concentrations and severity of depression (Emeny et al., 2014; van Varsseveld et al., 2015). Plasma vascular endothelial growth factor was found to be positively associated with depressive symptoms both at baseline and at 12 months, but was not among the top analytes useful for discrimination between older adults with and without depressive symptoms (Arnold et al., 2012).

2.4.5 The inflammatory hypothesis

Inflammation is a complex adaptive response of the body to injuries or pathogens. In recent years, there has been increasing evidence to suggest that inflammation and cell-mediated immune activation play important roles in the pathophysiology of depression (Maes, 2011; Miller et al., 2009a). This is particularly relevant to LLD, as many genes regulating inflammatory processes are upregulated and peripheral immune responses are increased in late life, leading to chronic neuroinflammation and excessive release of proinflammatory cytokines. It has been proposed that neuroinflammatory changes in ageing and ageing-related diseases may contribute

to part of the pathophysiology of depressive syndromes in late life (Alexopoulos & Morimoto, 2011).

Studies examining blood inflammatory markers have repeatedly shown that there is increased inflammation in MDD, and in particular LLD, though findings have not always been consistent. Among all the markers investigated, elevated interleukin (IL)-6 appears to be the most consistently associated with LLD (Baune et al., 2012; Bremmer et al., 2008; Dentino et al., 1999; Forti et al., 2010; Kern et al., 2014; Martínez-Cengotitabengoa et al., 2016; Penninx et al., 2003; Tiemeier et al., 2003). Conflicting results have been found for tumour necrosis factor (TNF)-a (Baune et al., 2012; Forti et al., 2010; Martínez-Cengotitabengoa et al., 2016; Penninx et al., 2003; van den Biggelaar et al., 2007) and cell adhesion molecules (ICAM-1 and VCAM-1) (Baune et al., 2012; Dimopoulos et al., 2006; Forti et al., 2010; Lee et al., 2009; Thomas et al., 2007). Limited evidence have been found for other inflammatory markers or cytokines as only a few studies have examined them in relation to LLD, namely α_1 -antichymotripsin (Forti et al., 2010), IL-1 α (Lee et al., 2009), IL-1β (Thomas et al., 2005; van den Biggelaar et al., 2007), IL-1ra (Martínez-Cengotitabengoa et al., 2016; Milaneschi et al., 2009; van den Biggelaar et al., 2007); IL-8 (Baune et al., 2012; Kern et al., 2014; Martínez-Cengotitabengoa et al., 2016), neutrophil gelatinaseassociated lipocalin (Naudé et al., 2013), and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (Baune et al., 2012). Most studies that measured C-reactive protein (CRP) and IL-10 reported no association (Baune et al., 2012; Forti et al., 2010; Kop et al., 2002; Stewart et al., 2009; Tiemeier et al., 2003). A recent study using a data-driven, machine learning approach to identify a peripheral proteomic panel associated with LLD showed a range of proteins related to immunoinflammatory processes were differentially expressed in LLD, including neutrophil gelatinaseassociated lipocalin, IL-23, immunoglobulin E, cluster of differentiation 40 antigen, and IL-12p40 (Diniz et al., 2016).

While studies of LLD have primarily focused on inflammatory cytokines, other immune markers such as chemokines are potentially relevant as well. Chemokines are a family of proteins that are produced with the activity of chemotactic cytokines, and they have been shown to play a role in the regulation of a range of neuromodulation, neuroendocrine and neurotransmitter functions (Stuart et al., 2015). However, only the aforementioned machine learning proteomic study appears to have included chemokines in its investigation, and the human CC chemokine-4 was among one of the significant circulating biomarkers identified (Diniz et al., 2016).

2.4.6 Potential role of the microbiota-gut-brain axis

More recently, there have been suggestions that the microbiota-gut-brain axis may mediate these processes underlying neuropsychiatric disorders including depression. It is now increasingly recognised that there is bidirectional communication between the gastrointestinal tract and the central nervous system via several pathways, including the autonomic nervous system (the enteric nervous system and the vagus), the neuroendocrine system, and the immune system (Cryan & Dinan, 2012). While the evidence is largely limited to preclinical studies to date, they have provided some support that alterations in the gut microbiota may be linked to depression-like behaviours and the associated neurobiological disturbances. For example, germ-free mice showed exaggerated HPA axis response to stress and reduced cortical and/or hippocampal BDNF and GR expression levels relative to specific pathogen free mice, and the exaggerated HPA axis response was fully reversed by reconstitution with the probiotic *Bifidobacterium infantis* and partially reversed by reconstitution with faecal matter from the specific pathogen free mice at an early developmental stage (Sudo et al., 2004). Microbiota may also influence serotonergic neurotransmission as studies have shown male germ-free mice showed elevated hippocampal levels of 5-HT and 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid compared to control animals (Clarke et al., 2013).

In humans, administration of a probiotic formulation of *Lactobacillus helveticus* R0052 and *Bifidobacterium longum* R0175 for 30 days was associated with reductions in the global severity index and somatisation, depression and anger-hostility subscale scores of the Hopkins Symptom Checklist as well as the global score and anxiety subscale score of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale in healthy adult volunteers (Messaoudi et al., 2010). Another small study showed correlations between faecal microbiota (a proxy for gut microbiota) and Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS) scores in a small non-geriatric sample (Naseribafrouei et al., 2014). However, more clinical studies need to be conducted to elucidate the role of the microbiota-gut-brain axis in depression, as well as specifically in LLD.

2.4.7 Cross talk between multiple systems

None of these hypotheses stated above, in and of themselves, sufficiently explain the pathogenesis of LLD, and it is likely that alterations in a number of the aforementioned systems interact with each other to contribute to the development of LLD. Firstly, inflammatory cytokines have stimulatory effects on HPA axis hormones and CRH in the hypothalamus and amygdala, which increases the production and release of ACTH and glucocorticoids, and the increased glucocorticoids downregulates the immuno-inflammatory response to prevent overactivity, forming an immunomodulatory feedback circuit. However, proinflammatory cytokines can also lead to glucocorticoid resistance through reduced GR function and expression, and eventually chronic inflammation in a feed-forward cascade (Haroon et al., 2012).

Secondly, inflammatory cytokines affect monoamine synthesis and metabolism. Proinflammatory cytokines can induce an enzyme called indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase, which catabolises tryptophan into tryptophan catabolites including kynurenine rather than serotonin, leading to serotonin depletion. Moreover, kynurenine can be further metabolised into quinolinic acid in microglia which in excess can lead to excitotoxicity, or kynurenic acid in astrocytes which has downstream effects on the release of dopamine. Inflammatory cytokines may also reduce levels of tetrahydrobiopterin, a cofactor for enzymes involved in the synthesis of 5-HT, dopamine and noradrenaline, resulting in disruptions in monoaminergic neurotransmission (Haroon et al., 2012). Furthermore, another pathway that may be affected is the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway. Animal models show that cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-1 β leads to a time- and dose-dependent increase in the expression and activity of the serotonin transporter (Zhu et al., 2006; Zhu et al., 2005). MAPK pathways also influence functioning of the dopamine transporter, with activation of MAPK increasing dopamine reuptake in cell lines, and treatment of rat striatal synaptosomes with MAPK inhibitors decreasing dopamine reuptake in a time- and dose-dependent manner (Morón et al., 2003).

There is also a reciprocal relationship between the 5-HT system and the HPA axis, as serotonin has excitatory effects on the HPA system and modulates the release of CRH and AVP, while glucocorticoids regulate 5-HT synthesis and receptor function (Chaouloff, 1993). Early studies
showed that the association between cortisol and 5-HT turnover is dose-dependent, with increased 5-HT turnover observed following administration of a low dose of corticosterone and decreased 5-HT turnover following a high dose in rats (Kovács et al., 1977a; Kovács et al., 1977b). More recent studies found that the relationship is also time-dependent, with chronic exposure to corticosterone leading to decreased binding at 5-HT_{1A} and 5-HT_{1B} receptors (Mendelson & McEwen, 1992a, 1992b) as well as reduced 5-HT_{1A} receptor messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) expression (Meijer & de Kloet, 1994).

The pathways mentioned above appear to be closely entwined, but since depression is a highly heterogeneous disorder, there may still be some clinical benefits in delineating different depression subtypes as there is some evidence to suggest different depression subtypes or symptoms may reflect disruptions in specific systems. In a study examining the relationship between a range of inflammatory and metabolic variables and depression in a non-geriatric sample, melancholic depression was associated with HPA axis dysfunction whereas atypical depression was associated with inflammatory and metabolic dysregulation (Lamers et al., 2013). Moreover, when older adults in a large community-based study were assigned to 'vascular', 'degenerative' and 'inflammatory' subgroups based on their medical history, the results showed that the different risk-indicators are associated with distinct clinical profiles; the presence of a vascular risk-indicator was predicted by loss of energy, psychomotor change and sleep disturbance, the degenerative risk-indicator was predicted by psychomotor change and thinking/concentration disturbance, and the inflammatory risk-indicator was predicted by appetite disturbance, loss of energy, thoughts of death, sleep disturbance and thinking/concentration disturbance (Naarding et al., 2005).

2.5 Summary and gaps in the current literature

Depression, including subthreshold depressive symptoms, is not uncommon in late life. It presents a huge public health problem as it is associated with poor prognosis and frequent comorbidity with a wide range of chronic medical conditions, leading to increased health care costs. There is currently a prolific body of literature on the structural and functional neurobiological alterations associated with LLD. Evidence from neuroimaging studies highlight that there are both grey matter and white matter abnormalities in LLD. These abnormalities are predominantly observed in fronto-limbic and fronto-striatal circuits, yet it is uncertain whether they represent the cause or effect of the disorder. While it is generally accepted that genetics play an important role in determining an individual's susceptibility to LLD, few candidate gene studies have been conducted to date. The few candidate gene studies have had limited success in identifying susceptibility polymorphisms, which may largely be due to inadequate statistical power to detect small genetic effects. A number of environmental risk factors as well as GxE interactions have also been identified, but more research needs to be conducted to replicate these findings. The role of epigenetics in LLD should also be explored further.

Based on findings from clinical, neuroimaging, neuropathology and genetic studies, several theories on the pathophysiology of LLD have been postulated. They suggest abnormalities in the monoaminergic neurotransmitter system, HPA axis regulation, neurotrophins system, immunoinflammatory response regulation, and potentially microbiota-gut-brain axis regulation may contribute to LLD. A high burden of vascular disease may also underlie LLD.

This review laid the foundation for the research in this thesis and highlighted the areas in which research is lacking and/or inconsistent. This thesis aims to address these gaps in the literature by examining genetic, environmental and epigenetic factors contributing to LLD using data from two cohort studies of older Australians. Integration of several lines of evidence is expected to extend current findings on risk factors and the pathophysiology of LLD, and potentially shed light on the neurobiological pathways and processes involved in the pathogenesis of LLD.

3 METHODS

This chapter describes the cohort studies from which the samples used in this thesis were drawn, the measures used as dependent or independent variables as well as covariates used in the analyses, and finally the study designs and statistical methods used.

3.1 Study samples

Study samples in this thesis are subsamples of the Older Australian Twins Study (OATS) and the Sydney Memory and Ageing Study (MAS).

3.1.1 The Older Australian Twins Study (OATS)

OATS is a longitudinal cohort study of older twins that was initiated in 2006, with the primary objective of investigating genetic and environmental contributions to healthy brain ageing and age-related neurocognitive disorders.

Older twins in the three eastern states of Australia (New South Wales, Victoria and Queensland) were recruited via Twins Research Australia as well as a recruitment drive including newspaper advertisements and media campaigns. The inclusion criteria were: aged 65 years or over, an ability to consent, having a consenting co-twin, having completed some education in English, and being at least of low average IQ (IQ \geq 80, as estimated from the National Adult Reading Test (Nelson & Willison, 1991)). Exclusion criteria were a diagnosis of a malignancy or other life-threatening medical illness, inadequate English to complete a neuropsychological assessment, and/or a current diagnosis of an acute psychotic disorder. All participants provided written informed consent. The study was approved by the ethics committees of Twins Research Australia, Melbourne Health, Queensland Institute of Medical Research and the South Eastern Sydney and Illawarra Area Health Service.

The baseline sample was comprised of 623 individuals – 160 monozygotic (MZ) and 125 dizygotic (DZ) twin pairs, 1 MZ triplets, and 52 singletons (29 single twins and 23 siblings of twins) (see Figure 3.1 for the OATS flowchart). Participants received a comprehensive assessment at baseline and were followed up every two years, and co-twins were interviewed

separately but temporally close to each other. The assessment protocol is standardised across the three study centres. Data collected include clinical, psychiatric, neuropsychological, cardiovascular, metabolic, biochemical, neuroimaging, genomic and proteomic measures. Zygosity was determined based on self-report and deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) markers. The subsamples used in this thesis were comprised of twin pairs. The demographics of all twin pairs at baseline are presented in Table 3.1. Further details of the study design and methodology have been reported elsewhere (Sachdev et al., 2009).

	MZ (n = 160 pairs)	DZ (n = 125 pairs)
Age at baseline, years	70.7 ± 5.7	70.6 ± 5.2
Sex, female	204 (63.8)	171 (68.4)
Education, years	11.1 ± 3.3	11.4 ± 3.4
Genetic background		
- Caucasian	318 (99.4)	250 (100)
- Pacific Islander	2 (0.6)	0 (0)
Adjusted MMSE	28.5 ± 1.8	28.7 ± 1.4

Table 3.1. Demographics of twin pairs in OATS at baseline ($M \pm SD$ or n (%)).

Abbreviation: MMSE – Mini-Mental State Examination



Figure 3.1. OATS flowchart.

3.1.2 The Sydney Memory and Ageing Study (Sydney MAS)

Sydney MAS is a longitudinal cohort study of older adults. Initiated in 2005, the aims of the study include examining the clinical characteristics and prevalence of mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and related syndromes in non-demented older Australians, determining the rate of cognitive decline over time, identifying predictors of cognitive decline and dementia, as well as assessing behavioural and psychological symptoms in MCI.

Participants were randomly recruited from two federal electorates of Sydney, New South Wales, Australia (Kingsford-Smith and Wentworth). Registration on the electoral roll is compulsory in Australia. Inclusion criteria were: aged 70 to 90 years, living in the community, and an ability to consent. Exclusion criteria were: inadequate English for neuropsychological testing, a diagnosis of dementia or a Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) (Folstein et al., 1975) score of less than 24 adjusted for age, education and non-English speaking background (NESB) (Anderson et al., 2007) at baseline, psychotic symptoms, schizophrenia or bipolar disorder, multiple sclerosis, motor neurone disease or central nervous system inflammation, developmental disability, progressive malignancy or other conditions that may have interfered with the completion of assessments. All participants provided written informed consent. The study was approved by the ethics committees of the University of New South Wales and the South Eastern Sydney and Illawarra Area Health Service.

The study protocol and the assessments that participants received were similar to OATS. The baseline sample included 1037 participants (see Figure 3.2 for the Sydney MAS flowchart). The sample demographics at baseline are presented in Table 3.2. Further details of the study have been published elsewhere (Sachdev et al., 2010; Tsang et al., 2013).

Table 3.2. MAS sample demographics at baseline.

	M ± SD or n (%)
Age at baseline, years	78.8 ± 4.8
Sex, female	572 (55.2)
Education, years	11.6 ± 3.5
Genetic background	
- Caucasian	1016 (98.0)
- Asian	10 (1.0)
- Mixed	3 (0.3)
- Other	4 (0.4)
Adjusted MMSE	28.7 ± 1.3

Abbreviation: MMSE – Mini-Mental State Examination



Figure 3.2. MAS flowchart.

At each assessment wave in OATS and Sydney MAS, participants completed a comprehensive battery of neuropsychological tests (see Table 3.3 below) and informants completed the Bayer Activities of Daily Living questionnaire (Hindmarch et al., 1998) in the telephone interview.

Cognitive	Neuropsychological test	Normative data source and
domain		adjustments
Attention /	Digit Symbol (Wechsler, 1997a)	Age (Wechsler, 1997a)
processing	Trail Making Test A (Strauss et al., 2006)	Age and education
speed		(Tombaugh, 2004)
Memory	Logical Memory Story A delayed recall	Education (Grundman et al.,
	(Wechsler, 1997b)	2004)
	Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test	Age (Ivnik et al., 1992a; Ivnik et
	(Strauss et al., 2006)	al., 1990)
	RAVLT total learning (sum of trials 1-5)	
	RAVLT short-term delayed recall (trial 6)	
	RAVLT long-term delayed recall (trial 7)	
	Benton Visual Retention Test recognition	Age and education
	(Benton et al., 1996)	(Lechevallier-Michel et al.,
		2004)
Language	Boston Naming Test – 30 items (Kaplan	Age (Fastenau et al., 1998)
	et al., 2001)	
	Semantic fluency (animals) (Strauss et	Age and education
	al., 2006)	(Tombaugh et al., 1999)
Visuospatial	Block Design (Wechsler, 1981)	Age (Ivnik et al., 1992b)
Executive	Controlled Oral Word Association Test	Age and education
function	(FAS) (Strauss et al., 2006)	(Tombaugh et al., 1999)
	Trail Making Test B (Strauss et al., 2006)	Age and education
		(Tombauah, 2004)

Table 3.3. Neuropsychological tests used to form domain scores in OATS and Sydney MAS.

OATS and Sydney MAS participants with neuropsychological or functional profiles indicating a possibility of dementia (neuropsychological performance at least 1.5 standard deviations below published norms in at least one cognitive domain and/or informant-rated Bayer-ADL adjusted total score of at least 3.0) were presented at a case conference. Consensus diagnoses were made by an expert panel of clinicians including neuropsychiatrists, psychogeriatricians and clinical neuropsychologists using available data.

Dementia/major neurocognitive disorder was diagnosed based on Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV and DSM-5) criteria (American Psychiatric Association, 2000, 2013). NESB participants were classified as cognitively normal if they performed within the normal range, and as having dementia if they received a consensus diagnosis of dementia due to the questionable validity of applying norms derived from individuals of English-speaking background (Kochan et al., 2010). Such cognitive classifications have been used as part of the exclusion criteria in the studies, with individuals classified as having dementia excluded from most analyses.

As allele frequencies and genotype distributions are known to differ between groups of different genetic background (Risch et al., 2002; Tang et al., 1998; Verhagen et al., 2008), only Caucasians were included in the studies in this thesis.

3.2 Measures

3.2.1 Psychosocial measures

3.2.1.1 Depression

The primary outcome of interest is late-life depression (LLD). Depressive symptoms were measured using the 15-item Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS-15) (Yesavage & Sheikh, 1986). The GDS-15 is a self-report depression screening scale for older adults, and is scored by counting the number of responses that indicate depression. Total scores range from zero to 15, with higher scores corresponding to a greater number of depressive symptoms, and a score of six or above indicating clinically significant depressive symptoms (Herrmann et al., 1996). GDS-15 total scores were considered invalid if 20% or more items were missing, or were pro-rated if there were fewer than 20% items missing. By applying a cut-off of six or above, the GDS-15 has a sensitivity of 85% and a specificity of 74% in elderly outpatients aged over 65 years when compared with the validated interviewer-rated Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS) (Herrmann et al., 1996).

In both OATS and Sydney MAS we used the GDS-15 with item 9 as described in Brink (1982; here item 12). There is high agreement between classifications based on the original version and

the version used in OATS and Sydney MAS ($\kappa = 0.93$). The internal consistency for the GDS-15 in both samples was fair (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.74$ in Wave 1 of OATS, $\alpha = 0.73$ in Wave 1 of Sydney MAS and $\alpha = 0.77$ in Wave 4 of Sydney MAS). A total of 30 participants from Wave 1 of OATS (5% of valid data), as well as 73 participants from Wave 1 (7% of valid data) and 80 participants from Wave 4 of Sydney MAS (12% of valid data) scored six or above.

Participants also provided information on the medications they were taking in a self-report questionnaire. Based on the assumption that individuals on antidepressants are likely to report fewer or subthreshold symptoms with successful treatment and may be overlooked, participants were classified as being depressed if they scored six or above on the GDS-15 or if they selfreported using antidepressants. This definition of depression was used across all empirical studies in this thesis.

3.2.1.2 Anxiety

Anxiety was assessed using the nine-item anxiety subscale from the Goldberg Depression and Anxiety Scales, often known as the Goldberg Anxiety Scale (GAS) (Goldberg et al., 1988). The GAS is scored by summing the number of items endorsed. If none of the first four items were endorsed, the latter five items would not be administered, making it a simple screening tool that can be used in general medical settings. Total scores range from zero to nine, with higher scores indicating more anxiety symptoms, and a score of five or above suggesting clinically significant anxiety symptoms. Applying the 4/5 cut-off, the GAS has been shown to have a sensitivity of 82% compared with diagnoses made according to DSM-III criteria (Goldberg et al., 1988). The GAS demonstrated good internal consistency in Wave 1 of OATS (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.82$).

3.2.1.3 Childhood maltreatment

In Wave 4 of Sydney MAS, early-life adversity was measured using the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form (CTQ-SF), a 28-item retrospective self-report questionnaire designed to screen for childhood maltreatment. The CTQ-SF has 25 clinical items to assess histories of abuse or neglect, and a three-item minimisation/denial scale to detect underreporting of such experiences. All items are scored on a 5-point Likert-type scale, with item responses categories coded as 1 = 'never true', 2 = 'rarely true', 3 = 'sometimes true', 4 = 'often true', and 5 = 'very often

true'. The CTQ-SF has a five-factor structure, namely emotional abuse, physical abuse, sexual abuse, emotional neglect, and physical neglect (Bernstein et al., 2003); other traumatic events that may happen during childhood such as death of a family member or major illness are not assessed. The CTQ-SF also includes a 3-item Minimization/Denial scale to detect potential underreporting of maltreatment experiences.

Individuals can be classified as having none, low, moderate or severe trauma based on their subscale scores (see Table 3.4 below) as per Bernstein and Fink (1998).

	None	Low	Moderate	Severe
Emotional abuse	5-8	9-12	13-15	16-25
Physical abuse	5-7	8-9	10-12	13-25
Sexual abuse	5	6-7	8-12	13-25
Emotional neglect	5-9	10-14	15-17	18-25
Physical neglect	5-7	8-9	10-12	13-25

 Table 3.4. Classification of Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form subscale scores

 according to Bernstein & Fink (1998).

Alternatively, Walker et al. (1999) used receiver operating characteristic curves to obtain cut-off scores for the subscales, and found that cut-off scores of 9/10 for emotional abuse, 7/8 for physical abuse, 7/8 for sexual abuse, 14/15 for emotional neglect, and 9/10 for physical neglect achieved sensitivities and specificities of 0.85 or better. This dichotomous classification was used for the analyses in Chapter 6.

The CTQ-SF has been validated in heterogeneous samples, including adult substance-dependent inpatients at drug and alcohol rehabilitation units, adolescent psychiatric inpatients, adult substance abusers in the community, and a normative community sample of adults (Bernstein et al., 2003). The authors observed satisfactory internal consistency in the subscales – alphas of 0.84-0.89 for emotional abuse, 0.81-0.86 for physical abuse, 0.92-0.85 for sexual abuse, 0.85-0.91 for emotional neglect, and 0.61-0.78 for physical neglect – as well as good criterion validity, with all subscale scores significantly correlated with therapist ratings in a subsample of adolescent psychiatric inpatients for whom corroborative data were available.

Internal consistency observed in the Sydney MAS sample, measured using Cronbach's α , are as follow: 0.67 for the overall scale, 0.77 for emotional abuse, 0.66 for physical abuse, 0.84 for sexual abuse, 0.88 for emotional neglect, and 0.51 for physical neglect.

3.2.1.4 Holocaust trauma

Aside from the CTQ-SF, participants also completed a self-reported questionnaire that assessed various types of stressful early life events including birth problems, family dysfunction, natural disaster, and war events. One of these questions concerns experience of Holocaust trauma. The actual wording used in that item was "Were you a Holocaust victim?" with the definition of a Holocaust victim provided for reference being "a person who lived in a country at the time when it was under Nazi regime, under Nazi occupation, or under the regime of Nazi collaborators or who fled a country or region not under Nazi rule or occupation due to Nazi rule or Nazi occupation." Responses were coded as 0 = 'No', 1 = 'Yes' and 888 = 'Don't know'.

3.2.2 Biological measures

3.2.2.1 Vascular diseases and risk factors

In both OATS and Sydney MAS, participants completed a medical history interview at each biannual assessment, which included questions about vascular diseases and risk factors (e.g., stroke, transient ischaemic attack, diabetes, hypertension, hypercholesterolaemia, dyslipidaemia, angina, and atrial fibrillation). Participants also completed a medical examination at each assessment wave, in which sitting systolic and diastolic blood pressure were measured. Hypertension was defined as previous diagnosis by a physician and current treatment for hypertension, or current systolic blood pressure \geq 160mmHg, or diastolic blood pressure \geq 95mmHg.

3.2.2.2 Genotyping

DNA was extracted from peripheral blood leukocytes using standard procedures in Wave 1 of the Sydney MAS. *APOE* genotyping was carried out using Taqman assays (Applied Biosystems Inc., Foster City, CA, USA) and genome-wide genotyping was performed using the Affymetrix Genome-Wide Human SNP Array 6.0 (Affymetrix Inc., Santa Clara, CA, USA). After quality control procedures as described in Mather et al. (2016), genome-wide genotyping data was available for 925 Sydney MAS participants.

3.2.2.3 DNA methylation

DNA was extracted from peripheral blood leukocytes using standard procedures in Wave 1 of OATS. DNA methylation status was measured using the Illumina Infinium HumanMethylation450 BeadChip (450K) (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) in 110 MZ twin pairs. The 450K array interrogates methylation levels in 485,764 cytosine positions across the human genome. An analysis of the distribution of the probes revealed that 30.9% of them were located in CpG islands, 23.1% in shores (i.e. 2kb from CpG islands), 9.7% in shelves (i.e. 2-4kb from CpG islands), and the remaining 36.3% in others or 'open sea' regions (Sandoval et al., 2011). Sex chromosome probes, probes containing single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), cross-reactive probes as well as probes not detected in all samples were excluded from the analysis (Chen et al., 2013a). After quality control procedures there were 420,982 out of 485,764 probes remaining, with 32.3% in CpG islands, 23.5% in shores, 9.3% in shelves, and the remaining 34.9% in others or 'open sea' regions.

3.2.3 Covariates

A range of covariates were considered in the analyses. Age and sex were typically entered as covariates since the literature commonly reports a female preponderance in depression and an increased risk with age (Cole & Dendukuri, 2003; Schoevers et al., 2000). Smoker status was coded as 0 = 'non-smoker', 1 = 'past smoker', and 2 = 'current smoker', with the reference period being the past month. Drinker status was coded as 0 = 'abstainer', 1 = 'past drinker', and 2 = 'current drinker', with the reference period being the past year. Physical activity was a continuous variable of total minutes of physical activity per week, weighted per mild, moderate and vigorous types of physical activity.

3.3 Study designs and statistical methods

3.3.1 Statistical packages

Raw data were stored and managed in IBM SPSS Statistics Version 24 (IBM Corp., 2016). IBM SPSS Statistics Version 24 (IBM Corp., 2016) was used for descriptive data analyses in all studies as well as logistic regression in Chapter 6, Review Manager (RevMan) Version 5.3 (The Nordic Cochrane Centre, 2014) was used for meta-analyses in Chapter 5, and R (R Core Team, 2014) was used for multivariate twin modelling in Chapter 4 as well as the DNA methylation study in Chapter 7.

3.3.2 Descriptive data analyses

Group differences in demographic and clinical characteristics were explored using independent *t*-tests for continuous variables and χ^2 -tests for categorical variables. For continuous variables with a non-normal distribution, group differences were tested with the non-parametric Mann-Whitney test. Test statistics are reported with the corresponding degrees of freedom (*dt*) and the two-tailed *p*-value. Bivariate correlations were computed using Pearson's *r*. Internal consistency of various scales used was computed using Cronbach's α . All statistical tests were two-tailed at the $\alpha = 0.05$ level of statistical significance unless otherwise specified.

3.3.3 Missing data

Total scores on rating scales are pro-rated if there were less than or equal to 20% missing data. More than 20% missing data on any rating scale was treated as invalid and those participants were excluded from the analyses.

3.3.4 Heritability and genetic correlations

The classical twin design is a widely used design that compares the phenotypic resemblances of MZ and DZ twins to explain the sources of phenotypic variation. The two main assumptions of the classical twin design are (i) MZ twins are genetically identical and DZ twins share half of their segregating genes, and (ii) shared environmental influences are approximately the same for MZ and DZ twins reared in the same family.

The observed phenotypic variation (V_P) can be partitioned into genetic and environmental components. The genetic component can be further decomposed into additive genetic effects (A) and non-additive genetic effects (often denoted D for dominant), and the environmental component can be further decomposed into common or shared environmental effects (C) and unique or non-shared environmental effects (E). The E component also includes measurement error. Hence, the phenotypic covariance of MZ twins is estimated to be $\sigma^2_A + \sigma^2_D + \sigma^2_C$ and the phenotypic covariance of DZ twins is estimated to be $0.5\sigma^2_A + 0.25\sigma^2_D + \sigma^2_C$. Since the C and D components cannot be modelled simultaneously with data limited to twins reared together, generally C is modelled where there is greater evidence for non-additive genetic effects (i.e. when $r_{MZ} < 2r_{DZ}$), and D is modelled if there is greater evidence for non-additive genetic effects (i.e. when $r_{MZ} < 2r_{DZ}$) (van Dongen et al., 2012). Narrow-sense heritability (h^2) refers to the proportion of phenotypic variation that is due to additive genetic effects: $h^2 = V_A / V_P$ and can be modelled using structural equation modelling. Figure 3.3 shows an example of a univariate twin model.



Figure 3.3. Example of a univariate ACE model. A – additive genetic effects, C – shared environmental effects, E – unique environmental effects. The additive genetic correlation is 1.0 for MZ twins and 0.5 for DZ twins.

Cross-twin-cross-trait covariances can be modelled in multivariate twin models, which allow the relative contributions of genetic and environmental influences to phenotypic covariation to be examined. Using multivariate twin models, we can then estimate the degree to which phenotypic covariations is due to overlapping genetic influences (genetic correlation, r_A), shared environmental influences (shared environmental correlation, r_C), or non-shared environmental influences (non-shared environmental correlation, r_E). These correlations are independent of the magnitude of the genetic and environmental contributions on each phenotype.

Cholesky decomposition is the most commonly used multivariate technique in the Classical Twin design. It is a method of triangular decomposition, where the first latent factor (η_1) explains variance in the first as well as all remaining variables ($y_1, ..., y_n$), and the second latent factor (η_2) explains variance in the second as well as all remaining variables ($y_2, ..., y_n$), and so on until the final latent variable (η_n) explains the final variable in the model (y_n) (see Figure 3.4) (Gillespie & Martin, 2005).



Figure 3.4. An example of a multivariate model of 3 traits using Cholesky decomposition. A – additive genetic effects, C – shared environmental effects, E – unique environmental effects. The additive genetic correlation is 1.0 for MZ twins and 0.5 for DZ twins.

Univariate and multivariate twin models can be modelled using OpenMx (Boker et al., 2016; Neale et al., 2016), a statistical package for structural equation modelling and matrix algebra optimisation that runs in R (R Core Team, 2014). OpenMx uses maximum likelihood estimation to estimate model parameters. In modelling dichotomous trait twin data, a liability threshold model is used, which assumes that the liability to develop the trait of interest has an underlying continuous normal distribution, and the discrete phenotype emerges once the liability exceeds a certain threshold (Falconer & Mackay, 1996).

A multivariate twin model with Cholesky decomposition was used to model genetic and environmental influences on LLD, anxiety, and hypertension in a subsample of OATS participants in Chapter 4. The multivariate twin modelling was carried out Dr Anbupalam Thalmuthu at the Centre for Healthy Brain Ageing, University of New South Wales, Australia.

3.3.5 Systematic review and meta-analysis of genetic association studies

Population-based genetic association studies seek to evaluate the association between a specific genetic polymorphism and the risk of a certain disease. In the current paradigm of genetic epidemiology, the common disease-common variant hypothesis states that complex disease can largely be attributed to a moderate number of common variants, each of which explaining a modest but significant risk. Such small effects require large samples to detect them, and genetic association studies are often statistically underpowered to do so. Synthesising evidence from multiple small studies is a potential solution to this problem.

In a meta-analysis, effect size estimates of multiple small studies are pooled, with the contribution of each study weighted according to study size, based on the assumption that larger studies are likely to give more accurate effect size estimates. Two models can be used to pool the effect size estimates from various studies – the fixed effects model (Mantel-Haenszel) or the random effects model (Simonian and Laird). The fixed effects model assumes that study samples are drawn from a single population, and therefore the differences in observed effect size estimates across studies are only due to sampling error, whereas the random effects model

assumes that study samples can be drawn from different populations, and both sampling error and between-study heterogeneity contribute to the observed differences. A meta-analysis also allows the degree and source of between-study heterogeneity as well as potential publication bias to be investigated. Subgroup analyses may also be conducted to find out whether other study characteristics mediated the associations.

In Chapter 5, following a systematic search of LLD genetic association studies, meta-analyses were conducted for polymorphisms that have been examined in three or more independent published studies, with effect sizes estimated using pooled odds ratios (*OR*s) and 95% confidence intervals (95% CI). Between-study heterogeneity were tested and quantified. Potential biases including the winner's curse phenomenon and publication bias were also investigated.

3.3.6 Genetic, environmental and gene-environment predictors Given that the primary outcome measure (depression) in this thesis is dichotomous, binary logistic regression was used to investigate genetic, environmental and gene-environment risk factors in LLD:

$$\log \frac{\pi}{1-\pi} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 X_1 + \dots + \beta_i X_i$$

where $\pi = \frac{e^{(\beta_0 + \beta_1 X_1 + \dots + \beta_i X_i)}}{1 + e^{(\beta_0 + \beta_1 X_1 + \dots + \beta_i X_i)}}$ represents the probability for an individual being depressed, β_i , β_2, \dots, β_i are the coefficients of the predictor variables, and X_i, X_2, \dots, X_i are the predictor variables.

Prior to examining genetic associations between candidate polymorphisms and LLD as well as potential gene-by-environment interactions, potential deviations from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) were tested in the non-depressed group using the Pearson's goodness-of-fit test, as deviations from HWE may indicate genotyping errors or population stratification. The assumption of logistic regression that the relationship(s) between any continuous predictor(s) and the logit of the dependent variable was tested using the Box-Tidwell test.

In Chapter 5, the role of candidate polymorphisms that have been identified in meta-analyses as significantly associated with LLD or with MDD were investigated using Wave 1 data from the Sydney MAS cohort. Separate regression models were conducted for each polymorphism, with depression status as the dependent variable, and genotype as the independent variable. Genotypes were coded as 0 = common homozygote', 1 = heterozygote', and 2 = rare homozygote' as the genetic model is unknown.

In Chapter 6, the effects of early-life trauma were investigated using Wave 4 data from the Sydney MAS cohort. The impact of five types of childhood maltreatment assessed using the CTQ-SF as well as Holocaust trauma on LLD was investigated in two separate logistic regression models, with depression status as the dependent variable, and all five CTQ-SF childhood maltreatment variables as independent variable in one model, and the Holocaust trauma variable as independent variable in the other model.

To explore potential gene-by-environment interactions, a childhood maltreatment composite variable was created based on the five CTQ-SF variables, coded as 0 = 'no history of maltreatment' and 1 = 'positive history of maltreatment'. Each binary logistic regression had depression status as the dependent variable, one of the candidate polymorphisms investigated in Chapter 5, one of the early-life trauma variables (the childhood maltreatment composite variable or Holocaust trauma variable), as well as an interaction term between the candidate polymorphism and early-life trauma as independent variables.

3.3.7 DNA methylation changes

The discordant MZ twin design, also known as the co-twin control design, represents a powerful design to assess disease-associated biomarkers, as it offers the advantage of controlling for a range of potential confounding factors such as genetic background, age, sex, maternal influences, early environmental experiences to some extent as well as population cohort effects (Bell & Spector, 2011; van Dongen et al., 2012).

In Chapter 7, an epigenome-wide association study (EWAS) was conducted using the beta values on each probe as the dependent variable, and depression status as the independent variable.

After regressing out the first two principle components of white blood cell counts and the first four principle components of beta values to adjust for cell composition and batch effects respectively, associations between DNA methylation levels and LLD were investigated using the entire MZ twin sample in the OATS cohort with available DNA methylation data. Associations between mean differences in DNA methylation levels between cases and controls and LLD were tested using generalised estimating equations to account for the twin structure, with age, sex, smoking status, drinking status and level of physical activity included as covariates. An alternate analysis was undertaken using independent *t*-tests in the subset of MZ twin pairs discordant for depression, as this provides some degree of controlling for potential confounding factors such as genetic background, age, sex, maternal influences, early environmental experiences to some extent as well as population cohort effects (Bell & Spector, 2011; van Dongen et al., 2012). The Benjamini-Hochberg correction was used to account for multiple testing. The EWAS was carried out by Dr Nicola Armstrong at Murdoch University, Australia.

4 GENETIC AND ENVIRONMENTAL INFLUENCES ON LATE-LIFE DEPRESSION AND ITS COVARIATION WITH ASSOCIATED PHENOTYPES

4.1 Introduction

As reviewed in the previous chapter, depression is a neuropsychiatric disorder that commonly occurs across the lifespan, and genetic factors are believed to play a significant role in its aetiology. The genetics of depression in adulthood has been extensively investigated, providing consistent evidence for its familial aggregation. The heritability of major depressive disorder (MDD) in adulthood has been estimated at 37%, with minimal effect of shared environment and substantial effect of unique environment in a meta-analysis of five twin studies (Sullivan et al., 2000). In contrast, in late life to date, there have only been five published studies examining the heritability of depression or depressive symptoms, two of which involved overlapping samples (see Table 4.1 for a summary of the studies). Most of these studies reported that late-life depression (LLD) or depressive symptoms are moderately heritable (Carmelli et al., 2000; Jansson et al., 2004; Johnson et al., 2002; McGue & Christensen, 1997). For the studies that also computed sex-specific heritability estimates, the heritability estimates for LLD or depressive symptoms were generally higher for women than for men, but none of these studies found statistically significant sex differences (Jansson et al., 2004; Johnson et al., 2002; McGue & Christensen, 1997). In contrast, conflicting findings have been reported with regards to whether the heritability of LLD or depressive symptoms changes with age. Increasing heritability with age is a recognised phenomenon in behavioural genetics and has been observed for a range of phenotypes between adolescence to young adulthood (Bergen et al., 2007) as well as in late life (Steves et al., 2012). One of the main explanations is active gene-environment correlation; as individuals age they become more independent and seek out environmental exposures as a function of their genetic predispositions. Three studies have examined this, with one crosssectional and one longitudinal study reporting that the heritability increases with age (Carmelli et al., 2000; Gatz et al., 1992); however, the remaining cross-sectional study reported no significant age differences in heritability (Johnson et al., 2002). Since heritability estimates are population-specific, methodological differences such as sample characteristics, how the

phenotype was defined and whether analyses were stratified by age or sex could have contributed to these discrepancies.

Table 4.1. Summa	y of	published I	heritability	v studies v	of LLD	or de	pressive	symp	toms.
------------------	------	-------------	--------------	-------------	--------	-------	----------	------	-------

Study	Sample	Instrument	Best-fitting/most parsimonious model	Heritability estimates Findings
Gatz et al. (1992)	 Swedish Adoption/Twin Study of Aging (SATSA) 68 MZ and 161 DZ twin pairs reared apart, 114 MZ and 138 DZ twin pairs reared together 62% female Separated into two cohorts: old (≥60 years, mean age=70 years) vs young (<60 years, mean age=48 years) 	CES-D	The full model fitted for the total scale and all three subscales in the full sample. When stratified by age, the additive genetics parameter was important only for the psychomotor retardation subscale in the old cohort.	 Total scale: 16% Late-life depressive Depressed Mood symptoms are only modestly heritable. Psychomotor Genetic influences are important only for 19% psychomotor Well-Being subscale: 0% complaints in the old cohort; whereas 18%, young – 3% environmental The heritability is significantly higher in entirely the variance in
McGue & Christensen (1997)	 Longitudinal Study of Aging Danish Twins (LSADT) 115 female MZ, 173 female DZ, 52 male MZ, 66 DZ twin pairs 71% female Mean age approximately 80 years 	CAMDEX depression section plus an additional 11 items	Both the AE and DE models fitted the data well, with the DE model fitting better than the AE model; results of the AE model are reported here as it is practically unlikely to have significant genetic dominance effects in the absence of additive genetic effects.	 old cohort (p<.01). the other subscales. Total scale: 27% LLD symptoms are moderately heritable. Somatic subscale: 20% No significant sex differences in heritability Total scale: female - 16% Common genetic effects contribute female - 11% substantially to the male - 11% phenotypic correlation Somatic subscale: female - 25%, male - 12%

Study	Sample	Instrument	Best-fitting/most parsimonious model	Heritability estimates	Findings
Carmelli et al. (2000)	 National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute (NHLBI) Twin Study 83 MZ and 84 DZ white, male, veteran twin pairs Mean age=62.8 years at baseline 	CES-D	AE model	 Baseline: 25% 10-year follow-up: 55% The heritability at follow-up is significantly higher than that at baseline (p<0.01). 	The heritability of depressive symptoms increases with age. The stability in depressive symptoms is mainly due to the continuity of genetic influences.
Johnson et al. (2002)	 Study of Middle-Aged Danish Twins (MADT) and the Longitudinal Study of Aging Danish Twins (LSADT) Includes the full sample used in McGue & Christensen (1997) 562 female MZ, 640 female DZ, 471 male MZ, 496 male DZ twin pairs Aged ≥45 years 	CAMDEX depression section plus an additional 11 items	AE model with relative constraints on age and sex	 Total scale: 29% Affect subscale: 27% Somatic subscale: 26% 	Depression is moderately heritable in older adults. No significant age differences in heritability were observed when the analysis was stratified into five age groups. No significant sex differences in heritability were observed. Common genetic effects explain a substantial proportion of the phenotypic correlation between the Affect and Somatic subscales.

Study	Sample	Instrument	Best-fitting/most	Heritability estimates	Findings
			parsimonious model		
Jansson et al. (2004)	 OCTO-Twin Study, the Swedish Adoption/Twin Study of Aging (SATSA) and the Gender Study Unknown if sample overlaps with that of Gatz et al. (1992) 123 female MZ, 207 female DZ, 90 male MZ, 109 male DZ, 430 opposite-sex DZ twin pairs Mean age=72 years 	Continuous depression score: CES-D Dichotomous depressed state: CES-D ≥ 16 or self- reported antidepressa nt use	Continuous measure: AE model with equal estimates for males and females, but the intraclass correlations suggest some sex differences. Dichotomous measure: AE models with equal or different estimates for males and females.	 Continuous measure: full sample – 23%, female – 30%, male – 16% Dichotomous measure: full sample – 33%, female – 49%, male – 9% 	Both depressive symptoms and depressed state are moderately heritable in older women, but they are only modestly heritable in older men. The sex differences in heritability estimates, however, were not statistically significant.

Abbreviations: CAMDEX – Cambridge Mental Disorders of the Elderly Examination; CES-D – Centre for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale; DZ – dizygotic; MZ – monozygotic

As reviewed in Chapter 2, epidemiological and clinical studies have reported that LLD is frequently concomitant with psychiatric disorders and medical conditions. In particular, LLD often co-occurs with anxiety (Braam et al., 2014; Byers et al., 2010) as well as a range of vascular conditions including stroke (Li et al., 2015; Pan et al., 2011) and hypertension (Huang et al., 2010). Given that genetic factors are known to play an aetiological role in depression (Sullivan et al., 2000), anxiety (Hettema et al., 2001), stroke (Bevan et al., 2012) as well as hypertension (Gavras et al., 1999), it is of considerable interest to investigate whether shared genetic vulnerabilities may explain their co-occurrence. An early bivariate twin study examining the cooccurrence between depression and anxiety in a young adult twin sample (age = 30.1 ± 7.6 years) has reported a genetic correlation at unity ($r_G = 1.00$) (Kendler et al., 1992), a finding that has been subsequently replicated in a number of other adult cohorts (Kendler et al., 2006; Roy et al., 2009) but not in older adults. Depressive symptoms have also been shown to be genetically correlated with hypertension ($r_G = 0.19$) and heart disease ($r_G = 0.42$) in middle-aged male twins (age = 41.9 \pm 2.7 years) (Scherrer et al., 2003), as well as with coronary artery disease (r_G = 0.16) in a slightly older twins cohort (mean age = 57 years) (Kendler et al., 2009). Yet despite the common comorbidity of depression and vascular disease and risk factors in late life, no study has yet explored the possible shared genetic influences on these phenotypes.

The aims of this chapter are to examine (i) the extent to which genetic, shared environmental and unique environmental influences contribute to the variation of LLD, and (ii) whether shared genetic influences explain the common co-occurrence between depression, anxiety, stroke and hypertension in late life.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Participants

The sample comprised participants from the Older Australian Twins Study (OATS; Sachdev et al., 2009). Monozygotic (MZ) and dizygotic (DZ) twin pairs from baseline (Wave 1) of OATS were included. The following were excluded: (i) participants of non-Caucasian ancestry, (ii) participants with missing data on any of the outcome variables included in the models and their

co-twins, and (iii) participants who had a consensus diagnosis of dementia or delirium or were cognitively unclassified and their co-twins.

4.2.2 Measures

Depressive symptoms were assessed using the 15-item short form of the Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS-15) (Yesavage & Sheikh, 1986). Its psychometric properties have been reported in Chapter 3. Higher scores on the GDS-15 correspond to more depressive symptoms, and a score of six or above indicates clinically significant depressive symptoms (Herrmann et al., 1996). The GDS-15 was treated as invalid if 20% or more items were missing, and the score was pro-rated if fewer than 20% of items were missing. Participants also provided information on their current medication use in a self-report questionnaire. As individuals on antidepressants are more likely to report fewer or subthreshold symptoms following successful treatment and may be overlooked, we classified participants as being depressed if they scored six or above on the GDS-15 or if they reported current antidepressant use.

Anxiety was assessed using the nine-item Goldberg Anxiety Scale (GAS) (Goldberg et al., 1988). Its psychometric properties have been reported in Chapter 3. Higher scores on the GAS indicate more anxiety symptoms and a score of five or above suggests clinically significant anxiety symptoms. The participants were also asked about their medical history during the interview, which included questions about their history of stroke and diagnosis of hypertension. Sitting systolic and diastolic blood pressure were measured during the assessment. Hypertension was defined as a composite variable based on previous diagnosis by a physician and current treatment for hypertension, or current systolic blood pressure \geq 160mmHG, or diastolic blood pressure \geq 95mmHg.

4.2.3 Statistical analyses

Differences between the zygosity groups were assessed using permutation tests. Twin similarity in MZ and DZ twins was assessed with the probandwise concordance rate, using the formula $\frac{2C}{(2C+D)}$ where *C* is the number of concordant twin pairs, and *D* is the number of discordant twin pairs (McGue, 1992; Smith, 1974). The probandwise concordance rate represents the risk that a

twin is affected if the co-twin is affected. Greater twin similarity in MZ twin pairs relative to DZ twin pairs indicates the contribution of genetic influences on a particular trait.

The total variance of each phenotype can be decomposed into three components, namely additive genetic effects (A), shared environmental effects (C) and unique environmental effects (E). It is presumed that MZ twins are genetically identical whereas DZ twins share half of their segregating genes, thus the expected twin covariances are $\sigma_{A}^2 + \sigma_{C}^2$ for MZ twins and $0.5\sigma_{A}^2 + \sigma_{C}^2$ for DZ twins. Multivariate genetic modelling was used to examine the heritability of LLD, anxiety, stroke and hypertension, as well as the genetic correlations between these phenotypes. Age and sex were included as covariates in all models as older age and female sex have been frequently shown to be associated with a higher risk of LLD or depressive symptoms in the literature (Beekman et al., 1995; Prince et al., 1998).

Models were fitted in OpenMx (Boker et al., 2016; Neale et al., 2016) using R version 3.1.0 (R Core Team, 2014). OpenMx uses maximum likelihood estimation and models dichotomous outcomes under a liability-threshold model, which assumes the liability to develop a disorder has an underlying continuous normal distribution, and the discrete phenotype emerges once the liability exceeds a certain threshold (Falconer & Mackay, 1996). A full Cholesky decomposition ACE model was fitted first, followed by an AE model, and the model fit was compared. The relative goodness-of-fit of the models was assessed using the minus two log-likelihood (-2LL) and Akaike's Information Criteria (AIC = $\chi^2 - 2df$). A lower -2LL value indicates better model fit and a lower AIC value indicates a more parsimonious model.

4.3 Results

A subsample of 130 MZ and 105 DZ twin pairs was selected from OATS for the present study. Sample characteristics and results from the comparisons of the two groups (MZ versus DZ) are presented in Table 4.2 below. No significant differences were observed on any of the outcome measures or covariates between the MZ and DZ groups.

	MZ (n = 130	DZ (n = 105	Test statistic ^a	р
	pairs)	pairs)		
Age, years	70.1 ± 5.3	70.9 ± 5.3	-1.71	0.09
Sex, female	162 (62.3)	140 (66.7)	0.78	0.29
Depressed	37 (14.2)	29 (13.8)	0.02	0.90
Anxiety, GAS \geq 5	24 (9.1)	19 (9.2)	0.01	0.90
Stroke	6 (2.3)	12 (5.7)	2.77	0.06
Hypertension	177 (68.1)	153 (72.9)	1.05	0.22

Table 4.2. Characteristics of the sample used in this study ($M \pm SD$ or n (%)).

^a Group differences were assessed using permutation tests (*t* for continuous variables, and Pearson's χ^2 for dichotomous variables). Abbreviation: GAS – Goldberg Anxiety Scale.

4.3.1 Phenotypic concordance

For LLD, the probandwise concordance was 43.2% in MZ twins and 20.7% in DZ twins. For clinically significant anxiety symptoms, the probandwise concordance was 33.3% in MZ twins and 0% in DZ twins. For hypertension, the probandwise concordance was 83.6% in MZ twins and 75.8% in DZ twins. There were no twin pairs that were concordant for stroke.

4.3.2 Multivariate genetic modelling

As the prevalence of stroke was very low in this sample with no twin pairs concordant for stroke, it was excluded from the multivariate model. When both goodness-of-fit and parsimony were considered, the Cholesky AE model (-2LL = 1165.1, df = 1386, AIC = -1606.9) better explained the relationships between LLD, anxiety and hypertension compared to the Cholesky ACE model (-2LL = 1164.0, df = 1380, AIC = -1596.0) (see Figure 4.1 for a diagram of the AE model).



Figure 4.1. Path model with standardised path estimates for the best-fitting model for LLD, anxiety, and hypertension in older adults. Significant paths are indicated in bold.

All three phenotypes examined were significantly heritable; both LLD and anxiety were moderately heritable ($h^2 = 0.57$ and $h^2 = 0.37$ respectively), and hypertension was substantially heritable ($h^2 = 0.65$) (see Table 4.3). Genetic and environmental correlations between these phenotypes are presented in Table 4.4; significant positive genetic correlations were observed between depression and clinically significant anxiety symptoms ($r_G = 0.58$), as well as between clinically significant anxiety symptoms and hypertension ($r_G = 0.15$). None of the environmental correlations reached statistical significance.

Table 4.3. Heritability estimates for LLD, anxiety and hypertension.

Phenotype	Heritability estimate (h²)
LLD	0.57 (95% CI 0.27-0.79)
Anxiety	0.37 (95% CI 0.01-0.72)
Hypertension	0.65 (95% CI 0.43-0.80)

Note: Significant results indicated in bold.

Table 4.4. Estimates o	f genetic and	environmental	correlations	between LLD,	anxiety
and hypertension in a	older adult twi	ns.			

	Anxiety	Hypertension
Genetic correlation r _G (95% CI)		
LLD	0.58 (0.05-1.00)	0.25 (<0.00-0.59)
Anxiety		0.15 (0.02-0.50)
Environmental correlation r_E (95% CI)		
LLD	0.16 (<0.00-0.52)	0.00 (<0.00-0.00)
Anxiety		0.00 (<0.00-0.00)

Note: Covariates included in the model: age, sex. Significant results indicated in bold.

4.4 Discussion

In this chapter the genetic and environmental influences on LLD, anxiety and hypertension as well as the genetic and environmental correlations between these measures were investigated in a sample of older Australian twins. The results showed that both depression and anxiety are moderately heritable, whereas hypertension is substantially heritable in late life. Furthermore, we observed significant genetic correlations between depression and anxiety, as well as between anxiety and hypertension.

Previous twin studies reported a modest to moderate genetic influence on late-life depressive symptoms (ranging from 7% to 55% depending on how the phenotype was defined and whether the analysis was stratified by age or sex; see Table 4.1 above) (Carmelli et al., 2000; Gatz et al., 1992; Jansson et al., 2004; Johnson et al., 2002; McGue & Christensen, 1997). The only study that used a reasonably similar design and sample to the present study reported a heritability estimate of 33% for the dichotomous depressed state variable, which was defined as a composite based on the Centre for Epidemiological Studies – Depression Scale score combined with self-reported antidepressant use information, regardless of whether parameters were constrained to be equal in males and females (Jansson et al., 2004). The heritability estimate for LLD found in the present study lies towards the higher end of the range of all reported estimates, but as mentioned earlier, heritability estimates are population- and time-specific, and such variation in heritability estimates could have arisen from differences in demographic characteristics, genetic or environmental influences affecting specific populations, the criteria or instrument used to define the phenotype, or cohort effects (Bundey, 1991; Tenesa & Haley, 2013). The findings reported

here are, nonetheless, consistent with most prior studies that found shared environmental influences played minimal role in depression, whether in adulthood or specifically in late life (Carmelli et al., 2000; Jansson et al., 2004; Johnson et al., 2002; McGue & Christensen, 1997; Sullivan et al., 2000).

Depression and anxiety frequently co-occur throughout the lifespan, with between 14.5% and 35% of older adults with depression also meeting diagnostic criteria for anxiety (Lenze et al., 2000; Schoevers et al., 2003b; Schoevers et al., 2005); however, no previous study has sought to examine the source(s) of covariation between LLD and anxiety. In this sample of older twins, a moderate genetic correlation was observed between LLD and anxiety, which suggests shared genetic influences underlie the two phenotypes. This was not particularly surprising, as many have argued the two phenotypes have considerable symptom overlap and their 'comorbidity' is in fact an artefact of the current categorical nosology in psychiatry (Goldberg & Goodyer, 2005; Maj, 2005). Studies examining the biological correlates of depression and anxiety provide some evidence of common biological abnormalities underlying the two phenotypes, including dysregulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis (Hek et al., 2013; Mantella et al., 2008; Penninx et al., 2007), as well as hypoactivity or altered functional connectivity in the prefrontal and orbitofrontal cortices (Aizenstein et al., 2009; Andreescu et al., 2015; Price et al., 2011) (see Chapters 2.2 and 2.4).

While vascular disease has been proposed to play an important role in the development of LLD (particularly the late-onset subtype), the few studies examining genetic correlations between depression and vascular phenotypes have used middle-aged cohorts. These studies generally reported modest but significant genetic correlations of depression with heart disease, hypertension and heart rate variability (r_G mainly in the range of -0.22 to 0.19) (Kendler et al., 2009; Scherrer et al., 2003; Su et al., 2012), with the only study reporting a much higher genetic correlation between depression and heart disease ($r_G = 0.42$) being one that used a sample substantially younger than the median age of onset of heart disease (Scherrer et al., 2003). The current study is the first to investigate the genetic correlation between depression and hypertension in older adults, but no significant genetic correlation was found. The moderate but

non-significant genetic correlation between depression and hypertension likely indicates inadequate statistical power, which potentially could be overcome by using a larger sample in the future.

In contrast, modest but significant shared genetic influences between anxiety and hypertension were observed in this study ($r_G = 0.15$). Epidemiological studies have previously reported associations between anxiety and cardiovascular disease and risk factors including hypertension (Carroll et al., 2010) and coronary heart disease (Kubzansky et al., 1998; Roest et al., 2010) in younger populations. Several plausible mechanisms have been proposed to explain the association between anxiety and cardiovascular disease and risk factors. One common explanation is the dysregulation of the HPA axis, which results in increased sensitivity to stress and chronic elevations of cortisol (Mantella et al., 2008; Wirtz et al., 2007). A second pathway that has been suggested to underlie the association between anxiety and cardiovascular disease and risk factors relates to oxidative stress and inflammation (Dinh et al., 2014; Hovatta et al., 2010; Ng et al., 2008). Variants in a number of genes have been reported to play a role in the regulation of these pathways, such as the glucocorticoid receptor (NR3C1) gene, the mineralocorticoid receptor (NR3C2) gene, the FK506 binding protein 5 (FKBP5) gene (DeRijk, 2009), and the apolipoprotein E gene (APOE) (Jofre-Monseny et al., 2008). Interestingly, these same biological mechanisms have also been implicated in depression (Belvederi Murri et al., 2014; Black et al., 2015; Palta et al., 2014); yet no significant genetic correlation was observed between depression and hypertension in this particular sample. Given the relatively small sample used in this study, further studies with larger samples are required to elucidate whether there are common genetic factors underlying depression and hypertension, as well as underlying LLD and stroke. Genetic correlations with other vascular phenotypes that may be more strongly associated with LLD, such as cerebral microvascular dysfunction (van Agtmaal et al., 2017), remain to be explored.

Several limitations need to be noted in the interpretation of these findings. This study is subject to the common limitations of the classical twin design, particularly the equal environment assumption (EEA). The validity of the EEA has drawn some debate, as a number of studies have

shown that MZ twins are exposed to more similar environments compared to DZ twins (also known as 'correlated environmental influences') (Bouchard & McGue, 2003; Joseph, 1998, 2002). The possibility of having correlated environmental influences challenges the assumption that genetic and environmental influences are independent, and would result in a biased heritability estimate due to model misspecification (Tenesa & Haley, 2013). However, two studies that have tested for the possible violation of the EEA in twin studies of psychiatric and substance use disorders found it tenable for these disorders (Kendler & Gardner, 1998; Kendler et al., 1993).

A further limitation of this study is that LLD was defined using a self-report questionnaire (GDS-15) and antidepressant use. While clinical diagnoses for depression were not available, previous psychometric studies have demonstrated that the GDS-15 has satisfactory sensitivity and specificity to detect depression in older adults across a range of settings (Almeida & Almeida, 1999; Friedman et al., 2005; Herrmann et al., 1996; Lesher & Berryhill, 1994). Moreover, subthreshold depressive symptoms are prevalent among older adults, and are undoubtedly clinically relevant as they are associated with similar detrimental outcomes as in MDD, including functional disability, cognitive impairment and higher mortality rates (Han et al., 2008; Lavretsky & Kumar, 2002; Lyness et al., 2006; Penninx et al., 1999).

As information on the age of onset of depressive symptoms was not available, the sample used in this study is likely a heterogeneous group that includes both early-onset recurrent depression and late-onset depression. The literature suggests that these two depression subtypes are associated with distinct clinical features, which may reflect aetiological differences. Potential differences in heritability of the early-onset and late-onset subtypes of LLD should be explored in the future. Potential sex differences were not examined in this study due to the small sample size; previous studies that tested for sex differences showed that the heritability of late-life depressive symptoms is slightly higher in females than in males, but the observed differences were not statistically significant (Jansson et al., 2004; Johnson et al., 2002; McGue & Christensen, 1997). It is, however, possible that the magnitude of shared genetic influences between the co-occurring phenotypes differ for males and females, as has been previously demonstrated in a younger adult sample (Burton et al., 2015).

This study adds to the limited literature examining the genetic and environmental influences on LLD or depressive symptoms and associated phenotypes, and sheds light on potential shared pathways that may be involved in their pathophysiology. More research is required to determine whether common genetic influences underlie the co-occurrence of depression and hypertension, and studies with sufficiently large samples are needed to investigate if behavioural risk factors mediate the genetic correlation as the association could reflect predisposition for behavioural risk factors such as smoking, excessive alcohol consumption and physical inactivity. Future studies examining genetic correlations between LLD and other vascular phenotypes may further elucidate the biological underpinnings of the depression-vascular disease comorbidity.

5 GENETIC ASSOCIATION STUDIES OF LATE-LIFE DEPRESSION

5.1 Introduction

The previous chapter examined the proportion of variance in late-life depression (LLD) that is accounted for by genetic and environmental influences respectively. It revealed that LLD is moderately heritable, with the remaining variance explained solely by unique environmental influences. This following chapter will explore the role of common candidate variants in relation to the susceptibility to develop LLD. The contents of this chapter have already been published (Tsang et al., 2017).

LLD is a complex neuropsychiatric disorder, which is believed to be caused by a myriad of genetic and environmental factors, with each factor conferring only a small effect on the aetiology of the disorder (Naismith et al., 2012). Despite the number of genetic association studies of LLD that have been conducted to date, there is limited evidence for robust susceptibility genes as findings across studies have been inconsistent. Such inconsistencies may arise from methodological differences including differences in the definition of depression and sampling strategies used, or from inadequate statistical power to detect modest genetic effects.

Meta-analysis is a potentially powerful statistical method to quantitatively synthesise results across multiple studies, and can potentially resolve the aforementioned discrepancies by pooling underpowered studies to detect associations and to identify sources of heterogeneity (Lohmueller et al., 2003). In recent years, comprehensive meta-analyses have been used to provide an overview of the molecular genetics of psychiatric disorders (López-León et al., 2008; Taylor, 2013; Warrier et al., 2015). While over 100 candidate gene studies of LLD have been published, only two meta-analyses of genetic association studies of LLD have been conducted, with each focusing on one particular candidate polymorphism. The first study examined the *BDNF* Val66Met polymorphism and reported a significant association between the Met allele and LLD (odds ratio (OR)_{Met vs Val/Val} = 1.48, 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.13-193) (Pei et al., 2012), and the second one examined the *SLC6A4* 5-HTTLPR polymorphism and reported a
significant association between the short allele and LLD ($OR_{S vs L/L} = 1.29, 95\%$ CI 1.01-1.66; $OR_{S/S}$ _{vs L/L} = 1.68, 95% CI 1.20-2.35) (Gao et al., 2014).

The aim of this chapter is to conduct a systematic review and a meta-analysis of genetic association studies of LLD, including all polymorphisms that have been examined in the literature where possible. The candidate polymorphisms identified as significantly associated with LLD in this review as well as those associated with major depressive disorder (MDD) in an earlier meta-analysis (López-León et al., 2008) will then be examined in a subsample of the Sydney MAS.

5.2 Systematic review and meta-analysis

5.2.1 Methods

5.2.1.1 Search strategy

Studies were identified through a comprehensive, systematic search on MEDLINE, EMBASE and PsycINFO databases. The search strategy used based on keywords including "depress*", "mood disorder*", "affective disorder*", "older", "elder*", "geriatric", "late life", "late onset", "genetic*", "polymorphism*", "SNP*" and their corresponding subject headings in the respective databases (see Table A.1 in Appendix A for an example of the full search strategy used). Journal articles published in English before 18th February 2016 were considered. Moreover, reference lists of eligible studies and reviews as well as citation lists of eligible studies obtained through the Scopus database were hand-searched to identify additional potentially relevant studies.

5.2.1.2 Study selection

Case-control or cross-sectional studies that examined the association between one or more genetic polymorphism(s) and depression or depressive symptoms present in late life (using an age cut-off of 50 years or above), regardless of age of onset, were selected. The age cut-off of 50 years was chosen to be inclusive in capturing all potentially relevant studies. Disagreements on study inclusion were resolved through consensus. While the current literature suggests some differences in clinical, neuropsychological and neuroimaging characteristics between early-onset depression (EOD; typically with an onset in adolescence or early adulthood) recurrent in late life

and late-onset depression (LOD; first symptoms emerging in late life, studies have used various age cut-offs ranging from 50 to 65 years), which may reflect aetiological differences, the majority of genetic association studies of LLD do not differentiate between the two subtypes and the studies included in this review may include both.

Studies were included if case status was defined based on established psychiatric interviews or validated depression rating scales. Exclusion criteria were:

- the genotype distribution in the control group was not in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) (Munafò & Flint, 2004),
- (2) the control group included individuals with a history of depression who at the time of assessment was in remission,
- (3) the sample included individuals with other psychiatric or neurological disorders,
- (4) there was insufficient data to estimate an effect size,
- (5) the sample included individuals with psychotic depression, or
- (6) studies of depression secondary to other medical conditions (e.g., post-stroke depression, depression in Alzheimer's disease etc.)

Where studies examining the same polymorphism involved potentially overlapping samples, the corresponding authors (n = 5) were emailed for further clarification. In situations where there was substantial sample overlap, only the study with the largest sample size was included.

5.2.1.3 Data extraction

The following information was extracted from eligible studies: first author's name, year of publication, country, ethnicity of sample, mean and standard deviation (or range) of sample age, percentage of females in the sample, diagnostic criteria or instrument used to assess depression, genotype frequencies for cases and controls or mean depression score for each genotype group, and source of sample. Data extracted was checked by Dr Simone Reppermund and Dr Karen Mather at the Centre for Healthy Brain Ageing, University of New South Wales, Australia. Corresponding authors (n = 24) were contacted for more information if sample characteristics or essential data required for the meta-analysis were missing from the published articles, three of whom could not be reached. In the end only five of them were able to provide the information or

data requested since many of the included studies were conducted more than a decade ago, and the corresponding authors no longer have access to the data.

5.2.1.4 Meta-analysis

Meta-analyses were conducted for polymorphisms that were investigated in at least three independent published studies. Pooled ORs and 95% CIs were estimated, and forest plots were obtained for each polymorphism. For studies reporting continuous depression rating scale scores, the standardised mean difference (SMD) was re-expressed as log OR using the following formula (Higgins & Green, 2011):

$$SMD = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{\pi} \ln OR$$

Between-study heterogeneity was tested using the *Q*-test (with p < 0.10 indicating significant heterogeneity), and the degree of inconsistency was quantified using the *P* statistic. Pooled ORs were estimated using random effects models as they assume some degree of variability between study samples. Sensitivity analysis was performed by excluding the included study with the earliest publication date to test for the winner's curse phenomenon (Lohmueller et al., 2003). The winner's curse phenomenon refers to the tendency of overestimating genetic effect sizes in initial association studies, as the publication of these studies are conditional on the effects being statistically significant. Potential publication bias was evaluated using visual inspection of funnel plots for all meta-analyses that reached statistical significance. All statistical analyses were conducted using Review Manager (RevMan) Version 5.3 (The Nordic Cochrane Centre, 2014), with p < 0.05 (two-tailed) considered statistically significant.

5.2.2 Results

A total of 166 potentially relevant studies were identified for full-text review following a comprehensive search of the databases and a review of the titles and abstracts. After full-text review, 119 of them were excluded for reasons specified in the study selection flowchart (Figure 5.1), and 46 candidate gene studies and one genome-wide association study (GWAS) were included. The candidate gene studies examined polymorphisms in 23 genes and the functions of these genes are listed in Table 5.1. Only four out of the 23 candidate genes have been investigated in three or more independent studies, so meta-analysis was only performed on those four genes,

and the results are summarised in Table 5.2. Forest plots are presented in Figure 5.2. Detailed characteristics of studies included in each meta-analysis are presented in Tables A.2 to A.5 in Appendix A.



Figure 5.1. Study selection flowchart according to MOOSE guidelines (Stroup et al., 2000).

Gene	Location	Functions
ACE	17q23	Regulates HPA axis activation and monoaminergic transmission
AGTR1	3q24	Regulates HPA axis activation and monoaminergic transmission
AKT1	14q32	Regulates neuronal survival and monoaminergic transmission
AKTIP	16q12	Modulates AKT1 activity
APOE	19q13	Involved in maintenance and repair of myelin and influences Aβ metabolism
BDNF	11p13	Regulates neuronal survival and neuroplasticity and mediates dopaminergic transmission
CNTF	11q12	Regulates neuronal survival and involved in injury responses
COMT	22q11	Mediates dopaminergic transmission
CRP	1q23	Mediates immune and injury responses
CRY1	12q23-	Regulates the circadian clock
	q24	
CRY2	11p11	Regulates the circadian clock
IL1B	2q14	Mediates immune responses and HPA axis activation
IL10	1q31-q32	Mediates immune responses and HPA axis activation
LRP 1	12q13	Regulates synaptic plasticity and influences AB metabolism
MTHFR	1p36	Involved in metabolism of homocysteine
NTRK2	9q22	Regulates neuronal survival, proliferation and differentiation
PCLO	7q21	Involved in the organisation of synaptic active zones and in
		monoaminergic transmission
PPARG	3p25	Regulates adipocyte differentiation and glucose homeostasis
SLC6A4	17q11	Mediates serotonin reuptake
TNF	6p21	Mediates immune responses and HPA axis activation
TPH2	12q21	Involved in biosynthesis of serotonin
TEF	22q13	Involved in circadian feedback loops
TFCP2	12q13	Mediates AB metabolism and tau phosphorylation

Table 5.1. Genes investigated in included studies and their functions.

Abbreviations: A_β – beta-amyloid; HPA – hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal

Gene Variant		Comparison	No. of	Test of a	ssociation		Test of he	eterogeneity	
			studies	OR	95% CI	р	Q	р	2
APOE	ε2/ε3/ε4	2/23 vs 23/23	4	0.93	0.61-1.43	0.74	0.54	0.91	0%
		ε2+ vs ε2-	5	1.09	0.78-1.52	0.62	1.21	0.88	0%
		ε2 vs ε3	4	1.09	0.77-1.55	0.63	0.60	0.90	0%
		£3/£4 ∨s £3/£3	4	1.50	0.89-2.52	0.13	6.48	0.09	54 %
		ε4/ε4 vs ε3/ε3	3	1.64	0.26-10.19	0.60	3.93	0.14	49%
		ε4+ vs ε4-	17	1.10	0.91-1.34	0.33	29.4	0.02	46 %
		ε4 vs ε3	4	1.49	1.03-2.17	0.04	5.18	0.16	42%
BDNF	Val66Met	Val/Met vs	4	1.05	0.69-1.61	0.82	5.50	0.14	45%
		Val/Val							
		Met/Met vs	4	1.72	1.10-2.69	0.02	3.04	0.39	1%
		Val/Val							
		Met vs Val	4	1.33	1.05-1.68	0.02	3.76	0.29	20%
MTHFR	C677T	C/T vs C/C	5	1.15	0.66-2.02	0.62	11.47	0.02	65%
		T/T vs C/C	5	1.11	0.51-2.42	0.79	8.03	0.09	50%
		T vs C	4	1.41	0.76-2.61	0.28	11.88	<0.01	75%
SLC6A4	5-HTTLPR	S/L vs L/L	5	1.19	0.94-1.51	0.15	3.85	0.43	0%
		S/S vs L/L	5	1.59	1.21-2.09	<0.01	3.59	0.46	0%
		S vs L	4	1.31	1.02-1.67	0.03	4.38	0.22	32%

Table 5.2. Results of meta-analyses of candidate gene studies of late-life depression.

Note: Results in bold are statistically significant at p<0.05 for tests of association and at p<0.10 for tests of heterogeneity.

Study	OR (random) 95% CI	OR (random) 95% CI
APOE ε4 vs ε3		
Schmand 1998	- 	1.46 [0.84, 2.56]
Papassotiropoulos 1999	- 	1.32 [0.87, 2.02]
Hwang 2006		1.04 [0.56, 1.92]
Traykov 2007		
Total (95% CI)	•	1.49 [1.03, 2.17]
BDNF Val66Met Met/Met vs Val/Val		
Tavlor 2007b		4.73 [0.59, 37,70]
Lin 2009	│∎	2.04 [1.13, 3.68]
You 2010		1 14 [0 56 2 31]
Kanellopoulos 2011		→ 5.00 [0.24, 105.66]
Tatal (05% CI)		4 72 [4 40 2 60]
Total (95% CI)		1.72 [1.10, 2.09]
BDNF Val66Met Met vs Val		
Taylor 2007b	— • —	1.86 [1.15, 3.01]
Lin 2009	-∎-	1.40 [1.04, 1.89]
You 2010	_ _	1.07 [0.75, 1.51]
Kanellopoulos 2011		1.10 [0.49, 2.47]
Total (95% CI)	•	1.33 [1.05, 1.68]
SLC6A4 5-HTTLPR S/S vs L/L		
Grunblatt 2006b		2.20 [1.21, 3.99]
Taylor 2007a		1.29 [0.69, 2.42]
Alexopoulos 2009 +		2.05 [0.07, 58.65]
Goldman 2010	+ 	1.36 [0.93, 1.99]
Mendes 2013		2.73 [1.11, 6.71]
Total (95% CI)	•	1.59 [1.21, 2.09]
SI C6A4 5-HTTI PR S vs I		
Grunblatt 2006b	_∎	1.48 [1.09, 2.01]
Taylor 2007a	_ 	1.10 [0.81, 1.49]
Alexopoulos 2009	_	0.85 [0.39, 1.86]
Mendes 2013	-	1.73 [1.07, 2.79]
Total (95% CI)	◆	1.31 [1.02, 1.67]
0.1	0.2 0.5 1 2 5	10

Figure 5.2. Forest plots of statistically significant meta-analyses.

5.2.2.1 APOE ε2/ε3/ε4 (rs429358 and rs7412)

The majority of the studies that investigated the APOE $\varepsilon 2/\varepsilon 3/\varepsilon 4$ polymorphism reported data only on £4 carriers versus non-carriers and HWE could not be assessed. For this reason, separate meta-analyses were conducted with (i) all of these studies included (Butters et al., 2003; Chen et al., 2013b; Class et al., 1997; Harwood et al., 1999; Hwang et al., 2006b; Nebes et al., 2001; Nose et al., 2013; Papassotiropoulos et al., 1999; Schahab et al., 2006; Schmand et al., 1998; Slifer et al., 2009; Sohrabi et al., 2009; Steffens et al., 2003a; Steffens et al., 2003b; Sureshkumar et al., 2012; Taylor et al., 2007a; Traykov et al., 2007), and (ii) only the studies that reported complete genotype frequencies with controls in HWE (Hwang et al., 2006b; Papassotiropoulos et al., 1999; Schmand et al., 1998; Traykov et al., 2007). Most of the studies were community-based and included mainly Caucasian participants, while the LLD phenotype was defined using a range of different instruments. When all the studies were pooled, there was significant between-study heterogeneity and the overall result was non-significant. Visual inspection of the forest plot suggested that the Traykov et al. (2007) study was the outlier, but omission of the study did not change the results. When only the four studies that reported complete genotype frequencies and were in HWE were pooled, there were a total of 366 cases and 610 controls with no significant between-study heterogeneity. The pooled OR for the ɛ4 allele compared to the ɛ3 allele was 1.49 (95% CI 1.03-2.17); none of the other comparisons reached statistical significance.

5.2.2.2 BDNF Val66Met (rs6265)

Four studies examined the *BDNF* Val66Met polymorphism in a total of 577 cases and 425 controls (Kanellopoulos et al., 2011; Lin et al., 2009; Taylor et al., 2007b; You et al., 2010). Two studies were hospital-based with Asian participants, but no significant between-study heterogeneity was observed. The pooled OR for the Met allele compared to the Val allele was 1.33 (95% CI 1.05-1.68) and the pooled OR for the Met/Met genotype compared to the Val/Val genotype was 1.72 (95% CI 1.10-2.69).

5.2.2.3 MTHFR C677T (rs1801133)

A total of five studies investigated the *MTHFR* C677T polymorphism, four of which were casecontrol studies with a total of 283 cases and 321 controls (Almeida et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2005; El-Batch et al., 2010; Pan et al., 2009), and the remaining study reported mean depression scores by genotype in a further 323 participants (Lan et al., 2012). None of the comparisons reached statistical significance, and significant between-study heterogeneity was observed for all three comparisons tested (\mathcal{F} ranging from 50% to 75%). Two studies were hospital-based, and the majority of the samples were non-Caucasian. While the El-Batch et al. (2010) study appeared to be the main source of heterogeneity based on visual inspection of the forest plot, omission of the study did not change the results of the meta-analysis.

5.2.2.4 SLC6A4 5-HTTLPR (44bp Ins/Del)

The *SLC6A4* 5-HTTLPR polymorphism was investigated in five studies, four of which used a case-control design with a total of 406 cases and 688 controls (Alexopoulos et al., 2009; Grünblatt et al., 2006b; Mendes et al., 2013; Taylor et al., 2007a), and the remaining study reported mean depression scores by genotype in an additional 984 participants (Goldman et al., 2010). All included studies were community-based studies, and three of them used Caucasian samples. No significant heterogeneity was observed between these studies. When the results were pooled, the S allele was associated with a slightly higher risk of LLD (*OR*_{SvsL} = 1.31, 95% CI 1.02-1.67; *OR*_{S/SvsL/L} = 1.59, 95% CI 1.21-2.09).

It should be noted that 5-HTTLPR alleles other than the commonly reported S and L alleles were observed in one of the five included studies. An additional extra-long (XL) allele was observed in Goldman et al.'s (2010) sample, and as the frequencies were relatively low (S/XL n = 61 and L/XL n = 24), the XL alleles were treated as L alleles in this meta-analysis.

5.2.2.5 Other polymorphisms

A number of other polymorphisms have been investigated in the literature, most of which are from candidate genes based on the monoamine, neurotrophic or neuroinflammatory hypotheses of depression (refer to Chapter 2.4). As these have been examined in fewer than three independent studies, meta-analyses were not carried out for these polymorphisms, but their findings are summarised in Table 5.3. Table 5.3. Summary of findings from included candidate gene studies not in meta-analyses.

Gene	First author (year)	Polymorphism(s)	Phenotype	Association(s)
ACE	López-León (2006)	Ins/Del	DSM-IV MD	N/A
AGTR1	Taylor (2012)	rs2638363, rs10935724, rs1492103, rs718858, rs12721331, rs2675511, rs389566, rs12695902, rs385338	DSM-IV MD	rs10935724: AA genotype in cases>controls (p=0.0487) rs12721331: TT genotype in cases>controls (p=0.0082)
	Taylor (2013)	rs5182, rs5186 (1166A/C)	DSM-IV MD	N/A
AKT1	Pereira (2014)	rs2494731, rs3803304, rs3730358, rs2494738, rs10149779, rs2494746, rs1130214	DSM-IV-TR MD & GDS-15≥6	rs3730358: A allele in cases>controls (p=0.003)
AKTIP	Pereira (2014)	rs9302648, rs7189819	DSM-IV-TR MD & GDS-15≥6	N/A
BDNF	You (2010)	712G/A, 270C/T, 11757G/C	DSM-IV MD & HAM-D≥17	N/A
CNTF	Grünblatt (2006a)	rs1800169 (G/A null mutation)	DSM-IV major/minor depression	N/A
COMT	Pan (2009) Wang (2014)	rs4680 (Val158Met)	NIMH DIS & MADRS DSM-IV MD & HAM-D≥17	N/A
CRP	Almeida (2009b)	rs1130865 (1444C/T), rs1205 (1846G/A)	GDS-15≥7	rs1205: AA genotype in cases>controls (p=0.022)
CRY1	Hua (2014)	rs2287161	DSM-IV-TR MD & HAM-D≥20	CC genotype & C allele in cases>controls (p=0.010 & p=0.012 respectively)
CRY2	Hua (2014)	rs10838524	DSM-IV-TR MD & HAM-D≥20	N/A
IL1B	Hwang (2009)	rs16944 (511C/T)	DSM-IV MD	N/A
IL10	Torres (2013)	rs1800896 (1082G/A)	DSM-IV-TR MD & GDS-15≥6	N/A
LRP 1	Schahab (2006)	766C/T	DSM-IV MD	N/A

Gene	First author	Polymorphism(s)	Phenotype	Association(s)
NTRK2	(year) Lin (2009)	rs1187323, rs1187329, rs1545285	DSM-IV MD	rs1187323: CA+CC genotypes & C allele
	()			in cases>controls (p=0.0020 & p=0.0042)
				rs1187329: AA genotype, GA+AA
				genotypes & A allele in cases>controls
	Hale (0010)			(p=0.0160, p=0.0444 & p=0.0089)
PCLO	Hek (2010)	IS2522833	DSM-IV MD or dystnymia	C dileie in cases>controls (p=0.0025)
PPARG	YUE (2009)	Prolizaid	GD3-CD>10	(p=0.031)
SLC6A4	Jansson	Exon1B 925C/A	CES-D≥16 or antidepressant	N/A
	(2003)		use or major/minor	
			depression in medical	
			records	
TNF	Cerri (2010)	rs1800629 (308G/A)	DSM-IV MD & GDS-30≥15	GG genotype in cases>controls (p=0.007)
TPH2	Pereira (2011)	rs4448731, rs4565946, rs11179000,	DSM-IV MD & GDS-15≥6	rs4565946: CT genotype in cases <controls< td=""></controls<>
		rs7955501, rs10506645, rs4760820,		(p=0.034)
		rs1487275, rs10879357		rs11179000: AA genotype & A allele in
				cases>controls (p=0.025 & p=0.005)
	Wang (2015)	rs4290270, rs7305115	DSM-IV MD & HAM-D≥17	N/A
TEF	Hua (2014)	rs738499	DSM-IV-TR MD & HAM-D≥20	TT genotype and T allele in
				cases>controls (ps<0.001)
TFCP2	Schahab (2006)	G/A	DSM-IV MD	GG genotype in cases>controls (p=0.042)

Abbreviations: CES-D – Centre for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale; DSM-IV – Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th edition; DSM-IV-TR – Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th edition, Text Revision; GDS – Geriatric Depression Scale; HAM-D – Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression; MADRS – Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Scale; MD – major depression; NIMH DIS – National Institute of Mental Health Diagnostic Interview Schedule

5.2.2.6 Genome-wide association studies

Hek et al. (2013) is the only GWAS of depressive symptoms (measured with the CES-D) using predominantly ageing cohorts identified in the search. This GWAS included 17 population-based studies (n = 34,549) in the discovery sample and a total of 2,391,896 SNPs were analysed, none of which reached genome-wide significance. Independent top SNPs with $p < 1 \ge 10^{-5}$ in the discovery sample were selected for replication in the replication sample of five studies (n =16,709); one SNP (rs161645 in the 5q21 region) showed an association with depressive symptoms, yet it was no longer significant after correcting for multiple comparisons. When the discovery and replication samples were pooled (n = 51,258) for a meta-analysis, rs40465, a SNP in high linkage disequilibrium with rs161645, reached genome-wide significance.

5.2.2.7 Sensitivity analysis

Omission of Schmand et al.'s (1998) study increased the OR to 1.53 (95% CI 0.89-2.64, p = 0.12) in the *APOE* ε 4 vs ε 3 comparison, omission of Taylor et al.'s (2007b) study reduced the OR to 1.24 (95% CI 0.99-1.54, p = 0.06) in the *BDNF* Met vs Val comparison, and omission of Grünblatt et al.'s (2006b) study reduced the OR to 1.22 (95% 0.86-1.74, p = 0.26) in the *SLC6A4* 5-HTTLPR S vs L comparison, all of which became statistically non-significant. However, one possible explanation for these results is that they potentially reflect the loss of statistical power from omission of a study rather than non-robustness of the results given the limited number of studies included and small sample sizes.

5.2.2.8 Potential publication bias

All funnel plots except for the *BDNF* Met/Met vs Val/Val appeared to be reasonably symmetrical (Figure 5.3). While funnel plot asymmetry is often seen as evidence for publication bias, it can be seen that asymmetry in the *BDNF* Met/Met vs Val/Val funnel plot is due to exaggerated effect sizes in smaller studies, a phenomenon commonly observed in meta-analyses (Button et al., 2013).



Figure 5.3. Funnel plots of statistically significant meta-analyses.

5.3 Candidate polymorphisms

5.3.1 Methods

5.3.1.1 Participants

Participants were a subsample selected from baseline (Wave 1) of the Sydney MAS. Exclusion criteria were (i) more than 20% missing data on the 15-item Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS-15), (ii) a self-reported diagnosis of schizophrenia or bipolar disorder at Wave 1, (iii) cognitively unclassified at Wave 1 due to too much missing neuropsychological data, missing or invalid instrumental activities of daily living data, or non-English speaking background, (iv) missing genetic data, or (v) of non-Caucasian ancestry. Depression status was defined by a GDS-15 score of six or above or self-reported antidepressant use.

5.3.1.2 Statistical analyses

Candidate polymorphisms identified as significantly associated with LLD in the meta-analysis above (APOE £2/£3/£4, BDNF Val66Met and rs40465) and additional polymorphisms found to be significantly associated with MDD in an earlier meta-analysis (GNB3 C825T and MTHFR C677T) (López-León et al., 2008) were investigated in relation to LLD. Prior to examining the associations between candidate polymorphisms and LLD, genotype distributions in the control group were assessed for potential deviation from HWE, and those that deviated from HWE were excluded from the analysis. The SLC6A4 5-HTTLPR polymorphism was not examined as these data were not available for this sample. Associations between the candidate polymorphisms and LLD were investigated using logistic regression. The dependent variable was dichotomous depression status based on the GDS-15 score or self-reported current antidepressant which was used in all models; the data were coded as 0 = 'not depressed' and 1 = 'depressed'. The predictor variables in each model were the polymorphism of interest, age and sex. The common homozygote was used as the base group in each model. Sensitivity analyses were conducted with depression defined as a GDS-15 score of 12 or above or self-reported antidepressant use. Secondary analyses were also performed using multiple regression with the continuous GDS-15 score as the dependent variable.

5.3.2 Results

5.3.2.1 Sample characteristics

A total of 787 participants were included in this study. There were no significant differences on any of the main demographic variables and the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) (Folstein et al., 1975), a brief screening of cognitive function, between the two groups (Table 5.4).

Table 5.4. Demographic information of the Sydney MAS subsample included in this study ($M \pm SD$ or n (%)).

	Control	Depressed	Test	р
	(n = 678)	(n = 109)	statistica	
Age, years	78.6 ± 4.7	79.0 ± 4.8	35304.00	0.51
Sex, female	383 (56.5)	62 (56.9)	0.006	0.94
Education, years	11.7 ± 3.5	11.0 ± 3.2	33008.50	0.09
Adjusted MMSE total ^b	28.7 ± 1.3	28.5 ± 1.6	35672.00	0.55
GDS-15 total	1.8 ± 1.3	4.5 ± 3.1	17643.50	<0.001

^a Group differences were tested with Mann-Whitney U test, except for the Sex variable, which was tested with χ^2 .

^b The MMSE score is adjusted for age, education and non-English speaking background according to Anderson et al. (2007).

Abbreviations: MMSE – Mini-Mental State Examination; GDS-15 – 15-item Geriatric Depression Scale.

5.3.2.2 Genotype frequencies and deviations from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium

Genotype frequencies for each candidate polymorphism are presented in Table 5.5 below.

Genotype distributions of APOE ɛ2/ɛ3/ɛ4 (rs429358 and rs7412), BDNF Val66Met (rs6265),

GNB3 C825T (rs5443), MTHFR C677T (rs1801133) as well as rs40465 were tested for potential

deviations from HWE in the control group. None of the SNPs tested deviated from HWE.

	Control	Depressed	
	(n = 678)	(n = 109)	
APOE 22/23/24 rs429358			
TT	4	0	
CT	108	14	
CC	564	95	$\chi^2 = 0.23, p = 0.63$
Missing	2	0	
APOE £2/£3/£4 rs7412			
TT	516	85	
СТ	143	22	
CC	15	2	$x^2 = 1.80, p = 0.18$
Missing	4	0	
BDNF Val66Met		. –	
Val/Val	447	67	
Val/Met	205	38	
Met/Met	26	4	$\chi^2 = 0.17, p = 0.68$
GNB3 C825T			
C/C	341	54	
C/T	283	47	
T/T	54	8	$\chi^2 = 0.20 p = 0.66$
MTHER CA77T			
	260	36	
C/I	313	54	
T/T	105	19	$x^2 = 0.45$, $p = 0.50$
.,	100	.,	χ στισ, μ στοσ
rs40465			
T/T	307	47	
G/T	297	55	
G/G	74	7	$\chi^2 = 0.03, p = 0.86$

Table 5.5. Genotype frequencies for candidate polymorphisms and tests for deviations from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium.

5.3.2.3 Associations between candidate polymorphisms and late-life depression

Separate logistic regression models were run for *APOE* $\varepsilon 2/\varepsilon 3/\varepsilon 4$, *BDNF* Val66Met, *GNB3* C825T, *MTHFR* C677T and rs40465, and none of the them were significantly associated with LLD (see Tables 5.6 to 5.11). Both the sensitivity analyses with a more stringent cut-off (Tables B.1 to B.6

in Appendix B) and the secondary analyses with the continuous GDS-15 score as the dependent variable (Tables B.7 to B.12 in Appendix B) showed similar results.

Table 5.6. Logistic regression of APOE 22 carrier status in predicting late-life depression.

Predictor	В	SE	р	OR (95% CI)
APOE 2+	-0.31	0.31	0.31	0.74 (0.41-1.34)
Age	0.02	0.02	0.41	1.02 (0.98-1.06)
Sex	0.02	0.21	0.93	1.02 (0.68-1.53)
(Constant)	-3.19	1.71	0.06	0.04

Model χ^2 = 1.68, df = 3, p = 0.64 -2LL = 631.44, Nagelkerke R^2 = 0.004 Hosmer-Lemeshow test p = 0.71

Table 5.7. Logistic regression of APOE £4 carrier status in predicting late-life depression.

Predictor	В	SE	р	OR (95% CI)
APOE E4+	-0.07	0.25	0.77	0.93 (0.57-1.52)
Age	0.02	0.02	0.45	1.02 (0.97-1.06)
Sex	0.01	0.21	0.97	1.01 (0.67-1.52)
(Constant)	-3.11	1.71	0.07	0.05
Model χ^2 = 0.69, df = 3, p = 0.88 -2LL = 632.43, Nagelkerke R^2 = 0 Hosmer-Lemeshow test p = 0.31	.002			

Table 5.8. Logistic regression of BDNF Val66Met in predicting late-life depression.

Predictor	В	SE	р	OR (95% CI)
BDNF Val66Met				
Val/Met	0.21	0.22	0.34	1.23 (0.80-1.90)
Met/Met	0.003	0.55	1.00	1.00 (0.34-2.97)
Age	0.02	0.02	0.45	1.02 (0.97-1.06)
Sex	0.003	0.21	0.99	1.02 (0.67-1.51)
(Constant)	-3.19	1.71	0.06	0.04
Model χ^2 = 1.50, df = 4, p = 0.83 -2LL = 631.61, Nagelkerke R^2 = 0.003 Hosmer-Lemeshow test p = 0.22				

Predictor	В	SE	р	OR (95% CI)	
GNB3 C825T					
C/T	0.05	0.22	0.83	1.05 (0.69-1.60)	
T/T	-0.08	0.41	0.84	0.92 (0.42-2.04)	
Age	0.02	0.02	0.43	1.02 (0.98-1.06)	
Sex	0.01	0.21	0.95	1.01 (0.67-1.52)	
(Constant)	-3.19	1.71	0.06	0.04	
Model $\chi^2 = 0.72$, df = 4, p = 0.95					
-2LL = 632.39, Nagelkerke R^2 = 0.002					
Hosmer-Lemeshow test $p = 0.13$	3				

Table 5.9. Logistic regression of GNB3 C825T in predicting late-life depression.

Table 5.10. Logistic regression of *MTHFR* C677T in predicting late-life depression.

Predictor	В	SE	р	OR (95% CI)	
MTHFR C677T					
C/T	0.23	0.23	0.33	1.25 (0.80-1.97)	
T/T	0.27	0.31	0.38	1.31 (0.72-2.40)	
Age	0.02	0.02	0.44	1.02 (0.98-1.06)	
Sex	0.04	0.21	0.87	1.04 (0.69-1.56)	
(Constant)	-3.33	1.72	0.05	0.04	
Model $\chi^2 = 1.82$, $df = 4$, $p = 0.77$					
-2LL = 631.29, Nagelkerke R^2 = 0.004					
Hosmer-Lemeshow test $p = 0.2$	76				

Table 5.11. Logistic regression of rs40465 in predicting late-life depression.

Predictor	В	SE	р	OR (95% CI)	
rs40465					
T/G	0.19	0.22	0.39	1.20 (0.79-1.83)	
G/G	-0.48	0.43	0.26	0.62 (0.27-1.43)	
Age	0.02	0.02	0.48	1.02 (0.97-1.06)	
Sex	0.02	0.21	0.94	1.02 (0.68-1.53)	
(Constant)	-3.08	1.71	0.07	0.05	
Model χ^2 = 3.58, df = 4, p = 0.47					
-2LL = 629.53, Nagelkerke R ² = 0.008					
Hosmer-Lemeshow test: $p = 0.6$	4				

5.4 Discussion

In this chapter, the existing literature on genetic associations with LLD was reviewed, and metaanalyses were conducted for four risk polymorphisms (*APOE* ε2/ε3/ε4, *BDNF* Val66Met, *MTHFR* C677T, *SLC6A4* 5-HTTLPR). Three of these associations (*APOE* ε2/ε3/ε4, *BDNF* Val66Met and *SLC6A4* 5-HTTLPR) were statistically significant, but the pooled effect sizes were mostly modest.

The identified susceptibility genes in the meta-analysis have been studied extensively in relation to the pathogenesis of neuropsychiatric and neurodegenerative disorders. Apolipoprotein E (APOE) for instance plays important roles in lipoprotein metabolism as well as in the regulation of synaptic plasticity and repair (Bu, 2009), and the APOE gene (chromosome 19) is a known susceptibility gene for both sporadic and familial Alzheimer's disease. The APOE $\varepsilon 2/\varepsilon 3/\varepsilon 4$ genotypes are based on a haplotype of two single-nucleotide polymorphisms (rs429358 and rs7412). Early studies examining the relationship between APOE genotype and depression have reported positive associations of the ɛ4 allele with both late-onset MDD (Krishnan et al., 1996) and late-life psychotic depression (Zubenko et al., 1996), but later attempts to replicate these findings showed mixed results. Interestingly, while a previous meta-analysis of genetic association studies of MDD showed a protective effective of the APOE ɛ2 allele (López-León et al., 2008), no evidence of this was found in the meta-analysis here. In contrast, the APOE ε 4 allele was found to be associated with an increased risk of LLD (pooled OR = 1.49, 95% CI 1.03-2.71). Closer inspection of the characteristics of the studies included in that previous metaanalysis showed that one of the studies involved a younger sample (age = 44.6 ± 16.0 years) (Fan et al., 2006), which showed a very strong protective effect of the ε^2 allele (OR = 0.03 - 0.06depending on whether the analysis was based on genotypes or alleles) and was the main cause for the significant between-study heterogeneity. A reanalysis of such data showed that omission of the study with the younger sample would render the between-study heterogeneity as well as the overall pooled effect size non-significant. However, the significant meta-analysis result here should also be interpreted with caution as $APOE \varepsilon 4$ is a well-recognised risk factor for Alzheimer's disease (Strittmatter & Roses, 1996) and depressive symptoms are commonly reported in individuals with Alzheimer's disease (including in the preclinical stage) (Berger et

al., 1999; Leyhe et al., 2017). Only one included study has examined this potential confounding relationship, which found the association between the ɛ4 allele and depression did not survive stratification based on the presence of Alzheimer's disease (Slifer et al., 2009). While studies with individuals with dementia were excluded from this meta-analysis, it cannot be ruled out that some of them may be in the preclinical stage of Alzheimer's disease when assessed.

The brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) is a neurotrophin that is highly expressed in the hippocampus; it plays a pivotal role in the regulation of synaptic plasticity, neurogenesis, neuronal survival and differentiation, and may be important in the pathophysiology of a range of neuropsychiatric disorders including depression (Duman et al., 2016). A common single-nucleotide polymorphism in the *BDNF* gene (chromosome 11) results in the substitution of valine by methionine (Val66Met, rs6265), and the Met allele is associated with decreased activity-dependent secretion of BDNF (Egan et al., 2003), poorer memory performance (Hariri et al., 2003) as well as increased risk for several psychiatric disorders (Gratacòs et al., 2007). Two earlier meta-analyses of genetic associations of MDD showed no significant association between the *BDNF* Val66Met polymorphism and MDD in younger samples, but a more recent meta-analysis focusing on LLD found the Met allele was associated with an increased risk for LLD (Pei et al., 2012). The findings in this chapter are concordant with the results of the latter meta-analysis despite the different studies included.

The 5-HTTLPR polymorphism is a repeat length polymorphism located in the promoter region of the *SLC6A4* gene (chromosome 17), and the two common alleles correspond to either a 44base pair insertion (Long allele; 16-repeat) or deletion (Short allele; 14-repeat). The Short allele is associated with lower transcription of the serotonin transporter, resulting in reduced serotonin uptake and expression (Heils et al., 1996; Lesch et al., 1996). While studies investigating the 5-HTTLPR polymorphism in depression commonly use a biallelic grouping, comparing the disease risk between S allele and L allele carriers, there have been reports of several variants of the 14- and 16-repeat, as well as other types of alleles (15-, 18-, 19-, 20- and 22-repeat), although they are rarely observed in Caucasians (Delbruck et al., 1997; Kunugi et al., 1997; Michaelovsky et al., 1999; Nakamura et al., 2000). Moreover, additional functional polymorphisms at rs25531,

rs2020933 and rs8073965 have been reported to also contribute to the transcriptional variation of *SCL6A4* (Martin et al., 2007; Wendland et al., 2006). Another study established that the *SCL6A4* 5-HTTLPR polymorphism is functionally triallelic, with the three alleles being L_A , L_G , and S, where the L_G allele is assumed to be low-expressing like the S allele (Hu et al., 2005). This was caused by an A>G substitution at position 6 within the first of two 22-base pair repeats in the L allele (Nakamura et al., 2000), which resulted in a functional AP2 transcription factor binding site. While studies that failed to take the triallelic nature of this polymorphism into account risk skewing the results artificially due to the functional misclassification of the L_G allele carriers, depression studies that used the triallelic grouping interestingly tend to report smaller effect sizes than those that used the biallelic grouping (Clarke et al., 2010).

The only GWAS involving predominantly older cohorts found preliminary evidence for an association between the 5q21 region and late-life depressive symptoms (Hek et al., 2013). The 5q21 region identified is located in a gene desert and no association between its closest gene NUDT12 and any psychiatric disorder has previously been reported. It is perhaps unsurprising that none of the significant candidate polymorphisms reached genome-wide significance in the single GWAS identified in the review. A prior study that tried to use data from a GWAS as a large-scale replication of significant findings reported in candidate genes studies of MDD similarly found only minimal support for few of the candidate genes in the literature (Bosker et al., 2011). The authors argue that the most likely explanation for this is publication bias. However, a number of other explanations are also highly plausible. Firstly, depression is a heterogeneous disorder, and how the phenotype is defined can have an effect on the magnitude of the association. All the studies included in the GWAS identified assessed depressive symptoms using the Centre for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale (CES-D), whereas the metaanalyses in this chapter included studies of depression based on the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM) diagnosis as well as depressive symptoms based on self-rated instruments. Furthermore, insufficient statistical power is a common issue in both candidate polymorphism studies and GWAS. Power calculations suggest a sample of 3600 cases and 3600 controls are required to achieve 90% power to detect a genotypic relative risk of 1.16 at minor allele frequency of 0.30 in a candidate gene study (Major Depressive Disorder Working Group of

the Psychiatric GWAS Consortium, 2013). MDD being a highly prevalent and modestly to moderately heritable disorder, it has been estimated the sample size required for a GWAS of MDD is 2.4- to 5-fold greater compared with schizophrenia, which is likely to be achieved only through the use of national registries or electronic health records (Major Depressive Disorder Working Group of the Psychiatric GWAS Consortium, 2013).

Overall, the results of the systematic review and meta-analysis here show that the genetics of LLD is insufficiently investigated, with limited replication studies reported. It is therefore unsurprising that no robust associations have been identified to date. While meta-analysis is a potentially powerful statistical tool, it is limited by the quality of studies that are included in the first place. In this chapter, each of the meta-analyses only included a few studies with rather small sample sizes; as a consequence the pooled sample sizes may still be too small for reliable detection of modest to moderate genetic effects (Zintzaras & Lau, 2007). The pooled ORs here also provide some indication that the effect sizes may be inflated due to the small sample sizes and could potentially represent false positive (type I errors); under the common disease/common variant hypothesis, the contribution of each risk variant is expected to be rather small, and prior studies on genetic associations between common variants and common diseases generally report ORs in the range of 1.1-1.4 or less commonly 1.4-2.0 (Ioannidis, 2008). The risk polymorphisms identified in this review also represent just a very small percentage of the variance in liability to disease, as it is believed that thousands of independent loci contribute to depression susceptibility, most of them being common variants of small effect (Flint & Kendler, 2014). This has been demonstrated in a study using the genetic risk profiling approach, which found that a cluster of selected top SNPs explained only 0.7%-1.0% of the variance in depression in two samples of older adults (Demirkan et al., 2011).

In the second half to this chapter, polymorphisms identified as significantly associated with LLD in the review ($APOE \epsilon 2/\epsilon 3/\epsilon 4$, BDNF Val66Met and rs40465 on Chromosome 5) and those associated with MDD in an earlier meta-analysis (GNB3 C825T and MTHFR C677T) (López-León et al., 2008) were investigated in a subsample of the Sydney MAS. None of these polymorphisms significantly predicted LLD. As discussed above, publication bias and

insufficient statistical power are likely to be the reasons behind inconsistent results reported in candidate polymorphism studies.

A clear limitation of all the studies included in this review as well as the candidate polymorphism studies carried out in this chapter is inadequate statistical power, therefore we should exercise caution in the interpretation of these findings. It would be premature to consider the significant associations definitive in the aetiology of LLD as effect sizes are possibly inflated, whereas a non-significant association in the meta-analysis or the candidate polymorphism study also does not necessarily indicate that a specific polymorphism does not play a role in the pathogenesis of LLD. Before we are able to perform meta-analysis on data from multiple adequately powered studies, these associations cannot be convincingly confirmed or refuted. Larger and more replication studies are required in the future to provide stronger evidence of genetic associations with LLD, which would also allow for meaningful stratified analyses based on depression subtype (such as early-onset recurrent versus late-onset depression), ethnicity or sex to limit heterogeneity in the sample.

6 IMPACT OF EARLY-LIFE TRAUMA ON LATE-LIFE DEPRESSION

6.1 Introduction

Examination of the genetic and environmental influences on late-life depression (LLD) in Chapter 4 revealed that environmental factors explain a substantial proportion of the variation in LLD; less than perfect concordance in MZ twins also suggest that environmental factors play an important role in the aetiology of LLD. Many environmental risk factors for mental disorders including depression have been identified to date such as low birth weight, birth complications, and exposure to family conflict. Adversity that occurs in early life is considered to be particularly relevant, as it is hypothesised that such events occurring at critical stages of brain development may lead to lasting structural and functional changes in the brain, for instance HPA axis dysregulation or changes to immune function, altering biological processes in relation to stressful events. This chapter will investigate the effects of a specific type of environmental risk factor – early-life trauma, as well as potential gene-environment interactions on LLD.

6.1.1 Childhood maltreatment

Research suggests exposure to childhood maltreatment is linked to psychopathology later in adulthood (Kendler et al., 2000; Kessler et al., 1997; Reeve & van Gool, 2013). Meta-analyses have shown that individuals with a history of childhood maltreatment are more likely to develop depression in adulthood, and more likely to have a severe course of depression with chronicity, atypical features (significant weight gain or increased appetite, hypersomnia, leaden paralysis, or interpersonal rejection sensitivity), and poor treatment response (Nanni et al., 2012; Nelson et al., 2017; Withers et al., 2013). However, most of the research has focused on examining the impact of such experiences on depression in adolescence and young adulthood, and the role of childhood maltreatment in the development of LLD has been insufficiently investigated.

Among the limited studies that have been conducted, there is some evidence that various types of childhood maltreatment are associated with LLD or depressive symptoms. A prospective ageing cohort study from the Netherlands showed that emotional neglect, psychological abuse, physical abuse, and sexual abuse all predicted depression (odds ratios (*OR*s) ranged from 5.35

(95% confidence interval (CI) 2.36-12.14) for sexual abuse to 13.71 (95% CI 3.25-57.91) for physical abuse). The association remained significant when the analysis was stratified by age of onset. Within the depressed group, all types of abuse were related to significantly more severe depression, a younger age of onset, a higher number of depressive episodes, a lower sense of mastery, as well as a higher number of chronic diseases (Comijs et al., 2013). A population-based study examining LLD found that repeated exposure to six types of adverse childhood experiences (namely physical abuse between parents, physical abuse by a parent, being sworn at by a parent, being touched sexually by an adult, being forced to sexually touch an adult, and being forced into sexual intercourse) were individually associated with a greater risk of developing depression (adjusted ORs ranged from 2.41 to 9.78, all p < 0.001). When all types of abuse were entered into the same model, repeated physical abuse by a parent and repeated forced sexual intercourse remained as significant predictors of LLD (Ege et al., 2015).

This association between childhood maltreatment and LLD may be mediated by a range of factors. For instance, the association between a history of childhood sexual abuse and depressive symptom severity was partially accounted for by neuroticism in a sample of older psychiatric patients, although the association remained significant after taking neuroticism into account (Gamble et al., 2006). Another study that looked at the relationship between a childhood abuse composite and Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV-TR) depression diagnosis (major depression, minor depression or dysthymia) found the relationship became non-significant once mediating variables comprising depression severity, age of depression onset, neuroticism, loneliness, social network size and the number of chronic diseases were included in the model (Wielaard et al., 2017).

6.1.2 War-related trauma

Aside from interpersonal trauma, impersonal trauma such as exposure to war-related trauma also has a huge impact on the health of older adults. In particular, the "concentration camp syndrome" (also known as *Konzentrationslagersyndrom* or KZ-syndrome) in Holocaust survivors has been well documented in the literature, including symptoms such as dysphoric mood, emotional lability, sleep disturbances, and cognitive deficits (Chodoff, 1963; Eitinger,

1961), which is now classified as post-traumatic stress disorder in the current psychiatric nosology. In the past decades, there has been growing recognition that the consequences of these traumatic experiences persist well into middle age and later life, with epidemiological studies around the world reporting that between 40% and 86% of survivors still display concentration camp symptoms 30 to 50 years after leaving the concentration camps (Bower, 1994; Jabłoński et al., 2016; Kuch & Cox, 1992; Robinson et al., 1994; Robinson et al., 1990). A comprehensive meta-analysis found significant negative long-term effects of the Holocaust on survivors' health and well-being, including poorer psychological well-being (Cohen's d = 0.14, 95% CI 0.03-0.24, p < 0.05), more post-traumatic stress symptoms (Cohen's d = 0.72, 95% CI 0.46-0.98, p < 0.01), as well as greater psychopathological symptomatology (Cohen's d = 0.33, 95% CI 0.23-0.44, p <0.01) (Barel et al., 2010). Similarly, in studies that specifically used depression or depressive symptoms as an outcome variable, Holocaust survivors or those who have had extreme experiences during World War II were shown to be at higher risk of depression or had higher levels of depressive symptoms (Amir & Lev-Wiesel, 2003; Beekman et al., 1995). However, few studies have explored the influence of war-related trauma on LLD.

6.1.3 Gene-environment interactions in depression

The literature has shown that early-life adversity is a robust predictor of adolescent and adult depression (Heim & Binder, 2012), and the majority of studies examining gene-environment interactions involving early-life adversity or stressful life events have focused on the solute carrier family 6 member 4 (*SLC6A4*) 5-HTTLPR polymorphism. The 5-HTTLPR polymorphism is a repeat length polymorphism located in the promotor region of the *SLC6A4* gene, and is associated with transcription activity of the serotonin transporter. The short (S) allele is associated with reduced serotonin uptake and expression. Few studies have explored gene-environment interactions in LLD. All of those examining the genetic moderation of the association between early-life adversity or stressful life events and LLD involved the 5-HTTLPR polymorphism, and the results are mixed.

Kim et al. (2007) was the first study that attempted to replicate the 5-HTTLPR x stressful life events finding in LLD first reported in Caspi et al. (2003) in depression early in life. In addition,

it tested potential modifying effects of the brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) Val66Met polymorphism, since BDNF is known to play a role in the regulation of synaptic plasticity, neurogenesis, neuronal survival and differentiation. While it reported significant SLC6A4 x stressful life events, BDNFx stressful life events as well as a 3-way SLC6A4 x BDNFx stressful life events effects, the results need to be interpreted with caution as contrary to what was reported in the paper, the sample showed significant deviations from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) for the BDNF genotype. A larger French community study that also tried to replicate the SLC6A4 5-HTTLPR x life events finding using recent life events that occurred within 12 months found no significant interaction (Wendland et al., 2006). As the G variant of the rs25531 SNP has previously been reported to reduce SLC6A4 messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) transcription for the 5-HTTLPR long allele and is assumed to be similarly lowexpressing like the S allele (Hu et al., 2005), the study also examined the gene-environment interaction with the SLC6A4 genotype reclassified based on the rs25531 functional polymorphism, and no significant interaction was observed (Wendland et al., 2006). Another French study examined reported significant 5-HTTLPR x childhood traumatic experiences interactions for "parents too often shared their problems with children" and "poverty and financial difficulties", but a significantly increased risk of depression was only observed in those with the S/L genotype, with a non-significant trend for the interaction also observed in the L/L group. This is contrary to findings of earlier gene-environment studies that reported greater susceptibility for depression in carriers of the S allele (Ritchie et al., 2009).

On the other hand, only one study has investigated gene-environment interactions involving war exposure in LLD. In a French community-based study of older adults, Artero et al. (2011) explored the *SLC6A4* 5-HTTLPR x war exposure interaction in LLD. War exposure was defined as repatriation from Algeria to France and/or experience of at least one war-related traumatic event. The *SLC6A4* x war exposure interaction was highly significant, with significant associations between war exposure and lifetime depression observed both in the S/S and S/L groups (OR = 2.34, 95% CI 1.24-4.32 and OR = 1.64, 95% CI 1.16-2.31 respectively).

As reviewed above, previous gene-environment interaction studies of candidate polymorphisms with stressful life events in LLD have focused on the 5-HTTLPR polymorphism. Aside from the Kim et al. (2007) study which has certain methodological issues, no study to date has examined gene-environment interactions of other candidate polymorphisms of LLD with early-life adversity. The aims of this chapter are (i) to estimate the prevalence of childhood maltreatment in a cohort of older Australians, (ii) to replicate previously reported associations between different types of early-life adversity, including subtypes of childhood maltreatment and exposure to Holocaust trauma, and LLD, and (iii) to explore whether early-life adversity interacts with the candidate polymorphisms of LLD examined in Chapter 5 to contribute to increased vulnerability for LLD.

6.2 Methods

6.2.1 Participants

Participants are a subsample selected from Wave 4 of Sydney MAS. Exclusion criteria were (i) more than 20% missing data on the 15-item Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS-15), (ii) missing data on any of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form (CTQ-SF) subscales, (iii) missing data on the Holocaust trauma item, (iv) a self-reported diagnosis of schizophrenia or bipolar disorder at Wave 1, (v) a consensus cognitive diagnosis of dementia at Wave 4, (vi) genetic data unavailable, or (vii) of non-Caucasian ancestry. A total of 458 participants were included in this study. Sample demographics are shown in Table 6.1 below. The depressed group had a higher percentage of females, a higher GDS-15 score and a higher percentage of Holocaust survivors.

	Non-	Depressed	Test statistic ^a	р
	depressed	(n = 95)		
	(n = 363)			
Age, years	83.5 ± 4.4	83.9 ± 4.5	16487.0	0.51
Sex, female	200 (55.1)	63 (66.3)	3.9	<0.05
Education, years	12.0 ± 3.5	11.6 ± 3.2	16408.5	0.47
Adjusted MMSE total	29.1 ± 1.2	29.1 ± 1.1	15972.5	0.76
GDS-15 total	2.1 ± 1.3	5.0 ± 3.3	7857.0	<0.01
CTQ total	42.1 ± 6.3	44.4 ± 9.1	15088.0	0.06
Holocaust survivor	27 (7.4)	14 (14.7)	4.9	0.03

Table 6.1. Sample demographics ($M \pm SD$ or n (%)).

 $^{\rm o}$ Mann-Whitney U test for continuous variables and Pearson's χ^2 for dichotomous variables.

Note: Significant results are indicated in bold.

6.2.2 Measures

Depression was defined as a GDS-15 total score of six or above or self-reported current antidepressant use. History of childhood maltreatment was assessed using the CTQ-SF, and cutoff scores reported in Walker et al. (1999) were used to create dichotomous variables for each subscale. The psychometric properties of these measures have already been reported in Chapter 3. Experience of Holocaust trauma was based on one item in a self-reported early life events questionnaire that assessed various types of stressful early life events including birth problems, family dysfunction, disaster, and war events. The actual wording used in that item was "Were you a Holocaust victim?" with the definition of a Holocaust victim being "a person who lived in a country at the time when it was under Nazi regime, under Nazi occupation, or under the regime of Nazi collaborators or who fled a country or region not under Nazi rule or occupation due to Nazi rule or Nazi occupation." Responses were coded as 0 = 'No', 1 = 'Yes' and 888 = 'Don'tknow'.

Candidate polymorphisms included in this analysis were single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) identified in the meta-analysis presented in Chapter 5 as well as an earlier meta-analysis of genetic association studies of major depressive disorder (MDD) (López-León et al., 2008).

6.2.3 Testing for deviations from Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium

For data quality control, genotype distributions of *APOE* $\varepsilon 2/\varepsilon 3/\varepsilon 4$ (rs429358 and rs7412), *BDNF* Val66Met (rs6265), *GNB3* C825T (rs5443), *MTHFR* C677T (rs1801133) as well as rs40465 (located in a gene desert in the 5q21 region) were tested for potential deviations from HWE in the controls using χ^2 . The results are presented in Table 6.2 below. None of the candidate polymorphisms tested deviated from HWE.

	Common		Rare		
Polymorphism	homozygotes	Heterozygotes	homozygotes	χ² (1df)	р
ΑΡΟΕ ε2/ε3/ε4					
- rs429358	0	52	311	2.16	0.14
- rs7412	295	63	5	0.60	0.44
BDNF Val66Met	237	116	10	0.89	0.35
GNB3 C825T	160	174	29	3.79	0.05
MTHFR C677T	139	164	60	0.96	0.33
rs40465	164	162	37	0.11	0.75

Table 6.2. Genotype distributions and tests for deviation from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium for APOE $\epsilon 2/\epsilon 3/\epsilon 4$ (rs429358 and rs7412), BDNF Val66Met, GNB3 C825T, MTHFR C677T and rs40465.

6.2.4 Statistical analyses

Prevalence of the five subtypes of childhood maltreatment assessed by the CTQ-SF and selfidentification as a Holocaust victim was examined. Associations between the candidate polymorphisms and LLD were investigated using logistic regressions. The dependent variable was the dichotomous depression variable based on GDS-15 score and self-reported current antidepressant use in all models; the data was coded as 0 = 'not depressed' and 1 = 'depressed'. The first model was tested with all dichotomous CTQ subscale variables as independent variables, and age and sex entered as covariates. A second model was tested with Holocaust trauma as the independent variable, again with age and sex as covariates. Effect sizes were quantified using ORs with one-unit increase in the predictor variable. As a continuous variable was included in the models (i.e. age), model fit was assessed using the Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test (p < 0.05 indicates a poor fit). For the gene-environment interaction analysis, a dichotomous composite childhood maltreatment variable based on the five CTQ-SF subscales was created and coded as 0 = n 'no history of maltreatment' and 1 = 'history of maltreatment'. Two models were tested for each polymorphism, with the first model testing for a genotype x childhood maltreatment interaction, and the second model testing for a genotype x Holocaust trauma interaction.

Secondary analyses were performed using the continuous GDS-15 score as the dependent variable for all associations tested.

6.3 Results

6.3.1 Prevalence of childhood maltreatment

The prevalence of positive history of childhood maltreatment based on the cut-offs of Walker et al. (1999) is reported in Table 6.3 below.

	Non-depressed	Depressed	Total
	(n = 363)	(n = 95)	(n = 458)
Emotional abuse	20 (5.5)	16 (16.8)	36 (7.9)
Physical abuse	29 (8.0)	6 (6.3)	35 (7.6)
Sexual abuse	15 (4.1)	7 (7.4)	22 (4.8)
Emotional neglect	33 (9.1)	10 (10.5)	43 (9.4)
Physical neglect	26 (7.2)	10 (10.5)	36 (7.9)

Table 6.3. Prevalence of childhood maltreatment assessed using the CTQ-SF (n (%)).

6.3.2 Effects of childhood maltreatment and Holocaust trauma on

late-life depression

The main effects of childhood maltreatment and Holocaust trauma on LLD were examined in two separate binary logistic regression models, with age and sex entered as covariates. Out of the five types of childhood maltreatment assessed in the CTQ-SF, only emotional abuse significantly predicted LLD in the Sydney MAS cohort (B = 1.40, Wald = 11.22, p < 0.01) (see Table 6.4). Exposure to Holocaust trauma also significantly predicted LLD (B = 0.81, Wald = 5.12, p = 0.02) (see Table 6.5). Significant results are indicated in bold.

Predictor	В	SE	р	OR (95% CI)	
Emotional abuse	1.40	0.42	<0.01	4.05 (1.79-9.16)	
Physical abuse	-0.90	0.57	0.11	0.41 (0.13-1.24)	
Sexual abuse	0.54	0.54	0.32	1.72 (0.59-5.00)	
Emotional neglect	-0.29	0.48	0.54	0.75 (0.30-1.90)	
Physical neglect	0.39	0.48	0.41	1.48 (0.58-3.76)	
Age	0.02	0.03	0.48	1.02 (0.97-1.07)	
Sex	0.43	0.25	0.08	1.54 (0.95-2.51)	
(Constant)	-3.31	2.25	0.14	0.04	
Model χ^2 = 19.44, df = 7, p = 0.007					
$-2LL = 448.20$, Nagelkerke $R^2 = 0.07$					
Hosmer-Lemeshow test $p = 0.4$.9				

Table 6.4. Logistic regression of childhood maltreatment in predicting late-life depression.

Table 6.5. Logistic regression of Holocaust trauma in predicting late-life depression.

Predictor	В	SE	p	OR (95% CI)	
Holocaust trauma	0.81	0.36	0.02	2.24 (1.11-4.51)	
Age	0.02	0.03	0.55	1.02 (0.97-1.07)	
Sex	0.51	0.24	0.04	1.67 (1.03-2.69)	
(Constant)	-3.04	2.20	0.17	0.05	
Model χ^2 = 9.27, df = 3, p = 0.03 -2LL = 458.37, Nagelkerke R^2 = 0.03 Hosmer-Lemeshow test p = 0.78					

Secondary analyses on the effects of early-life trauma showed similar results, but additionally showed that sexual abuse and age significantly predicted GDS-15 scores. Sex, however, was not a significant predictor (see Appendix B).

6.3.3 Gene-environment interactions

Potential gene-environment interactions between the candidate polymorphism of interest and childhood maltreatment or Holocaust trauma were tested in separate binary logistic regression models. The results are presented in Tables 6.6 to 6.17, which show the candidate polymorphism main effect, the early-life trauma main effect, the gene-environment interaction effect, independent of the effects of other predictors. Of the 12 models tested, only four were

statistically significant (Tables 6.9, 6.11, 6.14 and 6.15), and none of the gene-environment interactions significantly predicted LLD. Secondary analyses for gene-environment interactions showed similar results, with all interaction effects tested except for the *BDNF* Val66Met x childhood maltreatment interaction being non-significant. However, given the small sample size in this study, it is possible that this finding is a spurious association.

Table 6.6. Logistic regression of the interaction between APOE ε2 allele and childhood maltreatment in predicting late-life depression.

Predictor	В	SE	р	OR (95% CI)
ε2+	0.17	0.36	0.64	1.18 (0.58-2.39)
Maltreatment	0.46	0.28	0.10	1.58 (0.91-2.75)
ε2+ x maltreatment	-0.75	0.90	0.41	0.48 (0.08-2.76)
Age	0.02	0.03	0.41	1.02 (0.97-1.08)
Sex	0.49	0.24	0.04	1.63 (1.01-2.63)
(Constant)	-3.55	2.19	0.10	0.03

Model χ^2 = 7.19, df = 5, p = 0.09 -2LL = 460.45, Nagelkerke R^2 = 0.02 Hosmer-Lemeshow test p = 0.52

Table 6.7. Logistic regression of the interaction between APOE ε2 allele and Holocaust trauma in predicting late-life depression.

Predictor	В	SE	р	OR (95% CI)	
ε2+	-0.05	0.36	0.90	0.96 (0.47-1.95)	
Holocaust trauma	0.81	0.40	0.04	2.25 (1.03-4.95)	
ε2+ x Holocaust trauma	-0.01	0.89	0.99	0.99 (0.18-5.64)	
Age	0.02	0.03	0.56	1.02 (0.97-1.07)	
Sex	0.51	0.24	0.04	1.67 (1.03-2.70)	
(Constant)	-3.02	2.21	0.05		
Model χ^2 = 9.29, df = 5, p = 0.10					
$-2LL = 458.35$, Nagelkerke $R^2 = 0.03$					
Hosmer-Lemeshow test $p = 0.80$					

Predictor	В	SE	p	OR (95% CI)	
ε4+	0.67	0.31	0.03	1.95 (1.07-3.57)	
Maltreatment	0.54	0.30	0.08	1.71 (0.95-3.08)	
ε4+ x maltreatment	-0.65	0.66	0.32	0.52 (0.14-1.90)	
Age	0.03	0.03	0.29	1.03 (0.98-1.08)	
Sex	0.46	0.24	0.06	1.58 (0.98-2.54)	
(Constant)	-4.21	2.22	0.06	0.02	
Model χ^2 = 10.96, df = 5, p = 0.05 -2LL = 456.68, Nagelkerke R^2 = 0.04 Hosmer-Lemeshow test p = 0.46					

Table 6.8. Logistic regression of the interaction between APOE ε4 allele and childhood maltreatment in predicting late-life depression.

Table 6.9. Logistic regression of the interaction between APOE ε4 allele and Holocaust trauma in predicting late-life depression.

Predictor	В	SE	р	OR (95% CI)	
ε4+	0.54	0.29	0.06	1.71 (0.98-2.99)	
Holocaust trauma	0.85	0.40	0.03	2.35 (1.07-5.15)	
ε4+ x Holocaust trauma	-0.13	0.91	0.88	0.88 (0.15-5.15)	
Age	0.02	0.03	0.43	1.02 (0.97-1.08)	
Sex	0.50	0.25	0.04	1.65 (1.02-2.67)	
(Constant)	-3.60	2.24	0.11	0.03	
Model χ^2 = 12.85, df = 5, p = 0.03 -2LL = 454.79, Nagelkerke R^2 = 0.04 Hosmer-Lemeshow test p = 0.61					

Predictor	В	SE	р	OR (95% CI)		
BDNF						
Val/Met	-0.32	0.31	0.30	0.73 (0.40-1.33)		
Met/Met	0.54	0.72	0.45	1.72 (0.42-7.00)		
Maltreatment	0.31	0.33	0.35	1.36 (0.72-2.58)		
BDNF x maltreatment						
Val/Met x maltreatment	0.15	0.60	0.81	1.16 (0.36-3.79)		
Met/Met x maltreatment	0.22	1.20	0.86	1.24 (0.12-12.95)		
Age	0.02	0.03	0.38	1.02 (0.97-1.08)		
Sex	0.51	0.24	0.04	1.66 (1.03-2.68)		
(Constant)	-3.56	2.20	0.11	0.03		
Model χ^2 = 9.07, df = 7, p = 0.25						
$-2LL = 458.57$, Nagelkerke $R^2 = 0.03$						
Hosmer-Lemeshow test $p = 0.50$						

Table 6.10. Logistic regression of the interaction between *BDNF* Val66Met genotype and childhood maltreatment in predicting late-life depression.

Table 6.11. Logistic regression of the interaction between *BDNF* Val66Met genotype and Holocaust trauma in predicting late-life depression.

Predictor	В	SE	р	OR (95% CI)			
BDNF							
Val/Met	-0.17	0.27	0.54	0.85 (0.49-1.45)			
Met/Met	0.25	0.68	0.72	1.28 (0.34-4.86)			
Holocaust trauma	0.79	0.41	0.05	2.21 (0.99-4.90)			
BDNF x Holocaust victim							
Val/Met x Holocaust trauma	-1.08	1.18	0.36	0.34 (0.03-3.44)			
Met/Met x Holocaust trauma	21.59	28284.60	1.00	0.00			
Age	0.02	0.03	0.52	1.02 (0.97-1.07)			
Sex	0.54	0.25	0.03	1.71 (1.05-2.78)			
(Constant)	-3.14	2.22	0.16	0.04			
Model χ^2 = 15.75, df = 7, p = 0.03							
$-2LL = 451.889$, Nagelkerke $R^2 = 0.05$							
Hosmer-Lemeshow test $p = 0.32$							
Predictor	В	SE	р	OR (95% CI)			
---	-------	------	------	------------------	--	--	--
GNB3							
C/T	0.20	0.28	0.49	1.22 (0.70-2.12)			
T/T	0.001	0.54	1.00	1.00 (0.35-2.89)			
Maltreatment	0.67	0.38	0.08	1.96 (0.92-4.17)			
GNB3 x maltreatment							
C/T x maltreatment	-0.49	0.55	0.38	0.61 (0.21-1.81)			
T/T x maltreatment	-1.12	1.25	0.37	0.33 (0.03-3.76)			
Age	0.03	0.03	0.34	1.03 (0.97-1.08)			
Sex	0.49	0.24	0.04	1.63 (1.01-2.63)			
(Constant)	-3.90	2.22	0.08	0.02			
Model $x^2 = 8.30$, df = 7, $p = 0.31$							
$-2LL = 459.34$, Nagelkerke $R^2 = 0.03$							
Hosmer-Lemeshow test $p = 0.71$							

Table 6.12. Logistic regression of the interaction between GNB3 C825T genotype and childhood maltreatment in predicting late-life depression.

Table 6.13. Logistic regression of the interaction between GNB3 C825T genotype and Holocaust trauma in predicting late life-depression.

Predictor	В	SE	р	OR (95% CI)		
GNB3						
C/T	-0.04	0.26	0.87	0.96 (0.58-1.59)		
T/T	-0.09	0.49	0.86	0.92 (0.35-2.41)		
Holocaust trauma	0.72	0.65	0.26	2.06 (0.58-7.32)		
GNB3 x Holocaust trauma						
C/T x Holocaust trauma	0.31	0.78	0.69	1.37 (0.29-6.34)		
T/T x Holocaust trauma	-20.45	23105.28	1.00	0.00		
Age	0.01	0.03	0.60	1.01 (0.96-1.07)		
Sex	0.53	0.25	0.03	1.69 (1.05-2.73)		
(Constant)	-2.88	2.23	0.20	0.06		
Model $x^2 = 12.20$, $df = 7$, $p = 0.09$						
$-2LL = 455.44$, Nagelkerke $R^2 = 0.04$						
Hosmer-Lemeshow test $p = 0.73$						

Predictor	В	SE	р	OR (95% CI)		
MTHFR						
C/T	0.33	0.33	0.31	1.39 (0.74-2.64)		
T/T	0.90	0.37	0.02	2.45 (1.18-5.07)		
Maltreatment	0.44	0.46	0.34	1.55 (0.64-3.79)		
MTHFR x maltreatment						
C/T x maltreatment	-0.08	0.61	0.90	0.93 (0.28-3.06)		
T/T x maltreatment	0.26	0.76	0.73	1.30 (0.29-5.75)		
Age	0.02	0.03	0.46	1.02 (0.97-1.07)		
Sex	0.57	0.25	0.02	1.77 (1.09-2.88)		
(Constant)	-3.75	2.22	0.09	0.02		
Model χ^2 = 15.18, df = 7, p = 0.03						
-2LL = 452.46, Nagelkerke R ² = 0.05						
Hosmer-Lemeshow test $p = 0.26$						

Table 6.14. Logistic regression of the interaction between *MTHFR* C677T genotype and childhood maltreatment in predicting late-life depression.

Table 6.15. Logistic regression of the interaction between *MTHFR* C677T genotype and Holocaust trauma in predicting late-life depression.

Predictor	В	SE	р	OR (95% CI)			
MTHFR							
C/T	0.25	0.29	0.38	1.29 (0.73-2.27)			
T/T	0.85	0.35	0.01	2.34 (1.19-4.63)			
Holocaust trauma	0.83	0.87	0.34	2.29 (0.41-12.70)			
MTHFR x Holocaust trauma							
C/T x Holocaust trauma	-0.07	1.03	0.95	0.94 (0.13-7.01)			
T/T x Holocaust trauma	-0.39	1.06	0.71	0.68 (0.09-5.39)			
Age	0.02	0.03	0.56	1.02 (0.96-1.07)			
Sex	0.58	0.25	0.02	1.78 (1.10-2.90)			
(Constant)	-3.37	2.25	0.13	0.03			
Model $x^2 = 15.42$, df = 7, p = 0.03							
$-2LL = 452.22$, Nagelkerke $R^2 = 0.05$							
Hosmer-Lemeshow test $p = 0.61$							

Predictor	В	SE	р	OR (95% CI)		
rs40465						
G/T	0.30	0.29	0.29	1.35 (0.77-2.36)		
G/G	-0.07	0.50	0.90	0.94 (0.35-2.48)		
Maltreatment	0.68	0.38	0.08	1.97 (0.93-4.17)		
rs40465 x maltreatment						
G/T x maltreatment	-1.00	0.60	0.10	0.37 (0.11-1.20)		
G/G x maltreatment	0.71	0.84	0.40	2.03 (0.39-		
				10.47)		
Age	0.02	0.03	0.56	1.02 (0.97-1.07)		
Sex	0.50	0.25	0.04	1.66 (1.02-2.67)		
(Constant)	-3.15	2.21	0.15	0.04		
Model $\chi^2 = 11.57$, $df = 7$, $p = 0$	0.12					
-2LL = 456.07, Nagelkerke R^2 = 0.04						
Hosmer-Lemeshow test $p = 0$	0.51					

Table 6.16. Logistic regression of the interaction between rs40465 and childhood maltreatment in predicting late-life depression.

Table 6.17. Logistic regression of the interaction between rs40465 and Holocaust trauma in predicting late-life depression.

Predictor	В	SE	р	OR (95% CI)			
rs40465							
G/T	0.05	0.27	0.86	1.05 (0.62-1.76)			
G/G	0.25	0.41	0.53	1.29 (0.58-2.86)			
Holocaust trauma	1.21	0.62	0.05	3.35 (0.99-11.36)			
rs40465 x Holocaust trauma							
G/T x Holocaust trauma	-0.51	0.78	0.52	0.60 (0.13-2.78)			
G/G x Holocaust trauma	-1.07	1.36	0.43	0.34 (0.02-4.98)			
Age	0.02	0.03	0.55	1.02 (0.97-1.07)			
Sex	0.52	0.25	0.04	1.68 (1.04-2.71)			
Constant	-3.10	2.21	0.16	0.05			
	1.0						
Model $\chi^2 = 10.22$, $df = 7$, $p = 0$.	18						
$-2LL = 457.42$, Nagelkerke $R^2 = 0.04$							
Hosmer-Lemeshow test $p = 0.06$							

6.4 Discussion

This chapter estimated the prevalence of childhood maltreatment in a community sample of older Australians, and studied the associations between experiences of childhood maltreatment or Holocaust trauma and LLD, as well as potential gene-environment interactions with candidate polymorphisms of LLD. While a history of emotional abuse and exposure to Holocaust trauma both predicted LLD independently, none of the gene-environment interactions tested were statistically significant.

The prevalence rates of the five types of childhood maltreatment observed in this study as assessed using the CTQ-SF are relatively low, ranging from around 5% to 9%. Although no methodologically rigorous nationwide prevalence study of childhood abuse and neglect has been conducted to date in Australia (Child Family Community Australia, 2017), a number of community-based surveys with reasonably large samples reported prevalence rates of 5.2-18.0% for physical abuse (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2013a; Chu et al., 2013; Mouzos & Makkai, 2004; Price-Robertson et al., 2010; Reeve & van Gool, 2013; Rosenman & Rodgers, 2004), 1.6-4.0% for neglect (both physical and emotional) (Chu et al., 2013; Price-Robertson et al., 2010; Rosenman & Rodgers, 2004), 5.8-17.1% for emotional maltreatment (Chu et al., 2013; Price-Robertson et al., 2010; Rosenman & Rodgers, 2004), 4.3-23.0% for exposure to family violence (Chu et al., 2013; Indermaur, 2001; Price-Robertson et al., 2010; Rosenman & Rodgers, 2004), and 4.0-23.0% for sexual abuse (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2013a; Mamun et al., 2007; Moore et al., 2010; Najman et al., 2005). There appears to be somewhat higher rates of physical and emotional neglect in the Sydney MAS cohort compared to these Australian statistics, but they are not substantially different from average rates observed across high-income countries (Gilbert et al., 2009). Prevalence estimates may vary due to differences in sampling and definitions of childhood abuse and neglect applied, as well as potential underreporting due to fear and stigma.

Of the several different types of early-life trauma examined in this study, only emotional abuse and Holocaust trauma predicted LLD. While reviews and meta-analyses of long-term health consequences of childhood maltreatment generally suggest experiences of childhood sexual

abuse, physical abuse, emotional abuse, and neglect are all significantly associated with depression (Infurna et al., 2016; Lindert et al., 2014; Norman et al., 2012), Infurna et al. (2016) found that psychological abuse showed the strongest association with depression among the several different forms of childhood maltreatment. Possible explanations for the finding that some types of childhood maltreatment showed no association with LLD in this study include inadequate statistical power due to small sample sizes, as well as potential misclassification due to underreporting given the low prevalence of childhood maltreatment reported in this sample, selection bias as older adults with the most severe depression or high numbers of chronic diseases (a moderator of the childhood maltreatment-LLD link (Comijs et al., 2013)) are unlikely to volunteer for the study, and survivor bias as healthy individuals are more likely to survive into older age. As no further information is available on the specific exposure to the Holocaust, the effect size of the Holocaust trauma-LLD association is possibly underestimated due to misclassification.

In this study, we found no evidence to support the presence of any of the gene-environment interactions examined. Although the specific gene-environment interactions examined here have not been previously investigated in the context of LLD and are exploratory in nature, some of the polymorphisms (for instance, *BDNF* Val66Met and *MTHFR* C677T) have been examined in studies using younger samples. In a meta-analysis of a *BDNF* Val66Met x childhood adversity meta-analysis that pooled studies of child, adolescent, adult and late-life depression together, the authors similarly found no significant interaction between *BDNF* Val66Met and childhood adversity (Hosang et al., 2014). Only one study reported a significant *MTHFR* C677T x childhood trauma interaction in adult depression, but their sample was much smaller and younger compared to our sample (Lok et al., 2013). As power is a common concern in gene-environment interactions between depression vulnerability genes (including other polymorphisms that are considered to play a role in the stress endocrine system) and exposure to childhood trauma in the risk of developing LLD to ensure there is adequate power to detect an interaction effect (Dick et al., 2015).

A number of neurobiological mechanisms have been proposed to explain the link between earlylife trauma and depression, including alterations in HPA axis reactivity, increased neuroinflammation, or volumetric reductions in cortical and limbic regions. Given the important role of the HPA axis in regulating the stress response, a large proportion of the literature has investigated alterations in HPA axis reactivity as a result of childhood abuse and neglect. Heim and colleagues conducted a series of studies investigating the effects of early adverse experiences on neuroendocrine, autonomic and behavioural sensitivity to stress, which are believed to lead to a lower threshold to developing depression (see Heim et al., 2008 for a review). Increased ACTH, cortisol and heart rate responses to stress were observed in individuals with a history of childhood abuse, suggesting that exposure to childhood trauma results in lasting sensitisation of stress responses and dysregulation of the HPA axis, which likely reflect an elevated risk to develop depression in response to subsequent stressors.

Aside from altered HPA axis reactivity, there has also been the suggestion that neuroimmune sensitisation is a prolonged effect of exposure to childhood trauma. It is believed that in addition to neuroinflammatory responses at the time of exposure, childhood trauma may also alter the developmental trajectory of a range of immunological processes, resulting in a heightened immune response to stress later in life. For example, adversity in middle childhood and cumulative adversity from birth were both associated with elevated levels of C-reactive protein (CRP) and interleukin (IL)-6 at ages 10 and 15 (Slopen et al., 2013), and high levels of highsensitive CRP were observed in adults with current depression and a history of childhood maltreatment (Danese et al., 2008). Pro-inflammatory immune activation has been implicated in a range of neuropsychiatric disorders including depression, with meta-analyses reporting significantly higher concentrations of pro-inflammatory cytokines tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- α and IL-6 in depressed individuals relative to controls (Dowlati et al., 2010), and elevated levels of CRP and IL-6 predicted the development of depressive symptoms (Valkanova et al., 2013).

There is also growing evidence that childhood adversity or trauma leaves persistent epigenetic marks, which alters gene expression in the long term, and may mediate the association between

childhood adversity or trauma and depression. Animal models of early-life stress have found hypomethylation in the enhancer region of the arginine vasopressin (*AVP*) gene in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus (Murgatroyd et al., 2009), as well as hypermethylation in regions of the glucocorticoid receptor (*NR3C1*) gene exon 1_7 promoter, accompanied by increased histone H3-K9 acetylation and alterations in nerve growth factor-inducible protein A binding (Weaver et al., 2004). Moreover, a genome-wide transcriptional profiling study of healthy adults showed that individuals with low early-life socioeconomic status had altered neuroendocrine transcriptional activity, including a significant upregulation of genes with response elements for CREB/ATF transcription factors as well as for NF- κ B, and a relative downregulation of genes with response elements for the glucocorticoid receptor (Miller et al., 2009b). Collectively, these suggest that the early years of life represents a *sensitive period*, in which the neuroendocrine and neuroimmune systems are shaped by environmental influences, and exposure to early-life adversity leads to the biological programming of a phenotype with characteristics such as exaggerated adrenocortical and neuroinflammatory responses to challenge.

The finding that childhood trauma has enduring effects that persist well into late life underscores the importance of identifying history of childhood trauma in depressed older adults. Earlier studies showed that childhood trauma is not only a significant risk factor for LLD, it is also associated with a more chronic course, greater depression severity and poor response to psychotherapy and/or pharmacotherapy (Nanni et al., 2012; Nelson et al., 2017; Withers et al., 2013). Routine screening of older adults for a history of childhood trauma in primary care may help identify older adults who are at high risk of developing depression, and may also be helpful in treatment selection for this distinct clinical subtype of depression. There is limited research on psychotherapy for older adults with trauma-related mental health issues to date, but a recent systematic review reported evidence from several small studies that exposure-based therapies and eye movement desensitisation and reprocessing appear efficacious in older adults in reducing both post-traumatic stress symptoms and/or depressive symptoms (Dinnen et al., 2015). In addition, mediation studies of childhood trauma and adult depression have shown that general emotion dysregulation partially mediated the association (Hopfinger et al., 2016; Huh et

al., 2017; Schierholz et al., 2016); treatment options that specifically target such deficits may also help alleviate depressive symptoms or prevent their persistence or recurrence in the future.

This chapter shows that experiences of childhood trauma contribute to an increased risk of developing depression in late life. However, no gene-environment interactions were observed. It should be acknowledged that the current study used a relatively small sample, and only a restricted number of SNPs were examined. Measures of early-life trauma were self-reported and retrospective in nature, which may be inaccurate due to recall bias. The literature suggests lasting changes in HPA axis reactivity, neuroimmune response, as well as epigenetic profiles may account for the association between childhood trauma and LLD, but further research is required to elucidate the causal relationships between these alterations and LLD.

7 DNA METHYLATION IN LATE-LIFE DEPRESSION

7.1 Introduction

In Chapters 4 and 5, it was demonstrated that genetic influences explain just over half the variability in the susceptibility to late-life depression (LLD), yet no robust definitive variants have been identified in either candidate gene or genome-wide association studies to date. Twin studies have shown there is some discordance within monozygotic twin pairs (as reviewed in Chapter 4), suggesting that environmental factors also play a role in the aetiology of LLD. One mechanism by which environmental factors may exert their effects on brain development and function is through epigenetic processes. Epigenetic processes contribute to the regulation of gene expression through mechanisms independent of changes in the DNA sequence itself; examples of epigenetic processes include DNA methylation and histone modifications. The most widely studied form of epigenetic regulation is DNA methylation due to its relative stability in somatic cells and ease of measurement (Talens et al., 2010). DNA methylation is catalysed by DNA methyltransferases, which transfer a methyl group from *S*-adenosyl methionine to the fifth carbon of a cytosine residue at the CpG dinucleotide (Jones & Takai, 2001).

There is growing evidence to suggest that DNA methylation play an important role in a range of neuropsychiatric disorders, including depression (Januar et al., 2015b). Early DNA methylation studies of depression mainly assessed methylation changes in the promoter regions of known candidate genes of depression, such as *BDNF* and *SLC6A4*. More recently, epigenome-wide association studies (EWAS) of depression have also been carried out (see Table 7.1 for a summary of EWAS of adult depression with no psychiatric comorbidity). However, published study samples are generally small, various types of tissues have been used, and the findings are mixed or yet to be replicated.

Study	Sample	Phenotype	Tissue	Array/genes	Results	Adjustments for
		definition		investigated		covariates
EWAS						
Byrne et al. (2013)	12 monozygotic (MZ) twin pairs discordant for MDD (31-61 years, 50% female); 12 healthy MZ twin pairs (34- 63 years, 50% female) from the Queensland Twin Registry	DSM-IV MDD based on SSAGA/CIDI	White blood cells	450K	↓ global methylation in depressed females than healthy females higher variance in methylation levels in cases than in control co-twins at more than half of the probes	Matched for date of blood sample collection, smoking, alcohol use and history of drug use; all of Northern European ancestry.
Uddin et al. (2011)	33 individuals with lifetime history of depression (43.5±11.9 years, 70% female) and 67 healthy controls (46.2±18.7 years, 55% female) from the Detroit Neighbourhood Health Study	Depressive symptoms: PHQ-9 Lifetime depression: depressed mood or anhedonia, and ≥1 other symptom for ≥2 weeks and/or suicidal or self-harm thoughts	Blood	27K	the depressed group had fewer uniquely methylated genes compared to controls <i>IL</i> -6 methylation inversely correlated with serum IL-6 and CRP	Groups showed no significant differences in genetic background, education, smoking, alcohol consumption, medication use, PBMC count, or serum IL-6 or CRP levels.

Table 7.1. Summary of DNA methylation studies of depression (including only adult samples with no psychiatric comorbidity).

Study	Sample	Phenotype definition	Tissue	Array/genes investigated	Results	Adjustments for covariates
Candidate	gene					
D'Addario et al. (2013)	41 MDD patients and 44 healthy controls	DSM-IV MDD based on SCID	PBMCs	BDNF promoter	↑ BDNF promoter methylation in MDD compared to controls	Matched for age.
Fuchikami et al. (2011)	20 MDD patients (45.6±12.5 years, 60% female) and 18 healthy controls (42.3±9.6 years, 80% female)	DSM-IV MDD based on Japanese version of MINI	Blood	BDNF promoter	methylation profiles of CpG I but not CpG IV of the BDNF gene can be used to accurately distinguish between MDD patients and healthy controls.	N/A
Na et al. (2014)	45 MDD patients (41.6±11.8 years, 76% female) and 72 healthy controls (40.7±14.2 years, 71% female)	DSM-IV MDD based on Korean version of SCID	Blood	NR3C1	↓ methylation at CpG 3 and CpG 4 of <i>NR3C1</i> in MDD patients compared to healthy controls.	Matched for age and sex.
Melas et al. (2013)	MAOA study: 82 MDD patients (23-74 years, 100% female) and 92 controls (21- 74 years, 100% female) NR3C1 study: 93 MDD patients (23-74 years, 100% female) and 83 healthy controls (21-74 years, 100% female)	DSM-IV MDD based on MDI	Saliva	ΜΑΟΑ	↓ mean MAOA methylation and MAOA CpG8 methylation	N/A

Study	Sample	Phenotype	Tissue	Array/genes	Results	Adjustments for
lga et al. (2016)	28 MDD patients (45.0±13.1 years, 71% female) and 29 healthy controls (42.2±12.1 years, 72% female)	DSM-IV MDD	Leukocytes	SLC6A4 promoter	↑ mean SLC6A4 promoter methylation in MDD patients compared to healthy controls, but no significant differences at any single CpG site. Dose-dependent relationship between SLC6A4 5-HTTLPR genotype and mean methylation level in patients.	N/A
Okada et al. (2014)	50 MDD patients (40.3±10.3 years, 46% female) and 50 healthy controls (40.3±10.5 years, 46% female)	DSM-IV MDD based on Japanese version of MINI	Blood	SLC6A4 promoter	Unable to distinguish between MDD patients and healthy controls using <i>SLC6A4</i> promoter methylation	N/A

Abbreviations: 450K – Illumina HumanMethylation 450K BeadChip; 27K – Illumina HumanMethylation 27K BeadChip; CIDI – Composite International Diagnostic Interview; CRP – C-reactive protein; DSM-IV – Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th edition; IL – interleukin; MDD – major depressive disorder; MDI – Major Depression Inventory; MINI – Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview; PHQ – Patient Health Questionnaire; SCID – Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Disorders; SSAGA – Semi-Structured Assessment for the Genetics of Alcoholism Thus far, only two studies examining DNA methylation in LLD have been published, both of which employed the candidate gene approach and investigated BDNF promoter methylation in LLD (Januar et al., 2015a; Kang et al., 2015). Earlier studies reported that increased BDNF promoter methylation is associated with reduced synthesis of BDNF in mouse cortical neurons (Martinowich et al., 2003), and with depression and suicidal ideation in younger adult samples (Fuchikami et al., 2011; Kang et al., 2013). With regard to LLD, Kang et al. (2015) investigated the role of the *BDNF* Val66Met polymorphism (rs6265) as well as *BDNF* promoter methylation in blood in LLD, and higher BDNF promoter methylation at CpG site 9 was associated with both prevalence at baseline and incidence at the 2-year follow-up. Higher *BDNF* promoter methylation at CpG site 9 was also associated with greater depression severity as assessed on the GDS. However, no significant genotype x methylation interaction effects on the prevalence or incidence of LLD were observed. Using buccal DNA methylation, Januar et al. (2015a) showed that increased methylation at the CpG unit 3.4.5 in *BDNF* promoter I and at CpG site 3 in promoter IV were associated with baseline depression as well as chronic depression (defined as being depressed at three or more of the assessments over 12 years of follow-up). However, in contrast to the non-significant genotype x methylation interaction found in Kang et al. (2015), Januar et al. (2015a) reported that two SNPs (rs6265 and rs7103411) modified the depressionmethylation association.

Since no epigenome-wide association studies of LLD have been conducted, the aim of this chapter is to examine epigenetic variation associated with LLD using blood DNA methylation from a sample of older monozygotic (MZ) twin pairs. A secondary analysis was conducted using the discordant MZ twin design as it offers the advantage of controlling for a range of potential confounding factors, such as genetic background, age, sex, maternal influences, early environmental experiences to some extent as well as population cohort effects (Bell & Spector, 2011; van Dongen et al., 2012).

7.2 Methods

7.2.1 Participants

The sample comprised participants from the Older Australian Twins Study (OATS) (Sachdev et al., 2009). Monozygotic twin pairs with both DNA methylation and depression data in Wave 1 of OATS were included. Twin pairs who had their blood samples processed in different states were excluded, and a twin pair with a known chromosomal rearrangement was also excluded.

7.2.2 Measures

Depression status was defined by a composite of the 15-item Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS-15) (Yesavage & Sheikh, 1986) total score (using a cut-off of six or above) and self-reported current antidepressant use. Smoking status, drinking status and physical activity were included as covariates. Refer to Chapter 3 for more details.

7.2.3 Procedures

DNA was extracted from peripheral blood samples using either the Qiagen Autopure (Qiagen, Valencia, CA, USA) or a proteinase K salting out method was used. Within experiments, cotwins were randomised across the arrays. DNA methylation status was examined using the Illumina Infinium HumanMethylation450 BeadChip (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). Raw intensity data were background corrected and methylation beta values (ranging from 0-1) were generated using the R *minfi* package (Aryee et al., 2014). Functional normalisation was used. Sex chromosome probes, probes containing SNPs, cross-reactive probes as well as probes not detected in all samples were excluded from the analysis (Chen et al., 2013a). After these quality control (QC) procedures there were 420,982 out of 485,764 probes remaining and the distribution of probe types before and after QC is presented in Table 7.2 below. White blood cell composition was estimated using the method described in Houseman et al. (2012), implemented in *minfi*.

Annotation	Before quality control	After quality control
	(Sandoval et al., 2011)	
Island	150,254 (30.9%)	135,919 (32.3%)
Shore	112,072 (23.1%)	99,109 (23.5%)
Shelf	47,161 (9.7%)	39,189 (9.3%)
Open sea	176,277 (36.3%)	146,765 (34.9%)
Total	485,764	420,982

Table 7.2. Distribution of probe types before and after quality control.

7.2.4 Epigenome-wide association study

An EWAS was conducted using the beta values on each probe as the dependent variable, and depression status as the independent variable. After regressing out the first two principal components of white blood cell composition counts and the first four principal components of beta values to adjust for cell composition and batch effects respectively, the EWAS was performed using generalised estimating equations in the full MZ twin sample to account for the twin structure and using simple *t*-tests in the discordant MZ twin sample. Age, sex, smoking status, drinking status and physical activity were included as covariates in the EWAS using the full MZ twin sample. The Benjamini-Hochberg method was applied in both analyses to account for multiple testing and a false discovery rate of p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

7.2.5 Pathway analysis

In order to determine whether the identified differentially methylated probes were in or near genes that clustered together functionally, over-representation enrichment analysis of Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) pathways and Gene Ontology (GO) Biological Process categories were carried out using the WebGestalt 2017 (WEB-based Gene SeT AnaLysis Toolkit; available at http://www.webgestalt.org). WebGestalt uses Fisher's exact test to evaluate over- or under-representation of genes in a gene set of interest compared to a reference gene set. The target gene set comprised unique genes associated with the top 1,000 probes ranked in ascending order of the unadjusted p value, where there is more than one gene associated with a probe only the closest one is included. All genes mapped to Illumina Human Methylation 450K probes were used as the reference set (n = 19,211 unique genes). Of those 19,211 genes, 6,242 are annotated to KEGG pathways (release Oct 1, 2016) and 14,613 are annotated to GO Biological

Process categories (release Oct 24, 2016). The Benjamini-Hochberg method was used to correct for multiple testing and false discovery rate of p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

7.2.6 Blood-brain DNA methylation comparison

While it is known that DNA methylation is largely tissue-specific, significant correlations between DNA methylation measured in blood, cortex and cerebellum have been observed within individuals for a subset of CpG sites (Hannon et al., 2015). For the differentially methylated probes identified in this study, an indication of their likely relevance was established by obtaining blood-brain methylation correlations using the Blood Brain DNA Methylation Comparison Tool (available at http://epigenetics.iop.kcl.ac.uk/bloodbrain/). The tool provides correlations between DNA methylation in blood with four brain regions – prefrontal cortex (n = 74), entorhinal cortex (n = 71), superior temporal gyrus (n = 75) and cerebellum (n = 71) – from matched samples for all probes on the Illumina 450K array. Pearson's correlations with a p < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

7.3 Results

7.3.1 Participants

A total of 97 MZ twin pairs (7 pairs concordant with depression, 17 pairs discordant for depression, and 73 healthy control pairs) were included in this study. All participants were Caucasian. Detailed sample characteristics are presented in Table 7.3.

	Concordant	Discordant	Healthy	Pa
	(n = 7 pairs)	(n = 17 pairs)	controls	
			(n = 73 pairs)	
Age, years	67.0 ± 2.1	70.5 ± 6.6	71.5 ± 5.9	0.15
Sex, female	12 (85.7)	22 (64.7)	43 (58.9)	1.18e-15
GDS-15 total	2.6 ± 3.1 ^b	3.0 ± 2.7	1.2 ± 1.0	1.56e-08
Smoker status ^c				0.10
- non-smoker	8 (57.1)	17 (50.0)	95 (65.1)	
- past smoker	4 (28.6)	11 (32.4)	45 (30.8)	
- current smoker	2 (14.3)	5 (14.7)	5 (3.4)	
Drinker status ^c				0.27
- non-drinker	2 (14.3)	1 (2.9)	15 (10.3)	
- past drinker	2 (14.3)	1 (2.9)	14 (9.6)	
- current drinker	10 (71.4)	31 (91.2)	117 (80.1)	
Physical activity, min	522.9 ± 418.0	366.2 ± 365.7	574.3 ± 534.5	0.10

Table 7.3. Sample demographics ($M \pm SD$ or n (%)).

^a Group differences were tested using ANOVA for continuous variables and Fisher's exact test for categorical variables.

^b As depression caseness was defined as a GDS-15 score of 6 or above or self-reported antidepressant use, the depressed group includes participants with depression scores below the cut-off. In this study, six out of the seven concordant twin pairs were on antidepressants, and most of them had subthreshold GDS-15 scores.

° Numbers do not add up to 100% due to missing data.

7.3.2 Epigenome-wide association studies

7.3.2.1 Full MZ twin sample

When the full sample was used for the analysis, a total of 69 significantly differentially methylated probes were identified after correction for multiple testing (see Figure 7.1 and Table 7.4). The distribution of probes was as follows: 23 (33.3%) are located in CpG islands, 17 (24.6%) in CpG shores, and 5 (7.2%) in CpG shelves. In terms of the functional genomic distribution, 25 (36.2%) of the probes were located in the promoter region of a gene, defined as the combined region of within 1,500bp or within 200bp upstream of the transcription start site and in the 5'-untranslated region, one in the 1st exon (1.4%), 21 (30.4%) within the gene, 4 (5.8%) in the 3'-untranslated region, and the remaining 18 (26.1%) are in intergenic regions. The significant probes did not appear to cluster in any particular chromosomal location. Of note, none of the CpG sites associated with known candidate genes of depression (such as *BDNF* or *SLC6A4*) reached statistical significance.



Figure 7.1. Manhattan plot of unadjusted *p*-values of all probes tested in the EWAS using the full MZ twin sample.

Probe	β	FDR	Coordinates (hg19)	Gene symbol (UCSC)	Gene region feature category (UCSC)	Relationship to CpG
					· · · ·	island
cg00247571	-0.037	1.01E-05	Chr13:50,707,065			N_Shore
cg22525688	-0.031	5.03E-04	Chr7:74,001,908	GTF2IRD1	Body	
cg27406664	0.017	5.59E-04	Chr17:2,294,951	MNT	Body	N_Shore
cg23052037	0.019	2.07E-03	Chr15:26,229,322			
cg16703135	-0.041	4.39E-03	Chr7:55,517,132			Island
cg16871520	0.012	5.94E-03	Chr3:52,442,033	BAP1	Body	N_Shore
cg03047616	0.014	7.04E-03	Chr2:230,281,966	DNER	Body	
cg09422806	0.010	7.04E-03	Chr19:3,364,015	NFIC	Body	N_Shelf
cg23216724	-0.028	7.46E-03	Chr6:167,571,584	GPR31	TSS 1 500	
cg09542063	-0.006	8.05E-03	Chr19:45,349,057	PVRL2 [NECTIN2]	TSS 1 500	N_Shore
cg06373574	-0.019	1.05E-02	Chr6:26,569,596			
cg18994744	0.020	1.13E-02	Chr5:166,802,318	ODZ2 [TENM2]	Body	
cg26282761	0.027	1.13E-02	Chr10:128,193,219	C10orf90	Body	N_Shore
cg19240483	0.009	1.14E-02	Chr7:72,985,061	TBL2	Body	Island
cg24596244	0.014	1.15E-02	Chr1:59,920,114	FGGY	Body	
cg02122610	-0.020	1.23E-02	Chr22:47,022,418	GRAMD4	TSS 1 500	N_Shore
cg25916714	0.025	1.23E-02	Chr18:74,691,269	MBP	3'UTR	Island
cg00115313	-0.022	1.23E-02	Chr1:193,029,121	TROVE2; UCHL5	(5'UTR & 1stExon); TSS1500	Island
cg11792483	0.004	1.36E-02	Chr22:26,824,763	ASPHD2	TSS 1 500	N_Shore
cg13303464	0.010	1.50E-02	Chr10:130,844,209			
cg02138082	0.023	1.50E-02	Chr1:978,573	AGRN	Body	Island
cg08130329	0.018	1.50E-02	Chr12:132,946,585			
cg12870876	-0.022	1.50E-02	Chr2:203,736,356	ICAIL	(5'UTR, 1stExon & TSS200)	Island
cg12196305	-0.022	1.51E-02	Chr11:17,752,634			N_Shelf

Table 7.4. Details of the significantly differentially methylated probes (n = 69) identified in the full twin sample EWAS.

Probe	β	FDR	Coordinates	Gene symbol (UCSC)	Gene region feature category	Relationship
			(ng19)		(UCSC)	island
cg03712341	-0.013	1.52E-02	Chr5:177,659,383	AGXT2L2 [PHYKPL]	Body	Island
cg12181407	-0.022	1.70E-02	Chr5:54,052,513			
cg17284481	-0.017	1.70E-02	Chr2:30,670,304	LCLATI	5'UTR	Island
cg20109840	-0.009	2.09E-02	Chr12:133,019,038			Island
cg12564175	0.015	2.16E-02	Chr8:27,630,986	ESCO2; CCDC25	TSS1500; TSS1500	N_Shore
cg22863920	-0.009	2.54E-02	Chr8:72,470,832			S_Shore
cg07500019	0.009	2.54E-02	Chr6:33,281,113	ТАРВР	Body	Island
cg22975913	-0.015	3.45E-02	Chr11:32,457,727	WIT1 [WT1-AS]; WT1	Body; TSS1500	N_Shore
cg19256125	-0.012	3.51E-02	Chr7:155,249,528	EN2	TSS1500	Island
cg01761966	-0.022	3.67E-02	Chr6:52,173,014			S_Shore
cg13169863	-0.009	3.67E-02	Chr4:108,783,348	SGMS2	5'UTR	
cg10224476	0.019	3.67E-02	Chr16:1,139,166	C1QTNF8	3'UTR	N_Shore
cg06043190	0.024	4.07E-02	Chr2:42,396,882	EML4	Body	Island
cg10820158	0.021	4.07E-02	Chr17:53,810,813	TMEM100	TSS1500	
cg23202177	-0.047	4.07E-02	Chr1:116,383,238	NHLH2	(5'UTR & 1stExon)	S_Shore
cg06552799	-0.007	4.07E-02	Chr2:71,559,058	ZNF638; ZNF638	5'UTR; 5'UTR	Island
cg25001831	0.016	4.07E-02	Chr7:622,212	PRKAR1B	Body	
cg15164761	-0.007	4.07E-02	Chr19:2,255,496	JSRP1	TSS200	S_Shore
cg00595039	0.010	4.07E-02	Chr8:143,460,209	TSNARE I	5'UTR	
cg13708759	0.015	4.07E-02	Chr9:138,585,730	SOHLH 1	(3'UTR & Body)	
cg07159230	-0.013	4.07E-02	Chr1:10,731,250	CASZ1	Body	
cg02382037	-0.032	4.07E-02	Chr12:130,823,570	PIWIL1	5'UTR	Island
cg06289138	-0.040	4.27E-02	Chr6:33,561,186	C6orf227 [LINC00336]	TSS200	Island
cg07717381	-0.035	4.35E-02	Chr16:56,716,320	MTIX	TSS200	Island
cg09735140	0.011	4.35E-02	Chr4:152,330,774	FAM160A1	5'UTR	Island

Probe	β	FDR	Coordinates	Gene symbol (UCSC)	Gene region feature category	Relationship
			(hg19)		(UCSC)	to CpG
						island
cg07512997	0.018	4.35E-02	Chr8:21,201,211			
cg15639718	0.021	4.35E-02	Chr1:8,361,284			
cg05167429	0.030	4.35E-02	Chr16:33,854,086			S_Shore
cg14521115	0.013	4.35E-02	Chr9:104,214,581			S_Shelf
cg13258195	0.010	4.35E-02	Chr17:80,300,821			N_Shelf
cg16263825	0.023	4.35E-02	Chr3:114,866,835	ZBTB20	TSS 1 500	Island
cg09982942	-0.047	4.35E-02	Chr2:112,898,400	FBLN7	Body	S_Shore
cg11231977	-0.006	4.35E-02	Chr16:75,467,423	CFDP1	TSS200	Island
cg26561212	0.023	4.66E-02	Chr7:157,255,200			
cg04374711	-0.016	4.82E-02	Chr16:31,008,960	STX 1 B	Body	Island
cg16533147	-0.017	4.93E-02	Chr5:87,963,342	LOC645323 [LINC00461]	Body	
cg07150473	0.028	4.93E-02	Chr8:27,338,183	CHRNA2	TSS 1 500	
cg24174232	0.016	4.93E-02	Chr17:29,818,175	RAB11FIP4	Body	S_Shelf
cg09621330	-0.062	4.93E-02	Chr16:54,685,651			
cg11836444	-0.007	4.93E-02	Chr4:166,131,163	KLHL2	(TSS200 & Body)	S_Shore
cg20462795	0.026	4.93E-02	Chr6:10,981,184	ELOVL2	3'UTR	
cg11740194	-0.009	4.96E-02	Chr10:466,232	DIP2C	Body	Island
cg06095777	-0.016	4.96E-02	Chr1:145,714,010	CD160	5'UTR	Island
cg19571127	-0.012	4.96E-02	Chr19:4,867,897	PLIN3	TSS200	
cg05051043	0.029	4.96E-02	Chr1:234,040,765	SLC35F3	(1stExon & 5'UTR)	Island

Abbreviations: TSS200 – 0-200 bases upstream of the transcriptional start site (TSS); TSS1500 – 200-1500 bases upstream of the TSS; 5'UTR – the 5' untranslated region, between the TSS and the ATG start site; body – between the ATG and stop codon, 3'UTR – the 3' untranslated region, between the stop codon and poly A signal

7.3.2.2 Discordant MZ twins

The *t*-test analysis of the 17 discordant MZ twin pairs was unable to identify any differentially methylated probes of statistical significance after correction for multiple testing.

7.3.3 Pathway analysis

From the model that used the entire MZ twins sample, 715 unique genes associated with the 1,000 top-ranked probes were entered into WebGestalt as the target list for analysis. None of the pathways remained statistically significant after correction for multiple testing; the top 10 enriched pathways are listed in Table 7.5.

Table 7.5. Top 10 enriched KEGG pathways.

KEGG pathway	Fold	р	FDR
	enrichment		
hsa04211 Longevity regulating pathway	+2.90	2.17E-03	4.19E-01
hsa04974 Protein digestion and absorption	+3.01	2.76E-03	4.19E-01
hsa05202 Transcription misregulation in cancer	+2.20	4.38E-03	4.42E-01
hsa04725 Cholinergic synapse	+2.44	7.58E-03	5.12E-01
hsa04915 Oestrogen signalling pathway	+2.47	1.02E-02	5.12E-01
hsa04722 Neurotrophin signalling pathway	+2.29	1.16E-02	5.12E-01
hsa04152 AMPK signalling pathway	+2.21	1.46E-02	5.12E-01
hsa04912 GnRH signalling pathway	+2.43	1.66E-02	5.12E-01
hsa04726 Serotonergic synapse	+2.20	2.09E-02	5.12E-01
hsa04730 Long-term depression	+2.70	2.27E-02	5.12E-01

A total of 13 GO categories were statistically significant after correction for multiple testing,

most of which concern developmental processes (see Table 7.6).

GO biological process	Fold	р	FDR
	enrichment		
GO:0009887 animal organ morphogenesis	+1.90	4.57E-07	2.58E-03
GO:0072359 circulatory system development	+1.91	7.28E-07	2.58E-03
GO:0007507 heart development	+2.29	9.32E-07	2.58E-03
GO:0048646 anatomical structure formation	+1.88	1.24E-06	2.58E-03
involved in morphogenesis			
GO:0048562 embryonic organ morphogenesis	+2.69	2.99E-06	4.99E-03
GO:0007423 sensory organ development	+2.15	9.80E-06	1.24E-02
GO:0007417 central nervous system	+1.81	1.27E-05	1.24E-02
development			
GO:0090596 sensory organ morphogenesis	+2.72	1.38E-05	1.24E-02
GO:0009790 embryo development	+1.77	1.41E-05	1.24E-02
GO:0048568 embryonic organ development	+2.22	1.57E-05	1.24E-02
GO:0048598 embryonic morphogenesis	+2.03	1.64E-05	1.24E-02
GO:0022008 neurogenesis	+1.59	2.67E-05	1.77E-02
GO:0048699 generation of neurons	+1.61	2.76E-05	1.77E-02

Table 7.6. Significantly enriched GO biological processes.

Since the discordant MZ twins EWAS did not identify any significant probes, a pathway analysis was not performed using those results.

7.3.4 Blood-brain DNA methylation correlations

Blood-brain methylation correlations were investigated using the Blood Brain DNA Methylation Comparison Tool for the 69 significant probes, and it was discovered that 29 of the probes showed significant blood-brain methylation correlation in at least one of the four brain regions examined (see Table 7.7). The comparison tool, however, does not have information on methylation in the hippocampus, which is believed to play an important role in the pathophysiology of depression (MacQueen & Frodl, 2010). Interestingly, four probes showed significant blood-brain methylation correlations in all four brain regions, three of which mapped to a nearby gene or were located within the body of a gene.

Probe	Prefrontal	Entorhinal	Superior	Cerebellum
	cortex	cortex	temporal	
			gyrus	
cg00247571	-0.08	-0.03	-0.23	-0.04
cg22525688	-0.01	-0.17	0.14	0.14
cg27406664	0.18	0.18	0.24	0.44
cg23052037	-0.11	0.10	0.06	-0.07
cg16703135	0.33	0.28	0.27	0.14
cg16871520	0.09	0.04	-0.02	-0.25
cg03047616	0.09	0.10	-0.02	0.07
cg09422806	0.26	0.06	0.05	-0.01
cg23216724	-0.06	-0.11	0.16	-0.17
cg09542063	-0.13	-0.02	0.18	-0.01
cg06373574	0.16	0.52	0.23	0.12
cg18994744	0.45	0.19	0.25	0.18
cg26282761	0.13	0.38	0.13	0.10
cg19240483	0.18	0.08	0.21	0.01
cg24596244	0.11	-0.02	0.09	-0.06
cg02122610	-0.04	-0.09	-0.04	0.16
cg25916714	-0.03	0.05	-0.17	-0.15
cg00115313	0.13	0.01	0.21	-0.15
cg11792483	-0.01	0.17	0.01	-0.06
cg13303464	-0.09	-0.08	0.14	-0.09
cg02138082	0.70	0.72	0.64	0.70
cg08130329	0.34	0.17	-0.01	-0.02
cg12870876	0.09	0.12	0.00	0.10
cg12196305	0.05	0.27	0.04	0.09
cg03712341	-0.05	-0.02	0.03	-0.17
cg12181407	0.11	0.07	0.25	0.19
cg17284481	0.31	0.08	0.65	-0.03
cg20109840	0.11	0.15	0.36	-0.01
cg12564175	0.64	0.46	0.62	0.64
cg22863920	0.42	0.13	0.21	0.09
cg07500019	-0.02	0.03	-0.22	0.05
cg22975913	0.02	0.00	0.24	-0.08
cg19256125	0.01	0.19	0.29	0.08
cg01761966	0.09	-0.09	0.10	0.09
cg13169863	0.04	-0.05	0.12	0.12
cg10224476	0.05	0.17	0.16	0.03
cg06043190	-0.04	0.07	-0.13	-0.21
cg10820158	0.11	0.28	0.11	0.20
cg23202177	0.17	0.32	0.36	0.10
cg06552799	0.09	0.18	-0.21	-0.06
cg25001831	0.07	-0.12	-0.12	-0.02
cg15164761	0.15	0.08	0.09	-0.01
cg00595039	0.09	0.04	-0.19	0.05

Table 7.7. Correlations of DNA methylation levels in blood with four brain regions.

Probe	Prefrontal	Entorhinal	Superior	Cerebellum
	cortex	cortex	temporal	
			gyrus	
cg13708759	-0.01	0.04	0.23	0.15
cg07159230	-0.02	0.23	-0.07	0.08
cg02382037	0.41	0.59	0.43	0.22
cg06289138	0.19	0.07	0.28	-0.01
cg07717381	-0.03	0.07	-0.09	-0.09
cg09735140	-0.11	-0.09	-0.14	-0.23
cg07512997	0.02	0.26	0.31	0.08
cg15639718	-0.06	-0.03	-0.02	0.05
cg05167429	0.33	0.45	0.39	0.24
cg14521115	0.26	-0.03	-0.15	0.11
cg13258195	0.03	-0.03	0.08	-0.11
cg16263825	0.18	0.18	0.06	0.18
cg09982942	0.50	0.47	0.50	0.43
cg11231977	-0.08	0.18	-0.04	-0.22
cg26561212	-0.02	0.13	0.03	0.29
cg04374711	-0.10	-0.09	0.05	-0.11
cg16533147	0.23	0.05	-0.02	0.22
cg07150473	-0.11	0.07	0.05	0.05
cg24174232	0.07	0.15	-0.02	0.18
cg09621330	-0.13	0.11	0.11	-0.18
cg11836444	0.22	0.24	0.23	0.69
cg20462795	-0.07	-0.20	0.04	0.01
cg11740194	0.06	-0.08	0.10	0.09
cg06095777	0.16	0.23	0.00	0.13
cg19571127	0.04	0.13	-0.05	-0.14
cg05051043	0.04	0.06	0.17	0.02

Note: Correlations significant at p < 0.05 are indicated in bold.

7.4 Discussion

In this chapter, an EWAS of LLD was conducted for the first time using blood DNA methylation from a sample of older MZ twins. The present study is the first epigenome-wide study of LLD. When using the full sample of MZ twin pairs, a total of 69 significantly differentially methylated probes associated with LLD were identified. While the discordant MZ twins design is the ideal design to be used in investigating DNA methylation differences associated with LLD, the sample of 17 discordant MZ twin pairs proved to be inadequately powered to detect differentially methylated probes, as none of the probes survived correction for multiple testing.

The two earlier candidate gene methylation studies of LLD have both focused on the promoter region of *BDNF* (Januar et al., 2015a; Kang et al., 2015), based on the understanding that methylation in the promoter region is associated with repression of transcriptional activity (Jones, 2012; Moore et al., 2013). However, only around a third of the probes identified in the present study are located in the promoter region of a gene. More recent research paints a more complex picture by showing that methylation in other locations may also have regulatory effects on transcriptional activity. For instance, gene body methylation appears to be positively correlated with gene expression in proliferating cells (Aran et al., 2011; Hellman & Chess, 2007) but not others (Aran et al., 2011; Guo et al., 2011; Oh et al., 2013). It has also been proposed that gene body methylation plays a role in the prevention of aberrant transcription (Neri et al., 2017) and the modulation of alternative splicing (Maunakea et al., 2013). Moreover, while the first exon is located downstream of the transcription start site, Brenet et al. (2011) showed that methylation of the first exon has similar effects to methylation in the promoter region, which results in transcriptional repression. About a quarter of the identified probes are not located in the vicinity of any genes, and the function of intergenic DNA methylation is yet undefined.

Among the genes associated with the significant probes, *ZBTB20* has been previously implicated in an EWAS of Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV) MDD using whole blood methylation in a sample of adult MZ twin pairs (age range: 23-73 years) (Davies et al., 2014). The study also examined gene expression in post-mortem brain samples and found that *ZBTB20* is co-expressed with a unique set of genes in the hippocampus. Mouse studies suggest the *Zbtb20* gene plays essential roles in the developmental specification of CA1 pyramidal neurons in the developing hippocampus (Nielsen et al., 2010; Nielsen et al., 2014; Xie et al., 2010) as well as in the regulation of pituitary development (Cao et al., 2016), and regulates memory formation and synaptic plasticity in mature CA1 neurons (Ren et al., 2012). Moreover, ectopic expression of *Zbtb20* appears to lead to malformations in cortical development that are linked to behavioural abnormalities (Nielsen et al., 2007). A number of the other significant probes are located in the proximity of genes that have previously been linked to other neuropsychiatric or neurodegenerative disorders, for example *TSNARE1* and *NECTIN2*.

The *TSNARE1* gene is located at 8q24.3 and has been repeatedly identified as associated with susceptibility to schizophrenia in genome-wide association studies (Gu et al., 2015; Ripke et al., 2013; Schizophrenia Working Group of the Psychiatric Genomics Consortium, 2014; Sleiman et al., 2013) and is involved in synaptic vesicular trafficking. While there is currently limited knowledge of its function, a recent zebrafish model has shown that overexpression of *tsnare1* leads to a significant increase in cell proliferation as well as apoptosis (Fromer et al., 2016), suggesting that it may be involved in the regulation of neurogenesis.

Significant signals in or near the *NECTIN2* gene (19q13.32) have been reported in a number of genome-wide association studies of dementia (Abraham et al., 2008; Ferrari et al., 2017; Miyashita et al., 2013; Pérez-Palma et al., 2014), for which depression is a risk factor and a highly comorbid disorder. It has also been associated with neuropathological features of AD like neurofibrillary tangles and neuritic plaques (Beecham et al., 2014) as well as biomarkers of AD such as beta-amyloid, tau and phosphorylated tau levels in cerebrospinal fluid (Cruchaga et al., 2013; Deming et al., 2017). Significant differential expression of *NECTIN2* has also been observed between individuals with idiopathic Parkinson's disease and controls (Infante et al., 2015). A recent study showed that the *Nectin-2* was expressed in neurons and astrocytes in the mouse brain, and *Nectin-2 -/-* mouse brains showed age-related atrophy in both white and grey matter, increased apoptosis, as well as degeneration of perivascular astrocytic endfoot processes (Miyata et al., 2016).

No KEGG pathways were significantly over-represented. However, despite the lack of significance, most of the top-ranked enriched pathways are related to intracellular signalling and synaptic transmission, which are thought to be disrupted in depression. Interestingly, the set of significantly over-represented gene ontology categories were all developmental processes, including central nervous system development and neurogenesis, which is a finding similar to what was observed in an earlier genome-wide DNA methylation scan of major depressive

disorder (MDD) in post-mortem brains despite using a different methodology and a different tissue (Sabunciyan et al., 2012). This provides some evidence in support of the neurotrophic hypothesis of depression which postulates that reduced neurogenesis plays a critical role in the aetiology of depression.

Upon examining blood-brain correlations of methylation levels, less than half of the significant probes showed significant correlations in at least one of the brain regions examined. It should, however, be noted that methylation has been measured only in four brain regions (prefrontal cortex, entorhinal cortex, superior temporal gyrus and the cerebellum), and it cannot be ruled out that blood methylation may be significantly correlated with methylation in other regions of the brain, particularly the hippocampus in which reduced neurogenesis is implicated in a range of neuropsychiatric and neurodegenerative disorders. In fact, a number of cross-tissue studies have shown while DNA methylation is tissue-specific, a small subset of CpG sites show statistically significant blood-brain correlations (Davies et al., 2012; Hannon et al., 2015; Masliah et al., 2013; Walton et al., 2016). Although the majority of CpG sites do not show significant blood-brain correlations and may only provide limited information on the pathogenesis of neuropsychiatric disorders, methylation signatures in blood may still be informative as diagnostic or prognostic biomarkers for neuropsychiatric disorders (Aberg et al., 2013; Hannon et al., 2015). Furthermore, while neuropsychiatric disorders clearly involve structural and functional alterations in the brain, it is possible that disruptions of processes and pathways beyond the brain may also play mechanistic roles (Bakulski et al., 2016), such as dysfunctions of the immune system and the gut-brain axis.

Several limitations should be noted. First, the present study is a preliminary study in a relatively small sample; replication studies in independent samples, ideally large-scale multi-site studies and/or conducted using the discordant MZ twin design to control for potential confounding effects such as genetic variation, are necessary to confirm the observed associations of the identified sites with LLD. Second, the majority of significant probes were not located in the promoter region and the effects of methylation at these sites are unclear, and the pathway analysis also does not take the subset of probes not located in the vicinity of any genes into

account. Finally, the present study does not differentiate between early-onset recurrent depression and late-onset depression, which could have confounding effects as the literature suggests the two subtypes may be clinically distinct, as discussed in Chapter 2. Besides addressing the aforementioned limitations, future studies should also examine DNA methylation profiles longitudinally to identify potential diagnostic or prognostic marker(s) for LLD.

In summary, this chapter presents the first DNA methylation study of LLD using a data-driven approach, and a number of significantly differentially methylated probes were identified. Several probes were located in or near genes that have been previously implicated in neuropsychiatric or neurodegenerative disorders, and their potential role in the pathogenesis of LLD was discussed.

8 GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

8.1 Review of thesis objective and aims

In an era of global population ageing, the increasing prevalence of mental and physical disorders in older adults represents a significant public health concern. In particular, depressive syndromes are among the leading causes of disability in populations aged 60 years and over, and are associated with higher rates of morbidity and mortality as well as increased health care costs (Blazer, 2003; Bock et al., 2016; World Health Organization, 2015). Late-life depression (LLD) is believed to involve a complex interplay of biological and environmental influences; however, there is currently limited understanding on its mechanistic underpinnings. In Chapter 1, it was argued that a closer examination of the biological and environmental influences on LLD could obtain new insights into the neurobiological pathways involved in the pathophysiology of LLD, and may help identify at-risk subpopulations as potential targets for preventive strategies to reduce the disease burden.

This thesis set out to examine the genetic, environmental and epigenetic influences on depression in older adults, using samples from longitudinal ageing cohort studies, i.e. the Older Australian Twins Study (OATS) (Sachdev et al., 2009) and the Sydney Memory and Ageing Study (MAS) (Sachdev et al., 2010; Tsang et al., 2013). The specific research aims were (i) to examine the relative contribution of genetic and environmental influences on LLD and associated phenotypes, (ii) to review the current literature for susceptibility genetic polymorphisms for LLD or depressive symptoms, (iii) to investigate the role of early-life trauma in LLD, and (iv) to explore the role of DNA methylation in LLD. These research aims were addressed in the four studies reported in the preceding chapters; the key findings of these studies will be summarised below.

8.2 Summary of key findings

8.2.1 Genetic epidemiology of late-life depression and associated phenotypes

Chapter 4 addressed the first research aim and examined the sources of variation in LLD. Using a relatively broad definition of depression (individuals who scored a six or above on the 15-item Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS-15) or self-reported antidepressant use were classified as depressed), the study demonstrated that more than half of the variance in LLD could be attributed to genetic influences ($h^2 = 57\%$), and the remaining variance was explained by unique environmental factors. These results are in line with the majority of prior twin studies of late-life depressive symptoms, which generally reported significant heritability (estimates ranged from 7% to 55%) and moderate to substantial unique environmental influences, with shared environmental influences playing minimal role in late-life depressive symptoms (Carmelli et al., 2000; Gatz et al., 1992; Jansson et al., 2004; Johnson et al., 2002; McGue & Christensen, 1997). The findings in Chapter 4 provide further evidence that there is moderate genetic predisposition to LLD.

LLD often co-occurs with a range of medical conditions and neuropsychiatric disorders, but the sources of covariation between these co-occurring phenotypes have not previously been explored in the literature. In Chapter 4, the genetic and environmental covariations between LLD, anxiety and hypertension were investigated, and significant genetic correlations were observed between LLD and anxiety ($r_G = 0.58$), and between anxiety and hypertension ($r_G = 0.15$). The finding that LLD and anxiety have shared genetic influences is perhaps anticipated given their considerable symptom overlap. Despite the wealth of evidence for a strong, reciprocal relationship between LLD and vascular disease, no evidence was found for a shared genetic basis between the two, most likely due to the relatively small sample size. However, only hypertension was examined as a proxy for vascular disease; genetic correlations between LLD and other vascular phenotypes, particularly cerebrovascular diseases such as stroke or cerebral microvascular dysfunction, remain to be explored.

8.2.2 Susceptibility loci for late-life depression

Chapter 5 addressed the second research aim in a systematic review of the literature of genetic association studies of LLD to identify susceptibility polymorphisms. The systematic review revealed that to date the genetic determinants of LLD have been insufficiently investigated; although polymorphisms in 23 genes have been examined in the 46 included candidate genes studies, most findings have not been replicated. Only four polymorphisms have been investigated in three or more independent samples (APOE $\epsilon 2/\epsilon 3/\epsilon 4$, BDNF Val66Met, MTHFR C677T and SLC6A45-HTTLPR), three of which were found to be significantly associated with LLD when effect sizes were pooled in the meta-analysis ($APOE \varepsilon 2/\varepsilon 3/\varepsilon 4$, BDNF Val66Met and SLC6A45-HTTLPR), and the pooled effect sizes were mostly modest. However, the effect sizes may be inflated as they are greater than what is generally expected under the common disease/common variant hypothesis and may represent false positives. The review also identified a genome-wide association study of depressive symptoms that used predominantly ageing cohorts, which found a significant hit (rs40465) in a gene desert in the 5q21 region (Hek et al., 2013), but this finding is yet to be replicated. Overall, the results of the systematic review and meta-analysis in Chapter 5 indicate that no robust genetic associations with LLD have been identified to date.

The second half of Chapter 5 reported replication attempts of significant genetic associations identified in meta-analyses using a subsample from the Sydney MAS. The *APOE* $\varepsilon_2/\varepsilon_3/\varepsilon_4$, *BDNF* Val66Met, *GNB3* C825T, *MTHFR* C677T and rs40465 (5q21) polymorphisms were tested for potential association with LLD; none of them significantly predicted LLD. However, that lack of significant results is not surprising due to the relatively small sample size used in this study. The inconsistent findings between genetic association studies of LLD are likely due to inadequate statistical power of prior studies, therefore it is premature to confirm or rule out any of the examined genetic polymorphisms' involvement in the pathogenesis of LLD.

8.2.3 Enduring effects of early-life trauma

Aside from genetic influences, Chapter 4 showed that the remaining variance in LLD is attributed to unique environmental influences. Many environmental risk factors for

neuropsychiatric disorders have been identified, including stressful life events such as family conflict or death of a family member. Current research suggests that adversity occurring in early life is particularly relevant to the development of neuropsychiatric disorders, since such events may coincide with critical stages of brain development and leave lasting structural and functional changes in the brain. Chapter 6 addressed the third research aim and investigated the effects of a specific type of environmental influence – early-life trauma – on LLD in the Sydney MAS cohort.

The effects of five types of childhood maltreatment, i.e. emotional abuse, physical abuse, sexual abuse, emotional neglect and physical neglect, on LLD were examined, and only emotional abuse significantly predicted LLD (B = 1.397, Wald = 11.224, p = 0.001). In addition, the effect of exposure to Holocaust trauma when growing up on LLD was also evaluated, and it significantly predicted LLD (B = 0.807, Wald = 5.123, p = 0.024). These findings contribute to the limited literature on the role of early-life adversity in LLD.

Prior work investigating the relationship between childhood maltreatment and LLD is scarce, with only two studies to date reporting similar results with regard to specific types of childhood adversity that are associated with LLD. Comijs et al. (2013) reported that all types of childhood maltreatment assessed (emotional neglect, psychological abuse, physical abuse, and sexual abuse) predicted LLD, and Ege et al. (2015) found that *repeated* exposure to all types of adverse childhood experiences surveyed (parents being physically abusive to each other, being physically harmed by a parent, being sworn at by the parent, being touched sexually by an adult, being forced to sexually touch an adult, and being forced into a sexual encounter during childhood) were significant predictors of LLD. While the analyses in Chapter 6 did not fully replicate earlier findings as the other types of childhood treatment examined were not significantly associated with LLD, it provides further evidence that exposure to certain traumatic events early in life can affect distal mental health outcomes.

Potential gene-environment (GxE) interactions of childhood emotional abuse or Holocaust trauma with previously identified risk polymorphisms of depression or LLD were investigated in

the second half of Chapter 6. None of the GxE interactions tested reached statistical significance, most likely again due to the small sample size.

8.2.4 DNA methylation signatures in late-life depression

LLD is believed to involve a complex interplay of biological and environmental influences, and one mechanism by which environmental influences may exert their effects on brain development and function is through epigenetic processes, including DNA methylation. There is growing evidence to suggest DNA methylation plays an important role in depression (see Januar et al., 2015b for a review). The final research aim of examining the role of DNA methylation in LLD is addressed in Chapter 7.

Chapter 7 presents the first epigenome-wide association study (EWAS) for LLD using blood DNA methylation from a sample of older MZ twins. While the model using 17 discordant MZ twin pairs was inadequately powered and did not yield significant results, the model using the full sample of MZ twin pairs identified 69 differentially methylated probes associated with LLD. The only published DNA methylation studies of LLD to date have both focused on methylation in the promoter region of *BDNF* (Januar et al., 2015a; Kang et al., 2015); however, none of CpG probes located in or near *BDNF* were statistically significant. The pathway analysis did not identify any significantly enriched KEGG pathways after correction for multiple testing, but a number of gene ontology categories remained statistically significant after correction for multiple testing, most of which concern developmental processes. This study adds to the currently limited body of literature that shows epigenetic modifications are important in the pathophysiology of LLD.

8.3 The role of neurodevelopment in late-life depression

Taken together, the findings in this thesis highlights the potential role of neurodevelopment in the pathophysiology of LLD. Neurodevelopment is a dynamic and multifaceted process that begins in the early prenatal period and continues into adulthood, with grey matter changes following an inverted-U shape trajectory from infancy to early adulthood, and white matter increasing progressively through adolescence (Giedd & Rapoport, 2010). There are also marked differences in gene expression, neurogenesis, and organisation of neural circuits observed at different stages across the lifespan (Salum et al., 2010).

Neurodevelopment follows regionally heterochronous maturational trajectories, with the lowerorder sensorimotor cortex maturing before the higher-order association cortices (Sowell et al., 2003). As the developing brain matures, there are certain periods of heightened neuroplasticity when the brain is particularly receptive and vulnerable to insults. Exposure to stressors or insults within these windows of vulnerability or 'sensitive periods' can have profound effects on the maturation of specific cell populations, structures or cortical circuitry, resulting in long-lasting functional changes. It has been argued that the developmental timing of exposure to stressors or insults can lead to differential neurobiological phenotypes associated with differential depression risk (Andersen & Teicher, 2008; Heim & Binder, 2012; Lupien et al., 2009). For instance, genetic variation or exposure to environmental insults that influence the maturation of brain regions or circuits implicated in affective regulation (e.g., hippocampus) increase the risk for depressive disorders (Ansorge et al., 2007).

The early-life stress literature provides some evidence for sensitive periods, with stressful events experienced at different ages linked to different structural brain changes and neuropsychiatric phenotypes. Two rat studies (Andersen & Teicher, 2004; Leussis et al., 2008) and a human study (Andersen et al., 2008) showed that earlier stress exposure was associated with a smaller hippocampus while later stress exposure was associated with a smaller prefrontal cortex. It has also been shown that trauma experienced in early childhood was more strongly associated with depressive symptoms, whereas trauma experienced in late childhood or adolescence more strongly associated with post-traumatic stress symptoms in young adults (Andersen et al., 2008; Maercker et al., 2004; Schoedl et al., 2010). It has been suggested that these differences reflect the effects of hormonal changes on neuroplasticity and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis function during puberty.

While there is currently limited research that specifically links disruptions in brain maturation to mental health outcomes in late life, the evidence from studies of adolescent and adult depression suggests neurobiological and functional abnormalities arising from these disruptions contribute

to an individual's susceptibility to depression, and the manifestation of depressive symptoms may occur later in life when neural circuits can no longer offset these dysfunctions (Ansorge et al., 2007; Lima-Ojeda et al., 2017; Salum et al., 2010). A structural equation modelling study that examined longitudinal pathways to depressive symptoms demonstrated that birth weight and economic deprivation in early childhood were associated with delayed neurodevelopment (operationalised as ages of attainment of developmental milestones), which in turn was associated with depressive symptoms in adolescence that mediated the risk of depressive symptoms in mid-adulthood. Acute stressful events occurring in adulthood, however, showed direct effects on depressive symptoms in mid-adulthood (Colman et al., 2014). A relevant concept to consider is 'brain reserve' (Klempin & Kempermann, 2007; Stern, 2009). Aberrant neurodevelopment earlier in life may result in reduced baseline neuroplasticity, rendering neural circuits less able to adapt to or compensate for the effects of various stressors in late life (e.g. ageand disease-related neurobiological changes), and consequently an underlying predisposition may be unmasked (Salum et al., 2010).

Current research suggests epigenetic factors contribute to structural and functional changes in the developing brain (Fagiolini et al., 2009), and that exposure to early-life stress can alter gene expression through epigenetic modifications and give rise to affective disorders later in life (Murgatroyd & Spengler, 2011). While the findings in Chapter 6 and Chapter 7 provide evidence for the roles of early-life stress and epigenetic changes in LLD, further research is required to elucidate whether these associations are mediated by alterations to neurodevelopmental trajectories. A better understanding of the developmental context of LLD may help develop disease-modifying interventions matched to specific neurodevelopmental stages in at-risk individuals, and may prevent or alleviate depressive symptoms later in life.

8.4 Clinical implications

Given one in every five cases of clinically relevant LLD is a new case (Smit et al., 2006), and only a third of those treated with second-generation antidepressants achieve remission (Nelson et al., 2008), prevention is key to reducing the disease burden associated with LLD.
8.4.1 Preventive strategies for late-life depression

Primary prevention strategies can be classified as universal, selective or indicated (Mrazek & Haggerty, 1994). Universal prevention addresses risk factors at the population level. Selective prevention targets subgroups of the population who are at risk of developing the disorder. Indicated prevention targets those who already manifest early or subsyndromal signs and symptoms of the disorder. While the idea of a universal prevention approach may seem appealing, a meta-analysis of prevention studies of depression showed that universal prevention was significantly less effective than selective and indicated prevention (Cuijpers et al., 2008). Moreover, universal prevention in a low-incidence disorder like depression also faces the obvious limitation of low statistical power (Okereke, 2015). There is currently no evidence-based universal preventive strategy for depression (Schoevers et al., 2006). In meta-analyses of prevention studies using psychological interventions, selective and indicated prevention approaches by 19% to 28% compared to the treatment-as-usual control group, though the number of people who would need to receive preventive intervention in order to prevent one new case of LLD was high (number needed to treat = 20-22) (Cuijpers et al., 2008; van Zoonen et al., 2014),

Randomised controlled trials of selective prevention of LLD have been conducted typically in older adults with medical conditions such as cardiovascular disease (Andreeva et al., 2012; Giltay et al., 2011; Salminen et al., 2005) or stroke (Almeida et al., 2010; Robinson et al., 2008), or in older adults in residential aged care (Dechamps et al., 2010; Haight et al., 1998; Konnert et al., 2009). Different preventive interventions including antidepressants, psychosocial interventions, lifestyle interventions and nutritional supplementation were used in different studies, with mixed results reported. It has been suggested that the inconsistent findings can partly be explained by the fact that the measures used to identify at-risk groups in these studies are not those found to be most strongly associated to LLD risk (Okereke, 2015).

Schoevers et al. (2006) compared selective and indicated prevention models using data from the Longitudinal Aging Study Amsterdam and found that indicated prevention offers greater costeffectiveness than selective prevention. Efficiency can also be further improved by taking

additional risk indicators into account, including female sex, low education, presence of chronic diseases, functional impairment, an above-average number of depressive symptoms, and a small social network (Smit et al., 2006). Similarly, Lyness et al. (2009) found that a combination of risk indicators, including minor or subsyndromal depression, functional impairment, and a history of major or minor depression, can identify a group of older adults at high risk for incident depression, in which successful treatment of five individuals would prevent one case of incident depression.

A few randomised controlled trials for indicated prevention of LLD have been conducted. Ciechanowski et al. (2004) explored the effects of a home-based program that comprised problem-solving treatment, social and physical activation, and potential recommendations to primary care physicians regarding antidepressants in a sample of older adults with minor depression or dysthymia. Older adults assigned to the intervention group were more likely to have a significant reduction in depressive symptoms, to achieve complete remission compared to those receiving usual care. Three other indicated prevention studies were based on the steppedcare model, but the results are mixed. In two studies conducted by van't Veer-Tazelaar and colleagues (2009; 2011), older adults presenting with subthreshold depression and anxiety symptoms in primary care were randomised either to a stepped-care program that involved watchful waiting, cognitive behavioural therapy-based bibliotherapy, cognitive behavioural therapy-based problem-solving treatment, and referral to primary care for medication if required, or usual care. The 12- and 24-month incidence was halved by the intervention, when compared to usual care. Dozeman et al. (2012) used a similar stepped-care program comprising watchful waiting, activity-scheduling, life review and consultation with general practitioner, and visit to general practitioner for additional treatment if required to prevent depression and anxiety disorders in older adults in residential aged care. While the program did not reduce the overall incidence of depression and anxiety disorders combined, it successfully reduced the incidence of depression. A stepped-care program with components of watchful waiting, bibliotherapy, individual cognitive behavioural therapy, and indicated treatment designed to prevent the relapse of depression in older adults showed no difference in outcomes compared to usual care (Apil et al., 2012). In fact, the 12-month follow-up even showed that older adults in

the stepped-care program required significantly more new treatment than those who received usual care (Apil et al., 2014).

Recently, researchers have also explored the role of lifestyle factors in preventing LLD. For example, there is evidence that adherence to a Mediterranean-style diet is associated with a lower number of incident depressive symptoms among community-dwelling older adults (Skarupski et al., 2013) and a lower risk of incident clinical depression in a subgroup of community-dwelling older adults with type 2 diabetes (Sánchez-Villegas et al., 2013). Other studies have examined the potential benefits of physical activity in preventing LLD, with a number of studies reporting protective effects of physical activity in preventing incident depression or depressive symptoms in older adults across long follow-up periods (Bots et al., 2008; Hamer et al., 2009; Ku et al., 2009; Lucas et al., 2011; Strawbridge et al., 2002), though one study only found a cross-sectional association (Kritz-Silverstein et al., 2001). Exercise using video games also appeared to improve depressive symptoms in older adults with subsyndromal depression (Rosenberg et al., 2010).

In order for prevention efforts to be efficient, it is important to identify older adults who are most likely to benefit from such programs. However, the specificity of most risk indicators for depression is low. It has been suggested that advances in biomarker research may improve the identification of at-risk older adults as well as discover new possibilities for prevention, so that the most appropriate preventive strategies can be directed to those who need them most (Cuijpers et al., 2015; Reynolds et al., 2012). For example, meta-analyses have shown differential associations between *BDNF*Val66Met genotypes and antidepressant response (Zou et al., 2010), and between *SLC6A4*5-HTTLPR genotypes and antidepressant efficacy (Porcelli et al., 2012) in major depressive disorder (MDD), which may reflect differences in underlying neurobiological disruptions. By the same token, it is anticipated that older adults of different genotypes may not respond equally to the same preventive strategies. In assessing which biomarkers will be most useful in identifying the optimal target group for prevention, decision tree models can be used to evaluate the joint predictive power of various combinations of risk indicators (Batterham et al., 2009; Smits et al., 2008; Wong et al., 2012). Decision tree models may also identify potentially modifiable risk factors that contribute significantly to the risk of incident depression, so

prevention or early intervention programs can be tailored to target these risk factors (Batterham et al., 2009).

Given the effect sizes of the risk polymorphisms identified in Chapter 5 and the DNA methylation changes found in Chapter 7 are generally modest and replication is required, more research is needed to identify robust genetic and epigenetic markers that can be used as risk indicators in identifying older adults at risk of developing LLD. On the other hand, screening for anxiety symptoms or a history of early-life trauma in older adults, particularly individuals already presenting with subsyndromal depressive symptoms, may be useful in identifying those at high risk of developing clinical depression.

8.4.2 Ethical challenges of predictive genetic or epigenetic testing While it has been argued that the incorporation of biomarkers may help identify optimal target groups for the prevention of LLD, predictive testing for neuropsychiatric disorders provokes certain ethical questions.

Due to the multifactorial nature of neuropsychiatric disorders, most implicated single-nucleotide polymorphisms contribute very modest effects to susceptibility of the disorder, and are of no clinical value when considered in isolation. Moreover, susceptibility genes are neither necessary nor sufficient to cause the disorder, and merely contribute to the *probability* of developing the disorder. This probability is also influenced by GxE interactions through epigenetic mechanisms as well as possible GxE correlations (Kendler & Baker, 2007). Therefore, predictive genetic testing for individual susceptibility genes currently has limited usefulness in the context of neuropsychiatric disorders and is discouraged until the information can be put to effective preventive or therapeutic use (Nuffield Council on Bioethics, 1998). In view of the growing consensus that many genetic loci of small effects likely explain the genetic liability of depression, several studies have examined polygenic risk profiles for depression. These studies found that polygenic risk scores significantly predicted depression, but the variance explained was diminutive (up to 1%) (Bigdeli et al., 2017; Demirkan et al., 2011; Musliner et al., 2014). Further identification of risk loci of LLD in large-scale genome-wide association studies (GWAS) will allow for better prediction, and then predictive genetic testing may be justified.

Stigmatisation of neuropsychiatric disorders is still common nowadays, and it is unclear whether an increased knowledge of genetic influences of these disorders would necessarily help reduce the stigma as such genetic information is probabilistic and could be interpreted in different ways (Singh & Rose, 2009). Moreover, genetic information associated with neuropsychiatric disorders could potentially become a basis for discrimination in employment and insurance (Lakhan et al., 2010; Nuffield Council on Bioethics, 1998).

While there is relatively less published research on the ethical issues surrounding the use of other types of biomarkers in neuropsychiatric disorders, the points discussed above also apply to DNA methylation changes in that their effects are also small and are of low specificity. It is possible that future advances in genetic and biomarker research of neuropsychiatric disorders would offer increased precision in identifying at-risk older adults, but robust and replicable susceptibility polymorphisms or biomarkers need to be identified before testing can be justified.

8.4.3 Therapeutic options for late-life depression

Research shows that all antidepressants that are currently clinically available increase adult hippocampal neurogenesis, though neurogenesis is not always necessary for the behavioural effects of antidepressants (Anacker & Hen, 2017; Eliwa et al., 2017). However, impaired neurogenesis and dentate gyrus dysfunction may be used as biomarkers to guide treatment selection (Anacker & Hen, 2017). Currently, there is evidence that magnetic resonance spectroscopy can be used to detect and quantify neural stem and progenitor cells *in vivo* in the human brain (Manganas et al., 2007). Recent advances in [¹⁸F]fluoro-L-thymidine positron emission tomography may also prove useful for quantifying and detecting changes in neurogenesis in humans in the future (Rueger et al., 2010; Tamura & Kataoka, 2017; Tamura et al., 2016). In older adults who show significant neurogenesis deficits or dentate gyrus functional impairments, treatment strategies that have been shown to be effective in increasing neurogenesis should be used, for example exercise (Fabel & Kempermann, 2008; Ryan & Nolan, 2016) or environmental enrichment (Olson et al., 2006).

On the other hand, there is preliminary evidence that epigenetic mechanisms moderate or mediate antidepressant effects, with lower DNA methylation in a number of CPG sites within the

BDNF promoter observed in depressed adults who responded to treatment (Tadić et al., 2013), and increased *BDNF* expression following citalopram treatment (Lopez et al., 2012). EWAS hold promise for the identification of mechanisms and pathways involved in depression, which will allow novel treatments to be developed. As more risk loci are identified in EWAS, epigenomic profiling may also be used for depression subtyping and to guide treatment selection (Menke & Binder, 2014).

It was discussed in Chapter 1 that LLD represents a significant public health challenge due to its association with increased disability, morbidity and mortality, which results in substantially higher health care costs. LLD is also closely related to dementia (Diniz et al., 2013a; Singh-Manoux et al., 2017), which is ever increasing in prevalence in an age of global population ageing. More accurate identification of older adults at high risk of developing depression or already presenting with subthreshold depressive symptoms, as well as the development of more targeted preventive and treatment strategies is anticipated to effectively reduce the disease burden associated with these late-life disorders.

8.5 Methodological and conceptual considerations and limitations

Despite tremendous advances in genetic, neuroscience and neuroimaging techniques in the past few decades that have enhanced our understanding of brain function, these insights have not translated into tools that can be used in psychiatric clinical practice. Specific methodological limitations pertaining to each study have been discussed within their respective chapters, but a number of broader methodological and conceptual issues relevant to neuropsychiatric research, and how these issues contribute to the gap between bench and bedside are discussed below.

8.5.1 Small sample sizes

As was demonstrated in the studies presented in this thesis, inadequate statistical power is a common problem in genetic/genomic and epigenetic/epigenomic studies of neuropsychiatric disorders. It is believed that common variants typically confer very small effects (*OR*s < 1.1) in a complex disorder, and are unlikely to be detected with the sample sizes of existing individual

studies (O'Donovan, 2015). This highlights that large-scale, multi-site studies, and especially international collaborative efforts are vital in the quest for genetic and epigenetic underpinnings of LLD. A number of existing international research consortia investigating neuropsychiatric or neurodegenerative disorders have shown that meta-analyses of data from multiple large population-based cohorts can yield a treasure trove of new knowledge of disease-relevant markers, these consortia include the Psychiatric Genomics Consortium (PGC) (O'Donovan, 2015; Sullivan, 2010), the Cohorts for Heart and Aging Research in Genomic Epidemiology (CHARGE) (Psaty et al., 2009), and the Enhancing Neuroimaging Genetics Through Meta-Analysis (ENIGMA) Network (Thompson et al., 2014). It is expected that leveraging data from these established cohorts will also allow rare or low-frequency variants as well as epigenetic modifications to be comprehensively examined in the future.

8.5.2 Definition of depression

Depression caseness was defined as a GDS-15 score of six or above or self-reported antidepressant use across all studies in this thesis. The rationale for employing this composite outcome variable was to avoid overlooking participants who were depressed but reported lower GDS-15 scores due to treatment with antidepressants, and a similar method to create a composite based on Centre for Epidemiological Studies – Depression (CES-D) scale scores and self-reported antidepressant use has been employed in an earlier twin study of late-life depressive symptoms (Jansson et al., 2004). Antidepressants may be prescribed for various medical conditions other than depression, such as insomnia and anxiety disorders (Wong et al., 2017), which could have led to an under- or overestimation of effect sizes reported in this thesis due to misclassification.

8.5.3 Heterogeneity in depression

It is well recognised that depression is a highly heterogeneous disorder. A study examining depression symptom profiles in a sample of 3,703 depressed outpatients found over 1,000 unique combinations of Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5) depression symptoms (Fried & Nesse, 2015), suggesting that individuals with the same diagnostic label can have vastly different clinical presentations. In addition, how depression is measured also

contributes to the heterogeneity. For instance, a survey in 2006 identified 280 measures of depressive severity that have been developed and published since 1918, with the different scales showing a marked degree of variability (Santor et al., 2006). Depression studies generally include only one particular scale as the outcome measure, implicitly assuming that various measures of depression assess the same latent construct, and therefore can be used interchangeably and study findings are generalisable. However, recent studies showed that depression rating scales are often multifactorial and do not assess a single underlying construct (Fried et al., 2016), and there is limited content overlap between different depression rating scales (Fried, 2017). All empirical studies in this thesis used the GDS-15 to assess depressive symptoms, which does not contain somatic symptoms as they may be secondary to age-related changes or physical conditions that are common in late life. It also offers ease of administration in an epidemiological study with its yes/no format. This is supplemented by self-reported antidepressant use information to also include older adults who report subthreshold depressive symptoms following successful treatment. This broad definition of depression is expected to capture the majority of older adults who display clinically relevant depressive symptoms within the cohorts.

The marked heterogeneity in depression unquestionably deserves more attention as there is growing evidence that such heterogeneity is clinically meaningful, and may be reflective of different neurobiological pathways involved as well as different trajectories of the disorder. Studies of both adult and late-life depression have shown that differential associations between depression symptom profiles and biological correlates or outcomes. For instance, a number of studies have compared biological alterations in melancholic and atypical depression, and found that the atypical subtype is more strongly associated with metabolic and immuno-inflammatory dysregulation (Penninx et al., 2013). Another example is a study that examined treatment outcome patterns associated with symptom combinations in the Sequenced Treatment Alternatives to Relieve Depression (STAR*D) trial, which found a small but significant effect that citalopram treatment outcomes vary as a function of depression symptom combinations (Olbert et al., 2016). In the case of LLD, features such as concomitant delusions, sleep disturbance or executive dysfunction also predicted poorer outcomes (Baldwin, 1988; Naismith et al., 2011; Pimontel et al., 2016). These findings indicate that the heterogeneity observed in depressed older

adults may reflect different aetiologies, with subtypes associated with different disease course and prognosis, therefore the nature of the biological dysregulation involved may carry prognostic or treatment implications.

8.5.4 Polygenic and multifactorial nature of late-life depression

The polygenic and multifactorial nature of LLD is another reason why genetic association studies have often failed to detect replicable susceptibility genes. It is believed that the genetic variation in depression is made up of joint effects of multiple common loci of small effects (Flint & Kendler, 2014), some of which may only be unmasked when gene-gene or GxE interactions are considered (Lesch, 2004; Uher, 2008). Since genetic and environmental factors do not act in isolation, research focusing on simple associations between a certain risk and the disease phenotype can only produce limited insights into aetiology.

Arguably, convergence from multiple lines of evidence from different 'omics' studies, combined using systems biology or network models, may help uncover the underlying neurobiological pathways and networks in LLD (Alawieh et al., 2012; Fernandes et al., 2017; Silbersweig & Loscalzo, 2017).

8.5.5 Inherent imprecision in a descriptive nosology

At present, psychiatric disorders are diagnosed using criteria based on phenomenology rather than aetiology or pathophysiology, which results in diagnostic categories of questionable biological validity as well as substantial within-disorder heterogeneity and between-disorder overlap (Kapur et al., 2012; Wardenaar & de Jonge, 2013). This largely reflects the poor knowledge we have on the pathophysiology underlying these disorders, but in recent years a growing chorus of voices has argued that the inherent imprecision in the descriptive and categorical nosology of psychiatry is impeding progress in aetiological research and the identification of new treatments (Cuthbert & Insel, 2013; Demkow & Wolańczyk, 2017; Hyman, 2010; Kapur et al., 2012; Lozupone et al., 2017; Scarr et al., 2015).

A growing body of research shows that patterns of genetic liability and neurobiological abnormalities cut across conventional diagnostic boundaries, challenging the view that

psychiatric disorders are discrete entities. For example, genome-wide association studies have identified specific single-nucleotide polymorphisms that show cross-disorder associations as well as significant genetic correlations between the disorders (Cross-Disorder Group of the Psychiatric Genomics Consortium, 2013a, 2013b; International Schizophrenia Consortium, 2009). Meta-analyses of peripheral biomarkers of major psychiatric disorders have concluded that significant variations of five commonly studied biomarkers, i.e. brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), tumour necrosis factor (TNF)-a, interleukin (IL)-6, C-reactive protein (CRP) and cortisol, occur in at least some state of schizophrenia, depression or bipolar disorder (Pinto et al., 2017). Furthermore, factor analyses have shown that psychiatric symptoms or disorders can be explained by a common general psychopathology factor (Caspi et al., 2013; Stochl et al., 2014). A population-based family study also showed that the individuals with a parental history of psychiatric disorders are at an increased risk of developing not only concordant disorders, but also a wide range of other psychiatric disorders (Dean et al., 2010). Taken together, these findings suggest that there are common underlying vulnerabilities to psychiatric disorders, which may place individuals on different trajectories following different environmental exposures. They also help explicate the high degree of heterogeneity among individuals who received the same diagnostic label.

With the imprecise and non-biologically based categories in our current diagnostic systems, it cannot be expected that any neurobiological abnormality will show a strong one-to-one mapping with a DSM- or International Classification of Diseases (ICD)-defined psychiatric disorder. It is for this reason that these diagnostic categories are perhaps not ideal to be used as a benchmark for the discovery of biomarkers. Since our current understanding of the biological underpinnings of psychiatric disorders is still limited, and recent genetic and neurobiological findings have not been adequately replicated or validated, it would undoubtedly be premature to have a complete diagnostic reclassification. However, alternative approaches are necessary to move beyond the reification of disorders in order to ultimately arrive at an aetiology-based classification system.

Stratified psychiatry is an approach that has been put forward as a promising alternative. Instead of pursuing biological diagnostic or screening tests for conventional neuropsychiatric disorders, a better option is to identify biomarkers that 'subtype' these disorders or re-cluster symptoms for prognosis prediction and treatment selection (Hyman, 2010; Kapur et al., 2012; Scarr et al., 2015). Stratification into biologically homogenous subtypes or re-clustering of symptoms based on neurobiological evidence would likely also improve the chances of identifying the underlying neurobiological disturbances in research studies (Hyman, 2010; Stephan et al., 2016). Effective stratification is expected to involve a combination of markers, which may be biological, cognitive or psychological (Kapur et al., 2012).

8.6 Future avenues of research

The findings from the studies in this thesis and the methodological and conceptual considerations discussed above highlight several areas for further consideration.

- The genetic correlation between LLD and hypertension was examined and was found to be non-significant. However, no other vascular phenotypes have been examined, and the role of genetic influences on the co-occurrence of LLD and other vascular phenotypes remains unclear. Future twin studies should examine a range of vascular variables, particularly cerebrovascular phenotypes that have been shown to be associated with a high risk of depression, in larger older twin samples.
- 2. The systematic review in Chapter 5 revealed a dearth of genetic studies of specifically addressing LLD, particularly those using cases where the onset of depression occurred later in life. Further large-scale cohort studies combined with international collaborative efforts are recommended to achieve the sample sizes required for adequate statistical power in genetic association studies, which may allow robust susceptibility genes to be eventually identified. Replication of susceptibility variants identified is also necessary.
- The DNA methylation study in Chapter 7 presents preliminary evidence for DNA methylation changes in LLD. Further research is warranted to replicate or validate these findings before conclusions can be drawn.

- 4. The analyses carried out in this thesis focused on simple associations of genetic, environmental and epigenomic influences with depression. Novel approaches, such as multi-omics approaches combined with systems biology or network models, are needed to further our understanding of the neurobiological perturbations underlying LLD due to the complex nature of the disorder.
- 5. The clinical and biological heterogeneity in LLD deserves careful consideration, as it may account for a substantial proportion of inconsistent findings in the literature. Stratification of depressed older adults into biologically homogeneous subgroups or by biologically based symptom clusters could reduce heterogeneity and increase the likelihood of identifying biomarkers of clinical utility.
- 6. Further studies are required to identify older adults who would most likely benefit from prevention programs of LLD. A wide range of risk factors should be explored using methods like decision tree models that can evaluate the combined risk of various risk factors.
- While it is evident that prevention is key to reducing the disease burden associated with LLD, the current evidence for preventive strategies is limited; more research is essential to develop effective preventive strategies for LLD.

8.7 Concluding remarks

The body of research presented in this thesis was designed to obtain new insights into the pathophysiology of LLD through examining the genetic, environmental and epigenomic influences on the disorder. This thesis provides novel contributions to furthering our understanding in the following ways:

- This is the first study that examined the shared genetic and environmental influences on LLD and commonly co-occurring phenotypes, which found shared genetic factors underlying LLD and anxiety. This suggests older adults manifesting anxiety symptoms may be at greater risk of developing LLD, which may have implications for prevention.
- 2. A comprehensive systematic review of genetic association studies of LLD was conducted, and it revealed that there is a scarcity of studies and many findings have also not been

replicated. Further research is warranted to improve our understanding on the genetic determinants of LLD.

- 3. Through examining the effects of childhood maltreatment and war-related trauma on LLD, it was demonstrated that early-life trauma can affect distal mental health outcomes. Screening for a history of early-life trauma may be useful in identifying at-risk individuals at which preventive efforts should be targeted.
- 4. The first epigenome-wide association study of LLD was conducted and a number of differentially methylated probes were identified. The overrepresentation test showed that the results were enriched for many developmental processes, including central nervous system development, as well as neurogenesis.

REFERENCES

- Aberg, K. A., Xie, L. Y., McClay, J. L., Nerella, S., Vunck, S., Snider, S., . . . van den Oord, E. J. C. G. (2013). Testing two models describing how methylome-wide studies in blood are informative for psychiatric conditions. *Epigenomics, 5*, 367-377.
- Abraham, R., Moskvina, V., Sims, R., Hollingworth, P., Morgan, A., Georgieva, L., . . . Kirov, G. (2008). A genome-wide association study for late-onset Alzheimer's disease using DNA pooling. *BMC Medical Genomics, 1*, 44.
- Abrams, R. C., Alexopoulos, G. S., & Young, R. C. (1987). Geriatric depression and DSM-III-R personality disorder criteria. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 35*, 383-386.
- Abrams, R. C., Rosendahl, E., Card, C., & Alexopoulos, G. S. (1994). Personality disorder correlates of late and early onset depression. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 42*, 727-731.
- Aizenstein, H. J., Baskys, A., Boldrini, M., Butters, M. A., Diniz, B. S., Jaiswal, M. K., . . . Tene, O. (2016).
 Vascular depression consensus report A critical update. *BMC Medicine*, *14*, 161.
- Aizenstein, H. J., Butters, M. A., Wu, M., Mazurkewicz, L. M., Stenger, V. A., Gianaros, P. J., . . . Carter, C.
 S. (2009). Altered functioning of the executive control circuit in late-life depression: Episodic and persistent phenomena. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *17*, 30-42.
- Alawieh, A., Zaraket, F., Li, J.-L., Nokkari, A., Razafsha, M., Fadlallah, B., . . . Kobeissy, F. (2012). Systems biology, bioinformatics, and biomarkers in neuropsychiatry. *Frontiers in Neuroscience, 6*.
- Alberti, K. G. M. M., Eckel, R. H., Grundy, S. M., Zimmet, P. Z., Cleeman, J. I., Donato, K. A., . . . Smith, S. C. (2009). Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome: A joint interim statement of the International Diabetes Federation Task Force on Epidemiology and Prevention; National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; American Heart Association; World Heart Federation; International Atherosclerosis Society; and International Association for the Study of Obesity. *Circulation, 120*, 1640-1645.
- Alexopoulos, G. S. (2001). The depression-executive dysfunction syndrome of late life: A specific target for D3 agonists? *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *9*, 22-29.
- Alexopoulos, G. S. (2006). The vascular depression hypothesis: 10 years later. *Biological Psychiatry, 60*, 1304-1305.
- Alexopoulos, G. S., Abrams, R. C., Young, R. C., & Shamoian, C. A. (1988). Cornell scale for depression in dementia. *Biological Psychiatry*, 23, 271-284.
- Alexopoulos, G. S., Bruce, M. L., Silbersweig, D., Kalayam, B., & Stern, E. (1999). Vascular depression: A new view of late-onset depression. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 1, 68-80.

- Alexopoulos, G. S., Hoptman, M. J., Kanellopoulos, D., Murphy, C. F., Lim, K. O., & Gunning, F. M. (2012). Functional connectivity in the cognitive control network and the default mode network in late-life depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *139*, 56-65.
- Alexopoulos, G. S., Meyers, B. S., Young, R. C., Campbell, S., Silbersweig, D., & Charlson, M. (1997).'Vascular depression' hypothesis. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 54, 915-922.
- Alexopoulos, G. S., Meyers, B. S., Young, R. C., Kalayam, B., Kakuma, T., Gabrielle, M., . . . Hull, J. (2000). Executive dysfunction and long-term outcomes of geriatric depression. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *57*, 285-290.
- Alexopoulos, G. S., Meyers, B. S., Young, R. C., Mattis, S., & Kakuma, T. (1993). The course of geriatric depression with "reversible dementia": A controlled study. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 150, 1693-1699.
- Alexopoulos, G. S., & Morimoto, S. S. (2011). The inflammation hypothesis in geriatric depression. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 26*, 1109-1118.
- Alexopoulos, G. S., Murphy, C. F., Gunning-Dixon, F. M., Glatt, C. E., Latoussakis, V., Kelly, R. E., Jr, . . .
 Hoptman, M. J. (2009). Serotonin transporter polymorphisms, microstructural white matter abnormalities and remission of geriatric depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 119*, 132-141.
- Allan, C. L., Sexton, C. E., Filippini, N., Topiwala, A., Mahmood, A., Zsoldos, E., . . . Ebmeier, K. P. (2016).
 Sub-threshold depressive symptoms and brain structure: A magnetic resonance imaging study within the Whitehall II cohort. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 204*, 219-225.
- Almeida, O. P., & Almeida, S. A. (1999). Short versions of the Geriatric Depression Scale: A study of their validity for the diagnosis of a major depressive episode according to ICD-10 and DSM-IV. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *14*, 858-865.
- Almeida, O. P., Burton, E. J., Ferrier, N., McKeith, I. G., & O'Brien, J. T. (2003). Depression with late onset is associated with right frontal lobe atrophy. *Psychological Medicine*, *33*, 675-681.
- Almeida, O. P., Calver, J., Jamrozik, K., Hankey, G. J., & Flicker, L. (2009a). Obesity and metabolic syndrome increase the risk of incident depression in older men: The Health in Men Study. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *17*, 889-898.
- Almeida, O. P., Flicker, L., Lautenschlager, N. T., Leedman, P., Vasikaran, S., & van Bockxmeer, F. M. (2005). Contribution of the MTHFR gene to the causal pathway for depression, anxiety and cognitive impairment in later life. *Neurobiology of Aging*, *26*, 251-257.
- Almeida, O. P., Hankey, G. J., Yeap, B. B., Golledge, J., McCaul, K., & Flicker, L. (2013). A risk table to assist health practitioners assess and prevent the onset of depression in later life. *Preventive Medicine*, *57*, 878-882.

- Almeida, O. P., Marsh, K., Alfonso, H., Flicker, L., Davis, T. M., & Hankey, G. J. (2010). B-vitamins reduce the long-term risk of depression after stroke: The VITATOPS-DEP trial. *Annals of Neurology, 68*, 503-510.
- Almeida, O. P., McCaul, K., Hankey, G. J., Norman, P., Jamrozik, K., & Flicker, L. (2008). Homocysteine and depression in later life. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 65, 1286-1294.
- Almeida, O. P., Norman, P. E., Allcock, R., van Bockxmeer, F., Hankey, G. J., Jamrozik, K., & Flicker, L.
 (2009b). Polymorphisms of the CRP gene inhibit inflammatory response and increase susceptibility to depression: The Health in Men Study. *International Journal of Epidemiology, 38*, 1049-1059.
- Alves, G. S., Karakaya, T., Fußer, F., Kordulla, M., O'Dwyer, L., Christl, J., . . . Pantel, J. (2012). Association of microstructural white matter abnormalities with cognitive dysfunction in geriatric patients with major depression. *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging, 203*, 194-200.
- Amato, L., Paolisso, G., Cacciatore, F., Ferrara, N., Canonico, S., Rengo, F., & Varricchio, M. (1996). Noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus is associated with a greater prevalence of depression in the elderly. The Osservatorio Geriatrico of Campania Region Group. *Diabetes & Metabolism, 22*, 314-318.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). *DSM-IV-TR: Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, text revision*. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM-5*.Washington, D.C.: American Psychiatric Association.
- Amir, M., & Lev-Wiesel, R. (2003). Time does not heal all wounds: Quality of life and psychological distress of people who survived the Holocaust as children 55 years later. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 16, 295-299.
- Anacker, C., & Hen, R. (2017). Adult hippocampal neurogenesis and cognitive flexibility linking memory and mood. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 18, 335.
- Andersen, S. L., & Teicher, M. H. (2004). Delayed effects of early stress on hippocampal development. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 29, 1988.
- Andersen, S. L., & Teicher, M. H. (2008). Stress, sensitive periods and maturational events in adolescent depression. *Trends in Neurosciences, 31*, 183-191.
- Andersen, S. L., Tomada, A., Vincow, E. S., Valente, E., Polcari, A., & Teicher, M. H. (2008). Preliminary evidence for sensitive periods in the effect of childhood sexual abuse on regional brain development. *Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences, 20*, 292-301.

- Anderson, T. M., Sachdev, P. S., Brodaty, H., Trollor, J. N., & Andrews, G. (2007). Effects of sociodemographic and health variables on Mini-Mental State Exam scores in older Australians. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 15, 467-476.
- Andreescu, C., Butters, M. A., Begley, A., Rajji, T., Wu, M., Meltzer, C. C., . . . Aizenstein, H. (2008). Gray matter changes in late life depression — A structural MRI analysis. *Neuropsychopharmacology, 33*, 2566-2572.
- Andreescu, C., Sheu, L. K., Tudorascu, D., Gross, J. J., Walker, S., Banihashemi, L., & Aizenstein, H. (2015). Emotion reactivity and regulation in late-life generalized anxiety disorder: Functional connectivity at baseline and post-treatment. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 23, 200-214.
- Andreescu, C., Tudorascu, D. L., Butters, M. A., Tamburo, E., Patel, M., Price, J., . . . Aizenstein, H. (2013).
 Resting state functional connectivity and treatment response in late-life depression. *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging, 214*, 313-321.
- Andreeva, V. A., Galan, P., Torrès, M., Julia, C., Hercberg, S., & Kesse-Guyot, E. (2012). Supplementation with B vitamins or n−3 fatty acids and depressive symptoms in cardiovascular disease survivors: ancillary findings from the SUpplementation with FOLate, vitamins B-6 and B-12 and/or OMega-3 fatty acids (SU.FOL.OM3) randomized trial. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 96*, 208-214.
- Andrews, G., Issakidis, C., Sanderson, K., Corry, J., & Lapsley, H. (2004). Utilising survey data to inform public policy: Comparison of the cost-effectiveness of treatment of ten mental disorders. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *184*, 526-533.
- Ansorge, M. S., Hen, R., & Gingrich, J. A. (2007). Neurodevelopmental origins of depressive disorders. *Current Opinion in Pharmacology, 7*, 8-17.
- Apil, S. R. A., Hoencamp, E., Judith Haffmans, P. M., & Spinhoven, P. (2012). A stepped care relapse prevention program for depression in older people: a randomized controlled trial. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 27, 583-591.
- Apil, S. R. A., Spinhoven, P., Haffmans, P. M. J., & Hoencamp, E. (2014). Two-year follow-up of a randomized controlled trial of stepped care cognitive behavioral therapy to prevent recurrence of depression in an older population. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 29, 317-325.
- Aran, D., Toperoff, G., Rosenberg, M., & Hellman, A. (2011). Replication timing-related and gene bodyspecific methylation of active human genes. *Human Molecular Genetics*, *20*, 670-680.
- Arnold, S. E., Xie, S. X., Leung, Y. Y., Wang, L. S., Kling, M. A., Han, X., . . . Shaw, L. M. (2012). Plasma biomarkers of depressive symptoms in older adults. *Translational Psychiatry*, 2, e65.

- Arola, H.-M., Nicholls, E., Mallen, C., & Thomas, E. (2010). Self-reported pain interference and symptoms of anxiety and depression in community-dwelling older adults: Can a temporal relationship be determined? *European Journal of Pain*, 14, 966-971.
- Artero, S., Touchon, J., Dupuy, A.-M., Malafosse, A., & Ritchie, K. (2011). War exposure, 5-HTTLPR genotype and lifetime risk of depression. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 199, 43-48.
- Arve, S., Tilvis, R. S., Lehtonen, A., Valvanne, J., & Sairanen, S. (1999). Coexistence of lowered mood and cognitive impairment of elderly people in five birth cohorts. *Aging (Milano)*, 11, 90-95.
- Aryee, M. J., Jaffe, A. E., Corrada-Bravo, H., Ladd-Acosta, C., Feinberg, A. P., Hansen, K. D., & Irizarry, R.
 A. (2014). Minfi: A flexible and comprehensive Bioconductor package for the analysis of Infinium DNA methylation microarrays. *Bioinformatics, 30*, 1363-1369.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2013a). Personal safety, Australia, 2012 (Cat. No. 4906.0). Retrieved 21 July 2017, from http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/4906.0
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2013b). Population projections, Australia, 2012 (base) to 2101 (Cat No. 3222.0). Retrieved 13 March 2017, from http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/mf/3222.0

Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2015). National Health Survey: First results, 2014-2015 (Cat No. 4364.0.55.001) Retrieved 23 November 2016, from

http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/PrimaryMainFeatures/4364.0.55.001

Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2016). Austrlian Demographic Statistics, Jun 2016 (Cat. No. 3101.0). Retrieved 13 March 2017, from

http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/Previousproducts/3101.0Feature%20Article1Jun%20201

- Awata, S., Ito, H., Konno, M., Ono, S., Kawashima, R., Fukuda, H., . . . Mitsumoto. (1998). Regional cerebral blood flow abnormalities in late-life depression: Relation to refractoriness and chronification. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences, 52*, 97-105.
- Bae, J. N., MacFall, J. R., Krishnan, K. R. R., Payne, M. E., Steffens, D. C., & Taylor, W. D. (2006). Dorsolateral prefrontal cortex and anterior cingulate cortex white matter alterations in late-life depression. *Biological Psychiatry, 60*, 1356-1363.
- Bakulski, K. M., Halladay, A., Hu, V. W., Mill, J., & Fallin, M. D. (2016). Epigenetic research in neuropsychiatric disorders: The "Tissue Issue". *Current Behavioral Neuroscience Reports*, 3, 264-274.
- Baldwin, R. C. (1988). Delusional and non-delusional depression in late life. Evidence for distinct subtypes. *British Journal of Psychiatry, 152*, 39-44.

- Ballard, C., Holmes, C., McKeith, I., Neill, D., O'Brien, J., Cairns, N., . . . Perry, R. (1999). Psychiatric morbidity in dementia with Lewy bodies: A prospective clinical and neuropathological comparative study with Alzheimer's disease. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 156, 1039-1045.
- Ballmaier, M., Narr, K. L., Toga, A. W., Elderkin-Thompson, V., Thompson, P. M., Hamilton, L., . . . Kumar,
 A. (2008). Hippocampal morphology and distinguishing late-onset from early-onset elderly
 depression. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *165*, 229-237.
- Barel, E., Van, I. M. H., Sagi-Schwartz, A., & Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J. (2010). Surviving the
 Holocaust: A meta-analysis of the long-term sequelae of a genocide. *Psychological Bulletin, 136*, 677-698.
- Barnes, D. E., Alexopoulos, G. S., Lopez, O. L., Williamson, J. D., & Yaffe, K. (2006). Depressive symptoms, vascular disease, and mild cognitive impairment: Findings from the Cardiovascular Health Study. *Archives of General Psychiatry, 63*, 273-279.
- Batterham, P. J., Christensen, H., & Mackinnon, A. J. (2009). Modifiable risk factors predicting major depressive disorder at four year follow-up: A decision tree approach. *BMC Psychiatry*, *9*, 75.
- Baune, B. T., Adrian, I., Arolt, V., & Berger, K. (2006). Associations between major depression, bipolar disorders, dysthymia and cardiovascular diseases in the general adult population. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics, 75*, 319-326.
- Baune, B. T., Smith, E., Reppermund, S., Air, T., Samaras, K., Lux, O., . . . Trollor, J. N. (2012).
 Inflammatory biomarkers predict depressive, but not anxiety symptoms during aging: The prospective Sydney Memory and Aging Study. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *37*, 1521-1530.
- Beck, A. T., Ward, C. H., Mendelson, M. M., Mock, J. J., & Erbaugh, J. J. (1961). An inventory for measuring depression. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 4, 561-571.
- Beecham, G. W., Hamilton, K., Naj, A. C., Martin, E. R., Huentelman, M., Myers, A. J., . . . Montine, T. J. (2014). Genome-wide association meta-analysis of neuropathologic features of Alzheimer's disease and related dementias. *PLOS Genetics*, *10*, e1004606.
- Beekman, A. F., Geerlings, S. W., Deeg, D. H., Smit, J. H., Schoevers, R. S., de Beurs, E., . . . van Tilburg, W. (2002). The natural history of late-life depression: A 6-year prospective study in the community.
 Archives of General Psychiatry, 59, 605-611.
- Beekman, A. T., Copeland, J. R., & Prince, M. J. (1999). Review of community prevalence of depression in later life. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 174, 307-311.
- Beekman, A. T. F., de Beurs, E., van Balkom, A. J. L. M., Deeg, D. J. H., van Dyck, R., & van Tilburg, W.
 (2000). Anxiety and depression in later life: Co-occurrence and communality of risk factors. *American Journal of Psychiatry, 157*, 89-95.

- Beekman, A. T. F., Deeg, D. J. H., van Tilburg, T., Smit, J. H., Hooijer, C., & van Tilburg, W. (1995). Major and minor depression in later life: A study of prevalence and risk factors. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 36*, 65-75.
- Bell, J. T., & Spector, T. D. (2011). A twin approach to unraveling epigenetics. *Trends in Genetics*, 27, 116-125.

Belvederi Murri, M., Pariante, C., Mondelli, V., Masotti, M., Atti, A. R., Mellacqua, Z., . . . Amore, M. (2014). HPA axis and aging in depression: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychoneuroendocrinology, 41*, 46-62.

- Benton, A. L., Sivan, A. B., & Spreen, O. (1996). Der Benton Test (7th ed.). Bern, Switzerland: Huber.
- Bergen, S. E., Gardner, C. O., & Kendler, K. S. (2007). Age-related changes in heritability of behavioral phenotypes over adolescence and young adulthood: A meta-analysis. *Twin Research and Human Genetics*, *10*, 423-433.
- Berger, A. K., Fratiglioni, L., Forsell, Y., Winblad, B., & Bäckman, L. (1999). The occurrence of depressive symptoms in the preclinical phase of AD. *Neurology*, *53*, 1998.
- Bernstein, D. P., & Fink, L. (1998). *Childhood Trauma Questionnaire: A retrospective self-report manual*.San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation.
- Bernstein, D. P., Stein, J. A., Newcomb, M. D., Walker, E., Pogge, D., Ahluvalia, T., . . . Zule, W. (2003).
 Development and validation of a brief screening version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire.
 Child Abuse & Neglect, 27, 169-190.
- Bet, P. M., Penninx, B. W. J. H., Bochdanovits, Z., Uitterlinden, A. G., Beekman, A. T. F., van Schoor, N. M., . . . Hoogendijk, W. J. G. (2009). Glucocorticoid receptor gene polymorphisms and childhood adversity are associated with depression: New evidence for a gene–environment interaction. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part B: Neuropsychiatric Genetics, 150B*, 660-669.
- Bevan, S., Traylor, M., Adib-Samii, P., Malik, R., Paul, N. L. M., Jackson, C., . . . Markus, H. S. (2012). Genetic heritability of ischemic stroke and the contribution of previously reported candidate gene and genomewide associations. *Stroke*, *43*, 3161-3167.
- Bezerra, D. M., Pereira, F. R. S., Cendes, F., Jackowski, M. P., Nakano, E. Y., Moscoso, M. A. A., . . . Bottino, C. M. C. (2012). DTI voxelwise analysis did not differentiate older depressed patients from older subjects without depression. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *46*, 1643-1649.
- Bhalla, R. K., Butters, M. A., Mulsant, B. H., Begley, A. E., Zmuda, M. D., Schoderbek, B., . . . Becker, J. T. (2006). Persistence of neuropsychologic deficits in the remitted state of late-life depression. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 14, 419-427.

- Bigdeli, T. B., Ripke, S., Peterson, R. E., Trzaskowski, M., Bacanu, S. A., Abdellaoui, A., . . . Kendler, K. S. (2017). Genetic effects influencing risk for major depressive disorder in China and Europe. *Translational Psychiatry*, *7*, e1074.
- Black, C. N., Bot, M., Scheffer, P. G., Cuijpers, P., & Penninx, B. W. J. H. (2015). Is depression associated with increased oxidative stress? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 51, 164-175.
- Black, S. A. (1999). Increased health burden associated with comorbid depression in older diabetic Mexican Americans. Results from the Hispanic Established Population for the Epidemiologic Study of the Elderly survey. *Diabetes Care, 22*, 56-64.
- Blazer, D. G. (2003). Depression in late life: Review and commentary. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 58, M249-M265.
- Blazer, D. G., & Wu, L.-T. (2009). The epidemiology of substance use and disorders among middle aged and elderly community adults: National Survey on Drug Use and Health. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *17*, 237-245.
- Blow, F. C., Serras, A. M., & Barry, K. L. (2007). Late-life depression and alcoholism. *Current Psychiatry Reports, 9*, 14-19.
- Bock, J.-O., Brettschneider, C., Weyerer, S., Werle, J., Wagner, M., Maier, W., . . . König, H.-H. (2016).
 Excess health care costs of late-life depression Results of the AgeMooDe study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 199, 139-147.
- Bohr, I. J., Kenny, E., Blamire, A., O'Brien, J. T., Thomas, A. J., Richardson, J., & Kaiser, M. (2013). Restingstate functional connectivity in late-life depression: Higher global connectivity and more long distance connections. *Frontiers in Psychiatry, 3.*
- Boker, S. M., Neale, M. C., Maes, H. H., Wilde, M. J., Spiegel, M., Brick, T. R., . . . Kirkpatrick, R. M. (2016). OpenMx user guide (Release 2.5.1). Retrieved from http://openmx.ssri.psu.edu/docs/OpenMx/2.5.1/OpenMxUserGuide.pdf
- Bonnewyn, A., Katona, C., Bruffaerts, R., Haro, J. M., de Graaf, R., Alonso, J., & Demyttenaere, K. (2009). Pain and depression in older people: Comorbidity and patterns of help seeking. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 117, 193-196.
- Bosker, F. J., Hartman, C. A., Nolte, I. M., Prins, B. P., Terpstra, P., Posthuma, D., . . . Nolen, W. A. (2011). Poor replication of candidate genes for major depressive disorder using genome-wide association data. *Molecular Psychiatry*, *16*, 516-532.

- Bots, S., Tijhuis, M., Giampaoli, S., Kromhout, D., & Nissinen, A. (2008). Lifestyle- and diet-related factors in late-life depression—A 5-year follow-up of elderly European men: The FINE study. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 23*, 478-484.
- Bouchard, T. J., & McGue, M. (2003). Genetic and environmental influences on human psychological differences. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 54, 4-45.
- Bowen, D. M., Najlerahim, A., Procter, A. W., Francis, P. T., & Murphy, E. (1989). Circumscribed changes of the cerebral cortex in neuropsychiatric disorders of later life. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 86*, 9504-9508.
- Bower, H. (1994). The concentration camp syndrome. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 28*, 391-397.
- Bowley, M. P., Drevets, W. C., Öngür, D., & Price, J. L. (2002). Low glial numbers in the amygdala in major depressive disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, 52, 404-412.
- Braam, A. W., Copeland, J. R. M., Delespaul, P. A. E. G., Beekman, A. T. F., Como, A., Dewey, M., . . .
 Skoog, I. (2014). Depression, subthreshold depression and comorbid anxiety symptoms in older
 Europeans: Results from the EURODEP concerted action. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 155*, 266-272.
- Bremmer, M. A., Beekman, A. T. F., Deeg, D. J. H., Penninx, B. W. J. H., Dik, M. G., Hack, C. E., & Hoogendijk, W. J. G. (2008). Inflammatory markers in late-life depression: Results from a populationbased study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *106*, 249-255.
- Bremmer, M. A., Deeg, D. J. H., Beekman, A. T. F., Penninx, B. W. J. H., Lips, P., & Hoogendijk, W. J. G. (2007). Major depression in late life is associated with both hypo- and hypercortisolemia. *Biological Psychiatry*, *62*, 479-486.
- Brenet, F., Moh, M., Funk, P., Feierstein, E., Viale, A. J., Socci, N. D., & Scandura, J. M. (2011). DNA methylation of the first exon is tightly linked to transcriptional silencing. *PLOS ONE, 6*, e14524.
- Brink, T. (1982). Geriatric depression and hypochondriasis. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research & Practice, 19*, 506-511.
- Brown, P. J., Rutherford, B. R., Yaffe, K., Tandler, J. M., Ray, J. L., Pott, E., . . . Roose, S. P. (2016). The depressed frail phenotype: The clinical manifestation of increased biological aging. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *24*, 1084-1094.
- Bu, G. (2009). Apolipoprotein E and its receptors in Alzheimer's disease: Pathways, pathogenesis and therapy. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 10, 333-344.
- Büchtemann, D., Luppa, M., Bramesfeld, A., & Riedel-Heller, S. (2012). Incidence of late-life depression: A systematic review. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 142, 172-179.

Bundey, S. (1991). Uses and limitations of twin studies. *Journal of Neurology, 238*, 360-364.

- Burn, D. J. (2002). Depression in Parkinson's disease. European Journal of Neurology, 9, 44-54.
- Burroughs, H., Lovell, K., Morley, M., Baldwin, R., Burns, A., & Chew-Graham, C. (2006). 'Justifiable depression': How primary care professionals and patients view late-life depression? A qualitative study. *Family Practice*, 23, 369-377.
- Burton, K. L. O., Williams, L. M., Richard Clark, C., Harris, A., Schofield, P. R., & Gatt, J. M. (2015). Sex differences in the shared genetics of dimensions of self-reported depression and anxiety. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 188*, 35-42.
- Butters, M. A., Klunk, W. E., Mathis, C. A., Price, J. C., Ziolko, S. K., Hoge, J. A., . . . Meltzer, C. C. (2008).
 Imaging Alzheimer pathology in late-life depression with PET and Pittsburgh compound-B.
 Alzheimer Disease & Associated Disorders, 22, 261-268.
- Butters, M. A., Sweet, R. A., Mulsant, B. H., Ilyas Kamboh, M., Pollock, B. G., Begley, A. E., . . . DeKosky, S. T. (2003). APOE is associated with age-of-onset, but not cognitive functioning, in late-life depression. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 18*, 1075-1081.
- Butters, M. A., Whyte, E. M., Nebes, R. D., Begley, A. E., Dew, M. A., Mulsant, B. H., . . . Becker, J. T. (2004). The nature and determinants of neuropsychological functioning in late-life depression.
 Archives of General Psychiatry, 61, 587-595.
- Button, K. S., Ioannidis, J. P. A., Mokrysz, C., Nosek, B. A., Flint, J., Robinson, E. S. J., & Munafò, M. R. (2013). Power failure: Why small sample size undermines the reliability of neuroscience. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 14, 365.
- Byers, A. L., Yaffe, K., Covinsky, K. E., Friedman, M. B., & Bruce, M. L. (2010). High occurrence of mood and anxiety disorders among older adults: The national comorbidity survey replication. *Archives of General Psychiatry, 67*, 489-496.
- Byrne, E. M., Carrillo-Roa, T., Henders, A. K., Bowdler, L., McRae, A. F., Heath, A. C., . . . Wray, N. R. (2013). Monozygotic twins affected with major depressive disorder have greater variance in methylation than their unaffected co-twin. *Translational Psychiatry*, *3*, e269.
- Cao, D., Ma, X., Cai, J., Luan, J., Liu, A.-J., Yang, R., . . . Zhang, W. J. (2016). ZBTB20 is required for anterior pituitary development and lactotrope specification. *Nature Communications, 7*, 11121.
- Carmelli, D., Swan, G. E., Kelly-Hayes, M., Wolf, P. A., Reed, T., & Miller, B. (2000). Longitudinal changes in the contribution of genetic and environmental influences to symptoms of depression in older male twins. *Psychology and Aging*, *15*, 505-510.

- Carroll, D., Phillips, A. C., Gale, C. R., & Batty, G. D. (2010). Generalized anxiety and major depressive disorders, their comorbidity and hypertension in middle-aged men. *Psychosomatic Medicine, 72*, 16-19.
- Caspi, A., Houts, R. M., Belsky, D. W., Goldman-Mellor, S. J., Harrington, H., Israel, S., . . . Moffitt, T. E. (2013). The p factor: One general psychopathology factor in the structure of psychiatric disorders? *Clinical Psychological Science*, *2*, 119-137.
- Caspi, A., Sugden, K., Moffitt, T. E., Taylor, A., Craig, I. W., Harrington, H., . . . Poulton, R. (2003). Influence of life stress on depression: Moderation by a polymorphism in the 5-HTT gene. *Science*, *301*, 386-389.
- Castilla-Puentes, R. C., & Habeych, M. E. (2010). Subtypes of depression among patients with Alzheimer's disease and other dementias. *Alzheimer's & Dementia, 6*, 63-69.
- Cepoiu, M., McCusker, J., Cole, M. G., Sewitch, M., Belzile, E., & Ciampi, A. (2008). Recognition of depression by non-psychiatric physicians — A systematic literature review and meta-analysis. *Journal* of General Internal Medicine, 23, 25-36.
- Cerri, A. P., Arosio, B., Viazzoli, C., Confalonieri, R., Vergani, C., & Annoni, G. (2010). The -308 (G/A) single nucleotide polymorphism in the TNF-α gene and the risk of major depression in the elderly. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 25*, 219-223.
- Chang, S.-C., Pan, A., Kawachi, I., & Okereke, O. I. (2016). Risk factors for late-life depression: A prospective cohort study among older women. *Preventive Medicine*, *91*, 144-151.
- Chaouloff, F. (1993). Physiopharmacological interactions between stress hormones and central serotonergic systems. *Brain Research Reviews, 18*, 1-32.
- Charlton, R. A., Lamar, M., Zhang, A., Yang, S., Ajilore, O., & Kumar, A. (2014). White-matter tract integrity in late-life depression: Associations with severity and cognition. *Psychological Medicine, 44*, 1427-1437.
- Chen, C.-S., Tsai, J.-C., Tsang, H.-Y., Kuo, Y.-T., Lin, H.-F., Chiang, I. C., & Devanand, D. P. (2005).
 Homocysteine levels, MTHFR C677T genotype, and MRI hyperintensities in late-onset major depressive disorder. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *13*, 869-875.
- Chen, Y.-a., Lemire, M., Choufani, S., Butcher, D. T., Grafodatskaya, D., Zanke, B. W., . . . Weksberg, R. (2013a). Discovery of cross-reactive probes and polymorphic CpGs in the Illumina Infinium HumanMethylation450 microarray. *Epigenetics, 8*, 203-209.
- Chen, Z., Lan, G., Shen, X., Pan, X., Chen, X., & Li, J. (2013b). Relationship of changes in cognitive and depressive symptoms during antidepressant treatment of individuals with geriatric depression and their relationship to the APOE epsilon 4 allele. *Shanghai Archives of Psychiatry, 25*, 99-106.

- Child Family Community Australia. (2017). The prevalence of child abuse and neglect Retrieved 19 July 2017, from https://aifs.gov.au/cfca/publications/prevalence-child-abuse-and-neglect
- Cho, H. J., Lavretsky, H., Olmstead, R., Levin, M. J., Oxman, M. N., & Irwin, M. R. (2008). Sleep disturbance and depression recurrence in community-dwelling older adults: A prospective study. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 165, 1543-1550.
- Chodoff, P. (1963). Late effects of the concentration camp syndrome. *Archives of General Psychiatry, 8*, 323-333.
- Chou, K.-L. (2007). Reciprocal relationship between pain and depression in older adults: Evidence from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 102*, 115-123.
- Chou, K.-L., & Chi, I. (2005). Prevalence of depression among elderly Chinese with diabetes. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 20*, 570-575.
- Chu, C.-L., Liang, C.-K., Chou, M.-Y., Lin, Y.-T., Pan, C.-C., Lu, T., . . . Chow, P. C. (2012). Decreased plasma brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels in institutionalized elderly with depressive disorder. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association, 13*, 434-437.
- Chu, D. A., Williams, L. M., Harris, A. W. F., Bryant, R. A., & Gatt, J. M. (2013). Early life trauma predicts self-reported levels of depressive and anxiety symptoms in nonclinical community adults: Relative contributions of early life stressor types and adult trauma exposure. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 47, 23-32.
- Ciechanowski, P., Wagner, E., Schmaling, K., Schwartz, S., Williams, B., Diehr, P., . . . LoGerfo, J. (2004). Community-integrated home-based depression treatment in older adults: A randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*, *291*, 1569-1577.
- Clarke, G., Grenham, S., Scully, P., Fitzgerald, P., Moloney, R. D., Shanahan, F., . . . Cryan, J. F. (2013). The microbiome-gut-brain axis during early life regulates the hippocampal serotonergic system in a sexdependent manner. *Molecular Psychiatry, 18*, 666-673.
- Clarke, H., Flint, J., Attwood, A. S., & Munafò, M. R. (2010). Association of the 5-HTTLPR genotype and unipolar depression: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Medicine*, *40*, 1767-1778.
- Class, C. A., Unverzagt, F. W., Gao, S., Sahota, A., Hall, K. S., & Hendrie, H. C. (1997). The association between Apo E genotype and depressive symptoms in elderly African-American subjects. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 5*, 339-343.
- Coffey, C. E., Figiel, G. S., Djang, W. T., & Weiner, R. D. (1990). Subcortical hyperintensity on magnetic resonance imaging: A comparison of normal and depressed elderly subjects. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *147*, 187-189.

- Cole, M. G., Bellavance, F., & Mansour, A. (1999). Prognosis of depression in elderly community and primary care populations: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Psychiatry, 156*, 1182-1189.
- Cole, M. G., & Dendukuri, N. (2003). Risk factors for depression among elderly community subjects: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Psychiatry, 160*, 1147-1156.
- Collard, R. M., Arts, M., Comijs, H. C., Naarding, P., Verhaak, P. F. M., de Waal, M. W., & Oude Voshaar,
 R. C. (2015a). The role of frailty in the association between depression and somatic comorbidity:
 Results from baseline data of an ongoing prospective cohort study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, *52*, 188-196.
- Collard, R. M., Comijs, H. C., Naarding, P., & Oude Voshaar, R. C. (2014). Physical frailty: Vulnerability of patients suffering from late-life depression. *Aging & Mental Health, 18*, 570-578.
- Collard, R. M., Comijs, H. C., Naarding, P., Penninx, B. W., Milaneschi, Y., Ferrucci, L., & Oude Voshaar,
 R. C. (2015b). Frailty as a predictor of the incidence and course of depressed mood. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association, 16*, 509-514.
- Colloby, S. J., Firbank, M. J., Thomas, A. J., Vasudev, A., Parry, S. W., & O'Brien, J. T. (2011). White matter changes in late-life depression: A diffusion tensor imaging study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 135, 216-220.
- Colman, I., Jones, P. B., Kuh, D., Weeks, M., Naicker, K., Richards, M., & Croudace, T. J. (2014). Early development, stress and depression across the life course: pathways to depression in a national British birth cohort. *Psychological Medicine*, 44, 2845-2854.
- Comijs, H. C., van Exel, E., van der Mast, R. C., Paauw, A., Oude Voshaar, R., & Stek, M. L. (2013). Childhood abuse in late-life depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 147*, 241-246.
- Conner, K. O., Copeland, V. C., Grote, N. K., Koeske, G., Rosen, D., Reynolds, C. F., III, & Brown, C.
 (2010). Mental health treatment seeking among older adults with depression: The impact of stigma and race. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 18, 531-543.
- Conwell, Y., Van Orden, K., & Caine, E. D. (2011). Suicide in older adults. *Psychiatric Clinics of North America, 34*, 451-468.
- Cook, B. L., Winokur, G., Garvey, M. J., & Beach, V. (1991). Depression and previous alcoholism in the elderly. *British Journal of Psychiatry, 158*, 72-75.
- Cordova-Palomera, A., Fatjo-Vilas, M., Gasto, C., Navarro, V., Krebs, M. O., & Fananas, L. (2015).
 Genome-wide methylation study on depression: Differential methylation and variable methylation in monozygotic twins. *Translational Psychiatry, 5*, e557.

- Cosco, T. D., Prina, A. M., Perales, J., Stephan, B. C. M., & Brayne, C. (2014). Operational definitions of successful aging: A systematic review. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 26, 373-381.
- Cross-Disorder Group of the Psychiatric Genomics Consortium. (2013a). Genetic relationship between five psychiatric disorders estimated from genome-wide SNPs. *Nature Genetics, 45*, 984.
- Cross-Disorder Group of the Psychiatric Genomics Consortium. (2013b). Identification of risk loci with shared effects on five major psychiatric disorders: A genome-wide analysis. *Lancet, 381*, 1371-1379.
- Crow, T. J., Cross, A. J., Cooper, S. J., Deakin, J. F. W., Ferrier, I. N., Johnson, J. A., . . . Tomlinson, B. E. (1984). Neurotransmitter receptors and monoamine metabolites in the brains of patients with Alzheimer-type dementia and depression, and suicides. *Neuropharmacology, 23*, 1561-1569.
- Cruchaga, C., Kauwe, John S. K., Harari, O., Jin, Sheng C., Cai, Y., Karch, Celeste M., . . . Goate, Alison M. (2013). GWAS of cerebrospinal fluid tau levels identifies risk variants for Alzheimer's disease. *Neuron, 78*, 256-268.
- Cryan, J. F., & Dinan, T. G. (2012). Mind-altering microorganisms: The impact of the gut microbiota on brain and behaviour. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *13*, 701-712.
- Cui, X., Lyness, J. M., Tang, W., Tu, X., & Conwell, Y. (2008). Outcomes and predictors of late-life depression trajectories in older primary care patients. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 16, 406-415.
- Cuijpers, P., Buntrock, C., Ebert, D. D., Beekman, A. T. F., & Reynolds, C. F. (2015). Indicated prevention.
 In O. I. Okereke (Ed.), *Prevention of late-life depression: Current clinical challenges and priorities* (pp. 99-112). Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Cuijpers, P., van Straten, A., Smit, F., Mihalopoulos, C., & Beekman, A. (2008). Preventing the onset of depressive disorders: A meta-analytic review of psychological interventions. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 165, 1272-1280.
- Curran, S. M., Murray, C. M., Van Beck, M., Dougall, N., O'Carroll, R. E., Austin, M. P., . . . Goodwin, G. M. (1993). A single photon emission computerised tomography study of regional brain function in elderly patients with major depression and with Alzheimer-type dementia. *British Journal of Psychiatry, 163*, 155-165.
- Cuthbert, B. N., & Insel, T. R. (2013). Toward the future of psychiatric diagnosis: The seven pillars of RDoC. *BMC Medicine*, *11*, 126.
- da Silva, J., Gonçalves-Pereira, M., Xavier, M., & Mukaetova-Ladinska, E. B. (2013). Affective disorders and risk of developing dementia: Systematic review. *British Journal of Psychiatry, 202*, 177-186.

- Dalby, R. B., Elfving, B., Poulsen, P. H. P., Foldager, L., Frandsen, J., Videbech, P., & Rosenberg, R. (2013).
 Plasma brain-derived neurotrophic factor and prefrontal white matter integrity in late-onset
 depression and normal aging. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *128*, 387-396.
- Danese, A., Moffitt, T. E., Pariante, C. M., Ambler, A., Poulton, R., & Caspi, A. (2008). Elevated inflammation levels in depressed adults with a history of childhood maltreatment. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 65, 409-415.
- Davies, M. N., Krause, L., Bell, J. T., Gao, F., Ward, K. J., Wu, H., . . . Wang, J. (2014). Hypermethylation in the ZBTB20 gene is associated with major depressive disorder. *Genome Biology, 15*, R56.
- Davies, M. N., Volta, M., Pidsley, R., Lunnon, K., Dixit, A., Lovestone, S., . . . Mill, J. (2012). Functional annotation of the human brain methylome identifies tissue-specific epigenetic variation across brain and blood. *Genome Biology*, *13*, R43.
- de Asis, J. M., Stern, E., Alexopoulos, G. S., Pan, H., Gorp, W. V., Blumberg, H., . . . Silbersweig, D. A.
 (2001). Hippocampal and anterior cingulate activation deficits in patients with geriatric depression. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 158, 1321-1323.
- de Groot, J., de Leeuw, F., Oudkerk, M., Hofman, A., Jolles, J., & Breteler, M. B. (2000). Cerebral white matter lesions and depressive symptoms in elderly adults. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 57, 1071-1076.
- de Jonge, P., Roy, J. F., Saz, P., Marcos, G., & Lobo, A. (2006). Prevalent and incident depression in community-dwelling elderly persons with diabetes mellitus: Results from the ZARADEMP project. *Diabetologia, 49*, 2627-2633.
- de Leeuw, F.-E., de Groot, J. C., Achten, E., Oudkerk, M., Ramos, L. M. P., Heijboer, R., . . . Breteler, M. M.
 B. (2001). Prevalence of cerebral white matter lesions in elderly people: A population based magnetic resonance imaging study. The Rotterdam Scan Study. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry, 70*, 9-14.
- Dean, K., Stevens, H., Mortensen, P. B., Murray, R. M., Walsh, E., & Pedersen, C. B. (2010). Full spectrum of psychiatric outcomes among offspring with parental history of mental disorder. *Archives of General Psychiatry, 67*, 822-829.
- Dechamps, A., Alban, R., Jen, J., Decamps, A., Traissac, T., & Dehail, P. (2010). Individualized cognitionaction intervention to prevent behavioral disturbances and functional decline in institutionalized older adults: A randomized pilot trial. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 25*, 850-860.
- Delbruck, S. J., Wendel, B., Grunewald, I., Sander, T., Morris-Rosendahl, D., Crocq, M. A., . . . Hoehe, M.
 R. (1997). A novel allelic variant of the human serotonin transporter gene regulatory polymorphism.
 Cytogenetics and Cell Genetics, 79, 214-220.

- DeLuca, A. K., Lenze, E. J., Mulsant, B. H., Butters, M. A., Karp, J. F., Dew, M. A., . . . Reynolds, C. F. (2005). Comorbid anxiety disorder in late life depression: Association with memory decline over four years. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 20, 848-854.
- Deming, Y., Li, Z., Kapoor, M., Harari, O., Del-Aguila, J. L., Black, K., . . . Cruchaga, C. (2017). Genomewide association study identifies four novel loci associated with Alzheimer's endophenotypes and disease modifiers. *Acta Neuropathologica, 133*, 839-856.
- Demirkan, A., Penninx, B. W. J. H., Hek, K., Wray, N. R., Amin, N., Aulchenko, Y. S., . . . Middeldorp, C.
 M. (2011). Genetic risk profiles for depression and anxiety in adult and elderly cohorts. *Molecular psychiatry*, *16*, 773-783.
- Demkow, U., & Wolańczyk, T. (2017). Genetic tests in major psychiatric disorders—Integrating molecular medicine with clinical psychiatry—Why is it so difficult? *Translational Psychiatry*, *7*, e1151.
- Dentino, A. N., Pieper, C. F., Rao, K. M. K., Currie, M. S., Harris, T., Blazer, D. G., & Cohen, H. J. (1999). Association of interleukin-6 and other biologic variables with depression in older people living in the community. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 47, 6-11.
- Depp, C., Vahia, I. V., & Jeste, D. (2010). Successful aging: Focus on cognitive and emotional health. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, 6*, 527-550.
- Depp, C. A., & Jeste, D. V. (2006). Definitions and predictors of successful aging: A comprehensive review of larger quantitative studies. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *14*, 6-20.
- DeRijk, R. H. (2009). Single nucleotide polymorphisms related to HPA axis reactivity. *Neuroimmunomodulation, 16*, 340-352.
- Devanand, D. P., Pelton, G. H., Marston, K., Camacho, Y., Roose, S. P., Stern, Y., & Sackeim, H. A. (2003). Sertraline treatment of elderly patients with depression and cognitive impairment. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *18*, 123-130.
- Diaconescu, A. O., Kramer, E., Hermann, C., Ma, Y., Dhawan, V., Chaly, T., . . . Smith, G. S. (2011).
 Distinct functional networks associated with improvement of affective symptoms and cognitive function during citalopram treatment in geriatric depression. *Human Brain Mapping*, *32*, 1677-1691.
- Dick, D. M., Agrawal, A., Keller, M. C., Adkins, A., Aliev, F., Monroe, S., . . . Sher, K. J. (2015). Candidate gene–environment interaction research. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *10*, 37-59.
- Dimopoulos, N., Piperi, C., Salonicioti, A., Mitsonis, C., Liappas, I., Lea, R. W., & Kalofoutis, A. (2006). Elevation of plasma concentration of adhesion molecules in late-life depression. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 21, 965-971.

- Ding, Y.-S., Singhal, T., Planeta-Wilson, B., Gallezot, J.-D., Nabulsi, N., Labaree, D., . . . Malison, R. T. (2010). PET imaging of the effects of age and cocaine on the norepinephrine transporter in the human brain using (S,S)-[11C]O-methylreboxetine and HRRT. *Synapse, 64*, 30-38.
- Dinh, Q. N., Drummond, G. R., Sobey, C. G., & Chrissobolis, S. (2014). Roles of inflammation, oxidative stress, and vascular dysfunction in hypertension. *BioMed Research International, 2014*, 11.
- Diniz, B. S., Butters, M. A., Albert, S. M., Dew, M. A., & Reynolds, C. F. (2013a). Late-life depression and risk of vascular dementia and Alzheimer's disease: Systematic review and meta-analysis of community-based cohort studies. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 202, 329-335.
- Diniz, B. S., Lin, C.-W., Sibille, E., Tseng, G., Lotrich, F., Aizenstein, H. J., . . . Butters, M. A. (2016).
 Circulating biosignatures of late-life depression (LLD): Towards a comprehensive, data-driven approach to understanding LLD pathophysiology. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *82*, 1-7.
- Diniz, B. S., Teixeira, A. L., Machado-Vieira, R., Talib, L. L., Gattaz, W. F., & Forlenza, O. V. (2013b). Reduced serum nerve growth factor in patients with late-life depression. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 21, 493-496.
- Diniz, B. S., Teixeira, A. L., Miranda, A. S., Talib, L. L., Gattaz, W. F., & Forlenza, O. V. (2012). Circulating Glial-derived neurotrophic factor is reduced in late-life depression. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 46, 135-139.
- Diniz, B. S., Teixeira, A. L., Talib, L. L., Mendonça, V. A., Gattaz, W. F., & Forlenza, O. V. (2010). Serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor level is reduced in antidepressant-free patients with late-life depression. World Journal of Biological Psychiatry, 11, 550-555.
- Dinnen, S., Simiola, V., & Cook, J. M. (2015). Post-traumatic stress disorder in older adults: A systematic review of the psychotherapy treatment literature. *Aging & Mental Health, 19*, 144-150.
- Djernes, J. K. (2006). Prevalence and predictors of depression in populations of elderly: A review. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *113*, 372-387.
- Dong, J.-Y., Zhang, Y.-H., Tong, J., & Qin, L.-Q. (2012). Depression and risk of stroke: A meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Stroke*, *43*, 32-37.
- Dotson, V. M., Beason-Held, L., Kraut, M. A., & Resnick, S. M. (2009). Longitudinal study of chronic depressive symptoms and regional cerebral blood flow in older men and women. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *24*, 809-819.
- Dowlati, Y., Herrmann, N., Swardfager, W., Liu, H., Sham, L., Reim, E. K., & Lanctôt, K. L. (2010). A metaanalysis of cytokines in major depression. *Biological Psychiatry, 67*, 446-457.
- Dozeman, E., van Marwijk, H. W. J., van Schaik, D. J. F., Smit, F., Stek, M. L., van der Horst, H. E., . . . Beekman, A. T. F. (2012). Contradictory effects for prevention of depression and anxiety in residents

in homes for the elderly: A pragmatic randomized controlled trial. *International Psychogeriatrics, 24*, 1242-1251.

- Duman, R. S., Aghajanian, G. K., Sanacora, G., & Krystal, J. H. (2016). Synaptic plasticity and depression: New insights from stress and rapid-acting antidepressants. *Nature Medicine, 22*, 238.
- Duman, R. S., & Li, N. (2012). A neurotrophic hypothesis of depression: Role of synaptogenesis in the actions of NMDA receptor antagonists. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 367*, 2475-2484.
- Duman, R. S., & Monteggia, L. M. (2006). A neurotrophic model for stress-related mood disorders. Biological Psychiatry, 59, 1116-1127.
- Ebmeier, K. P., Glabus, M. F., Prentice, N., Ryman, A., & Goodwin, G. M. (1998). A voxel-based analysis of cerebral perfusion in dementia and depression in old age. *NeuroImage*, *7*, 199-208.
- Edison, P., Archer, H. A., Gerhard, A., Hinz, R., Pavese, N., Turkheimer, F. E., . . . Brooks, D. J. (2008). Microglia, amyloid, and cognition in Alzheimer's disease: An [11C](R)PK11195-PET and [11C]PIB-PET study. *Neurobiology of Disease, 32*, 412-419.
- Egan, M. F., Kojima, M., Callicott, J. H., Goldberg, T. E., Kolachana, B. S., Bertolino, A., . . . Weinberger, D.
 R. (2003). The BDNF val66met polymorphism affects activity-dependent secretion of BDNF and human memory and hippocampal function. *Cell*, *112*, 257-269.
- Ege, M. A., Messias, E., Thapa, P. B., & Krain, L. P. (2015). Adverse childhood experiences and geriatric depression: Results from the 2010 BRFSS. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 23*, 110-114.
- Eitinger, L. (1961). Pathology of the concentration camp syndrome: Preliminary report. *Archives of General Psychiatry, 5*, 371-379.
- El-Batch, M., Eissa, M. A., Farouk, G., & Attia, M. (2010). N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide, homocysteine and methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene polymorphism in elderly depressed and mild cognitive impairment patients. *Turkish Journal of Biochemistry*, 35, 105-113.
- Eliwa, H., Belzung, C., & Surget, A. (2017). Adult hippocampal neurogenesis: Is it the alpha and omega of antidepressant action? *Biochemical Pharmacology*, *141*, 86-99.
- Emeny, R. T., Bidlingmaier, M., Lacruz, M. E., Linkohr, B., Peters, A., Reincke, M., & Ladwig, K. H. (2014). Mind over hormones: Sex differences in associations of well-being with IGF-I, IGFBP-3 and physical activity in the KORA-Age study. *Experimental Gerontology*, *59*, 58-64.
- Evans, M., & Mottram, P. (2000). Diagnosis of depression in elderly patients. *Advances in Psychiatric Treatment, 6*, 49-56.
- Fabel, K., & Kempermann, G. (2008). Physical activity and the regulation of neurogenesis in the adult and aging brain. *NeuroMolecular Medicine*, *10*, 59-66.

- Fagiolini, M., Jensen, C. L., & Champagne, F. A. (2009). Epigenetic influences on brain development and plasticity. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 19, 207-212.
- Falconer, D. S., & Mackay, T. F. C. (1996). *Introduction to quantitative genetics* (4th ed.). Harlow, Essex, UK: Longmans Green.
- Fan, P. L., Chen, C. D., Kao, W. T., Shu, B. C., & Lung, F. W. (2006). Protective effect of the apo ε2 allele in major depressive disorder in Taiwanese. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 113, 48-53.
- Fastenau, P. S., Denburg, N. L., & Mauer, B. A. (1998). Parallel short forms for the Boston Naming Test: Psychometric properties and norms for older adults. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 20, 828-834.
- Fazekas, F., Chawluk, J. B., Alavi, A., Hurtig, H. I., & Zimmerman, R. A. (1987). MR signal abnormalities at 1.5 T in Alzheimer's dementia and normal aging. *American Journal of Neuroradiology*, 8, 421-426.
- Fernandes, B. S., Williams, L. M., Steiner, J., Leboyer, M., Carvalho, A. F., & Berk, M. (2017). The new field of 'precision psychiatry'. *BMC Medicine*, *15*, 80.
- Ferrari, R., Wang, Y., Vandrovcova, J., Guelfi, S., Witeolar, A., Karch, C. M., . . . Desikan, R. S. (2017). Genetic architecture of sporadic frontotemporal dementia and overlap with Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry, 88*, 152.
- Finkelstein, E. A., Bray, J. W., Chen, H., Larson, M. J., Miller, K., Tompkins, C., . . . Manderscheid, R. (2003). Prevalence and costs of major depression among elderly claimants with diabetes. *Diabetes Care, 26*, 415-420.
- Fiske, A., Wetherell, J. L., & Gatz, M. (2009). Depression in older adults. Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, 5, 363-389.
- Flint, J., & Kendler, Kenneth S. (2014). The genetics of major depression. Neuron, 81, 484-503.
- Folstein, M. F., Folstein, S. E., & McHugh, P. R. (1975). "Mini-mental state": A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *Journal of Psychiatric Research, 12*, 189-198.
- Forti, P., Rietti, E., Pisacane, N., Olivelli, V., Mariani, E., Chiappelli, M., . . . Ravaglia, G. (2010). Blood inflammatory proteins and risk of incident depression in the elderly. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders, 29*, 11-20.
- Fried, E. I. (2017). The 52 symptoms of major depression: Lack of content overlap among seven common depression scales. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 208*, 191-197.
- Fried, E. I., & Nesse, R. M. (2015). Depression is not a consistent syndrome: An investigation of unique symptom patterns in the STAR*D study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *172*, 96-102.
- Fried, E. I., van Borkulo, C. D., Epskamp, S., Schoevers, R. A., Tuerlinckx, F., & Borsboom, D. (2016). Measuring depression over time . . . Or not? Lack of unidimensionality and longitudinal

measurement invariance in four common rating scales of depression. *Psychological Assessment, 28*, 1354-1367.

- Fried, L. P., Tangen, C. M., Walston, J., Newman, A. B., Hirsch, C., Gottdiener, J., . . . McBurnie, M. A. (2001). Frailty in older adults: Evidence for a phenotype. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 56*, M146-M157.
- Friedman, B., Heisel, M. J., & Delavan, R. L. (2005). Psychometric properties of the 15-item Geriatric Depression Scale in functionally impaired, cognitively intact, community-dwelling elderly primary care patients. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *53*, 1570-1576.
- Fromer, M., Roussos, P., Sieberts, S. K., Johnson, J. S., Kavanagh, D. H., Perumal, T. M., . . . Sklar, P. (2016). Gene expression elucidates functional impact of polygenic risk for schizophrenia. *Nature Neuroscience*, *19*, 1442.
- Fuchikami, M., Morinobu, S., Segawa, M., Okamoto, Y., Yamawaki, S., Ozaki, N., . . . Terao, T. (2011). DNA methylation profiles of the brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) gene as a potent diagnostic biomarker in major depression. *PLOS ONE, 6*, e23881.
- Fujimoto, T., Takeuchi, K., Matsumoto, T., Fujita, S., Honda, K., Higashi, Y., & Kato, N. (2008). Metabolic changes in the brain of patients with late-onset major depression. *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging*, 164, 48-57.
- Gabryelewicz, T., Styczynska, M., Luczywek, E., Barczak, A., Pfeffer, A., Androsiuk, W., . . . Barcikowska, M. (2007). The rate of conversion of mild cognitive impairment to dementia: Predictive role of depression. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 22, 563-567.
- Gabryelewicz, T., Styczynska, M., Pfeffer, A., Wasiak, B., Barczak, A., Luczywek, E., . . . Barcikowska, M.
 (2004). Prevalence of major and minor depression in elderly persons with mild cognitive impairment—MADRS factor analysis. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 19, 1168-1172.
- Gallo, J. J., & Rabins, P. V. (1999). Depression without sadness: alternative presentations of depression in late life. *American Family Physician*, *60*, 820-826.
- Gamble, S. A., Talbot, N. L., Duberstein, P. R., Conner, K. R., Franus, N., Beckman, A. M., & Conwell, Y.
 (2006). Childhood sexual abuse and depressive symptom severity: The role of neuroticism. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease, 194*, 382-385.
- Ganguli, M., Du, Y., Dodge, H. H., Ratcliff, G. G., & Chang, C. H. (2006). Depressive symptoms and cognitive decline in late life: A prospective epidemiological study. *Archives of General Psychiatry, 63*, 153-160.
- Gao, Z., Yuan, H., Sun, M., Wang, Z., He, Y., & Liu, D. (2014). The association of serotonin transporter gene polymorphism and geriatric depression: A meta-analysis. *Neuroscience Letters*, 578, 148-152.

- Gatz, M., Pedersen, N. L., Plomin, R., Nesselroade, J. R., & McClearn, G. E. (1992). Importance of shared genes and shared environments for symptoms of depression in older adults. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 101, 701-708.
- Gaupp, R., Pomarol-Clotet, E., & Berrios, G. E. (2000). Depressive states in old age (Die Depressionszustände des höheren Lebensalters'. Münchener medizinische Wochenschrift, 8 August 1905, 1531-7). *History of Psychiatry, 11*, 216-225.
- Gavras, I., Manolis, A., & Gavras, H. (1999). Genetic epidemiology of essential hypertension. *Journal of Human Hypertension, 13*, 225-229.
- Geerlings, M. I., & Gerritsen, L. (2017). Late-life depression, hippocampal volumes, and hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis regulation: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Biological Psychiatry, 82*, 339-350.
- Geerlings, W. S., Twisk, R. J. W., Beekman, F. A. T., Deeg, H. D. J., & van Tilburg, W. (2002). Longitudinal relationship between pain and depression in older adults: sex, age and physical disability. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 37, 23-30.
- Gerhard, A., Schwarz, J., Myers, R., Wise, R., & Banati, R. B. (2005). Evolution of microglial activation in patients after ischemic stroke: a [11C](R)-PK11195 PET study. *NeuroImage, 24*, 591-595.
- Giedd, J. N., & Rapoport, J. L. (2010). Structural MRI of pediatric brain development: What have we learned and where are we going? *Neuron, 67*, 728-734.
- Gilbert, R., Widom, C. S., Browne, K., Fergusson, D., Webb, E., & Janson, S. (2009). Burden and consequences of child maltreatment in high-income countries. *Lancet, 373*, 68-81.
- Gillespie, N. A., & Martin, N. G. (2005). Multivariate genetic analysis. In B. S. Everitt & D. C. Howell (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of statistics in behavioral science* (pp. 1363-1370): John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Giltay, E. J., Geleijnse, J. M., & Kromhout, D. (2011). Effects of n–3 fatty acids on depressive symptoms and dispositional optimism after myocardial infarction. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 94*, 1442-1450.
- Goldberg, D., Bridges, K., Duncan-Jones, P., & Grayson, D. (1988). Detecting anxiety and depression in general medical settings. *BMJ*, *297*, 897-899.
- Goldberg, D., & Goodyer, I. M. (2005). *The origins and course of common mental disorders*. London, UK: Taylor & Francis.
- Goldman, N., Glei, D. A., Lin, Y.-H., & Weinstein, M. (2010). The serotonin transporter polymorphism (5-HTTLPR): Allelic variation and links with depressive symptoms. *Depression and anxiety, 27*, 260-269.

- Grant, B. F., & Harford, T. C. (1995). Comorbidity between DSM-IV alcohol use disorders and major depression: results of a national survey. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 39*, 197-206.
- Gratacòs, M., González, J. R., Mercader, J. M., de Cid, R., Urretavizcaya, M., & Estivill, X. (2007). Brainderived neurotrophic factor Val66Met and psychiatric disorders: Meta-analysis of case-control studies confirm association to substance-related disorders, eating disorders, and schizophrenia. *Biological Psychiatry*, *61*, 911-922.
- Grayson, L., & Thomas, A. (2013). A systematic review comparing clinical features in early age at onset and late age at onset late-life depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 150*, 161-170.
- Greenwald, B. S., Kramer-Ginsberg, E., Krishnan, R. R., Ashtari, M., Aupperle, P. M., & Patel, M. (1996).MRI signal hyperintensities in geriatric depression. *American Journal of Psychiatry, 153*, 1212-1215.
- Grünblatt, E., Hupp, E., Bambula, M., Zehetmayer, S., Jungwirth, S., Tragl, K. H., . . . Riederer, P. (2006a).
 Association study of BDNF and CNTF polymorphism to depression in non-demented subjects of the "VITA" study. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 96*, 111-116.
- Grünblatt, E., Löffler, C., Zehetmayer, S., Jungwirth, S., Tragl, K. H., Riederer, P., & Fischer, P. (2006b). Association study of the 5-HTTLPR polymorphism and depression in 75-year-old nondemented subjects from the Vienna Transdanube Aging (VITA) study. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 67, 1373-1378.
- Grundman, M., Petersen, R. C., Ferris, S. H., Thomas, R. G., Aisen, P. S., Bennett, D. A., . . . The Alzheimer's Disease Cooperative Study. (2004). Mild cognitive impairment can be distinguished from Alzheimer disease and normal aging for clinical trials. *Archives of Neurology, 61*, 59-66.
- Gu, L.-Z., Jiang, T., Cheng, Z.-H., Zhang, Y.-C., Ou, M.-M., Chen, M.-C., & Ling, W.-M. (2015). TSNARE1 polymorphisms are associated with schizophrenia susceptibility in Han Chinese. *Journal of Neural Transmission, 122*, 929-932.
- Guo, J. U., Ma, D. K., Mo, H., Ball, M. P., Jang, M.-H., Bonaguidi, M. A., . . . Song, H. (2011). Neuronal activity modifies the DNA methylation landscape in the adult brain. *Nature Neuroscience*, 14, 1345.
- Hackett, M. L., & Pickles, K. (2014). Part I: Frequency of depression after stroke: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *International Journal of Stroke, 9*, 1017-1025.
- Haight, B. K., Michel, Y., & Hendrix, S. (1998). Life review: Preventing despair in newly relocated nursing home residents short- and long-term effects. *International Journal of Aging and Human Development, 47*, 119-142.
- Hamer, M., Molloy, G. J., de Oliveira, C., & Demakakos, P. (2009). Leisure time physical activity, risk of depressive symptoms, and inflammatory mediators: The English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. *Psychoneuroendocrinology, 34*, 1050-1055.

- Hamidi, M., Drevets, W. C., & Price, J. L. (2004). Glial reduction in amygdala in major depressive disorder is due to oligodendrocytes. *Biological Psychiatry*, 55, 563-569.
- Han, L., McCusker, J., Cole, M., Abrahamowicz, M., & Čapek, R. (2008). 12-month cognitive outcomes of major and minor depression in older medical patients. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 16, 742-751.
- Hanna, E. Z., & Grant, B. F. (1997). Gender differences in DSM-IV alcohol use disorders and major depression as distributed in the general population: Clinical implications. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 38, 202-212.
- Hannon, E., Lunnon, K., Schalkwyk, L., & Mill, J. (2015). Interindividual methylomic variation across blood, cortex, and cerebellum: Implications for epigenetic studies of neurological and neuropsychiatric phenotypes. *Epigenetics, 10*, 1024-1032.
- Hariri, A. R., Goldberg, T. E., Mattay, V. S., Kolachana, B. S., Callicott, J. H., Egan, M. F., & Weinberger, D.
 R. (2003). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor val66met polymorphism affects human memory-related hippocampal activity and predicts memory performance. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *23*, 6690-6694.
- Haroon, E., Raison, C. L., & Miller, A. H. (2012). Psychoneuroimmunology meets neuropsychopharmacology: Translational implications of the impact of inflammation on behavior. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 37, 137-162.
- Harwood, D. G., Barker, W. W., Ownby, R. L., Mullan, M., & Duara, R. (1999). Factors associated with depressive symptoms in non-demented community-dwelling elderly. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *14*, 331-337.
- Heils, A., Teufel, A., Petri, S., Stöber, G., Riederer, P., Bengel, D., & Lesch, K. P. (1996). Allelic variation of human serotonin transporter gene expression. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 66, 2621-2624.
- Heim, C., & Binder, E. B. (2012). Current research trends in early life stress and depression: Review of human studies on sensitive periods, gene–environment interactions, and epigenetics. *Experimental Neurology, 233*, 102-111.
- Heim, C., Ehlert, U., & Hellhammer, D. H. (2000). The potential role of hypocortisolism in the pathophysiology of stress-related bodily disorders. *Psychoneuroendocrinology, 25*, 1-35.
- Heim, C., Newport, D. J., Mletzko, T., Miller, A. H., & Nemeroff, C. B. (2008). The link between childhood trauma and depression: Insights from HPA axis studies in humans. *Psychoneuroendocrinology, 33*, 693-710.
- Hek, K., Demirkan, A., Lahti, J., Terracciano, A., Teumer, A., Cornelis, M. C., . . . Murabito, J. (2013). A genome-wide association study of depressive symptoms. *Biological Psychiatry*, *73*, 667-678.
- Hek, K., Mulder, C. L., Luijendijk, H. J., van Duijn, C. M., Hofman, A., Uitterlinden, A. G., & Tiemeier, H.
 (2010). The PCLO gene and depressive disorders: Replication in a population-based study. *Human Molecular Genetics, 19*, 731-734.
- Hellman, A., & Chess, A. (2007). Gene body-specific methylation on the active X chromosome. *Science, 315*, 1141-1143.
- Hendricksen, M., Thomas, A. J., Ferrier, I. N., Ince, P., & O'Brien, J. T. (2004). Neuropathological study of the dorsal raphe nuclei in late-life depression and Alzheimer's disease with and without depression. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 161, 1096-1102.
- Herrmann, L. L., Goodwin, G. M., & Ebmeier, K. P. (2007). The cognitive neuropsychology of depression in the elderly. *Psychological Medicine*, *37*, 1693-1702.
- Herrmann, L. L., Le Masurier, M., & Ebmeier, K. P. (2008). White matter hyperintensities in late life depression: A systematic review. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry, 79*, 619-624.
- Herrmann, N., Mittmann, N., Silver, I. L., Shulman, K. I., Busto, U. A., Shear, N. H., & Naranjo, C. A. (1996). A validation study of the Geriatric Depression Scale short form. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 11, 457-460.
- Hettema, J. M., Neale, M. C., & Kendler, K. S. (2001). A review and meta-analysis of the genetic epidemiology of anxiety disorders. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 158, 1568-1578.
- Hickie, I., Scott, E., Naismith, S., Ward, P. B., Turner, K., Parker, G., . . . Wilhelm, K. (2001). Late-onset depression: genetic, vascular and clinical contributions. *Psychological Medicine*, *31*, 1403-1412.
- Hickie, I., Simons, L., Naismith, S., Simons, J., Mccallum, J., & Pearson, K. (2003). Vascular risk to late-life depression: Evidence from a longitudinal community study. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 37, 62-65.
- Higgins, J., & Green, S. (2011). Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions (Version 5.1.0). Retrieved from www.cochrane-handbook.org
- Hindmarch, I., Lehfeld, H., de Jongh, P., & Erzigkeit, H. (1998). The Bayer Activities of Daily Living Scale (B-ADL). *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, 9(suppl 2), 20-26.
- Hirao, K., & Smith, G. S. (2014). Positron emission tomography molecular imaging in late-life depression. *Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry and Neurology*, 27, 13-23.
- Hirschfeld, R. M. A. (2000). History and evolution of the monoamine hypothesis of depression. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry, 61*, 4-6.
- Hopfinger, L., Berking, M., Bockting, C. L. H., & Ebert, D. D. (2016). Emotion regulation mediates the effect of childhood trauma on depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 198*, 189-197.

- Hosang, G. M., Shiles, C., Tansey, K. E., McGuffin, P., & Uher, R. (2014). Interaction between stress and the BDNFVal66Met polymorphism in depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Medicine*, *12*, 7.
- Houseman, E. A., Accomando, W. P., Koestler, D. C., Christensen, B. C., Marsit, C. J., Nelson, H. H., . . . Kelsey, K. T. (2012). DNA methylation arrays as surrogate measures of cell mixture distribution. *BMC Bioinformatics, 13*, 86.
- Hovatta, I., Juhila, J., & Donner, J. (2010). Oxidative stress in anxiety and comorbid disorders. *Neuroscience Research, 68*, 261-275.
- Hu, X., Oroszi, G., Chun, J., Smith, T. L., Goldman, D., & Schuckit, M. A. (2005). An expanded evaluation of the relationship of four alleles to the level of response to alcohol and the alcoholism risk. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research, 29*, 8-16.
- Hua, P., Liu, W., Chen, D., Zhao, Y., Chen, L., Zhang, N., . . . Kuo, S. H. (2014). Cry1 and Tef gene polymorphisms are associated with major depressive disorder in the Chinese population. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 157*, 100-103.
- Huang, C.-Q., Dong, B.-R., Lu, Z.-C., Yue, J.-R., & Liu, Q.-X. (2010). Chronic diseases and risk for depression in old age: A meta-analysis of published literature. *Ageing Research Reviews*, 9, 131-141.
- Huang, C.-Q., Wang, Z.-R., Li, Y.-H., Xie, Y.-Z., & Liu, Q.-X. (2011). Cognitive function and risk for depression in old age: A meta-analysis of published literature. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 23, 516-525.
- Huh, H. J., Kim, K. H., Lee, H.-K., & Chae, J.-H. (2017). The relationship between childhood trauma and the severity of adulthood depression and anxiety symptoms in a clinical sample: The mediating role of cognitive emotion regulation strategies. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 213*, 44-50.
- Hung, L.-W., Kempen, G. I. J. M., & De Vries, N. K. (2010). Cross-cultural comparison between academic and lay views of healthy ageing: A literature review. *Ageing and Society*, *30*, 1373-1391.
- Hwang, J.-P., Tsai, S.-J., Hong, C.-J., Yang, C.-H., Hsu, C.-D., & Liou, Y.-J. (2009). Interleukin-1 beta -511C/T genetic polymorphism is associated with age of onset of geriatric depression. *NeuroMolecular Medicine*, 11, 322-327.
- Hwang, J.-P., Tsai, S.-J., Hong, C.-J., Yang, C.-H., Lirng, J.-F., & Yang, Y.-M. (2006a). The Val66Met polymorphism of the brain-derived neurotrophic-factor gene is associated with geriatric depression. *Neurobiology of Aging*, *27*, 1834-1837.
- Hwang, J.-P., Yang, C.-H., Hong, C.-J., Lirng, J.-F., Yang, Y.-M., & Tsai, S.-J. (2006b). Association of APOE genetic polymorphism with cognitive function and suicide history in geriatric depression. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders, 22*, 334-338.

- Hyman, S. E. (2010). The diagnosis of mental disorders: The problem of reification. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, 6*, 155-179.
- IBM Corp. (2016). IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 24.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.
- Indermaur, D. (2001). *Young Australians and domestic violence*. Canberra: Australian Institute of Criminology.
- Infante, J., Prieto, C., Sierra, M., Sánchez-Juan, P., González-Aramburu, I., Sánchez-Quintana, C., . . . Sainz, J. (2015). Identification of candidate genes for Parkinson's disease through blood transcriptome analysis in LRRK2-G2019S carriers, idiopathic cases, and controls. *Neurobiology of Aging, 36*, 1105-1109.
- Infurna, M. R., Reichl, C., Parzer, P., Schimmenti, A., Bifulco, A., & Kaess, M. (2016). Associations between depression and specific childhood experiences of abuse and neglect: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 190*, 47-55.
- International Schizophrenia Consortium. (2009). Common polygenic variation contributes to risk of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *Nature, 460*, 748.
- Ioannidis, J. P. A. (2008). Why most discovered true associations are inflated. *Epidemiology*, 19, 640-648.
- Ishihara, L., & Brayne, C. (2006). A systematic review of depression and mental illness preceding Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica, 113*, 211-220.
- Ishizaki, J., Yamamoto, H., Takahashi, T., Takeda, M., Yano, M., & Mimura, M. (2008). Changes in regional cerebral blood flow following antidepressant treatment in late-life depression. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 23*, 805-811.
- Ivnik, R. J., Malec, J. F., Smith, G. E., Tangalos, E. G., Petersen, R. C., Kokmen, E., & Kurland, L. T. (1992a). Mayo's Older Americans Normative Studies: Updated AVLT norms for ages 56 to 97. *Clinical Neuropsychologist*, *6*, 83-104.
- Ivnik, R. J., Malec, J. F., Smith, G. E., Tangalos, E. G., Petersen, R. C., Kokmen, E., & Kurland, L. T. (1992b). Mayo's Older Americans Normative Studies: WAIS-R norms for ages 56 to 97. *Clinical Neuropsychologist*, *6*, 1-30.
- Ivnik, R. J., Malec, J. F., Tangalos, E. G., Petersen, R. C., Kokmen, E., & Kurland, L. T. (1990). The Auditory-Verbal Learning Test (AVLT): Norms for ages 55 years and older. *Psychological Assessment, 2*, 304-312.
- Jabłoński, R., Rosińczuk, J., Leszek, J., Uchmanowicz, I., & Panaszek, B. (2016). The progressive nature of concentration camp syndrome in former prisoners of Nazi concentration camps Not just history, but the important issue of contemporary medicine. *Journal of Psychiatric Research, 75*, 1-6.

- Janssen, J., Hulshoff Pol, H. E., de Leeuw, F.-E., Schnack, H. G., Lampe, I. K., Kok, R. M., . . . Heeren, T. J. (2007). Hippocampal volume and subcortical white matter lesions in late life depression: comparison of early and late onset depression. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry, 78*, 638-640.
- Janssen, J., Hulshoff Pol, H. E., Lampe, I. K., Schnack, H. G., de Leeuw, F.-E., Kahn, R. S., & Heeren, T. J. (2004). Hippocampal changes and white matter lesions in early-onset depression. *Biological Psychiatry*, 56, 825-831.
- Jansson, M., Gatz, M., Berg, S., Johansson, B., Malmberg, B., McClearn, G. E., . . . Pedersen, N. L. (2003). Association between depressed mood in the elderly and a 5-HTR2A gene variant. *American Journal of Medical Genetics. Part B: Neuropsychiatric Genetics, 120B*, 79-84.
- Jansson, M., Gatz, M., Berg, S., Johansson, B., Malmberg, B., McClearn, G. E., . . . Pedersen, N. L. (2004). Gender differences in heritability of depressive symptoms in the elderly. *Psychological Medicine, 34*, 471-479.
- Januar, V., Ancelin, M. L., Ritchie, K., Saffery, R., & Ryan, J. (2015a). BDNF promoter methylation and genetic variation in late-life depression. *Translational Psychiatry*, *5*, e619.
- Januar, V., Saffery, R., & Ryan, J. (2015b). Epigenetics and depressive disorders: A review of current progress and future directions. *International Journal of Epidemiology, 44*, 1364-1387.
- Jellinger, K. A. (2009). Lewy body/α-synucleinopathy in schizophrenia and depression: A preliminary neuropathological study. *Acta Neuropathologica*, *117*, 423-427.
- Jofre-Monseny, L., Minihane, A.-M., & Rimbach, G. (2008). Impact of apoE genotype on oxidative stress, inflammation and disease risk. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, *52*, 131-145.
- Johnson, W., McGue, M., Gaist, D., Vaupel, J. W., & Christensen, K. (2002). Frequency and heritability of depression symptomatology in the second half of life: Evidence from Danish twins over 45. *Psychological Medicine*, 32, 1175-1185.
- Jones, P. A. (2012). Functions of DNA methylation: Islands, start sites, gene bodies and beyond. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, *13*, 484-492.
- Jones, P. A., & Takai, D. (2001). The role of DNA methylation in mammalian epigenetics. *Science, 293*, 1068-1070.
- Jorm, A. F. (2001). History of depression as a risk factor for dementia: An updated review. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 35*, 776-781.
- Joseph, J. (1998). The equal environment assumption of the classical twin method: A critical analysis. *Journal of Mind and Behavior, 19*, 325-358.
- Joseph, J. (2002). Twin studies in psychiatry and psychology: Science or pseudoscience? *Psychiatric Quarterly, 73*, 71-82.

- Kanellopoulos, D., Gunning, F. M., Morimoto, S. S., Hoptman, M. J., Murphy, C. F., Kelly, R. E., Jr, . . . Alexopoulos, G. S. (2011). Hippocampal volumes and the brain-derived neurotrophic factor val66met polymorphism in geriatric major depression. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 19, 13-22.
- Kang, H.-J., Kim, J.-M., Bae, K.-Y., Kim, S.-W., Shin, I.-S., Kim, H.-R., . . . Yoon, J.-S. (2015). Longitudinal associations between BDNF promoter methylation and late-life depression. *Neurobiology of Aging*, *36*, 1764.e1761-1764.e1767.
- Kang, H.-J., Kim, J.-M., Lee, J.-Y., Kim, S.-Y., Bae, K.-Y., Kim, S.-W., . . . Yoon, J.-S. (2013). BDNF promoter methylation and suicidal behavior in depressive patients. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 151, 679-685.
- Kaplan, E., Goodglass, H., & Weintraub, S. (2001). *The Boston Naming Test.* Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Kapur, S., Phillips, A. G., & Insel, T. R. (2012). Why has it taken so long for biological psychiatry to develop clinical tests and what to do about it? *Molecular Psychiatry*, 17, 1174.
- Karg, K., Burmeister, M., Shedden, K., & Sen, S. (2011). The serotonin transporter promoter variant (5httlpr), stress, and depression meta-analysis revisited: Evidence of genetic moderation. Archives of General Psychiatry, 68, 444-454.
- Katon, W. J., Lin, E., Russo, J., & Unützer, J. (2003). Increased medical costs of a population-based sample of depressed elderly patients. *Archives of General Psychiatry, 60*, 897-903.
- Kendler, K. S., & Baker, J. H. (2007). Genetic influences on measures of the environment: A systematic review. *Psychological Medicine*, 37, 615-626.
- Kendler, K. S., Bulik, C. M., Silberg, J., Hettema, J. M., Myers, J., & Prescott, C. A. (2000). Childhood sexual abuse and adult psychiatric and substance use disorders in women: An epidemiological and cotwin control analysis. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *57*, 953-959.
- Kendler, K. S., & Gardner, C. O. (1998). Twin studies of adult psychiatric and substance dependence disorders: are they biased by differences in the environmental experiences of monozygotic and dizygotic twins in childhood and adolescence? *Psychological Medicine*, 28, 625-633.
- Kendler, K. S., Gardner, C. O., Fiske, A., & Gatz, M. (2009). Major depression and coronary artery disease in the swedish twin registry: Phenotypic, genetic, and environmental sources of comorbidity. *Archives of General Psychiatry, 66*, 857-863.
- Kendler, K. S., Gardner, C. O., Gatz, M., & Pedersen, N. L. (2006). The sources of co-morbidity between major depression and generalized anxiety disorder in a Swedish national twin sample. *Psychological Medicine*, *37*, 453-462.

- Kendler, K. S., Neale, M. C., Kessler, R. C., Heath, A. C., & Eaves, L. J. (1992). Major depression and generalized anxiety disorder: Same genes, (partly) different environments? *Archives of General Psychiatry, 49*, 716-722.
- Kendler, K. S., Neale, M. C., Kessler, R. C., Heath, A. C., & Eaves, L. J. (1993). A test of the equalenvironment assumption in twin studies of psychiatric illness. *Behavior Genetics*, 23, 21-27.
- Kenny, E. R., O'Brien, J. T., Cousins, D. A., Richardson, J., Thomas, A. J., Firbank, M. J., & Blamire, A. M. (2010). Functional connectivity in late-life depression using resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 18, 643-651.
- Kern, S., Skoog, I., Börjesson-Hanson, A., Blennow, K., Zetterberg, H., Östling, S., . . . Waern, M. (2014).
 Higher CSF interleukin-6 and CSF interleukin-8 in current depression in older women. Results from a population-based sample. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 41*, 55-58.
- Kessler, R. C., Davis, C. G., & Kendler, K. S. (1997). Childhood adversity and adult psychiatric disorder in the US National Comorbidity Survey. *Psychological Medicine*, *27*, 1101-1119.
- Kessler, R. C., Foster, C., Webster, P. S., & House, J. S. (1992). The relationship between age and depressive symptoms in two national surveys. *Psychology and Aging*, *7*, 119-126.
- Khundakar, A., Morris, C., Oakley, A., McMeekin, W., & Thomas, A. J. (2009). Morphometric analysis of neuronal and glial cell pathology in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in late-life depression. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 195, 163-169.
- Khundakar, A., Morris, C., Oakley, A., & Thomas, A. J. (2010). A morphometric examination of neuronal and glial cell pathology in the orbitofrontal cortex in late-life depression. *International Psychogeriatrics, 23*, 132-140.
- Khundakar, A., Morris, C., Oakley, A., & Thomas, A. J. (2011a). Morphometric analysis of neuronal and glial cell pathology in the caudate nucleus in late-life depression. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 19*, 132-141.
- Khundakar, A. A., Morris, C. M., Oakley, A. E., & Thomas, A. J. (2011b). Cellular pathology within the anterior cingulate cortex of patients with late-life depression: A morphometric study. *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging, 194*, 184-189.
- Kim, J.-M., Stewart, R., Kim, S.-W., Yang, S.-J., Shin, I.-S., Kim, Y.-H., & Yoon, J.-S. (2007). Interactions between life sterssors and susceptibility genes (5-HTTLPR and BDNF) on depression in Korean elders. *Biological Psychiatry*, 62, 423-428.
- Kirkwood, T. B. L. (2008). A systematic look at an old problem. Nature, 451, 644-647.
- Klempin, F., & Kempermann, G. (2007). Adult hippocampal neurogenesis and aging. *European Archives* of *Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, *257*, 271-280.

- Kochan, N. A., Slavin, M. J., Brodaty, H., Crawford, J. D., Trollor, J. N., Draper, B., & Sachdev, P. S. (2010). Effect of different impairment criteria on prevalence of "objective" mild cognitive impairment in a community sample. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 18, 711-722.
- Köhler, S., Thomas, A. J., Lloyd, A., Barber, R., Almeida, O. P., & O'Brien, J. T. (2010). White matter hyperintensities, cortisol levels, brain atrophy and continuing cognitive deficits in late-life depression. *British Journal of Psychiatry, 196*, 143.
- Konnert, C., Dobson, K., & Stelmach, L. (2009). The prevention of depression in nursing home residents: A randomized clinical trial of cognitive–behavioral therapy. *Aging & Mental Health, 13*, 288-299.
- Kop, W. J., Gottdiener, J. S., Tangen, C. M., Fried, L. P., McBurnie, M. A., Walston, J., . . . Tracy, R. P. (2002). Inflammation and coagulation factors in persons >65 years of age with symptoms of depression but without evidence of myocardial ischemia. *American Journal of Cardiology*, *89*, 419-424.
- Kovács, G. L., Kishonti, J., Lissák, K., & Telegdy, G. (1977a). Dose-dependent dual effect of corticosterone on cerebral 5-HT metabolism. *Neurochemical Research*, 2, 311-322.
- Kovács, G. L., Telegdy, G., & Lissák, K. (1977b). Dose-dependent action of corticosteroids on brain serotonin content and passive avoidance behavior. *Hormones and Behavior, 8*, 155-165.
- Krishnan, K. R. R., Boyko, O. B., McDonald, W. M., Charles, H. C., Macfall, J. R., Tupler, L. A., & Upchurch, L. W. (1993). Magnetic-resonance morphometry: Image-analysis methodology development for affective disorder. *Depression*, 1, 159-171.
- Krishnan, K. R. R., Hays, J. C., & Blazer, D. G. (1997). MRI-defined vascular depression. American Journal of Psychiatry, 154, 497-501.
- Krishnan, K. R. R., Taylor, W. D., McQuoid, D. R., MacFall, J. R., Payne, M. E., Provenzale, J. M., & Steffens, D. C. (2004). Clinical characteristics of magnetic resonance imaging-defined subcortical ischemic depression. *Biological Psychiatry*, 55, 390-397.
- Krishnan, K. R. R., Tupler, L. A., Ritchie, J. C., Jr., McDonald, W. M., Knight, D. L., Nemeroff, C. B., & Carroll, B. J. (1996). Apolipoprotein Ε-ε4 frequency in geriatric depression. *Biological Psychiatry*, 40, 69-71.
- Kritz-Silverstein, D., Barrett-Connor, E., & Corbeau, C. (2001). Cross-sectional and prospective study of exercise and depressed mood in the elderly: The Rancho Bernado Study. *American Journal of Epidemiology, 153*, 596-603.
- Ku, P.-W., Fox, K. R., & Chen, L.-J. (2009). Physical activity and depressive symptoms in Taiwanese older adults: A seven-year follow-up study. *Preventive Medicine*, 48, 250-255.

- Kubzansky, L. D., Kawachi, I., Weiss, S. T., & Sparrow, D. (1998). Anxiety and coronary heart disease: A synthesis of epidemiological, psychological, and experimental evidence. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 20, 47-58.
- Kuch, K., & Cox, B. J. (1992). Symptoms of PTSD in 124 survivors of the Holocaust. American Journal of Psychiatry, 149, 337-340.
- Kumar, A., Bilker, W., Jin, Z., & Udupa, J. (2000). Atrophy and high intensity lesions. *Neuropsychopharmacology, 22*, 264-274.
- Kumar, A., Kepe, V., Barrio, J. R., Siddarth, P., Manoukian, V., Elderkin-Thompson, V., & Small, G. W. (2011). Protein binding in patients with late-life depression. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 68, 1143-1150.
- Kumar, A., Newberg, A., Alavi, A., Berlin, J., Smith, R., & Reivich, M. (1993). Regional cerebral glucose metabolism in late-life depression and Alzheimer disease: A preliminary positron emission tomography study. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 90*, 7019-7023.
- Kunugi, H., Hattori, M., Kato, T., Tatsumi, M., Sakai, T., Sasaki, T., . . . Nanko, S. (1997). Serotonin transporter gene polymorphisms: Ethnic difference and possible association with bipolar affective disorder. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 2, 457-462.
- Kuo, S. Y., Lin, K. M., Chen, C. Y., Chuang, Y. L., & Chen, W. J. (2011). Depression trajectories and obesity among the elderly in Taiwan. *Psychological Medicine*, 41, 1665-1676.
- Laborde-Lahoz, P., El-Gabalawy, R., Kinley, J., Kirwin, P. D., Sareen, J., & Pietrzak, R. H. (2015). Subsyndromal depression among older adults in the USA: Prevalence, comorbidity, and risk for newonset psychiatric disorders in late life. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 30*, 677-685.
- Lakhan, S. E., Vieira, K., & Hamlat, E. (2010). Biomarkers in psychiatry: Drawbacks and potential for misuse. *International Archives of Medicine*, *3*, 1.
- Lamers, F., Vogelzangs, N., Merikangas, K. R., de Jonge, P., Beekman, A. T. F., & Penninx, B. W. J. H.
 (2013). Evidence for a differential role of HPA-axis function, inflammation and metabolic syndrome in melancholic versus atypical depression. *Molecular Psychiatry*, *18*, 692-699.
- Lan, W.-H., Yang, A. C., Hwang, J.-P., Hong, C.-J., Liou, Y.-J., Yeh, H.-L., . . . Tsai, S.-J. (2012). Association of MTHFR C677T polymorphism with loneliness but not depression in cognitively normal elderly males. *Neuroscience Letters, 521*, 88-91.
- Landi, F., Onder, G., Cesari, M., Russo, A., Barillaro, C., & Bernabei, R. (2005). Pain and its relation to depressive symptoms in frail older people living in the community: An observational study. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management, 29*, 255-262.

- Laske, C., Banschbach, S., Stransky, E., Bosch, S., Straten, G., Machann, J., . . . Eschweiler, G. W. (2010). Exercise-induced normalization of decreased BDNF serum concentration in elderly women with remitted major depression. *International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology*, *13*, 595-602.
- Lavretsky, H., Ballmaier, M., Pham, D., Toga, A., & Kumar, A. (2007). Neuroanatomical characteristics of geriatric apathy and depression: A magnetic resonance imaging study. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 15, 386-394.
- Lavretsky, H., & Kumar, A. (2002). Clinically significant non-major depression: Old concepts, new insights. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 10*, 239-255.
- Lavretsky, H., Siddarth, P., Kepe, V., Ercoli, L. M., Miller, K. J., Burggren, A. C., . . . Small, G. W. (2009). Depression and anxiety symptoms are associated with cerebral FDDNP-PET binding in middle-aged and older nondemented adults. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *17*, 493-502.
- Lechevallier-Michel, N., Fabrigoule, C., Lafont, S., Letenneur, L., & Dartigues, J. F. (2004). Normes pour le MMSE, le test de rétention visuelle de Benton, le set test d'Isaacs, le sous-test des codes de la WAIS et le test de barrage de Zazzo chez des sujets âgés de 70 ans et plus: Données de la cohorte PAQUID. *Revue Neurologique, 160*, 1059-1070.
- Lee, K. S., Chung, J. H., Lee, K. H., Shin, M.-J., Oh, B. H., Lee, S. H., & Hong, C. H. (2009). Simultaneous measurement of 23 plasma cytokines in late-life depression. *Neurological Sciences, 30*, 435-438.
- Leentjens, A. F. G., Van den Akker, M., Metsemakers, J. F. M., Lousberg, R., & Verhey, F. R. J. (2003). Higher incidence of depression preceding the onset of Parkinson's disease: A register study. *Movement Disorders, 18*, 414-418.
- Lehmbeck, J. T., Brassen, S., Braus, D. F., & Weber-Fahr, W. (2008). Subgenual anterior cingulate cortex alterations in late-onset depression are related to "pessimistic thoughts". *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *16*, 248-249.
- Lenoir, H., Dufouil, C., Auriacombe, S., Lacombe, J. M., Dartigues, J. F., Ritchie, K., & Tzourio, C. (2011). Depression history, depressive symptoms, and incident dementia: The 3C Study. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease, 26*, 27-38.
- Lenze, E. J., Mulsant, B. H., Shear, M. K., Schulberg, H. C., Dew, M. A., Begley, A. E., . . . Reynolds, C. F. (2000). Comorbid anxiety disorders in depressed elderly patients. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 157, 722-728.
- Lesch, K.-P., Bengel, D., Heils, A., Sabol, S. Z., Greenberg, B. D., Petri, S., . . . Murphy, D. L. (1996). Association of anxiety-related traits with a polymorphism in the serotonin transporter gene regulatory region. *Science, 274*, 1527-1531.

- Lesch, K. P. (2004). Gene-environment interaction and the genetics of depression. *Journal of Psychiatry & Neuroscience, 29*, 174-184.
- Lesher, E. L., & Berryhill, J. S. (1994). Validation of the Geriatric Depression Scale-short form among inpatients. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *50*, 256-260.
- Lesser, I. M., Mena, I., Boone, K. B., Miller, B. L., Mehringer, C., & Wohl, M. (1994). Reduction of cerebral blood flow in older depressed patients. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *51*, 677-686.
- Leussis, M. P., Lawson, K., Stone, K., & Andersen, S. L. (2008). The enduring effects of an adolescent social stressor on synaptic density, part II: Poststress reversal of synaptic loss in the cortex by adinazolam and MK-801. *Synapse, 62*, 185-192.
- Leyhe, T., Reynolds, C. F., Melcher, T., Linnemann, C., Klöppel, S., Blennow, K., . . . Hampel, H. (2017). A common challenge in older adults: Classification, overlap, and therapy of depression and dementia. *Alzheimer's & Dementia, 13*, 59-71.
- Li, M., Zhang, X.-W., Hou, W.-S., & Tang, Z.-Y. (2015). Impact of depression on incident stroke: A metaanalysis. *International Journal of Cardiology, 180*, 103-110.
- Li, Y.-S., Meyer, J. S., & Thornby, J. (2001). Longitudinal follow-up of depressive symptoms among normal versus cognitively impaired elderly. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *16*, 718-727.
- Liao, D., Cooper, L., Cai, J., Toole, J., Bryan, N., Burke, G., . . . Heiss, G. (1997). The prevalence and severity of white matter lesions, their relationship with age, ethnicity, gender, and cardiovascular disease risk factors: The ARIC Study. *Neuroepidemiology, 16*, 149-162.
- Lim, H. K., Jung, W. S., Ahn, K. J., Won, W. Y., Hahn, C., Lee, S. Y., . . . Lee, C. U. (2012). Regional cortical thickness and subcortical volume changes are associated with cognitive impairments in the drug-naive patients with late-onset depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *37*, 838-849.
- Lima-Ojeda, J. M., Rupprecht, R., & Baghai, T. C. (2017). Neurobiology of depression: A neurodevelopmental approach. World Journal of Biological Psychiatry, 1-11.
- Lin, E., Hong, C. J., Hwang, J. P., Liou, Y. J., Yang, C. H., Cheng, D., & Tsai, S. J. (2009). Gene-gene interactions of the brain-derived neurotrophic-factor and neurotrophic tyrosine kinase receptor 2 genes in geriatric depression. *Rejuvenation Research*, *12*, 387-393.
- Lin, J. C., Karno, M. P., Grella, C. E., Warda, U., Liao, D. H., Hu, P., & Moore, A. A. (2011). Alcohol, tobacco, and non-medical drug use disorders in U.S. adults aged 65 and older: Data from the 2001-2002 national epidemiologic survey of alcohol and related conditions. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *19*, 292-299.

- Lindert, J., von Ehrenstein, O. S., Grashow, R., Gal, G., Braehler, E., & Weisskopf, M. G. (2014). Sexual and physical abuse in childhood is associated with depression and anxiety over the life course: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Public Health*, *59*, 359-372.
- Livingston, G., Blizard, B., & Mann, A. (1993). Does sleep disturbance predict depression in elderly people? A study in inner London. *British Journal of General Practice, 43*, 445-448.
- Livingston, G., Manela, M., & Katona, C. (1997). Cost of community care for older people. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *171*, 56-59.
- Lloyd, A. J., Ferrier, I. N., Barber, R., Gholkar, A., Young, A. H., & O'brien, J. T. (2004). Hippocampal volume change in depression: Late- and early-onset illness compared. *British Journal of Psychiatry, 184*, 488-495.
- Lockwood, K. A., Alexopoulos, G. S., Kakuma, T., & Van Gorp, W. G. (2000). Subtypes of cognitive impairment in depressed older adults. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 8*, 201-208.
- Lohmueller, K. E., Pearce, C. L., Pike, M., Lander, E. S., & Hirschhorn, J. N. (2003). Meta-analysis of genetic association studies supports a contribution of common variants to susceptibility to common disease. *Nature Genetics, 33*, 177-182.
- Lok, A., Bockting, C. L. H., Koeter, M. W. J., Snieder, H., Assies, J., Mocking, R. J. T., . . . Schene, A. H. (2013). Interaction between the MTHFR C677T polymorphism and traumatic childhood events predicts depression. *Translational Psychiatry*, *3*, e288.
- López-León, S., Janssens, A. C. J. W., Gonzalez-Zuloeta Ladd, A. M., Del-Favero, J., Claes, S. J., Oostra, B.
 A., & van Duijn, C. M. (2008). Meta-analyses of genetic studies on major depressive disorder.
 Molecular Psychiatry, 13, 772-785.
- López-León, S., Janssens, A. C. J. W., Hofman, A., Claes, S., Breteler, M. M. B., Tiemeier, H., & van Duijn,
 C. M. (2006). No association between the angiotensin-converting enzyme gene and major
 depression: A case-control study and meta-analysis. *Biological Psychiatry*, *16*, 225-226.
- Lopez, J. P., Mamdani, F., Labonte, B., Beaulieu, M. M., Yang, J. P., Berlim, M. T., . . . Turecki, G. (2012).
 Epigenetic regulation of BDNF expression according to antidepressant response. *Molecular Psychiatry, 18*, 398.
- Lozupone, M., Seripa, D., Stella, E., La Montagna, M., Solfrizzi, V., Quaranta, N., . . . Panza, F. (2017). Innovative biomarkers in psychiatric disorders: A major clinical challenge in psychiatry. *Expert Review of Proteomics, 14*, 809-824.
- Luber, M. P., Meyers, B. S., Williams-Russo, P. G., Hollenberg, J. P., DiDomenico, T. N., Charlson, M. E., & Alexopoulos, G. S. (2001). Depression and service utilization in elderly primary care patients. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *9*, 169-176.

- Lucas, M., Mekary, R., Pan, A., Mirzaei, F., O'Reilly, É. J., Willett, W. C., . . . Ascherio, A. (2011). Relation between clinical depression risk and physical activity and time spent watching television in older women: A 10-year prospective follow-up study. *American Journal of Epidemiology, 174*, 1017-1027.
- Luijendijk, H. J., van den Berg, J. F., Dekker, M. J., van Tuijl, H. R., Otte, W., Smit, F., . . . Tiemeier, H.
 (2008). Incidence and recurrence of late-life depression. *Archives of General Psychiatry, 65*, 1394-1401.
- Lupien, S. J., McEwen, B. S., Gunnar, M. R., & Heim, C. (2009). Effects of stress throughout the lifespan on the brain, behaviour and cognition. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *10*, 434.
- Luppa, M., Heinrich, S., Matschinger, H., Sandholzer, H., Angermeyer, M. C., König, H.-H., & Riedel-Heller, S. G. (2008). Direct costs associated with depression in old age in Germany. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 105*, 195-204.
- Luppa, M., Sikorski, C., Luck, T., Ehreke, L., Konnopka, A., Wiese, B., . . . Riedel-Heller, S. G. (2012). Ageand gender-specific prevalence of depression in latest-life – Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 136*, 212-221.
- Lyketsos, C. G., Lopez, O., Jones, B., Fitzpatrick, A. L., Breitner, J., & DeKosky, S. (2002). Prevalence of neuropsychiatric symptoms in dementia and mild cognitive impairment: Results from the cardiovascular health study. *JAMA*, *288*, 1475-1483.
- Lyness, J. M., Heo, M., Datto, C. J., Ten Have, T. R., Katz, I. R., Drayer, R., . . . Bruce, M. L. (2006). Outcomes of minor and subsyndromal depression among elderly patients in primary care settings. *Annals of Internal Medicine, 144*, 496-504.
- Lyness, J. M., Yu, Q., Tang, W., Tu, X., & Conwell, Y. (2009). Risks for depression onset in primary care elderly patients: Potential targets for preventive interventions. *American Journal of Psychiatry, 166*, 1375-1383.
- MacFall, J. R., Payne, M. E., Provenzale, J. E., & Krishnan, K. R. R. (2001). Medial orbital frontal lesions in late-onset depression. *Biological Psychiatry, 49*, 803-806.
- Mackin, R. S., Tosun, D., Mueller, S. G., Lee, J.-Y., Insel, P., Schuff, N., . . . Weiner, M. W. (2013). Patterns of reduced cortical thickness in late-life depression and relationship to psychotherapeutic response. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 21*, 794-802.
- MacQueen, G., & Frodl, T. (2010). The hippocampus in major depression: Evidence for the convergence of the bench and bedside in psychiatric research? *Molecular Psychiatry, 16*, 252.
- Maercker, A., Michael, T., Fehm, L., Becker, E. S., & Margraf, J. (2004). Age of traumatisation as a predictor of post-traumatic stress disorder or major depression in young women. *British Journal of Psychiatry, 184*, 482-487.

- Maes, M. (2011). Depression is an inflammatory disease, but cell-mediated immune activation is the key component of depression. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry, 35*, 664-675.
- Maj, M. (2005). 'Psychiatric comorbidity': An artefact of current diagnostic systems? *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 186, 182-184.
- Major Depressive Disorder Working Group of the Psychiatric GWAS Consortium. (2013). A megaanalysis of genome-wide association studies for major depressive disorder. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 18, 497-511.
- Mamun, A. A., Lawlor, D. A., O'Callaghan, M. J., Bor, W., Williams, G. M., & Najman, J. M. (2007). Does childhood sexual abuse predict young adult's BMI? A birth cohort study. *Obesity*, *15*, 2103-2110.
- Manganas, L. N., Zhang, X., Li, Y., Hazel, R. D., Smith, S. D., Wagshul, M. E., . . . Maletić-Savatić, M. (2007). Magnetic resonance spectroscopy identifies neural progenitor cells in the live human brain. *Science*, *318*, 980.
- Mantella, R. C., Butters, M. A., Amico, J. A., Mazumdar, S., Rollman, B. L., Begley, A. E., . . . Lenze, E. J. (2008). Salivary cortisol is associated with diagnosis and severity of late-life generalized anxiety disorder. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *33*, 773-781.
- Marano, C., Workman, C., Lyman, C., Narrow, T., Zhou, Y., Munro, C., . . . Smith, G. (2013). Cortical betaamyloid deposition in late-life depression. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 21*, S127.
- Marijnissen, R. M., Bus, B. A. A., Holewijn, S., Franke, B., Purandare, N., de Graaf, J., . . . Oude Voshaar, R.C. (2011). Depressive symptom clusters are differentially associated with general and visceral obesity.*Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 59*, 67-72.
- Marijnissen, R. M., Naudé, P. J. W., Comijs, H. C., Schoevers, R. A., & Oude Voshaar, R. C. (2014). Waist circumference and neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin in late-life depression. *Brain, Behavior,* and Immunity, 37, 231-239.
- Marijnissen, R. M., Smits, J. E. M. P., Schoevers, R. A., van den Brink, R. H. S., Holewijn, S., Franke, B., . . .
 Oude Voshaar, R. C. (2013). Association between metabolic syndrome and depressive symptom profiles—Sex-specific? *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *151*, 1138-1142.
- Martin, J., Cleak, J., Willis-Owen, S. A. G., Flint, J., & Shifman, S. (2007). Mapping regulatory variants for the serotonin transporter gene based on allelic expression imbalance. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 12, 421-422.
- Martínez-Cengotitabengoa, M., Carrascón, L., O'Brien, J., Díaz-Gutiérrez, M.-J., Bermúdez-Ampudia, C., Sanada, K., . . . González-Pinto, A. (2016). Peripheral inflammatory parameters in late-life depression: A systematic review. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 17*, 2022.

- Martinowich, K., Hattori, D., Wu, H., Fouse, S., He, F., Hu, Y., . . . Sun, Y. E. (2003). DNA methylationrelated chromatin remodeling in activity-dependent Bdnf gene regulation. *Science*, *302*, 890-893.
- Masliah, E., Dumaop, W., Galasko, D., & Desplats, P. (2013). Distinctive patterns of DNA methylation associated with Parkinson disease. *Epigenetics, 8*, 1030-1038.
- Mast, B. T., Neufeld, S., MacNeill, S. E., & Lichtenberg, P. A. (2004). Longitudinal support for the relationship between vascular risk factors and late-life depressive symptoms. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 12*, 93-101.
- Mather, K. A., Thalamuthu, A., Oldmeadow, C., Song, F., Armstrong, N. J., Poljak, A., . . . Sachdev, P. S. (2016). Genome-wide significant results identified for plasma apolipoprotein H levels in middle-aged and older adults. *Scientific Reports, 6*, 23675.
- Maunakea, A. K., Chepelev, I., Cui, K., & Zhao, K. (2013). Intragenic DNA methylation modulates alternative splicing by recruiting MeCP2 to promote exon recognition. *Cell Research, 23*, 1256-1269.
- Mavandadi, S., Ten Have, T. R., Katz, I. R., Durai, U. N. B., Krahn, D. D., Llorente, M. D., ... Oslin, D. W.
 (2007). Effect of depression treatment on depressive symptoms in older adulthood: The moderating role of pain. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *55*, 202-211.
- McCarthy, L. H., Bigal, M. E., Katz, M., Derby, C., & Lipton, R. B. (2009). Chronic pain and obesity in elderly people: Results from the Einstein Aging Study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 57*, 115-119.
- McDougall, F., & Brayne, C. (2007). Systematic review of the depressive symptoms associated with vascular conditions. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 104*, 25-35.
- McGue, M. (1992). When assessing twin concordance, use the probandwise not the pairwise rate. *Schizophrenia Bulletin, 18*, 171-176.
- McGue, M., & Christensen, K. (1997). Genetic and environmental contributions to depression symptomatology: Evidence from Danish twins 75 years of age and older. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology, 106*, 439-448.
- McLaren, M. E., Szymkowicz, S. M., O'Shea, A., Woods, A. J., Anton, S. D., & Dotson, V. M. (2017). Vertex-wise examination of depressive symptom dimensions and brain volumes in older adults. *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging, 260*, 70-75.
- Meeks, T. W., Dunn, L. B., Kim, D. S., Golshan, S., Sewell, D. D., Atkinson, J. H., & Lebowitz, B. D. (2008). Chronic pain and depression among geriatric psychiatry inpatients. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 23, 637-642.

- Meijer, O. C., & de Kloet, E. R. (1994). Corticosterone suppresses the expression of 5-HT1A receptor mRNA in rat dentate gyrus. *European Journal of Pharmacology: Molecular Pharmacology, 266*, 255-261.
- Meltzer, C. C., Price, J. C., Mathis, C. A., Butters, M. A., Ziolko, S. K., Moses-Kolko, E., . . . Reynolds, C. F. (2004). Serotonin 1A receptor binding and treatment response in late-life depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 29, 2258-2265.
- Meltzer, C. C., Price, J. C., Mathis, C. A., Greer, P. J., Cantwell, M. N., Houck, P. R., . . . Reynolds, C. F., III. (1999). PET imaging of serotonin type 2A receptors in late-life neuropsychiatric disorders. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *156*, 1871-1878.
- Mendelson, S. D., & McEwen, B. S. (1992a). Autoradiographic analyses of the effects of adrenalectomy and corticosterone on 5-HT1A and 5-HT1B receptors in the dorsal hippocampus and cortex of the rat. *Neuroendocrinology, 55*, 444-450.
- Mendelson, S. D., & McEwen, B. S. (1992b). Quantitative autoradiographic analyses of the time course and reversibility of corticosterone-induced decreases in binding at 5-HT1A receptors in rat forebrain. *Neuroendocrinology, 56*, 881-888.
- Mendes, D. C., Silva, T. F., Barros, L. d. O., de Oliveira, M. V. M., Vieira, L. T., Haikal, D. S. A., . . . De Paula, A. M. B. (2013). Analysis of the normative conditions of oral health, depression and serotonintransporter-linked promoter region polymorphisms in an elderly population. *Geriatrics & Gerontology International, 13*, 98-106.
- Menke, A., & Binder, E. B. (2014). Epigenetic alterations in depression and antidepressant treatment. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, *16*, 395-404.
- Messaoudi, M., Lalonde, R., Violle, N., Javelot, H., Desor, D., Nejdi, A., . . . Cazaubiel, J.-M. (2010).
 Assessment of psychotropic-like properties of a probiotic formulation (Lactobacillus helveticus
 R0052 and Bifidobacterium longum R0175) in rats and human subjects. *British Journal of Nutrition*, *105*, 755-764.
- Mettenburg, J. M., Benzinger, T. L., Shimony, J. S., Snyder, A. Z., & Sheline, Y. I. (2012). Diminished performance on neuropsychological testing in late life depression is correlated with microstructural white matter abnormalities. *NeuroImage*, *60*, 2182-2190.
- Mezuk, B., Eaton, W. W., Albrecht, S., & Golden, S. H. (2008). Depression and type 2 diabetes over the lifespan: A meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care, 31*, 2383-2390.
- Mezuk, B., Edwards, L., Lohman, M., Choi, M., & Lapane, K. (2012). Depression and frailty in later life: A synthetic review. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *27*, 879-892.

- Mezuk, B., Lohman, M., Dumenci, L., & Lapane, K. L. (2013). Are depression and frailty overlapping syndromes in mid- and late-life? A latent variable analysis. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 21, 560-569.
- Michaelovsky, E., Frisch, A., Rockah, R., Peleg, L., Magal, N., Shohat, M., & Weizman, R. (1999). A novel allele in the promoter region of the human serotonin transporter gene. *Molecular Psychiatry, 4*, 97-99.
- Milaneschi, Y., Corsi, A. M., Penninx, B. W., Bandinelli, S., Guralnik, J. M., & Ferrucci, L. (2009). Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist and incident depressive symptoms over 6 years in older persons: The InCHIANTI Study. *Biological Psychiatry*, *65*, 973-978.
- Miller, A. H., Maletic, V., & Raison, C. L. (2009a). Inflammation and its discontents: The role of cytokines in the pathophysiology of major depression. *Biological Psychiatry, 65*, 732-741.
- Miller, G. E., Chen, E., Fok, A. K., Walker, H., Lim, A., Nicholls, E. F., . . . Kobor, M. S. (2009b). Low earlylife social class leaves a biological residue manifested by decreased glucocorticoid and increased proinflammatory signaling. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 106*, 14716-14721.
- Miró, J., Paredes, S., Rull, M., Queral, R., Miralles, R., Nieto, R., . . . Baos, J. (2007). Pain in older adults: A prevalence study in the Mediterranean region of Catalonia. *European Journal of Pain, 11*, 83-83.
- Mitchell, A. J., Rao, S., & Vaze, A. (2010). Do primary care physicians have particular difficulty identifying late-life depression? A meta-analysis stratified by age. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics, 79*, 285-294.
- Mitchell, A. J., Vaze, A., & Rao, S. (2009). Clinical diagnosis of depression in primary care: a meta-analysis. *Lancet, 374*, 609-619.
- Miyashita, A., Koike, A., Jun, G., Wang, L.-S., Takahashi, S., Matsubara, E., . . . Kuwano, R. (2013). SORL1 is genetically associated with late-onset Alzheimer's disease in Japanese, Koreans and Caucasians. *PLOS ONE, 8*, e58618.
- Miyata, M., Mandai, K., Maruo, T., Sato, J., Shiotani, H., Kaito, A., . . . Rikitake, Y. (2016). Localization of nectin-2δ at perivascular astrocytic endfoot processes and degeneration of astrocytes and neurons in nectin-2 knockout mouse brain. *Brain Research*, *1649*, 90-101.
- Moore, E. E., Romaniuk, H., Olsson, C. A., Jayasinghe, Y., Carlin, J. B., & Patton, G. C. (2010). The prevalence of childhood sexual abuse and adolescent unwanted sexual contact among boys and girls living in Victoria, Australia. *Child Abuse & Neglect, 34*, 379-385.
- Moore, L. D., Le, T., & Fan, G. (2013). DNA methylation and its basic function. *Neuropsychopharmacology, 38*, 23-38.

- Morón, J. A., Zakharova, I., Ferrer, J. V., Merrill, G. A., Hope, B., Lafer, E. M., . . . Shippenberg, T. S. (2003). Mitogen-activated protein kinase regulates dopamine transporter surface expression and dopamine transport capacity. *Journal of Neuroscience, 23*, 8480-8488.
- Morrison, M. F., Redei, E., TenHave, T., Parmelee, P., Boyce, A. A., Sinha, P. S., & Katz, I. R. (2000). Dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate and psychiatric measures in a frail, elderly residential care population. *Biological Psychiatry*, *47*, 144-150.
- Morse, J. Q., & Lynch, T. R. (2004). A preliminary investigation of self-reported personality disorders in late life: Prevalence, predictors of depressive severity, and clinical correlates. *Aging & Mental Health, 8*, 307-315.
- Mourao, R. J., Mansur, G., Malloy-Diniz, L. F., Castro Costa, E., & Diniz, B. S. (2016). Depressive symptoms increase the risk of progression to dementia in subjects with mild cognitive impairment: systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 31*, 905-911.
- Mouzos, J., & Makkai, T. (2004). *Women's experiences of male violence: Findings from the Australian component of the International Violence Against Women Survey (IVAWS)*. Canberra: Australian Institute of Criminology.
- Mrazek, P., & Haggerty, R. (Eds.). (1994). *Reducing risks for mental disorders: Frontiers for preventive intervention research*. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Mulsant, B. H., Reynolds, C. F., Shear, M. K., Sweet, R. A., & Miller, M. (1996). Comorbid anxiety disorders in late-life depression. *Anxiety*, *2*, 242-247.
- Munafò, M. R., Durrant, C., Lewis, G., & Flint, J. (2009). Gene × environment interactions at the serotonin transporter locus. *Biological Psychiatry, 65*, 211-219.
- Munafò, M. R., & Flint, J. (2004). Meta-analysis of genetic association studies. *Trends in Genetics, 20*, 439-444.
- Murgatroyd, C., Patchev, A. V., Wu, Y., Micale, V., Bockmuhl, Y., Fischer, D., . . . Spengler, D. (2009). Dynamic DNA methylation programs persistent adverse effects of early-life stress. *Nature Neuroscience*, *12*, 1559-1566.
- Murgatroyd, C., & Spengler, D. (2011). Epigenetic programming of the HPA axis: Early life decides. *Stress, 14*, 581-589.
- Musliner, K. L., Seifuddin, F., Judy, J. A., Pirooznia, M., Goes, F. S., & Zandi, P. P. (2014). Polygenic risk, stressful life events and depressive symptoms in older adults: A polygenic score analysis. *Psychological Medicine*, 45, 1709-1720.

- Naarding, P., Schoevers, R. A., Janzing, J. G. E., Jonker, C., Koudstaal, P. J., & Beekman, A. T. F. (2005). A study on symptom profiles of late-life depression: The influence of vascular, degenerative and inflammatory risk-indicators. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 88*, 155-162.
- Naarding, P., Veereschild, M., Bremmer, M., Deeg, D., & Beekman, A. T. F. (2009). The symptom profile of vascular depression. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *24*, 965-969.
- Naismith, S. L., Hickie, I. B., Turner, K., Little, C. L., Winter, V., Ward, P. B., . . . Parker, G. (2003). Neuropsychological performance in patients with depression is associated with clinical, etiological and genetic risk factors. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology, 25*, 866-877.
- Naismith, S. L., Norrie, L. M., Mowszowski, L., & Hickie, I. B. (2012). The neurobiology of depression in later-life: Clinical, neuropsychological, neuroimaging and pathophysiological features. *Progress in Neurobiology*, *98*, 99-143.
- Naismith, S. L., Rogers, N. L., Lewis, S. J. G., Terpening, Z., Ip, T., Diamond, K., . . . Hickie, I. B. (2011). Sleep disturbance relates to neuropsychological functioning in late-life depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *132*, 139-145.
- Najman, J. M., Dunne, M. P., Purdie, D. M., Boyle, F. M., & Coxeter, P. D. (2005). Sexual abuse in childhood and sexual dysfunction in adulthood: An Australian population-based study. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 34, 517-526.
- Nakamura, M., Ueno, S., Sano, A., & Tanabe, H. (2000). The human serotonin transporter gene linked polymorphism (5-HTTLPR) shows ten novel allelic variants. *Molecular Psychiatry, 5*, 32-38.
- Nanni, V., Uher, R., & Danese, A. (2012). Childhood maltreatment predicts unfavorable course of illness and treatment outcome in depression: A meta-analysis. *American Journal of Psychiatry, 169*, 141-151.
- Naseribafrouei, A., Hestad, K., Avershina, E., Sekelja, M., Linløkken, A., Wilson, R., & Rudi, K. (2014). Correlation between the human fecal microbiota and depression. *Neurogastroenterology & Motility, 26*, 1155-1162.
- Naudé, P. J. W., Eisel, U. L. M., Comijs, H. C., Groenewold, N. A., De Deyn, P. P., Bosker, F. J., . . . Oude Voshaar, R. C. (2013). Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin: A novel inflammatory marker associated with late-life depression. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 75, 444-450.
- Navarro, V. c., Gastó, C., Lomeña, F., Mateos, J. J., & Marcos, T. (2001). Frontal cerebral perfusion dysfunction in elderly late-onset major depression assessed by 99MTC-HMPAO SPECT. *NeuroImage*, 14, 202-205.

- Neale, M. C., Hunter, M. D., Pritikin, J. N., Zahery, M., Brick, T. R., Kirkpatrick, R. M., . . . Boker, S. M. (2016). OpenMx 2.0: Extended structural equation and statistical modeling. *Psychometrika*, *81*, 535-549.
- Nebes, R. D., Butters, M. A., Mulsant, B. H., Pollock, B. G., Zmuda, M. D., Houck, P. R., & Reynolds, C. F. (2000). Decreased working memory and processing speed mediate cognitive impairment in geriatric depression. *Psychological Medicine*, *30*, 679-691.
- Nebes, R. D., Pollock, B. G., Houck, P. R., Butters, M. A., Mulsant, B. H., Zmuda, M. D., & Reynolds, C. F.,
 III. (2003). Persistence of cognitive impairment in geriatric patients following antidepressant
 treatment: a randomized, double-blind clinical trial with nortriptyline and paroxetine. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *37*, 99-108.
- Nebes, R. D., Vora, I. J., Meltzer, C. C., Fukui, M. B., Williams, R. L., Kamboh, M. I., . . . Reynolds, C. F., III. (2001). Relationship of deep white matter hyperintensities and apolipoprotein E genotype to depressive symptoms in older adults without clinical depression. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *158*, 878-884.
- Nelson, H. E., & Willison, J. (1991). *National Adult Reading Test (NART): Test manual* (2nd ed.). Windsor, UK: NFER Nelson.
- Nelson, J., Klumparendt, A., Doebler, P., & Ehring, T. (2017). Childhood maltreatment and characteristics of adult depression: Meta-analysis. *British Journal of Psychiatry, 210*, 96-104.
- Nelson, J. C., Delucchi, K., & Schneider, L. S. (2008). Efficacy of second generation antidepressants in latelife depression: A meta-analysis of the evidence. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 16, 558-567.
- Nelson, J. C., Delucchi, K., & Schneider, L. S. (2009). Anxiety does not predict response to antidepressant treatment in late life depression: Results of a meta-analysis. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 24*, 539-544.
- Neri, F., Rapelli, S., Krepelova, A., Incarnato, D., Parlato, C., Basile, G., . . . Oliviero, S. (2017). Intragenic DNA methylation prevents spurious transcription initiation. *Nature, 543*, 72.
- Newman, S. C. (1999). The prevalence of depression in Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia in a population sample. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 52*, 169-176.
- Ng, F., Berk, M., Dean, O., & Bush, A. I. (2008). Oxidative stress in psychiatric disorders: Evidence base and therapeutic implications. *International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology*, *11*, 851-876.
- Nielsen, J. V., Blom, J. B., Noraberg, J., & Jensen, N. A. (2010). Zbtb20-induced CA1 pyramidal neuron development and area enlargement in the cerebral midline cortex of mice. *Cerebral Cortex, 20*, 1904-1914.

- Nielsen, J. V., Nielsen, F. H., Ismail, R., Noraberg, J., & Jensen, N. A. (2007). Hippocampus-like corticoneurogenesis induced by two isoforms of the BTB-zinc finger gene Zbtb20 in mice. *Development*, 134, 1133-1140.
- Nielsen, J. V., Thomassen, M., Møllgård, K., Noraberg, J., & Jensen, N. A. (2014). Zbtb20 defines a hippocampal neuronal identity through direct repression of genes that control projection neuron development in the isocortex. *Cerebral Cortex*, 24, 1216-1229.
- Nilsson, F. M., Kessing, L. V., Sørensen, T. M., Andersen, P. K., & Bolwig, T. G. (2002). Major depressive disorder in Parkinson's disease: A register-based study. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 106, 202-211.
- Nobler, M. S., Roose, S. P., Prohovnik, I., Moeller, J. R., Louie, J., Van Heertum, R. L., & Sackeim, H. A. (2000). Regional cerebral blood flow in mood disorders, V.: Effects of antidepressant medication in late-life depression. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *8*, 289-296.
- Nobuhara, K., Okugawa, G., Sugimoto, T., Minami, T., Tamagaki, C., Takase, K., . . . Kinoshita, T. (2006). Frontal white matter anisotropy and symptom severity of late-life depression: A magnetic resonance diffusion tensor imaging study. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry, 77*, 120-122.
- Norman, R. E., Byambaa, M., De, R., Butchart, A., Scott, J., & Vos, T. (2012). The long-term health consequences of child physical abuse, emotional abuse, and neglect: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLOS Medicine*, *9*, e1001349.
- Nose, M., Kodama, C., Ikejima, C., Mizukami, K., Matsuzaki, A., Tanaka, S., . . . Asada, T. (2013). ApoE4 is not associated with depression when mild cognitive impairment is considered. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 28*, 155-163.
- Nuffield Council on Bioethics. (1998). *Mental disorders and genetics: The ethical context*. London, UK: Nuffield Council on Bioethics.
- O'Brien, J., Desmond, P., Ames, D., Schweitzer, I., Harrigan, S., & Tress, B. (1996a). A magnetic resonance imaging study of white matter lesions in depression and Alzheimer's disease. *British Journal of Psychiatry, 168*, 477-485.
- O'Brien, J. T., Ames, D., & Schwietzer, I. (1996b). White matter changes in depression and Alzheimer's disease: A review of magnetic resonance imaging studies. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *11*, 681-694.
- O'Donovan, M. C. (2015). What have we learned from the Psychiatric Genomics Consortium. *World Psychiatry*, *14*, 291-293.
- Oh, J. E., Chambwe, N., Klein, S., Gal, J., Andrews, S., Gleason, G., . . . Toth, M. (2013). Differential gene body methylation and reduced expression of cell adhesion and neurotransmitter receptor genes in adverse maternal environment. *Translational Psychiatry, 3*, e218.

- Okereke, O. I. (2015). Selective and universal prevention of late-life depression. In O. I. Okereke (Ed.), *Prevention of late-life depression: Current clinical challenges and priorities* (pp. 113-133). Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Olbert, C. M., Rasmussen, A., Gala, G. J., & Tupler, L. A. (2016). Treatment outcome variation between depression symptom combinations in the STAR*D study. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 201*, 1-7.
- Oldehinkel, A. J., Ormel, J., Brilman, E. I., & van den Berg, M. D. (2003). Psychosocial and vascular risk factors of depression in later life. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 74*, 237-246.
- Oldehinkel, A. J., van den Berg, M. D., Flentge, F., Bouhuys, A. L., ter Horst, G. J., & Ormel, J. (2001). Urinary free cortisol excretion in elderly persons with minor and major depression. *Psychiatry Research, 104*, 39-47.
- Olson, A. K., Eadie, B. D., Ernst, C., & Christie, B. R. (2006). Environmental enrichment and voluntary exercise massively increase neurogenesis in the adult hippocampus via dissociable pathways. *Hippocampus, 16*, 250-260.
- Ownby, R. L., Crocco, E., Acevedo, A., John, V., & Loewenstein, D. (2006). Depression and risk for alzheimer disease: Systematic review, meta-analysis, and metaregression analysis. *Archives of General Psychiatry, 63*, 530-538.
- Palta, P., Samuel, L. J., Miller, E. R., 3rd, & Szanton, S. L. (2014). Depression and oxidative stress: Results from a meta-analysis of observational studies. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, *76*, 12-19.
- Pan, A., Lucas, M., Sun, Q., van Dam, R. M., Franco, O. H., Manson, J. E., . . . Hu, F. B. (2010).
 Bidirectional association between depression and type 2 diabetes mellitus in women. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *170*, 1884-1891.
- Pan, A., Sun, Q., Okereke, O. I., Rexrode, K. M., & Hu, F. B. (2011). Depression and risk of stroke morbidity and mortality: A meta-analysis and systematic review. *JAMA*, *306*, 1241-1249.
- Pan, C.-C., McQuoid, D. R., Taylor, W. D., Payne, M. E., Ashley-Koch, A., & Steffens, D. C. (2009). Association analysis of the COMT/ MTHFR genes and geriatric depression: An MRI study of the putamen. *International journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 24, 847-855.
- Pantel, J., Schröder, J., Essig, M., Popp, D., Dech, H., Knopp, M. V., . . . Friedlinger, M. (1997). Quantitative magnetic resonance imaging in geriatric depression and primary degenerative dementia. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 42*, 69-83.
- Papassotiropoulos, A., Bagli, M., Jessen, F., Rao, M. L., Schwab, S. G., & Heun, R. (1999). Early-onset and late-onset depression are independent of the genetic polymorphism of apolipoprotein E. *Dementia* and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders, 10, 258-261.

- Pappata, S., Levasseur, M., Gunn, R. N., Myers, R., Crouzel, C., Syrota, A., . . . Banati, R. B. (2000). Thalamic microglial activation in ischemic stroke detected in vivo by PET and [11C]PK11195. *Neurology, 55*, 1052-1054.
- Park, J. H., Lee, S. B., Lee, T. J., Lee, D. Y., Jhoo, J. H., Youn, J. C., . . . Kim, K. W. (2007). Depressio in vascular dementia is quantitatively and qualitatively different from depression in Alzheimer's disease. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders, 23*, 67-73.
- Pei, Y., Smith, A. K., Wang, Y., Pan, Y., Yang, J., Chen, Q., . . . Ma, X. (2012). The brain-derived neurotrophic-factor (BDNF) val66met polymorphism is associated with geriatric depression: A meta-analysis. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part B: Neuropsychiatric Genetics, 159B*, 560-566.
- Penninx, B. H., Geerlings, S. W., Deeg, D. H., van Eijk, J. M., van Tilburg, W., & Beekman, A. F. (1999). Minor and major depression and the risk of death in older persons. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 56, 889-895.
- Penninx, B. W. J. H., Beekman, A. T. F., Corsi, A. M., Bremmer, M., Hoogendijk, W. J., Guralnik, J. M., . . . Bandinelli, S. (2007). Late-life depressive symptoms are associated with both hyperactivity and hypoactivity of the hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal axis. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 15, 522-529.
- Penninx, B. W. J. H., Kritchevsky, S. B., Yaffe, K., Newman, A. B., Simonsick, E. M., Rubin, S., . . . Pahor, M. (2003). Inflammatory markers and depressed mood in older persons: Results from the Health, Aging and Body Composition Study. *Biological Psychiatry*, 54, 566-572.
- Penninx, B. W. J. H., Milaneschi, Y., Lamers, F., & Vogelzangs, N. (2013). Understanding the somatic consequences of depression: Biological mechanisms and the role of depression symptom profile. *BMC Medicine*, 11, 129.
- Pereira, P. A., Bicalho, M. A. C., de Moraes, E. N., Malloy-Diniz, L., Sguizzato Bozzi, I. C. R., Nicolato, R., . . . Romano-Silva, M. A. (2014). Genetic variant of AKT1 and AKTIP associated with late-onset depression in a Brazilian population. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 29, 399-405.
- Pereira, P. d. A., Romano-Silva, M. A., Bicalho, M. A. C., De Marco, L., Correa, H., de Campos, S. B., . . . de Miranda, D. M. (2011). Association between tryptophan hydroxylase-2 gene and late-onset depression. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 19, 825-829.
- Pérez-Palma, E., Bustos, B. I., Villamán, C. F., Alarcón, M. A., Avila, M. E., Ugarte, G. D., . . . the, N. I. A. L.
 N. F. S. G. (2014). Overrepresentation of glutamate signaling in Alzheimer's disease: Network-based pathway enrichment using meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies. *PLOS ONE*, *9*, e95413.

- Petersson, S., Mathillas, J., Wallin, K., Olofsson, B., Allard, P., & Gustafson, Y. (2014). Risk factors for depressive disorders in very old age: a population-based cohort study with a 5-year follow-up. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 49, 831-839.
- Phelan, E. A., & Larson, E. B. (2002). "Successful aging" Where next? *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 50, 1306-1308.
- Pigeon, W. R., Hegel, M., Unutzer, J., Fan, M. Y., Sateia, M. J., Lyness, J. M., . . . Perlis, M. L. (2008). Is insomnia a perpetuating factor for late-life depression in the IMPACT cohort? *Sleep*, *31*, 481-488.
- Pimontel, M. A., Rindskopf, D., Rutherford, B. R., Brown, P. J., Roose, S. P., & Sneed, J. R. (2016). A metaanalysis of executive dysfunction and antidepressant treatment response in late-life depression. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 24*, 31-41.
- Pinto, J. V., Moulin, T. C., & Amaral, O. B. (2017). On the transdiagnostic nature of peripheral biomarkers in major psychiatric disorders: A systematic review. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 83*, 97-108.
- Polyakova, M., Sonnabend, N., Sander, C., Mergl, R., Schroeter, M. L., Schroeder, J., & Schönknecht, P. (2014). Prevalence of minor depression in elderly persons with and without mild cognitive impairment: A systematic review. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 152–154, 28-38.
- Porcelli, S., Fabbri, C., & Serretti, A. (2012). Meta-analysis of serotonin transporter gene promoter polymorphism (5-HTTLPR) association with antidepressant efficacy. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 22, 239-258.
- Pouwer, F., Beekman, A. T. F., Nijpels, G., Dekker, J. M., Snoek, F. J., Kostense, P. J., . . . Deeg, D. J. H. (2003). Rates and risks for co-morbid depression in patients with Type 2 diabetes mellitus: Results from a community-based study. *Diabetologia, 46*, 892-898.
- Price-Robertson, R., Smart, D., & Bromfield, L. (2010). Family is for life: How childhood experiences within the family help or hinder the lives of young adults. *Family Matters*, *85*, 7-17.
- Price, R. B., Eldreth, D. A., & Mohlman, J. (2011). Deficient prefrontal attentional control in late-life generalized anxiety disorder: an fMRI investigation. *Translational Psychiatry*, *1*, e46.
- Prince, M. J., Harwood, R. H., Thomas, A., & Mann, A. H. (1998). A prospective population-based cohort study of the effects of disablement and social milieu on the onset and maintenance of late-life depression. The Gospel Oak Project VII. *Psychological Medicine, 28*, 337-350.
- Psaty, B. M., Donnell, C. J., Gudnason, V., Lunetta, K. L., Folsom, A. R., Rotter, J. I., . . . Boerwinkle, E. (2009). Cohorts for Heart and Aging Research in Genomic Epidemiology (CHARGE) Consortium. *Circulation: Cardiovascular Genetics, 2*, 73.

R Core Team (2014). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing.

Radloff, L. S. (1977). The CES-D Scale. Applied Psychological Measurement, 1, 385-401.

- Rafanelli, C., Milaneschi, Y., Roncuzzi, R., & Pancaldi, L. G. (2010). Dysthymia before myocardial infarction as a cardiac risk factor at 2.5-year follow-up. *Psychosomatics*, *51*, 8-13.
- Rajkowska, G., Miguel-Hidalgo, J. J., Dubey, P., Stockmeier, C. A., & Krishnan, K. R. R. (2005). Prominent reduction in pyramidal neurons density in the orbitofrontal cortex of elderly depressed patients. *Biological Psychiatry, 58*, 297-306.
- Reeve, R., & van Gool, K. (2013). Modelling the relationship between child abuse and long-term health care costs and wellbeing: Results from an Australian community-based survey. *Economic Record, 89*, 300-318.
- Reijnders, J. S. A. M., Ehrt, U., Weber, W. E. J., Aarsland, D., & Leentjens, A. F. G. (2008). A systematic review of prevalence studies of depression in Parkinson's disease. *Movement Disorders, 23*, 183-189.
- Ren, A., Zhang, H., Xie, Z., Ma, X., Ji, W., He, D. Z. Z., . . . Zhang, W. J. (2012). Regulation of hippocampus-dependent memory by the zinc finger protein Zbtb20 in mature CA1 neurons. *Journal* of Physiology, 590, 4917-4932.
- Reppermund, S., Zhuang, L., Wen, W., Slavin, M. J., Trollor, J. N., Brodaty, H., & Sachdev, P. S. (2014).
 White matter integrity and late-life depression in community-dwelling individuals: Diffusion tensor imaging study using tract-based spatial statistics. *British Journal of Psychiatry*.
- Reynolds, C. F., Cuijpers, P., Patel, V., Cohen, A., Dias, A., Chowdhary, N., . . . Albert, S. M. (2012). Early intervention to reduce the global health and economic burden of major depression in older adults. *Annual Review of Public Health, 33*, 123-135.
- Ripke, S., O'Dushlaine, C., Chambert, K., Moran, J. L., Kahler, A. K., Akterin, S., . . . Sullivan, P. F. (2013). Genome-wide association analysis identifies 13 new risk loci for schizophrenia. *Nature Genetics, 45*, 1150-1159.
- Risch, N., Burchard, E., Ziv, E., & Tang, H. (2002). Categorization of humans in biomedical research: genes, race and disease. *Genome Biology, 3*, comment2007.2001.
- Risch, N., Herrell, R., Lehner, T., Liang, K.-Y., Eaves, L., Hoh, J., . . . Merikangas, K. R. (2009). Interaction between the serotonin transporter gene (5-HTTLPR), stressful life events, and risk of depression: A meta-analysis. *JAMA*, *301*, 2462-2471.
- Ritchie, K., Jaussent, I., Stewart, R., Dupuy, A.-M., Courtet, P., Ancelin, M.-L., & Malafosse, A. (2009). Association of adverse childhood environment and 5-HTTLPR genotype with late-life depression. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry, 70*, 1281-1288.

- Roberts, R. E., Deleger, S., Strawbridge, W. J., & Kaplan, G. A. (2003). Prospective association between obesity and depression: Evidence from the Alameda County Study. *International Journal of Obesity* and Related Metabolic Disorders, 27, 514-521.
- Roberts, R. E., Shema, S. J., Kaplan, G. A., & Strawbridge, W. J. (2000). Sleep complaints and depression in an aging cohort: A prospective perspective. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 157, 81-88.
- Robinson, R. G., Jorge, R. E., Moser, D. J., Acion, L., Solodkin, A., Small, S. L., . . . Arndt, S. (2008).
 Escitalopram and problem-solving therapy for prevention of poststroke depression: A randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*, *299*, 2391-2400.
- Robinson, S., Rapaport-Bar-Sever, M., & Rapaport, J. (1994). The present state of people who survived the holocaust as children. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *89*, 242-245.
- Robinson, S., Rapaport, J., Durst, R., Rapaport, M., Rosca, P., Metzer, S., & Zilberman, L. (1990). The late effects of Nazi persecution among elderly Holocaust survivors. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 82, 311-315.
- Rodda, J., Walker, Z., & Carter, J. (2011). Depression in older adults. BMJ, 343.
- Rodríguez-Mañas, L., Féart, C., Mann, G., Viña, J., Chatterji, S., Chodzko-Zajko, W., . . . on behalf of the FOD-CC group. (2013). Searching for an operational definition of frailty: A Delphi method based consensus statement. The Frailty Operative Definition-Consensus Conference Project. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 68*, 62-67.
- Roest, A. M., Martens, E. J., de Jonge, P., & Denollet, J. (2010). Anxiety and risk of incident coronary heart disease: A meta-analysis. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 56*, 38-46.
- Romanelli, J., Fauerbach, J. A., Bush, D. E., & Ziegelstein, R. C. (2002). The significance of depression in older patients after myocardial infarction. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 50*, 817-822.
- Rosenberg, D., Depp, C. A., Vahia, I. V., Reichstadt, J., Palmer, B. W., Kerr, J., . . . Jeste, D. V. (2010).
 Exergames for subsyndromal depression in older adults: A pilot study of a novel intervention. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 18, 221-226.
- Rosenman, S., & Rodgers, B. (2004). Childhood adversity in an Australian population. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 39*, 695-702.
- Roy, M. A., Neale, M. C., Pedersen, N. L., Mathé, A. A., & Kendler, K. S. (2009). A twin study of generalized anxiety disorder and major depression. *Psychological Medicine*, 25, 1037-1049.
- Royall, D. R., & Palmer, R. F. (2013). Alzheimer's disease pathology does not mediate the association between depressive symptoms and subsequent cognitive decline. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 9, 318-325.

- Rueger, M. A., Backes, H., Walberer, M., Neumaier, B., Ullrich, R., Simard, M.-L., . . . Schroeter, M. (2010). Noninvasive imaging of endogenous neural stem cell mobilization in vivo using positron emission tomography. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *30*, 6454.
- Rugulies, R. (2002). Depression as a predictor for coronary heart disease: A review and meta-analysis1. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 23*, 51-61.
- Ryan, S. M., & Nolan, Y. M. (2016). Neuroinflammation negatively affects adult hippocampal neurogenesis and cognition: Can exercise compensate? *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 61*, 121-131.
- Sabunciyan, S., Aryee, M. J., Irizarry, R. A., Rongione, M., Webster, M. J., Kaufman, W. E., . . . Consortium,G. (2012). Genome-wide DNA methylation scan in major depressive disorder. *PLOS ONE*, *7*, e34451.
- Sachdev, P. S., Brodaty, H., Reppermund, S., Kochan, N. A., Trollor, J. N., Draper, B., . . . Lux, O. (2010). The Sydney Memory and Ageing Study (MAS): Methodology and baseline medical and neuropsychiatric characteristics of an elderly epidemiological non-demented cohort of Australians aged 70–90 years. *International Psychogeriatrics, 22*, 1248-1264.
- Sachdev, P. S., Lammel, A., Trollor, J. N., Lee, T., Wright, M. J., Ames, D., . . . Schofield, P. R. (2009). A comprehensive neuropsychiatric study of elderly twins: The Older Australian Twins Study. *Twin Research and Human Genetics*, *12*, 573-582.
- Sachs-Ericsson, N., Burns, A. B., Gordon, K. H., Eckel, L. A., Wonderlich, S. A., Crosby, R. D., & Blazer, D. G. (2007). Body mass index and depressive symptoms in older adults: The moderating roles of race, sex, and socioeconomic status. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *15*, 815-825.
- Salminen, M., Isoaho, R., Vahlberg, T., Ojanlatva, A., & Kivelä, S.-L. (2005). Effects of a health advocacy, counselling, and activation programme on depressive symptoms in older coronary heart disease patients. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 20, 552-558.
- Salum, G. A., Polanczyk, G. V., Miguel, E. C., & Rohde, L. A. (2010). Effects of childhood development on late-life mental disorders. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 23, 498-503.
- Sánchez-Villegas, A., Martínez-González, M. A., Estruch, R., Salas-Salvadó, J., Corella, D., Covas, M. I., . . . Serra-Majem, L. (2013). Mediterranean dietary pattern and depression: The PREDIMED randomized trial. *BMC Medicine*, *11*, 208.
- Sandoval, J., Heyn, H., Moran, S., Serra-Musach, J., Pujana, M. A., Bibikova, M., & Esteller, M. (2011). Validation of a DNA methylation microarray for 450,000 CpG sites in the human genome. *Epigenetics*, *6*, 692-702.
- Santor, D. A., Gregus, M., & Welch, A. (2006). Eight Decades of Measurement in Depression. Measurement: Interdisciplinary Research and Perspectives, 4, 135-155.

- Santos, M., Gold, G., Kövari, E., Herrmann, F. R., Hof, P. R., Bouras, C., & Giannakopoulos, P. (2010). Neuropathological analysis of lacunes and microvascular lesions in late-onset depression. *Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology, 36*, 661-672.
- Sapolsky, R. M. (2000). Glucocorticoids and hippocampal atrophy in neuropsychiatric disorders. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *57*, 925-935.
- Sapolsky, R. M., Krey, L. C., & McEwen, B. S. (1986). The neuroendocrinology of stress and aging: The glucocorticoid cascade hypothesis. *Endocrine Reviews*, *7*, 284-301.
- Saunders, P. A., Copeland, J. R., Dewey, M. E., Davidson, I. A., McWilliam, C., Sharma, V., & Sullivan, C. (1991). Heavy drinking as a risk factor for depression and dementia in elderly men. Findings from the Liverpool Longitudinal Community Study. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 159, 213-216.
- Scarr, E., Millan, M. J., Bahn, S., Bertolino, A., Turck, C. W., Kapur, S., . . . Dean, B. (2015). Biomarkers for psychiatry: The journey from fantasy to fact, a report of the 2013 CINP think tank. *International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology, 18*, pyv042-pyv042.
- Schahab, S., Heun, R., Schmitz, S., Maier, W., & Kolsch, H. (2006). Association of polymorphism in the transcription factor LBP-1c/CP2/LSF gene with Alzheimer's disease and major depression. *Dementia* and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders, 22, 95-98.
- Scheltens, P., Barkhof, F., Leys, D., Pruvo, J. P., Nauta, J. J. P., Vermersch, P., . . . Valk, J. (1993). A semiquantative rating scale for the assessment of signal hyperintensities on magnetic resonance imaging. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences, 114*, 7-12.
- Scherrer, J. F., Xian, H., Bucholz, K. K., Eisen, S. A., Lyons, M. J., Goldberg, J., . . . True, W. R. (2003). A twin study of depression symptoms, hypertension, and heart disease in middle-aged men. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, *65*, 548-557.
- Schierholz, A., Krüger, A., Barenbrügge, J., & Ehring, T. (2016). What mediates the link between childhood maltreatment and depression? The role of emotion dysregulation, attachment, and attributional style. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology, 7*, 32652.
- Schizophrenia Working Group of the Psychiatric Genomics Consortium. (2014). Biological insights from 108 schizophrenia-associated genetic loci. *Nature*, *511*, 421-427.
- Schmand, B., Hooijer, C., Jonker, C., Lindeboom, J., & Havekes, L. M. (1998). Apolipoprotein E phenotype is not related to late-life depression in a population-based sample. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 33*, 21-26.
- Schoedl, A. F., Costa, M. C. P., Mari, J. J., Mello, M. F., Tyrka, A. R., Carpenter, L. L., & Price, L. H. (2010). The clinical correlates of reported childhood sexual abuse: An association between age at trauma onset and severity of depression and PTSD in adults. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse, 19*, 156-170.

- Schoevers, R. A., Beekman, A. T. F., Deeg, D. J. H., Geerlings, M. I., Jonker, C., & Van Tilburg, W. (2000). Risk factors for depression in later life: Results of a prospective community based study (AMSTEL). *Journal of Affective Disorders, 59*, 127-137.
- Schoevers, R. A., Beekman, A. T. F., Deeg, D. J. H., Hooijer, C., Jonker, C., & van Tilburg, W. (2003a). The natural history of late-life depression: Results from the Amsterdam Study of the Elderly (AMSTEL). *Journal of Affective Disorders, 76*, 5-14.
- Schoevers, R. A., Beekman, A. T. F., Deeg, D. J. H., Jonker, C., & Tilburg, W. v. (2003b). Comorbidity and risk-patterns of depression, generalised anxiety disorder and mixed anxiety-depression in later life: Results from the AMSTEL study. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 18, 994-1001.
- Schoevers, R. A., Deeg, D. J. H., van Tilburg, W., & Beekman, A. T. F. (2005). Depression and generalized anxiety disorder: Co-occurrence and longitudinal patterns in elderly patients. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 13, 31-39.
- Schoevers, R. A., Geerlings, M. I., Deeg, D. J. H., Holwerda, T. J., Jonker, C., & Beekman, A. T. F. (2009). Depression and excess mortality: Evidence for a dose response relation in community living elderly. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 24, 169-176.
- Schoevers, R. A., Smit, F., Deeg, D. J. H., Cuijpers, P., Dekker, J., Tilburg, W. v., & Beekman, A. T. F. (2006). Prevention of late-life depression in primary care: Do we know where to begin? *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 163, 1611-1621.
- Schulz, R., Drayer, R. A., & Rollman, B. L. (2002). Depression as a risk factor for non-suicide mortality in the elderly. *Biological Psychiatry*, *52*, 205-225.
- Seitz, D., Purandare, N., & Conn, D. (2010). Prevalence of psychiatric disorders among older adults in long-term care homes: A systematic review. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 22, 1025-1039.
- Sexton, C. E., Allan, C. L., Le Masurier, M., McDermott, L. M., Kalu, U. G., Herrmann, L. L., . . . Ebmeier,
 K. P. (2012). Magnetic resonance imaging in late-life depression: Multimodal examination of network disruption. *Archives of General Psychiatry, 69*, 680-689.
- Sexton, C. E., Mackay, C. E., & Ebmeier, K. P. (2013). A systematic review and meta-analysis of magnetic resonance imaging studies in late-life depression. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 21, 184-195.
- Sheline, Y. I., Barch, D. M., Garcia, K., Gersing, K., Pieper, C., Welsh-Bohmer, K., . . . Doraiswamy, P. M. (2006). Cognitive function in late life depression: Relationships to depression severity, cerebrovascular risk factors and processing speed. *Biological Psychiatry*, *60*, 58-65.

- Sheline, Y. I., Mintun, M. A., Barch, D. M., Wilkins, C., Snyder, A. Z., & Moerlein, S. M. (2004). Decreased hippocampal 5-HT2A receptor binding in older depressed patients using [18F]altanserin positron emission tomography. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 29, 2235-2241.
- Sheline, Y. I., Price, J. L., Vaishnavi, S. N., Mintun, M. A., Barch, D. M., Epstein, A. A., . . . McKinstry, R. C. (2008). Regional white matter hyperintensity burden in automated segmentation distinguishes latelife depressed subjects from comparison subjects matched for vascular risk factors. *American Journal* of Psychiatry, 165, 524-532.
- Sheline, Y. I., Wang, P. W., Gado, M. H., Csernansky, J. G., & Vannier, M. W. (1996). Hippocampal atrophy in recurrent major depression. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 93, 3908-3913.
- Shi, Y., You, J., Yuan, Y., Zhang, X., Li, H., & Hou, G. (2010). Plasma BDNF and tPA are associated with late-onset geriatric depression. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences, 64*, 249-254.
- Shimony, J. S., Sheline, Y. I., D'Angelo, G., Epstein, A. A., Benzinger, T. L. S., Mintun, M. A., . . . Snyder, A. Z. (2009). Diffuse microstructural abnormalities of normal-appearing white matter in late life depression: A diffusion tensor imaging study. *Biological Psychiatry*, *66*, 245-252.
- Silbersweig, D., & Loscalzo, J. (2017). Precision psychiatry meets network medicine: Network psychiatry. *JAMA Psychiatry*, *74*, 665-666.
- Singh-Manoux, A., Dugravot, A., Fournier, A., Abell, J., Ebmeier, K., Kivimäki, M., & Sabia, S. (2017). Trajectories of depressive symptoms before diagnosis of dementia: A 28-year follow-up study. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 74, 712-718.

- Sirey, J. A., Bruce, M. L., Alexopoulos, G. S., Perlick, D. A., Raue, P., Friedman, S. J., & Meyers, B. S. (2001). Perceived stigma as a predictor of treatment discontinuation in young and older outpatients with depression. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 158, 479-481.
- Skarupski, K. A., Tangney, C. C., Li, H., Evans, D. A., & Morris, M. C. (2013). Mediterranean diet and depressive symptoms among older adults over time. *Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging, 17*, 441-445.
- Sleiman, P., Wang, D., Glessner, J., Hadley, D., Gur, R. E., Cohen, N., . . . the Janssen, C. N. G. W. G. (2013). GWAS meta analysis identifies TSNARE1 as a novel schizophrenia/bipolar susceptibility locus. *Scientific Reports, 3*, 3075.
- Slifer, M. A., Martin, E. R., Gilbert, J. R., Haines, J. L., & Pericak-Vance, M. A. (2009). Resolving the relationship between ApolipoproteinE and depression. *Neuroscience Letters*, 455, 116-119.
- Slopen, N., Kubzansky, L. D., McLaughlin, K. A., & Koenen, K. C. (2013). Childhood adversity and inflammatory processes in youth: A prospective study. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 38, 188-200.

Singh, I., & Rose, N. (2009). Biomarkers in psychiatry. Nature, 460, 202.

- Smit, F., Ederveen, A., Cuijpers, P., Deeg, D., & Beekman, A. (2006). Opportunities for cost-effective prevention of late-life depression: An epidemiological approach. *Archives of General Psychiatry, 63*, 290-296.
- Smith, C. (1974). Concordance in twins: Methods and interpretation. American Journal of Human Genetics, 26, 454-466.
- Smith, G. S., Kahn, A., Sacher, J., Rusjan, P., van Eimeren, T., Flint, A., & Wilson, A. A. (2011). Serotonin transporter occupancy and the functional neuroanatomic effects of citalopram in geriatric depression. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 19, 1016-1025.
- Smith, G. S., Kramer, E., Hermann, C., Ma, Y., Dhawan, V., Chaly, T., & Eidelberg, D. (2009a). Serotonin modulation of cerebral glucose metabolism in depressed older adults. *Biological Psychiatry*, 66, 259-266.
- Smith, G. S., Kramer, E., Ma, Y., Kingsley, P., Dhawan, V., Chaly, T., & Eidelberg, D. (2009b). The functional neuroanatomy of geriatric depression. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 24, 798-808.
- Smith, G. S., Reynolds, C. F., III, Houck, P. R., Dew, M. A., Ginsberg, J., Ma, Y., . . . Pollock, B. G. (2009c). Cerebral glucose metabolic response to combined total sleep deprivation and antidepressant treatment in geriatric depression: A randomized, placebo-controlled study. *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging, 171*, 1-9.
- Smith, G. S., Reynolds, C. F., III, Houck, P. R., Dew, M. A., Ma, Y., Mulsant, B. H., & Pollock, B. G. (2002). Glucose metabolic response to total sleep deprivation, recovery sleep, and acute antidepressant treatment as functional neuroanatomic correlates of treatment outcome in geriatric depression. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 10, 561-567.
- Smith, G. S., Reynolds, C. F., III, Pollock, B., Derbyshire, S., Nofzinger, E., Dew, M. A., . . . Kupfer, D. J. (1999). Cerebral glucose metabolic response to combined total sleep deprivation and antidepressant treatment in geriatric depression. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *156*, 683-689.
- Smits, F., Smits, N., Schoevers, R., Deeg, D., Beekman, A., & Cuijpers, P. (2008). An epidemiological approach to depression prevention in old age. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 16, 444-453.
- Sneed, J. R., Roose, S. P., & Sackeim, H. A. (2006). Vascular depression: A distinct diagnostic subtype? *Biological Psychiatry, 60*, 1295-1298.
- Söderlund, H., Nyberg, L., Adolfsson, R., Nilsson, L.-G., & Launer, L. J. (2003). High prevalence of white matter hyperintensities in normal aging: Relation to blood pressure and cognition. *Cortex*, 39, 1093-1105.

- Sohrabi, H. R., Bates, K. A., Rodrigues, M., Taddei, K., Martins, G., Laws, S. M., . . . Martins, R. N. (2009). The relationship between memory complaints, perceived quality of life and mental health in apolipoprotein Εε4 carriers and non-carriers. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, *17*, 69-79.
- Sowell, E. R., Peterson, B. S., Thompson, P. M., Welcome, S. E., Henkenius, A. L., & Toga, A. W. (2003). Mapping cortical change across the human life span. *Nature Neuroscience*, *6*, 309.
- Spitzer, R. L., Williams, J. W., Kroenke, K., Linzer, M., deGruy, F. V., III, Hahn, S. R., . . . Johnson, J. G. (1994). Utility of a new procedure for diagnosing mental disorders in primary care: The PRIME-MD 1000 study. *JAMA*, 272, 1749-1756.
- Steenland, K., Karnes, C., Seals, R., Carnevale, C., Hermida, A., & Levey, A. (2012). Late-life depression as a risk factor for mild cognitive impairment or Alzheimer's disease in 30 US Alzheimer's Disease Centers. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease, 31*, 265-275.
- Steffens, D. C., Norton, M. C., Hart, A. D., Skoog, I., Corcoran, C., & Breitner, J. C. S. (2003a). Apolipoprotein E genotype and major depression in a community of older adults. The Cache County Study. *Psychological Medicine*, *33*, 541-547.
- Steffens, D. C., Taylor, W. D., Denny, K. L., Bergman, S. R., & Wang, L. (2011). Structural integrity of the uncinate fasciculus and resting state functional connectivity of the ventral prefrontal cortex in latelife depression. *PLOS ONE*, *6*, e22697.
- Steffens, D. C., Trost, W. T., Payne, M. E., Hybels, C. F., & MacFall, J. R. (2003b). Apolipoprotein E genotype and subcortical vascular lesions in older depressed patients and control subjects. *Biological Psychiatry*, 54, 674-681.
- Stek, M. L., Exel, E. v., Tilburg, W. v., Westendorp, R. G. J., & Beekman, A. T. F. (2002). The prognosis of depression in old age: Outcome six to eight years after clinical treatment. *Aging & Mental Health, 6*, 282-285.
- Stephan, K. E., Bach, D. R., Fletcher, P. C., Flint, J., Frank, M. J., Friston, K. J., . . . Breakspear, M. (2016). Charting the landscape of priority problems in psychiatry, part 1: Classification and diagnosis. *Lancet Psychiatry*, *3*, 77-83.
- Stern, Y. (2009). Cognitive reserve. Neuropsychologia, 47, 2015-2028.
- Stetler, C., & Miller, G. E. (2011). Depression and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal activation: A quantitative summary of four decades of research. *Psychosomatic Medicine, 73*, 114-126.
- Steves, C. J., Spector, T. D., & Jackson, S. H. (2012). Ageing, genes, environment and epigenetics: What twin studies tell us now, and in the future. *Age and Ageing*, *41*, 581-586.

- Stewart, J. C., Rand, K. L., Muldoon, M. F., & Kamarck, T. W. (2009). A prospective evaluation of the directionality of the depression–inflammation relationship. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 23*, 936-944.
- Stochl, J., Khandaker, G. M., Lewis, G., Perez, J., Goodyer, I. M., Zammit, S., . . . Jones, P. B. (2014). Mood, anxiety and psychotic phenomena measure a common psychopathological factor. *Psychological Medicine*, 45, 1483-1493.
- Strauss, E., Sherman, E. M. S., & Spreen, O. (2006). A compendium of neuropsychological tests: Administration, norms and commentary (3rd ed.). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Strawbridge, W. J., Deleger, S., Roberts, R. E., & Kaplan, G. A. (2002). Physical activity reduces the risk of subsequent depression for older adults. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 156, 328-334.
- Strittmatter, W. J., & Roses, A. D. (1996). Apolipoprotein E and Alzheimer's disease. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 19, 53-77.
- Stroup, D. F., Berlin, J. A., Morton, S. C., Olkin, I., Williamson, G. D., Rennie, D., . . . The Meta-analysis Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) Group. (2000). Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology: A proposal for reporting. *JAMA*, 283, 2008-2012.
- Stuart, M. J., Singhal, G., & Baune, B. T. (2015). Systematic review of the neurobiological relevance of chemokines to psychiatric disorders. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 9.
- Su, L., Faluyi, Y. O., Hong, Y. T., Fryer, T. D., Mak, E., Gabel, S., . . . O'Brien, J. T. (2016). Neuroinflammatory and morphological changes in late-life depression: the NIMROD study. *British Journal of Psychiatry*.
- Su, S., Lampert, R., Lee, F., Bremner, J. D., Snieder, H., Jones, L., . . . Vaccarino, V. (2012). Common genes contribute to depressive symptoms and heart rate variability: The Twins Heart Study. *Twin Research and Human Genetics*, *13*, 1-9.
- Sudo, N., Chida, Y., Aiba, Y., Sonoda, J., Oyama, N., Yu, X.-N., . . . Koga, Y. (2004). Postnatal microbial colonization programs the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal system for stress response in mice. *Journal of Physiology, 558*, 263-275.
- Sullivan, P. F. (2010). The Psychiatric GWAS Consortium: Big science comes to psychiatry. *Neuron, 68*, 182-186.
- Sullivan, P. F., Neale, M. C., & Kendler, K. S. (2000). Genetic epidemiology of major depression: Review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 157, 1552-1562.
- Sultzer, D. L., Levin, H. S., Mahler, M. E., High, W. M., & Cummings, J. L. (1993). A comparison of psychiatric symptoms in vascular dementia and Alzheimer's disease. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 150, 1806-1812.

- Sureshkumar, R., Bharath, S., Jain, S., Prakash, O., Purushottam, M., Thennarasu, K., . . . Varghese, M. (2012). ApoE4 and late onset depression in Indian population. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 136, 244-248.
- Sweet, R. A., Hamilton, R. L., Butters, M. A., Mulsant, B. H., Pollock, B. G., Lewis, D. A., . . . Reynolds, C.
 F., III. (2004). Neuropathologic correlates of late-onset major depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 29, 2242-2250.
- Syed, A., Chatfield, M., Matthews, F., Harrison, P., Brayne, C., & Esiri, M. M. (2005). Depression in the elderly: Pathological study of raphe and locus ceruleus. *Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology*, 31, 405-413.
- Tadić, A., Müller-Engling, L., Schlicht, K. F., Kotsiari, A., Dreimüller, N., Kleimann, A., . . . Frieling, H.
 (2013). Methylation of the promoter of brain-derived neurotrophic factor exon IV and antidepressant response in major depression. *Molecular Psychiatry*, *19*, 281.
- Takai, Y., Yamamoto-Mitani, N., Okamoto, Y., Koyama, K., & Honda, A. (2010). Literature review of pain prevalence among older residents of nursing homes. *Pain Management Nursing*, *11*, 209-223.
- Talens, R. P., Boomsma, D. I., Tobi, E. W., Kremer, D., Jukema, J. W., Willemsen, G., . . . Heijmans, B. T. (2010). Variation, patterns, and temporal stability of DNA methylation: Considerations for epigenetic epidemiology. *FASEB Journal*, 24, 3135-3144.
- Tamura, Y., & Kataoka, Y. (2017). PET imaging of neurogenic activity in the adult brain: Toward in vivo imaging of human neurogenesis. *Neurogenesis*, *4*, e1281861.
- Tamura, Y., Takahashi, K., Takata, K., Eguchi, A., Yamato, M., Kume, S., . . . Kataoka, Y. (2016).
 Noninvasive evaluation of cellular proliferative activity in brain neurogenic regions in rats under depression and treatment by enhanced [18F]FLT-PET imaging. *Journal of Neuroscience, 36*, 8123.
- Tang, M., Stern, Y., Marder, K., & et al. (1998). The apoe-∈4 allele and the risk of alzheimer disease among african americans, whites, and hispanics. *JAMA*, *279*, 751-755.
- Taylor, S. (2013). Molecular genetics of obsessive-compulsive disorder: A comprehensive meta-analysis of genetic association studies. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 18, 799-805.
- Taylor, W. D., Benjamin, S., McQuoid, D. R., Payne, M. E., Krishnan, R. R., MacFall, J. R., & Ashley-Koch,
 A. (2012). AGTR1 gene variation: Association with depression and frontotemporal morphology.
 Psychiatry Research, 202, 104-109.
- Taylor, W. D., MacFall, J. R., Payne, M. E., McQuoid, D. R., Steffens, D. C., Provenzale, J. M., & Krishnan,
 K. R. R. (2007a). Orbitofrontal cortex volume in late life depression: Influence of hyperintense lesions and genetic polymorphisms. *Psychological Medicine*, *37*, 1763-1773.

- Taylor, W. D., Steffens, D. C., Payne, M. E., MacFall, J. R., Marchuk, D. A., Svenson, I. K., & Krishnan, K. R.
 R. (2005). Influence of serotonin transporter promoter region polymorphisms on hippocampal volumes in late-life depression. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *62*, 537-544.
- Taylor, W. D., Zhao, Z., Ashley-Koch, A., Payne, M. E., Steffens, D. C., Krishnan, R. R., . . . MacFall, J. R. (2013). Fiber tract-specific white matter lesion severity: Findings in late-life depression and by AGTR1 A1166C genotype. *Human Brain Mapping*, *34*, 295-303.
- Taylor, W. D., Züchner, S., McQuoid, D. R., Steffens, D. C., Speer, M. C., & Krishnan, K. R. R. (2007b). Allelic differences in the brain-derived neurotrophic factor Val66Met polymorphism in late-life depression. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 15, 850-857.
- Tedeschini, E., Levkovitz, Y., Iovieno, N., Ameral, V. E., Nelson, J. C., & Papakostas, G. I. (2011). Efficacy of antidepressants for late-life depression: A meta-analysis and meta-regression of placebo-controlled randomized trials. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 72, 1660-1668.
- Tenesa, A., & Haley, C. S. (2013). The heritability of human disease: Estimation, uses and abuses. Nature Reviews Genetics, 14, 139-149.
- The Nordic Cochrane Centre (2014). Review Manager (RevMan), Version 5.3. Copenhagen: The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration.
- Thomas, A. J., Davis, S., Morris, C., Jackson, E., Harrison, R., & O'Brien, J. T. (2005). Increase in interleukin-1β in late-life depression. *American Journal of Psychiatry, 162*, 175-177.
- Thomas, A. J., Ferrier, I. N., Kalaria, R. N., Davis, S., & O'Brien, J. T. (2002a). Cell adhesion molecule expression in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex and anterior cingulate cortex in major depression in the elderly. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 181, 129-134.
- Thomas, A. J., Ferrier, I. N., Kalaria, R. N., Perry, R. H., Brown, A., & O'Brien, J. T. (2001). A neuropathological study of vascular factors in late-life depression. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry, 70*, 83-87.
- Thomas, A. J., Kalaria, R. N., & O'Brien, J. T. (2004). Depression and vascular disease: What is the relationship? *Journal of Affective Disorders, 79*, 81-95.
- Thomas, A. J., Morris, C., Davis, S., Jackson, E., Harrison, R., & O'Brien, J. T. (2007). Soluble cell adhesion molecules in late-life depression. *International Psychogeriatrics, 19*, 914-920.
- Thomas, A. J., O'Brien, J. T., Davis, S., Ballard, C., Barber, R., Kalaria, R. N., & Perry, R. H. (2002b). Ischemic basis for deep white matter hyperintensities in major depression: A neuropathological study. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 59, 785-792.

- Thomas, A. J., O'Brien, J. T., Barber, R., McMeekin, W., & Perry, R. (2003). A neuropathological study of periventricular white matter hyperintensities in major depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *76*, 49-54.
- Thombs, B. D., Bass, E. B., Ford, D. E., Stewart, K. J., Tsilidis, K. K., Patel, U., . . . Ziegelstein, R. C. (2006). Prevalence of depression in survivors of acute myocardial infarction. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 21, 30-38.
- Thompson, C., Syddall, H., Rodin, I., Osmond, C., & Barker, D. J. P. (2001). Birth weight and the risk of depressive disorder in late life. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *179*, 450-455.
- Thompson, P. M., Stein, J. L., Medland, S. E., Hibar, D. P., Vasquez, A. A., Renteria, M. E., . . . Drevets, W. (2014). The ENIGMA Consortium: Large-scale collaborative analyses of neuroimaging and genetic data. *Brain Imaging and Behavior, 8*, 153-182.
- Thuile, J., Even, C., & Guelfi, J. D. (2007). Validité du concept de dépression vasculaire: Une revue de la littérature. *L'Encéphale, 33*, 39-48.
- Tiemeier, H., Hofman, A., van Tuijl, H. R., Kiliaan, A. J., Meijer, J., & Breteler, M. M. B. (2003). Inflammatory Proteins and Depression in the Elderly. *Epidemiology*, 14, 103-107.
- Tombaugh, T. N. (2004). Trail Making Test A and B: Normative data stratified by age and education. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology, 19*, 203-214.
- Tombaugh, T. N., Kozak, J., & Rees, L. (1999). Normative data stratified by age and education for two measures of verbal fluency: FAS and animal naming. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, 14, 167-177.
- Torres, K. C., Pereira, P. A., Lima, G. S., Bozzi, I. C., Rezende, V. B., Bicalho, M. A., . . . Romano-Silva, M. A. (2013). Increased frequency of T cells expressing IL-10 in Alzheimer disease but not in late-onset depression patients. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry*, 47, 40-45.
- Traykov, L., Bayle, A. C., Latour, F., Lenoir, H., Seux, M.-L., Hanon, O., . . . Rigaud, A.-S. (2007). Apolipoprotein E ε4 allele frequency in elderly depressed patients with and without cerebrovascular disease. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 257, 280-283.
- Tsang, R. S. M., Mather, K. A., Sachdev, P. S., & Reppermund, S. (2017). Systematic review and metaanalysis of genetic studies of late-life depression. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 75*, 129-139.
- Tsang, R. S. M., Sachdev, P. S., Reppermund, S., Kochan, N. A., Kang, K., Crawford, J., . . . Brodaty, H. (2013). Sydney Memory and Ageing Study: An epidemiological cohort study of brain ageing and dementia. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 25, 711-725.

- Tseng, P.-T., Lee, Y., & Lin, P.-Y. (2013). Age-associated decrease in serum glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor levels in patients with major depressive disorder. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry, 40*, 334-339.
- Tsopelas, C., Stewart, R., Savva, G. M., Brayne, C., Ince, P., Thomas, A., & Matthews, F. E. (2011). Neuropathological correlates of late-life depression in older people. *British Journal of Psychiatry, 198*, 109-114.
- Tsuno, N., Besset, A., & Ritchie, K. (2005). Sleep and depression. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry, 66*, 1254-1269.
- Uddin, M., Koenen, K. C., Aiello, A. E., Wildman, D. E., de los Santos, R., & Galea, S. (2010). Epigenetic and inflammatory marker profiles associated with depression in a community-based epidemiologic sample. *Psychological Medicine*, *41*, 997-1007.
- Ueland, P. M., Hustad, S., Schneede, J., Refsum, H., & Vollset, S. E. (2001). Biological and clinical implications of the MTHFR C677T polymorphism. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 22, 195-201.
- Uher, R. (2008). The implications of gene–environment interactions in depression: Will cause inform cure? *Molecular Psychiatry*, *13*, 1070.
- United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. (2015). World Population Ageing 2015 (ST/ESA/SER.A/390).
- Unützer, J., Katon, W., Callahan, C. M., Williams, J. W., Hunkeler, E., Harpole, L., . . . Oishi, S. (2003). Depression treatment in a sample of 1,801 depressed older adults in primary care. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 51*, 505-514.
- Unützer, J., Katon, W., Russo, J., Simon, G., Bush, T., Walker, E., . . . Ludman, E. (1999). Patterns of care for depressed older adults in a large-staff model HMO. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *7*, 235-243.
- Upadhyaya, A. K., Abou-Saleh, M. T., Wilson, K., Grime, S. J., & Critchley, M. (1990). A study of depression in old age using single-photon emission computerised tomography. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *157*, 76-81.
- Valkanova, V., & Ebmeier, K. P. (2013). Vascular risk factors and depression in later life: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Biological Psychiatry*, *73*, 406-413.
- Valkanova, V., Ebmeier, K. P., & Allan, C. L. (2013). CRP, IL-6 and depression: A systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 150, 736-744.
- van't Veer-Tazelaar, P. J., van Marwijk, H. J., van Oppen, P., van Hout, H. P. J., van der Horst, H. E., Cuijpers, P., . . . Beekman, A. T. F. (2009). Stepped-care prevention of anxiety and depression in late life: A randomized controlled trial. *Archives of General Psychiatry, 66*, 297-304.
- van't Veer-Tazelaar, P. J., van Marwijk, H. W. J., van Oppen, P., van der Horst, H. E., Smit, F., Cuijpers, P., & Beekman, A. T. F. (2011). Prevention of late-life anxiety and depression has sustained effects over 24 months: A pragmatic randomized trial. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 19*, 230-239.
- van Agtmaal, M. M., Houben, A. M., Pouwer, F., Stehouwer, C. A., & Schram, M. T. (2017). Association of microvascular dysfunction with late-life depression: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Psychiatry*, *74*, 729-739.
- Van den Berg, M. D., Oldehinkel, A. J., Bouhuys, A. L., Brilman, E. I., Beekman, A. T. F., & Ormel, J. (2001). Depression in later life: Three etiologically different subgroups. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 65, 19-26.
- van den Biggelaar, A. H. J., Gussekloo, J., de Craen, A. J. M., Frölich, M., Stek, M. L., van der Mast, R. C., & Westendorp, R. G. J. (2007). Inflammation and interleukin-1 signaling network contribute to depressive symptoms but not cognitive decline in old age. *Experimental Gerontology, 42*, 693-701.
- Van der Kooy, K., van Hout, H., Marwijk, H., Marten, H., Stehouwer, C., & Beekman, A. (2007).
 Depression and the risk for cardiovascular diseases: Systematic review and meta analysis.
 International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 22, 613-626.
- van Dongen, J., Slagboom, P. E., Draisma, H. H. M., Martin, N. G., & Boomsma, D. I. (2012). The continuing value of twin studies in the omics era. *Nature Reviews Genetics, 13*, 640-653.
- van Varsseveld, N. C., van Bunderen, C. C., Sohl, E., Comijs, H. C., Penninx, B. W. J. H., Lips, P., & Drent,
 M. L. (2015). Serum insulin-like growth factor 1 and late-life depression: A population-based study.
 Psychoneuroendocrinology, 54, 31-40.
- van Zoonen, K., Buntrock, C., Ebert, D. D., Smit, F., Reynolds, C. F., III, Beekman, A. T. F., & Cuijpers, P. (2014). Preventing the onset of major depressive disorder: A meta-analytic review of psychological interventions. *International Journal of Epidemiology, 43*, 318-329.
- Verhagen, M., van der Meij, A., van Deurzen, P. A. M., Janzing, J. G. E., Arias-Vásquez, A., Buitelaar, J. K.,
 & Franke, B. (2008). Meta-analysis of the BDNF Val66Met polymorphism in major depressive
 disorder: effects of gender and ethnicity. [Original Article]. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 15, 260.
- Vogelzangs, N., Beekman, A. T. F., Dik, M. G., Bremmer, M. A., Comijs, H. C., Hoogendijk, W. J. G., . . . Penninx, B. W. J. H. (2009). Late-life depression, cortisol, and the metabolic syndrome. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 17, 716-721.
- Vogelzangs, N., Kritchevsky, S. B., Beekman, A. T. F., Brenes, G. A., Newman, A. B., Satterfield, S., . . .
 Penninx, B. W. J. H. (2010). Obesity and onset of significant depressive symptoms: Results from a prospective community-based cohort study of older men and women. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, *71*, 391-399.

- Vogelzangs, N., Kritchevsky, S. B., Beekman, A. T. F., Newman, A. B., Satterfield, S., Simonsick, E. M., . . . Penninx, B. W. J. H. (2008). Depressive symptoms and change in abdominal obesity in older persons. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 65, 1386-1393.
- Vogelzangs, N., Suthers, K., Ferrucci, L., Simonsick, E. M., Ble, A., Schrager, M., . . . Penninx, B. W. (2007).
 Hypercortisolemic depression is associated with the metabolic syndrome in late-life.
 Psychoneuroendocrinology, *32*, 151-159.
- Volkert, J., Schulz, H., Härter, M., Wlodarczyk, O., & Andreas, S. (2013). The prevalence of mental disorders in older people in Western countries – A meta-analysis. *Ageing Research Reviews*, *12*, 339-353.
- Walker, E. A., Unutzer, J., Rutter, C., Gelfand, A., Saunders, K., VonKorff, M., . . . Katon, W. (1999). Costs of health care use by women HMO members with a history of childhood abuse and neglect. *Archives of General Psychiatry, 56*, 609-613.
- Walker, M. P. (2009). The role of sleep in cognition and emotion. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1156, 168-197.
- Walton, E., Hass, J., Liu, J., Roffman, J. L., Bernardoni, F., Roessner, V., . . . Ehrlich, S. (2016). Correspondence of DNA methylation between blood and brain tissue and its application to schizophrenia research. *Schizophrenia Bulletin, 42*, 406-414.
- Wang, X., Hou, Z., Yuan, Y., Hou, G., Liu, Y., Li, H., & Zhang, Z. (2011). Association study between plasma GDNF and cognitive function in late-onset depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 132, 418-421.
- Wang, X., Wang, Z., Wu, Y., Hou, Z., Yuan, Y., & Hou, G. (2015). Tryptophan hydroxylase 2 gene is associated with cognition in late-onset depression in a Chinese Han population. *Neuroscience Letters, 600*, 98-103.
- Wang, X., Wang, Z., Wu, Y., Yuan, Y., Hou, Z., & Hou, G. (2014). Association analysis of the catechol-Omethyltransferase/methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase genes and cognition in late-onset depression. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences, 68*, 344-352.
- Wardenaar, K. J., & de Jonge, P. (2013). Diagnostic heterogeneity in psychiatry: Towards an empirical solution. *BMC Medicine*, 11, 201.
- Warrier, V., Chee, V., Smith, P., Chakrabarti, B., & Baron-Cohen, S. (2015). A comprehensive meta-analysis of common genetic variants in autism spectrum conditions. *Molecular Autism, 6*, 49.
- Weaver, I. C. G., Cervoni, N., Champagne, F. A., D'Alessio, A. C., Sharma, S., Seckl, J. R., . . . Meaney, M. J. (2004). Epigenetic programming by maternal behavior. *Nature Neuroscience*, *7*, 847-854.

- Weber, K., Giannakopoulos, P., Delaloye, C., de Bilbao, F., Moy, G., Moussa, A., . . . Canuto, A. (2010).
 Volumetric MRI changes, cognition and personality traits in old age depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *124*, 275-282.
- Wechsler, D. (1981). WAIS-R Manual. New York: The Psychological Corporation.
- Wechsler, D. (1997a). *Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-III*. San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation.
- Wechsler, D. (1997b). Wechsler Memory Scale (3rd ed.). San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation.
- Wen, M.-C., Steffens, D. C., Chen, M.-K., & Zainal, N. H. (2014). Diffusion tensor imaging studies in latelife depression: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 29*, 1173-1184.
- Wendland, J. R., Martin, B. J., Kruse, M. R., Lesch, K. P., & Murphy, D. L. (2006). Simultaneous genotyping of four functional loci of human SLC6A4, with a reappraisal of 5-HTTLPR and rs25531. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 11, 224-226.
- Wielaard, I., Comijs, H. C., Stek, M. L., & Rhebergen, D. (2017). Childhood abuse and the two-year course of late-life depression. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 25, 633-643.
- Wilson, R. S., Boyle, P. A., Capuano, A. W., Shah, R. C., Hoganson, G. M., Nag, S., & Bennett, D. A. (2016). Late-life depression is not associated with dementia-related pathology. *Neuropsychology*, *30*, 135-142.
- Wirtz, P. H., von Känel, R., Emini, L., Ruedisueli, K., Groessbauer, S., Maercker, A., & Ehlert, U. (2007).
 Evidence for altered hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis functioning in systemic hypertension:
 Blunted cortisol response to awakening and lower negative feedback sensitivity.
 Psychoneuroendocrinology, 32, 430-436.
- Withers, A. C., Tarasoff, J. M., & Stewart, J. W. (2013). Is depression with atypical features associated with trauma history? *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, *74*, 500-506.
- Wong, J., Motulsky, A., Abrahamowicz, M., Eguale, T., Buckeridge, D. L., & Tamblyn, R. (2017). Off-label indications for antidepressants in primary care: descriptive study of prescriptions from an indication based electronic prescribing system. *BMJ*, *356*.
- Wong, M. L., Dong, C., Andreev, V., Arcos-Burgos, M., & Licinio, J. (2012). Prediction of susceptibility to major depression by a model of interactions of multiple functional genetic variants and environmental factors. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 17, 624.
- World Health Organization. (1992). *The ICD-10 classification of mental and behavioural disorders: Clinical descriptions and diagnostic guidelines*. Geneva: World Health Organization.

- World Health Organization. (2000). Obesity: Preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report of a WHO consultation. WHO Technical Report Series 894. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- World Health Organization. (2013). *Mental health action plan 2013-2020*. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- World Health Organization. (2015). *World Report on Ageing and Health*. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Wu, M., Andreescu, C., Butters, M. A., Tamburo, R., Reynolds, C. F., III, & Aizenstein, H. (2011). Defaultmode network connectivity and white matter burden in late-life depression. *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging*, 194, 39-46.
- Xie, Z., Ma, X., Ji, W., Zhou, G., Lu, Y., Xiang, Z., . . . Zhang, W. J. (2010). Zbtb20 is essential for the specification of CA1 field identity in the developing hippocampus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 107*, 6510-6515.
- Yang, Q., Huang, X., Hong, N., & Yu, X. (2007). White matter microstructural abnormalities in late-life depression. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 19, 757-766.
- Yesavage, J. A., Brink, T. L., Rose, T. L., Lum, O., Huang, V., Adey, M., & Leirer, V. O. (1982). Development and validation of a geriatric depression screening scale: A preliminary report. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 17, 37-49.
- Yesavage, J. A., & Sheikh, J. I. (1986). Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS): Recent evidence and development of a shorter version. *Clinical Gerontologist, 5*, 165-173.
- Ylikoski, A., Erkinjuntti, T., Raininko, R., Sarna, S., Sulkava, R., & Tilvis, R. (1995). White matter hyperintensities on MRI in the neurologically nondiseased elderly: Analysis of cohorts of consecutive subjects aged 55 to 85 years living at home. *Stroke, 26*, 1171-1177.
- You, J., Yuan, Y., Zhang, Z., Zhang, X., Li, H., & Qian, Y. (2010). A preliminary association study between brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) haplotype and late-onset depression in mainland Chinese. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 120*, 165-169.
- Yuan, Y., Zhang, Z., Bai, F., Yu, H., Shi, Y., Qian, Y., . . . You, J. (2007). White matter integrity of the whole brain is disrupted in first-episode remitted geriatric depression. *NeuroReport, 18*, 1845-1849.
- Yue, J.-R., Dong, B.-R., Huang, C.-Q., Lu, Z.-C., Wu, H.-M., Zhang, Y.-L., & Mattis, T. A. (2009). Pro12Ala polymorphism in PPARγ2 associated with depression in Chinese nonagenarians/centenarians. *Archives of Medical Research, 40*, 411-415.
- Zannas, A. S., McQuoid, D. R., Payne, M. E., Steffens, D. C., MacFall, J. R., Ashley-Koch, A., & Taylor, W.
 D. (2013). Negative life stress and longitudinal hippocampal volume changes in older adults with and without depression. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *47*, 829-834.

- Zhao, Z., Taylor, W. D., Styner, M., Steffens, D. C., Krishnan, K. R. R., & MacFall, J. R. (2008). Hippocampus shape analysis and late-life depression. *PLOS ONE, 3*, e1837.
- Zhu, C.-B., Blakely, R. D., & Hewlett, W. A. (2006). The proinflammatory cytokines interleukin-1beta and tumor necrosis factor-alpha activate serotonin transporters. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 31, 2121-2131.
- Zhu, C.-B., Carneiro, A. M., Dostmann, W. R., Hewlett, W. A., & Blakely, R. D. (2005). p38 MAPK activation elevates serotonin transport activity via a trafficking-independent, protein phosphatase 2A-dependent process. *Journal of Biological Chemistry, 280*, 15649-15658.
- Zintzaras, E., & Lau, J. (2007). Trends in meta-analysis of genetic association studies. *Journal of Human Genetics, 53*, 1-9.
- Zou, Y.-F., Ye, D.-Q., Feng, X.-L., Su, H., Pan, F.-M., & Liao, F.-F. (2010). Meta-analysis of BDNF Val66Met polymorphism association with treatment response in patients with major depressive disorder. *European Neuropsychopharmacology, 20*, 535-544.
- Zubenko, G. S., Henderson, R., Scott Stiffler, J., Stabler, S., Rosen, J., & Kaplan, B. B. (1996). Association of the APOE ɛ4 allele with clinical subtypes of late life depression. *Biological Psychiatry, 40*, 1008-1016.
- Zung, W. K., Richards, C. B., & Short, M. J. (1965). Self-rating depression scale in an outpatient clinic: Further validation of the SDS. *Archives of General Psychiatry, 13*, 508-515.

APPENDIX A. SUPPLEMENTAL TABLES

Table A.1. Full search strategy used in MEDLIN	Table	A.1. Full search	strategy use	ed in MEDLINE
--	-------	------------------	--------------	---------------

1	(depress* or mood disorder* or affective disorder* or unipolar).ti,ab.
2	Depression/ge [Genetics]
3	Depressive Disorder/ge [Genetics]
4	Depressive Disorder, Major/ge [Genetics]
5	or/1-4
6	(older or elder* or geriatric or late life or late onset).ti,ab.
7	Aged/
8	"Aged, 80 and over"/
9	or/6-8
10	(gene? or genetic* or genotyp* or polymorphism* or SNP* or allel* or variant* or chromosom*).ti,ab.
11	Genetic Predisposition to Disease/
12	Genotype/
13	Polymorphism, Genetic/
14	Polymorphism, Single Nucleotide/
15	or/10-14
16	(control* or compar* or cross sectional or genome wide association).ti,ab.
17	Case-Control studies/
18	Comparative Study/
19	Cross-Sectional Studies/
20	Genetic Association Studies/
21	Genome-Wide Association Study/
22	or/16-21
23	Humans/
24	5 and 9 and 15 and 22 and 23
25	limit 24 to (english and journal article)

First author (year)	Country	Ethnicity of	Age M ±	% female	Phenotype /	Case	s	Cont	rols	Source of
		sample	SD		instrument	٤4-	٤4+	٤4-	٤4+	sample
			(range)							
Class (1997)	USA	African	76.6±7.3	Not	GDS-30	4ع	4-: 7.1±5.3 (n=	=67); ε4 [.]	+: 6.3±5.0	Community
		American		reported			(n	=45)		
Harwood (1999)	USA	Majority	75.2±7.5	59.9	HAM-D≥12	40	21	336	109	Community
		Caucasian								
Nebes (2001)	USA	Majority	73.6±3.4	Not	GDS-30	2ع	1-: 2.9±3.2 (n=	=71), ε4 [.]	+: 3.6±4.0	Community
		Caucasian		reported			(n	=21)		
Butters (2003)	USA	Majority	69.8±6.9	65.8	DSM-IV MD	124	36	109	47	Community
		Caucasian			(SCID)					
Steffens (2003a)	USA	Majority	(65-100)	52.0	DSM-IV MD	161	65	2267	999	Community
		Caucasian								
Steffens (2003b)	USA	Majority	(≥60)	66.9	DSM-IV MD	103	42	75	25	Community
		Caucasian								
Schahab (2006)	Germany	Caucasian	70.2±8.5	54.0	DSM-IV MD	138	42	168	57	Hospital
Taylor (2007a)	USA	Majority	70.1±7.1	67.6	DSM-IV MD	164	62	109	35	Community
		Caucasian								
Slifer (2009)	USA	Caucasian	73.7±7.2	61.8	GDS-30≥10	53	14	344	113	Community
Sohrabi (2009)	Australia	Majority	67.3±6.6	64.5	GDS-30	ε4-:	3.76±3.59 (n=	=55), ε4 [.]	+: 4.98±4.98	Community
		Caucasian					(n	=83)		
Sureshkumar (2012)	India	Asian	(≥50)	45.2	HAM-D≥11	20	11	28	3	Community
Chen (2013b)	China	Asian	67.5±6.0	68.4	CCMD-3	55	9	29	1	Hospital
					depression &					
					GDS-30≥11					
Nose (2013)	Japan	Asian	73.6±5.6	57.6	GDS-15≥6	129	30	460	119	Community
						ε2	ε3/ε ε4	ε2	ε3/ε ε4	
							3		3	

Table A.2. Characteristics of studies included in APOE $\epsilon 2/\epsilon 3/\epsilon 4$ meta-analysis.

First author (year)	Country	Ethnicity of	Age M ±	% female	Phenotype /	Case	Cases ε4- ε4+		Con	trols		Source of
		sample	SD		instrument	٤4-			ε4-	2ع	4+	sample
			(range)									
Schmand (1998)	Netherlands	Majority	67.3±5.8	54.0	GMS-	6	43	22	14	104	35	Community
		Caucasian			AGECAT							
					depression≥3							
Papassotiropoulos	Germany	Caucasian	69.4±10.0	58.1	Clinical	25	88	47	33	109	49	Community
(1999)					diagnosis							
Hwang (2006b)	Taiwan	Asian	74.4±7.3	42.3	DSM-IV MD	11	80	20	17	105	22	Hospital
Traykov (2007)	France	Caucasian	75.3±7.2	66.3	DSM-IV MD	2	8	14	15	77	30	Hospital

Abbreviations: AGECAT – Automated Geriatric Examination for Computer Assisted Taxonomy; CCMD-3 – Chinese Classification of Mental Disorders, 3rd edition; DSM-IV – Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th edition; GDS – Geriatric Depression Scale; GMS – Geriatric Mental State Schedule; HAM-D – Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression; MD – major depression; SCID – Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Disorders

First author	Country	Ethnicity of	Age M ±	%	Phenotype/	Gen	otypes				Allele	∋s				Source of
(year)		sample	SD	female	instrument	Case	es	С	ontrol	5	Case	es	С	Controls	5	sample
						Me	Val	Val	Ме	Val	Val	Me	Val	Ме	Val	-
						t/M	/M	/Va	t/M	/M	/Va	t		t		
						et	et	I	et	et	Ι					
Taylor (2007b)	USA	Caucasian	69.7±7.1	65.8	DDES	10	85	150	1	22	71	105	385	24	164	Community
Lin (2009)	Taiwan	Asian	78.4±5.3	24.0	DSM-IV MD	45	63	47	31	98	66	153	157	160	230	Hospital
You (2010)	China	Asian	72.5±5.3	54.3	DSM-IV MD & HAM- D≥17	39	68	37	25	58	27	146	142	108	112	Hospital
Kanellopoulos (2011)	USA	Caucasian	71.6±6.4	62.5	DSM-IV-TR MD (SCID) & HAM- D≥18	3	13	17	0	14	12	19	47	14	38	Community

Table A.3. Characteristics of studies included in BDNF Val66Met meta-analysis.

Abbreviations: DDES – Duke Depression Evaluation Schedule; DSM-IV – Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th edition; HAM-D – Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression; MD – major depression; SCID – Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Disorders

First	Country	Ethnicity of	Age M ±	%	Phenotype	Gen	otypes					Allele	S			Source of
author		sample	SD	female	/	Case	s		Cont	rols		Case	S	Cont	rols	sample
(year)					instrument	T/T	C/T	C/C	T/T	C/T	C/C	Т	С	T	С	-
Almeida	Australia	Majority	74.7±4.4	100.0	BDI	3	26	13	26	87	85	32	52	139	257	Community
(2005)		Caucasian														
Chen	Taiwan	Asian	72.3±5.4	67.8	DSM-IV	2	15	22	0	9	11	19	59	9	31	Hospital
(2005)					MD &											
					HAM-D≥15											
Pan	USA	Caucasian	69.5±6.9	68.4	DDES	19	79	72	9	44	30	117	223	62	104	Community
(2009)																
El-Batch	Egypt	Egyptian	61.2±5.4	67.3	DSM-IV-TR	10	14	8	1	5	14	34	30	7	33	Hospital
(2010)					MD											
Lan	Taiwan	Asian	80.6±5.3	0.0	GDS-SF		T/T: 3.1±	2.8 (n=6	4), C/T	: 3.2±2.8	8 (n=141), C/C:	3.7±3.2	! (n=118	3)	Community
(2012)																

Table A.4. Characteristics of studies included in MTHFR C677T meta-analysis.

Abbreviations: BDI – Beck Depression Inventory; DDES – Duke Depression Evaluation Schedule; DSM-IV – Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th edition; GDS-SF – Geriatric Depression Scale-short form; HAM-D – Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression; MD – major depression

First author	Country	Ethnicity of	Age M	%	Phenotype /	Gen	otypes					Allele	es			Source of
(year)		sample	± SD	female	instrument	Case	∋s		Con	trols		Case	€S	Cont	rols	sample
						S/S	S/L	L/L	S/S	S/L	L/L	S	L	S	L	-
Grünblatt (2006a)	Austria	Caucasian	75.8±0.5	56.4	DSM-IV major/minor/ subsyndromal depression (SCID)	27	49	34	52	164	144	103	117	168	452	Community
Taylor (2007a)	USA	Majority Caucasian	70.1±7.1	67.6	DSM-IV MD	42	102	82	21	70	53	186	266	112	176	Community
Alexopoulos (2009)	USA	Caucasian	71.1±6.6	63.0	DSM-IV MD (SCID) & HAM-D≥18	1	17	9	0	21	6	19	35	21	33	Community
Goldman (2010)	Taiwan	Asian	65.9±9.9	46.2	CES-D	S/S	: 4.7±5.	3 (n=4 L/L: 4	49), S/ 4.1±5.7	L: 4.9±((n=83)	5.7 (n=3 , L/XL: 2	367), S/ 2.9±3.5	XL: 5.6 (n=24)	±6.0 (n:	=61),	Community
Mendes (2013)	Brazil	Majority non- Caucasian	70.5±7.4	48.5	GDS-15≥6 & clinical diagnosis	15	17	11	28	73	56	47	39	129	185	Community

Table A.5. Characteristics of studies included in SLC6A4 5-HTTLPR meta-analysis.

Abbreviations: CES-D – Centre for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale; DSM-IV – Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th edition; HAM-D – Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression; GDS – Geriatric Depression Scale; MD – major depression; SCID – Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Disorders

APPENDIX B. ADDITIONAL ANALYSES FOR CHAPTERS 5 AND 6

Sensitivity analyses for the candidate gene logistic regressions in Chapter 5 were performed with depression defined as a GDS-15 score of 12 or above or self-reported antidepressant use (B.1). Alternative analyses using multiple regression with continuous GDS-15 scores as the dependent variable were also carried out to test the candidate gene associations in Chapter 5 (B.2), the early-life trauma effects (B.3) and the gene-environment interactions in Chapter 6 (B.4). The results are presented below. All but one of the associations tested were non-significant, confirming the results of the dichotomous analyses.

B.1 Sensitivity analyses for associations of candidate
polymorphisms and LLD (depression caseness defined as GDS15 score of 12 or above or self-reported antidepressant use)

Table B.1. Logistic regression of APOE ϵ 2 carrier status in predicting LLD.

Predictor	В	SE	р	OR
ΑΡΟΕ ε2	-0.25	0.36	0.48	0.78 (0.39-1.57)
Age (mean-centred)	0.00	0.03	0.97	1.00 (0.95-1.05)
Sex	0.29	0.25	0.25	1.33 (0.82-2.18)
(Constant)	-2.38	0.20	<0.001	0.09
Model χ^2 = 1.80, df = 3, p = 0.62 -2LL = 493.43, Nagelkerke R^2 = 0.005 Hosmer-Lemeshow test p = 0.10				

Table B.2.	Logistic	regression	of	APOE	ε 4	carrier	status	in	predicting	LLD.
------------	----------	------------	----	------	------------	---------	--------	----	------------	------

Predictor	В	SE	р	OR
APOE E4	0.14	0.28	0.63	1.15 (0.66-1.99)
Age (mean-centred)	0.00	0.03	0.98	1.00 (0.95-1.05)
Sex	0.29	0.25	0.26	1.33 (0.81-2.17)
(Constant)	-2.45	0.21	<0.001	0.09
Model χ^2 = 1.51, df = 3, p = 0.68				
$-2LL = 493.71$, Nagelkerke $R^2 = 0.004$				
Hosmer-Lemeshow test $p = 0.08$				

	-			
Predictor	В	SE	р	OR
BDNF Val66Met				
Val/Met	0.10	0.26	0.71	1.10 (0.66-1.83)
Met/Met	-0.35	0.75	0.64	0.70 (0.16-3.05)
Age (mean-centred)	0.00	0.03	0.98	1.00 (0.95-1.05)
Sex	0.27	0.25	0.28	1.32 (0.80-2.15)
(Constant)	-2.43	0.22	<0.001	0.09
Model χ^2 = 1.71, df = 4, p = 0.79				
-2LL = 493.51, Nagelkerke R ² = 0.005				
Hosmer-Lemeshow test $p = 0.06$				

Table B.3. Logistic regression of *BDNF* Val66Met genotype in predicting LLD.

Table B.4. Logistic regression of GNB3 C825T genotype in predicting LLD.

Dradiator	D	<u>۲</u>	n	
Predictor	В	SE	ρ	UR .
GNB3 C825T				
C/T	0.00	0.26	1.00	1.00 (0.61-1.65)
T/T	0.19	0.44	0.66	1.21 (0.51-2.86)
Age (mean-centred)	0.00	0.03	0.99	1.00 (0.95-1.05)
Sex	0.28	0.25	0.27	1.32 (0.81-2.16)
(Constant)	-2.43	0.23	<0.001	0.09
Model x ² = 1.48, df = 4, p = 0.83 -2LL = 493.74, Nagelkerke R ² = 0.004 Hosmer-Lemeshow test p = 0.46				

Table B.5. Logistic regression of MTHFR C677T genotype in predicting LLD.

Predictor	В	SE	р	OR
MTHFR C677T				
C/T	0.43	0.27	0.11	1.53 (0.91-2.59)
T/T	-0.20	0.43	0.64	0.82 (0.36-1.89)
Age (mean-centred)	0.00	0.03	0.96	1.00 (0.95-1.05)
Sex	0.28	0.25	0.28	1.32 (0.80-2.16)
(Constant)	-2.61	0.27	<0.001	0.07
Model χ^2 = 5.38, df = 4, p = 0.25 -2LL = 489.85, Nagelkerke R^2 = 0.015 Hosmer-Lemeshow test p = 0.95				

	-		-	
Predictor	В	SE	р	OR
rs40465				
T/G	-0.05	0.25	0.83	0.95 (0.58-1.55)
G/G	-1.12	0.61	0.07	0.33 (0.10-1.09)
Age (mean-centred)	0.00	0.03	0.95	1.00 (0.95-1.05)
Sex	0.29	0.25	0.25	1.33 (0.82-2.18)
(Constant)	-2.32	0.23	<0.001	0.10
Model χ^2 = 5.80, df = 4, p = 0.21				
-2LL = 489.42, Nagelkerke R ² = 0.016				
Hosmer-Lemeshow test $p = 0.37$				

Table B.6. Logistic regression of rs40465 genotype in predicting LLD.

B.2 Secondary analyses for associations of candidate polymorphisms and LLD using continuous GDS-15 score as the dependent variable

Associations between the candidate polymorphisms and LLD were investigated using separate multiple regression models, with GDS-15 score as the dependent variable. The predictors in each model included the polymorphism of interest, age and sex. The common homozygote was used as the base group in each model. In line with the results of the logistic regression analyses, none of the candidate polymorphisms were associated with the GDS-15 score. However, older age and male sex significantly predicted the GDS-15 score, which shows that subclinical depressive symptoms rather than clinically relevant depressive symptoms (as represented by a GDS-15 score of 6 or above) are more likely to be associated with age and sex.

Β.2.1 APOE ε2

The model explained 2.3% of the variance of GDS-15 scores (R^2 = 0.023, F(3,783) = 6.20, p < 0.001). Age and sex significantly predicted GDS-15 scores (B = 0.05, p < 0.001 and b = -0.28, p = 0.04 respectively).

Predictor	В	SE	t	р
ΑΡΟΕ ε2	0.001	0.18	0.004	1.00
Age (mean-centred)	0.05	0.01	3.83	<0.001
Sex	-0.28	0.14	-2.08	0.04
(Constant)	2.62	0.22	11.73	<0.001

Table B.7. Multiple regression of APOE 2 carrier status in predicting GDS-15 scores.

B.2.2 APOE *ε***4**

The model explained 2.3% of the variance of GDS-15 scores ($R^2 = 0.023$, F(3,783) = 6.20, p < 0.001). Age and sex significantly predicted GDS-15 scores (B = 0.05, p < 0.001 and B = -0.28, p = 0.04 respectively).

Table B.8. Multiple regression of APOE £4 carrier status in predicting GDS-15 scores.

Predictor	В	SE	t	р
ΑΡΟΕ ε4	-0.01	0.16	-0.09	0.93
Age (mean-centred)	0.05	0.01	3.82	<0.001
Sex	-0.28	0.14	-2.09	0.04
(Constant)	2.63	0.23	11.58	<0.001

B.2.3 BDNF Val66Met

The model explained 2.3% of the variance of GDS-15 scores ($R^2 = 0.023$, F(3,783) = 6.20, p < 0.001). Age and sex significantly predicted GDS-15 scores (B = 0.05, p < 0.001 and B = -0.28, p = 0.04 respectively).

Table B.9. Multiple regression of BDNF Val66Met genotype in predicting GDS-15 scores.

Predictor	В	SE	t	р
BDNF Val66Met	0.02	0.12	0.12	0.90
Age (mean-centred)	0.05	0.01	3.82	<0.001
Sex	-0.28	0.14	-2.09	0.04
(Constant)	2.62	0.23	11.55	<0.001

B.2.4 GNB3 C825T

The model explained 2.4% of the variance of GDS-15 scores ($R^2 = 0.024$, F(3,783) = 6.34, p < 0.001). Age and sex significantly predicted GDS-15 scores (B = 0.06, p < 0.001 and B = -0.28, p = 0.04 respectively).

Table B.10. Multiple regression of GNB3 C825T genotype in predicting GDS-15 scores.

Predictor	В	SE	t	р
GNB3 C825T	-0.07	0.11	-0.64	0.53
Age (mean-centred)	0.06	0.01	3.85	<0.001
Sex	-0.28	0.14	-2.07	0.04
(Constant)	2.66	0.23	11.60	<0.001

B.2.5 MTHFR C677T

The model explained 2.4% of the variance of GDS-15 scores ($R^2 = 0.024$, F(3,783) = 6.56, p < 0.001). Age significantly predicted GDS-15 scores (B = 0.05, p < 0.001).

Table B.11. Multiple regression of MTHFR C677T genotype in predicting GDS-15 scores.

Predictor	В	SE	t	р
MTHFR C677T	0.10	0.10	1.02	0.31
Age (mean-centred)	0.05	0.01	3.83	<0.001
Sex	-0.27	0.14	-1.95	0.05
(Constant)	2.52	0.25	10.31	<0.001

B.2.6 rs40465

The model explained 2.3% of the variance of GDS-15 scores ($R^2 = 0.023$, F(3,783) = 6.20, p < 0.001). Age and sex significantly predicted GDS-15 scores (B = 0.05, p < 0.001 and B = -0.28, p = 0.04 respectively).

Table B.12. Multiple regression of rs40465 genotype in predicting GDS-15 scores.

Predictor	В	SE	t	р
rs40465	0.01	0.10	0.13	0.90
Age (mean-centred)	0.05	0.01	3.83	<0.001
Sex	-0.28	0.14	-2.09	0.04
(Constant)	2.62	0.23	11.26	<0.001

B.3 Secondary analyses for effects of early-life trauma on LLD using continuous GDS-15 score as the dependent variable

The main effects of childhood maltreatment and Holocaust trauma on GDS-15 scores (dependent variable) were investigated in two separate multiple regression models, with age and sex also included as predictors.

B.3.1 Childhood maltreatment

The model explained 12.3% of the variance of GDS-15 scores ($R^2 = 0.123$, F(7,450) = 8.99, p < 0.001). Age significantly predicted GDS-15 scores (B = 0.15, p < 0.001). Out of the five types of childhood maltreatment assessed in the CTQ-SF, both emotional abuse and sexual abuse significantly predicted GDS-15 scores (B = 1.52, p < 0.001 and B = 1.08, p = 0.03 respectively).

Table B.13. Multiple regression of childhood maltreatment in predicting GDS-15 scores.

Predictor	В	SE	t	р
Emotional abuse	1.52	0.41	3.72	<0.001
Physical abuse	-0.51	0.42	-1.22	0.22
Sexual abuse	1.08	0.50	2.15	0.03
Emotional neglect	-0.32	0.41	-0.78	0.44
Physical neglect	0.27	0.43	0.62	0.54
Age (mean-centred)	0.15	0.02	6.37	<0.001
Sex	-0.04	0.21	-0.21	0.84
(Constant)	2.70	0.34	7.83	<0.001

B.3.2 Holocaust trauma

The model explained 9.5% of the variance of GDS-15 scores ($R^2 = 0.095$, F(3,454) = 15.87, p < 0.001). Age and exposure to Holocaust trauma significantly predicted GDS-15 scores (B = 0.14, p < 0.001 and B = 1.04, p = 0.004 respectively).

Table B.14. Multiple regression of Holocaust trauma in predicting GDS-15 scores.

Predictor	В	SE	t	р
Holocaust trauma	1.04	0.36	2.91	0.004
Age (mean-centred)	0.14	0.02	6.03	<0.001
Sex	0.03	0.21	0.17	0.87
(Constant)	2.60	0.34	7.61	< 0.001

B.4 Secondary analyses for gene-environment interactions on LLD using continuous GDS-15 score as the dependent variable

Potential gene-environment interactions between the candidate polymorphism of interest and childhood maltreatment or Holocaust trauma were tested in separate multiple regression models. Each model included the candidate polymorphism main effect, childhood maltreatment or Holocaust trauma main effect, the gene-environment interaction, as well as age and sex as predictors.

B.4.1 APOE ε2 x childhood maltreatment

The model explained 9.3% of the variance of GDS-15 scores ($R^2 = 0.093$, F(5,452) = 9.28, p < 0.001). Age and childhood maltreatment significantly predicted GDS-15 scores (B = 0.15, p < 0.001 and B = 0.55, p = 0.04 respectively).

Predictor	В	SE	t	р
ΑΡΟΕ ε2	-0.29	0.32	-0.89	0.37
Childhood maltreatment	0.55	0.26	2.11	0.04
APOE ε2 x childhood maltreatment	0.57	0.77	0.74	0.46
Age (mean-centred)	0.15	0.02	6.31	<0.001
Sex	0.01	0.21	0.05	0.96
(Constant)	2.64	0.35	7.60	<0.001

Table B.15. Multiple regression of APOE ϵ 2, childhood maltreatment and their interaction in predicting GDS-15 scores.

B.4.2 APOE ε2 x Holocaust trauma

The model explained 9.7% of the variance of GDS-15 scores ($R^2 = 0.097$, F(5,452) = 9.71, p < 0.001). Age and Holocaust trauma significantly predicted GDS-15 scores (B = 0.14, p < 0.001 and B = 1.10, p = 0.01 respectively).

Table B.16. Multiple regression of APOE ϵ 2, Holocaust trauma and their interaction in predicting GDS-15 scores.

Predictor	В	SE	t	р
ΑΡΟΕ ε2	-0.27	0.31	-0.87	0.39
Holocaust trauma	1.10	0.40	2.72	0.01
APOE ε2 x Holocaust trauma	-0.16	0.88	-0.18	0.86
Age (mean-centred)	0.14	0.02	5.97	<0.001
Sex	0.05	0.21	0.22	0.82
(Constant)	2.62	0.34	7.63	<0.001

B.4.3 APOE *ɛ***4** *x childhood maltreatment*

The model explained 9.5% of the variance of GDS-15 scores ($R^2 = 0.095$, F(5,452) = 9.54, p < 0.001). Age and childhood maltreatment significantly predicted GDS-15 scores (B = 0.15, p < 0.001 and B = 0.55, p = 0.04 respectively).

Table B.17. Multiple regression of APOE ϵ 4, childhood maltreatment and their interaction in predicting GDS-15 scores.

Predictor	В	SE	t	p
ΑΡΟΕ ε4	0.25	0.29	0.87	0.39
Childhood maltreatment	0.55	0.27	2.02	0.04
APOE ε4 x childhood maltreatment	0.39	0.62	0.63	0.53
Age (mean-centred)	0.15	0.02	6.39	<0.001
Sex	0.01	0.21	0.05	0.96
(Constant)	2.55	0.35	7.34	<0.001

B.4.4 APOE £4 x Holocaust trauma

The model explained 10.2% of the variance of GDS-15 scores ($R^2 = 0.102$, F(5,452) = 10.31, p < 0.001). Age and Holocaust trauma significantly predicted GDS-15 scores (B = 0.14, p < 0.001 and B = 0.81, p = 0.04 respectively).

Table B.18. Multiple regression of APOE ϵ 4, Holocaust trauma and their interaction in predicting GDS-15 scores.

Predictor	В	SE	t	р
ΑΡΟΕ ε4	0.24	0.26	0.91	0.36
Holocaust trauma	0.81	0.39	2.07	0.04
APOE ε4 x Holocaust trauma	1.31	0.94	1.40	0.16
Age (mean-centred)	0.14	0.02	6.23	<0.001
Sex	0.01	0.21	0.05	0.96
(Constant)	2.60	0.35	7.51	<0.001

B.4.5 BDNF Val66Met x childhood maltreatment

The model explained 10.7% of the variance of GDS-15 scores ($R^2 = 0.107$, F(5,452) = 10.79, p < 10.79,

0.001). Age and the BDNFVal66Met x childhood maltreatment interaction significantly

predicted GDS-15 scores (B = 0.14, p < 0.001 and B = 1.19, p = 0.01 respectively).

Table B.19. Multiple regression of BDNF Val66Met,	childhood	maltreatment	and their
interaction in predicting GDS-15 scores.			

Predictor	В	SE	†	р
BDNF Val66Met	-0.33	0.21	-1.53	0.13
Childhood maltreatment	0.17	0.29	0.58	0.56
BDNF Val66Met x childhood	1.19	0.43	2.79	0.01
maltreatment				
Age (mean-centred)	0.14	0.02	6.30	<0.001
Sex	-0.01	0.20	-0.04	0.97
(Constant)	2.75	0.35	7.81	<0.001

B.4.6 BDNF Val66Met x Holocaust trauma

The model explained 9.6% of the variance of GDS-15 scores ($R^2 = 0.096$, F(5,452) = 9.63, p < 0.001). Age and Holocaust trauma significantly predicted GDS-15 scores (B = 0.14, p < 0.001 and B = 0.89, p = 0.03 respectively).

Table B.20. Multiple regression of *BDNF* Val66Met, Holocaust trauma and their interaction in predicting GDS-15 scores.

Predictor	В	SE	t	р
BDNF Val66Met	-0.04	0.20	-0.20	0.84
Holocaust trauma	0.89	0.40	2.21	0.03
BDNF Val66Met x Holocaust trauma	0.54	0.66	0.83	0.41
Age (mean-centred)	0.14	0.02	5.98	<0.001
Sex	0.03	0.21	0.15	0.88
(Constant)	2.62	0.35	7.48	<0.001

B.4.7 GNB3 C825T x childhood maltreatment

The model explained 9.2% of the variance of GDS-15 scores ($R^2 = 0.092$, F(5,452) = 9.13, p < 100

0.001). Age significantly predicted GDS-15 scores (B = 0.15, p < 0.001).

Table B.21. Multiple regression of GNB3 C825T, childhood maltreatment and their interaction in predicting GDS-15 scores.

Predictor	В	SE	t	р
GNB3 C825T	-0.08	0.19	-0.41	0.68
Childhood maltreatment	0.64	0.34	1.87	0.06
GNB3 C825T x childhood	-0.03	0.39	-0.08	0.93
maltreatment				
Age (mean-centred)	0.15	0.02	6.34	<0.001
Sex	0.01	0.21	0.03	0.98
(Constant)	2.65	0.37	7.18	<0.001

B.4.8 GNB3 C825T x Holocaust trauma

The model explained 9.9% of the variance of GDS-15 scores ($R^2 = 0.099$, F(5,452) = 9.93, p < 0.001). Age and Holocaust trauma significantly predicted GDS-15 scores (B = 0.14, p < 0.001 and B = 1.63, p = 0.01 respectively).

Table B.22. Multiple regression of GNB3 C825T, Holocaust trauma and their interaction in predicting GDS-15 scores.

Predictor	В	SE	t	р
GNB3 C825T	-0.07	0.17	-0.41	0.68
Holocaust trauma	1.63	0.60	2.71	0.01
GNB3 C825T x Holocaust trauma	-0.75	0.63	-1.20	0.23
Age (mean-centred)	0.14	0.02	5.92	<0.001
Sex	0.03	0.21	0.17	0.87
(Constant)	2.65	0.36	7.30	<0.001

B.4.9 MTHFR C677T x childhood maltreatment

The model explained 11.0% of the variance of GDS-15 scores ($R^2 = 0.11$, F(5,452) = 11.15, p < 100

0.001). Age significantly predicted GDS-15 scores (B = 0.14, p < 0.001).

Table B.23. Multiple regression of *MTHFR* C677T, childhood maltreatment and their interaction in predicting GDS-15 scores.

Predictor	В	SE	t	р
MTHFR C677T	0.26	0.16	1.67	0.10
Childhood maltreatment	0.29	0.35	0.82	0.41
MTHFR C677T x childhood	0.53	0.35	1.55	0.12
maltreatment				
Age (mean-centred)	0.14	0.02	6.33	<0.001
Sex	0.06	0.21	0.29	0.77
(Constant)	2.29	0.38	6.02	<0.001

B.4.10 MTHFR C677T x Holocaust trauma

The model explained 10.3% of the variance of GDS-15 scores ($R^2 = 0.103$, F(5,452) = 10.34, p < 0.103, P(5,452) = 0.103, P(5,452

0.001). Age significantly predicted GDS-15 scores (B = 0.14, p < 0.001).

Table B.24. Multiple regression of *MTHFR* C677T, Holocaust trauma and their interaction in predicting GDS-15 scores.

Predictor	В	SE	t	р
MTHFR C677T	0.27	0.15	1.79	0.08
Holocaust trauma	0.76	0.69	1.10	0.27
MTHFR C677T x Holocaust trauma	0.14	0.50	0.28	0.78
Age (mean-centred)	0.14	0.02	5.96	<0.001
Sex	0.07	0.21	0.35	0.73
(Constant)	2.33	0.37	6.29	<0.001

B.4.11 rs40465 x childhood maltreatment

The model explained 9.3% of the variance of GDS-15 scores ($R^2 = 0.093$, F(5,452) = 9.24, p < 0.093)

0.001). Age significantly predicted GDS-15 scores (B = 0.15, p < 0.001).

Table B.25. Multiple regression of rs40465, childhood maltreatment and their interaction in predicting GDS-15 scores.

Predictor	В	SE	t	р
rs40465	0.10	0.18	0.58	0.56
Childhood maltreatment	0.55	0.34	1.63	0.11
rs40465 x childhood maltreatment	0.11	0.36	0.31	0.75
Age (mean-centred)	0.15	0.02	6.36	<0.001
Sex	0.01	0.21	0.06	0.96
(Constant)	2.53	0.36	7.02	<0.001

B.4.12 rs40465 x Holocaust trauma

The model explained 10.2% of the variance of GDS-15 scores ($R^2 = 0.102$, F(5,452) = 10.22, p < 0.001). Age and Holocaust trauma significantly predicted GDS-15 scores (B = 0.14, p < 0.001 and B = 1.83, p = 0.002 respectively).

Table B.26. Multiple regression of rs40465, Holocaust trauma and their interaction in predicting GDS-15 scores.

Predictor	В	SE	t	р
rs40465	0.17	0.16	1.05	0.29
Holocaust trauma	1.83	0.59	3.10	0.002
rs40465 x Holocaust trauma	-1.02	0.59	-1.73	0.09
Age (mean-centred)	0.14	0.02	6.04	<0.001
Sex	0.04	0.21	0.19	0.85
(Constant)	2.49	0.36	7.00	<0.001

APPENDIX C. PUBLISHED MANUSCRIPT

Tsang, R. S. M., Mather, K. A., Sachdev, P. S., & Reppermund, S. (2017). Systematic review and meta-analysis of genetic studies of late-life depression. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 75, 129-139.